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EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
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Not Applicable

(Translation of Registrant's name into English)
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People’s Republic of China
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, noa-accelerated filer. See definition of
“accelerated filer and large accelerated filerRnle 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large Accelerated Filerd Accelerated Fileix] Non-accelerated Fildr]
Indicate by check mark which basis of accountirgrégistrant has used to prepare the financiarsitts included in this filing:

U.S. GAAP International Financial Reporting Standards aseidsu Other
by the International Accounting Standards Boe[l O

If “Other” has been checked in response to theipusvquestion, indicate by check mark which finahstatement item the registrant has
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If this is an annual report, indicate by check mahether the registrant is a shell company (asddfin Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
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CERTAIN CONVENTIONS

Unless otherwise indicated, all translations frors \tollars to RMB in this annual report were matia rate of US$1.00 to RMB6.2301,
the exchange rate as set forth in the H.10 stistelease of the U.S. Federal Reserve Board @emeer 31, 2012. No representation is mad
that the RMB amounts referred to herein could Hae@n or could be converted into U.S. dollars at@argicular rate or at all. On April 19,
2013, the exchange rate was US$1.00 to RMB6.17#g.déscrepancies in any table between totals amb@f the amounts listed are due to
rounding.

Unless otherwise indicated, in this annual report,

. “ ADRs” are to the American depositary receipts that magesce our ADSs

. “ ADSs” are to our American depositary shares, each repageour ordinary share

. “ China” or the “PRC” are to the People’Republic of China, excluding, for purposes o$ timnual report, Hong Kong, Macau
Taiwan;

. “ Ordinary share¢” are to our ordinary shares, par value US$0.0005lpere;

. “RMB” and“ Renminb” are to the legal currency of Chir
. “ US$” and“ U.S. dollars” are to the legal currency of the United States;
. “We,” “ us,”“ our company” “ our,” and “China Lodging’ are to China Lodging Group, Limited, a Caymarat&ls company,

and its predecessor entities and subsidia



Table of Contents

PART |

ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS
Not applicable.

ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Not applicable.

ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION
3.A. Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated statements of comprareimgiome data and selected consolidated cashdé&afor the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 and the selecteblidated balance sheet data as of Decembe©31,ghd 2012 are derived from our
audited consolidated financial statements incluaEr@in, which were prepared in accordance with G&AP. The selected consolidated
statements of comprehensive income data and selestsolidated cash flow data for the years endsckBber 31, 2008 and 2009 and the
selected consolidated balance sheet data as ofibece31, 2008, 2009 and 2010 are derived from odited consolidated financial stateme
that have not been included herein and were prdparaccordance with U.S. GAAP. The selected fimdraata set forth below should be read
in conjunction with “Item 5. Operating and FinadReview and Prospects” and the consolidated fiigustatements and the notes to those
statements included herein. The historical reqrksented below are not necessarily indicativénafiicial results to be achieved in future
periods.

Year Ended December 31

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
(RMB) (RMB) (RVMB) (RVMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands, except per share and per ADS dati

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income Dat
Net revenue 764,24¢ 1,260,19 1,738,49. 2,249,59 3,224,52° 517,57.
Operating costs and expenses 917,90: 1,183,77 1,482,18 2,142,45. 3,004,79. 482,30:
Income (loss) from operatiol (153,65) 76,41« 256,30t 107,14¢ 219,730 35,27(
Income (loss) before income tax (156,467 69,43¢ 279,05¢ 142,95¢ 233,67  37,50%
Net income (loss (132,58) 51,44¢ 221,79: 118,13¢ 179,50  28,81:
Less: net income (loss) attributable to noncoritrglinterest 3,57¢ 8,90: 6,04: 3,30¢ 4,617 741
Net income (loss) attributable to China Lodging GroLimited (136,167 42 54t 215,75:; 114,83. 174,88°  28,07:
Net earnings (loss) per sha

Basic (2.52) 0.24 1.0t 0.47 0.7z 0.1z

Diluted (2.52) 0.2: 0.92 0.47 0.71 0.11
Net earnings (loss) per ADS(:

Basic (10.07%) 0.9t 4.1¢ 1.9C 2.8¢ 0.4¢€

Diluted (10.09) 0.9:2 3.6¢ 1.87 2.8¢ 0.4¢
Weighted average number of shares used in comput

Basic 54,07 57,56 198,51 241,92¢ 243,28: 243,28:

Diluted 54,07: 183,63: 234,48: 246,18: 246,98. 246,98
Note: (1) Includes sha-based compensation expenses as follows:

Year Ended December 31
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RVMB) (US$)
(In thousands)

Share-based compensation expen 4,81! 7,95! 13,11 15,48 20,83 3,34

(2) Each ADS represents four ordinary sha
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The following table presents a summary of our cbidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2008, 2010, 2011 and 2012:

As of December 31
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (USS$)
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalel 183,24t 270,58 1,060,06 781,60 449,84« 72,20t
Restricted cas 5,591 50C 1,27¢ 1,50( 1,79( 287
Prepaid ren 76,14¢ 69,61¢ 152,26 228,08° 321,30! 51,57
Property and equipment, r 957,400 1,028,26° 1,422,43. 2,095,79. 2,951,50! 473,75(
Total asset 1,432,941 1,581,13 3,044,080 3,524,951 4,330,18 695,04
Accounts payabl 182,80: 141,57( 283,20 417,60! 624,82: 100,29:
Long-term debt 27,50( 80,00( — — — —

Deferred ren—long-term 138,20° 174,77" 237,42 329,77 470,43 75,51
Deferred revenu 32,14¢ 74,76 117,04 209,84t 300,31! 48,20«
Total liabilities 665,37¢ 678,87! 918,77( 1,269,061 1,839,62. 295,28!
Mezzanine equit 796,80: 796,80: — — — —

Total equity (deficit) (29,24))  105,45¢ 2,125,311 2,255,88 2,490,56! 399,76

The following table presents a summary of our cbdated statements of cash flow for the years emdecember 31, 2008, 2009, 2010,
2011 and 2012:

Year Ended December 31
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow Date

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi (13,739 296,34 469,12 458,741 715,72( 114,87
Net cash used in investing activiti (451,589 (256,02) (515,31() (734,57) (1,068,130 (171,44)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 482,47 47,06: 845,83 13,83« 19,89¢ 3,19¢

Exchange Rate Information

This annual report contains translations of RMB anis into U.S. dollars at specific rates solelytf@ convenience of the reader. For all
dates and periods through December 31, 2008, csionsrof Renminbi into U.S. dollars are based emthon buying rate in The City of New
York for cable transfers of Renminbi as certified ¢ustoms purposes by the Federal Reserve BaNkwfYork. For January 1, 2009 and all
later dates and periods, the exchange rate refé¢he texchange rate as set forth in the H.10 statiselease of the Federal Reserve Board.
Unless otherwise indicated, conversions of RMB 1dt8. dollars in this annual report are based erettthange rate on December 31, 2012.
We make no representation that any RMB or U.Sadalinounts could have been, or could be, converted).S. dollars or RMB, as the case
may be, at any particular rate, or at all. The RR@rnment imposes control over its foreign curyen@serves in part through direct regulation
of the conversion of RMB into foreign exchange #mugh restrictions on foreign trade. On April 20,13, the daily exchange rate reported
by the Federal Reserve Board was RMB6.1772 to W09$1.
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The following table sets forth information concermiexchange rates between the RMB and the U.Srdol the periods indicated. Th
rates are provided solely for your convenienceanedot necessarily the exchange rates that weinigeid annual report or will use in the

preparation of our periodic reports or any othéorimation to be provided to you.

Period

2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

2013

Noon Buying Rate

Period End Average(1 Low High
(RMB per US$1.00)
6.822¢ 6.947" 7.294¢ 6.780(
6.825¢ 6.830" 6.847( 6.817¢
6.600( 6.769¢ 6.833( 6.600(
6.293¢ 6.447¢ 6.636¢ 6.293¢
6.230: 6.308¢ 6.222: 6.387¢
October 6.237: 6.262° 6.237: 6.287
Novembel 6.226¢ 6.233¢ 6.222: 6.245¢
Decembe 6.230: 6.233: 6.225: 6.250:
January 6.218¢ 6.221¢ 6.213¢ 6.230:
February 6.221: 6.232: 6.221: 6.243¢
March 6.210¢ 6.215¢ 6.210¢ 6.224¢
April (through April 19, 2013 6.177: 6.192° 6.172( 6.207¢

(1) Averages for a period are calculated by udhegaverage of the exchange rates at the end ofneawtin during the period. Monthly
averages are calculated by using the average afaherates during the relevant peris

3.B. Capitalization and Indebtedness
Not applicable.

3.C. Reason for the Offer and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable.

3.D. Risk Factors
Risks Related to Our Business

Our operating results are subject to conditions @fting the lodging industry in general.

Our operating results are subject to conditionglly affecting the lodging industry, which incled

changes and volatility in national, regional anchllceconomic conditions in Chin

competition from other hotels, the attractivenefissur hotels to customers, and our ability to maimiand increase sales to existing

customers and attract new custom

adverse weather conditions, natural disastersageker’ fears of exposure to contagious diseases and s0Uiast;

changes in travel patterns or in the desirabilftparticular locations
increases in operating costs and expenses du#iatian and other factor:

local market conditions such as an oversupply 0 keeduction in demand for, hotel roor

the quality and performance of managers and otigtayees of our hotel:

the availability and cost of capital to fund conostion and renovation of, and make other investmantour hotels

seasonality of the lodging business and nationeg¢gional special event

4
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. the possibility that leased properties may be sulifechallenges as to their compliance with thevant government regulations;
and

. maintenance and infringement of our intellectualperty.

Changes in any of these conditions could adves#gt our occupancy rates, average daily ratesevehues generated per available
room, or RevPAR, or otherwise adversely affectresults of operations and financial condition.

Our business is sensitive to Chinese and globalreguic conditions. A severe or prolonged downturntire Chinese or global economy
could materially and adversely affect our revenwssd results of operations.

Our business and operations are primarily bas€hina and domestic business and leisure traveltomers account for a significant
majority of our revenues. Accordingly, our finargiesults have been, and we expect will continuleetocaffected by developments in the PRC
economy and travel industry. As the travel indugrigighly sensitive to business and personal digmrary spending levels, it tends to decline
during general economic downturns. In 2008, Chiaa affected by the disruptions to financial markietscribed below, and, although the
Chinese economy began recovering in 2010 and haeaimed relatively stable since then, it is uncerta@hether such recovery will continue. A
prolonged slowdown in the Chinese economy couldemmnsumer confidence which could result in changeonsumer spending patterns
travel and lodging-related products and services.

There is a possibility that China’s economic grovate may materially decline in the near futurejochbmay have adverse effects on our
financial condition and results of operations. Ri$la material slowdown in China’s economic growdte is based on several current or
emerging factors including: (i) overinvestment hg government and businesses and excessive cffedédby banks; (ii) a rudimentary
monetary policy; (iii) excessive privileges to stamwned enterprises at the expense of privatemiges; (iv) the dwindling supply of surplus
labor; (v) a decrease in exports due to weaker ddrgerseas; and (vi) failure to boost domesticsaamption.

The global financial markets experienced signiftadiaruptions in 2008 and the United States, Euamkother economies went into
recession. The recovery from the lows of 2008 a&@P2vas uneven and it is facing new challengedydtg the escalation of the European
sovereign debt crisis since 2011. It is uncleartiwiethe European sovereign debt crisis will beta@ioed and what effects it may have. The
considerable uncertainty over the long-term effe€thie expansionary monetary and fiscal poliches have been adopted by the central bank
and financial authorities of some of the world'adeng economies, including China’s. There have bé&sn concerns over unrest in the Middle
East and Africa, which have resulted in highepoites and significant market volatility, and otlee possibility of a war involving Iran or
North Korea. Economic conditions in China are s@resito global economic condition

Any prolonged slowdown in the Chinese or globalreroy may have a negative impact on our businessltseof operations and
financial condition, and continued turbulence ia thternational markets may adversely affect otlitplo access the capital markets to meet
liquidity needs.

The lodging industry in China is competitive, anflvie are unable to compete successfully, our fina@ondition and results of
operations may be harmed.

The lodging industry in China is highly fragmentéd. a multi-brand hotel group we believe that wepete primarily based on location,
room rates, brand recognition, quality of accomntiotia, geographic coverage, service quality, rafgervices, guest amenities and
convenience of the central reservation system. kveapily compete with other hotel groups as wellvagous stand-alone lodging facilities in
each of the markets in which we operate. Our HagnHotels mainly compete with Home Inns, Jinjiang,l Days Inn, various regional hotel
groups and stand-alone hotels, and certain intemadtbrands such as Super 8. HanTing Hotels alsgpete with two- and three-star hotels, ac
they offer rooms with amenities comparable to mainthose hotels. Our JI Hotels and Starway Hotete ftompetition from existing three-star
and certain four-star hotels, boutique hotels whmyas could be comparable and a few hotel chaioh as Vienna Hotels and Holiday Inn
Express. Our Hi Inns compete mainly with stand-algnest houses, low-price hotels and budget hb&hs such as Pod Inns. In addition, our
proposed entry into the upscale hotel market thndhg launch of Joya Hotels may also expose usote mompetition. New and existing
competitors may offer more competitive rates, greabnvenience, services or amenities or supeamlitfes, which could attract customers
away from our hotels and result in a decrease ¢upency and average daily rates for our hotels. ggdiors may also outbid us for new lea
hotel conversion sites, negotiate better termgdédential manachised or franchised hotels or dfégter terms to our existing manachised or
franchised hotel owners, thereby slowing our apéitéd pace of expansion. Furthermore, our typigasts may change their travel, spending
and consumption patterns and choose to stay im kihes of hotels, especially given the increaseunhotel room rates to keep pace with
inflation. Any of these factors may have an advef$ect on our competitive position, results of @i®ns and financial condition.

5
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Our financial and operating performance may be adsely affected by epidemics, adverse weather coolit natural disasters and other
catastrophes.

Our financial and operating performance may be emblg affected by epidemics, adverse weather ciomdit natural disasters and other
catastrophes, particularly in locations where werafe a large number of hotels.

Our business could be materially and adverselyctfteby the outbreak of swine influenza, avianuefiza, severe acute respiratory
syndrome or other epidemics. In 2011 and 2013ethere reports on the occurrences of avian inflaémzarious parts of China, including
dozens of confirmed human cases and deaths. Ahgnmed recurrence of such contagious disease er attverse public health development:
in China may have a material and adverse effedunrbusiness operations. For example, if any ofesoployees or customers is suspected of
having contracted any contagious disease whiler lsé®has worked or stayed in our hotels, we makuecertain circumstances be required tc
guarantine our employees that are affected andffaeted areas of our premises.

Losses caused by epidemics, adverse weather amgJitiatural disasters and other catastrophesiding earthquakes or typhoons, are
either uninsurable or too expensive to justify nrsgi against in China. In the event an uninsured lar a loss in excess of insured limits occ
we could lose all or a portion of the capital wedinvested in a hotel, as well as the anticipfiéwre revenues from the hotel. In that event,
we might nevertheless remain obligated for anyrfaia commitments related to the hotel.

Similarly, war (including the potential of war) rterist activity (including threats of terroristtagty), social unrest and heightened travel
security measures instituted in response, travate® accidents, as well as geopolitical uncenyaémd international conflict, will affect travel
and may in turn have a material adverse effectusrbasiness and results of operations. In additienmay not be adequately prepared in
contingency planning or recovery capability in tigla to a major incident or crisis, and as a result operational continuity may be adversely
and materially affected and our reputation may dmenied.

Seasonality of our business and national or regidispecial events may cause fluctuations in our reues, cause our ADS price to
decline, and adversely affect our profitability

The lodging industry is subject to fluctuationg@venues due to seasonality and national or reggpeaial events. The seasonality of
business may cause fluctuations in our quarterratpng results. Generally, the first quarter, imceh both the New Year and Spring Festival
holidays fall, accounts for a lower percentagewfannual revenues than other quarters of the Yéartypically have a lower RevPAR in the
fourth quarter, as compared to the second and djuiadters, due to reduced travel activities invifrger. In addition, national or regional spe
events that attract large numbers of people tetnaay also cause fluctuations in our operatingltesn particular for the hotel locations wh
those events are held. For example, Expo 2010 $ladhina, or the Shanghai Expo, drove strong deinaad led to increased occupancy
rates and average daily rates for our hotels im§lha from May 1 to October 31, 2010 and contriduteour revenue increase from 2009 to
2010. However, after the Shanghai Expo’s closin@atober 31, 2010, the demand for our hotels im§hai for the period from November
2010 to February 2011 was lower than the comparzdaieds of prior years. Therefore, you shouldnett on our operating or financial results
for prior periods as an indication of our resutt@ny future period. As our revenues may vary foprarter to quarter, our business is difficul
predict and our quarterly results could fall beliowestor expectations, which could cause our ADO8epio decline. Furthermore, the ramp-up
process of our new hotels can be delayed duringptheseason, which may negatively affect our reesnand profitability.

Our limited operating history makes it difficult tevaluate our future prospects and results of optgoas.

Our operations commenced, through Powerhill Holglibignited, or Powerhill, with mid-scale limited s@e hotels and commercial
property development and management in 2005, arlgegan migrating to our current business of opegaaind managing a multi-brand hotel
group in 2007. See “Item 4. Information on the Camp— A. History and Development of the Companyctardingly, you should consider
our future prospects in light of the risks and tdrajes encountered by a company with a limited atpey history. These risks and challenges
include:

. continuing our growth while trying to achieve andimain our profitability;

6
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. preserving and enhancing our competitive positiothé lodging industry in Chini
. offering innovative products to attract recurrimglanew customer:

. implementing our strategy and modifying it from &no time to respond effectively to competition @hdnges in customer preferences
and needs
. increasing awareness of our brands and productsantthuing to develop customer loyal

. attracting, training, retaining and motivating dfiatl personnel; an
. renewing leases for our leased hotels on comm@rei@ble terms after the initial lease terms egg.

If we are unsuccessful in addressing any of thisks pr challenges, our business may be mateaallyadversely affected.

Our new leased hotels typically incur significantggopening expenses during their development stagjed generate relatively low
revenues during their ramp-up stages, which may bavsignificant negative impact on our financial dermance.

The operation of each of our leased hotel goesitirdhree stages: development, ramppand mature operations. During the developi
stage, leased hotels generally incur pre-openipgmeses ranging from approximately RMBO0.5 to RMB8ibion per hotel. During the ramp-
up stage, when the occupancy rate is relatively tewenues generated by these hotels may be icisuiffito cover their operating costs, which
are relatively fixed in nature. As a result, these/ly opened leased hotels may not achieve prdfttaduring the ramp-up stage. As we
continue to expand our leased hotel portfolio,digmificant pre-opening expenses incurred durigdivelopment stage and the relatively low
revenues during the ramp-up stage of our newly egpdeased hotels may have a significant negatipa@tnon our financial performance.

A significant portion of our costs and expenses maynain constant or increase even if our revenuexchine, which would adversely
affect our net margins and results of operations.

A significant portion of our operating costs, ingilng rent and depreciation and amortization, isdixAccordingly, a decrease in reven
could result in a disproportionately higher decesiasour earnings because our operating costs)grehses are unlikely to decrease
proportionately. For example, the New Year and&pFestival holiday periods generally account feveer portion of our annual revenues
than other periods, but our expenses do not vasjgagicantly with changes in occupancy and rexenas we need to continue to pay rent an
salary and to make regular repairs, maintenanceearaations and invest in other capital improvetsiéimroughout the year to maintain the
attractiveness of our hotels. Our property develapinand renovation costs may increase as a rdgultreasing costs of materials. However,
we have a limited ability to pass increased castsustomers through room rate increases. Therefare;osts and expenses may remain
constant or increase even if our revenues deahish would adversely affect our net margins arsliits of operations.

We may not be able to manage our planned growthjolilcould adversely affect our operating results.

Our hotel group has been growing rapidly since egan migrating to our current business of operaimgjmanaging a multi-brand hotel
group. In 2007, we launched our economy hotel pehddanTing Express Hotel, which was subsequeetlyanded as HanTing Hotel, and our
mid-scale limited service hotel product, HanTingélpwhich was subsequently rebranded first as tap$easons Hotel and then as JI Hotel
In May 2012, we completed the acquisition of a 5ddaity interest in Starway Hotels (Hong Kong) Liedf or Starway HK, and we have
retained the Starway brand. In August 2012, we anoed our plan to launch a new hotel brand fougscale market, Joya Hotel. Through
these organic and acquired growths, we increasedumber of our hotels in operation in China fradrh®dtels as of January 1, 2007 to 1,035
hotels as of December 31, 2012, and we intendritirage to develop and operate additional hotetiiffierent geographic locations in China.
This expansion has placed, and will continue teglaubstantial demands on our managerial, opagdtichnological and other resources.
Our planned expansion will also require us to namthe consistency of our products and the quefityur services to ensure that our busines
does not suffer as a result of any deviations, dredctual or perceived, in our quality standadgrder to manage and support our growth
must continue to improve our existing operatioadiministrative and technological systems and awritial and management controls, and
recruit, train and retain qualified hotel managetpemsonnel as well as other administrative anelssahd marketing personnel, particularly as
we expand into new markets. We cannot assure yaiwid will be able to effectively and efficientlyamage the growth of our operations,
recruit and retain qualified personnel and integyregw hotels into our operations. Any failure tieefively and efficiently manage our
expansion may materially and adversely affect dilitato capitalize on new business opportunitiehjch in turn may have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations.
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Expansion into new geographic markets and adddfarew hotel products for which we have limited gimg experience and brand
recognition may present operating and marketing/eringes that are different from those we curreatigounter in our existing markets. Our
expansion within existing markets may cannibalizeexisting hotels in those markets and, as atgsegatively affect our overall results of
operations. Our inability to anticipate the chaggitemands that expanding operations will imposewmmanagement and information and
operational systems, or our failure to quickly adar systems and procedures to the new markait] cesult in losses of revenues and
increases in expenses or otherwise harm our resfuligerations and financial condition. Expansiermtgh the introduction of new hotel
products or brands may also present operating amkleting challenges. There can be no assurancaratew hotel products or brands we
introduce will be well received by our customers &ecome profitable, and if it becomes profitafileill be done in a timely fashion. If a ne
product or brand is not well received by our custsnwe may not be able to generate sufficientmaeeo offset the costs and expenses, and
our overall financial performance and condition nbayadversely affected.

Our multi-brand business strategy exposes us toeptitil risks and its execution may divert managenhattention and resources from
our established brand, and if any of the new hobelnds is not well received by the market, we may Ine able to generate sufficient
revenue to offset related costs and expenses, amdwerall financial performance and condition maye adversely affected.

We rebranded oudanTing Express HotelsHanTing Hotel, ourHanTing Seasons HotabJl Hoteland ourHanTing Hi InnasHi Inn in
2012. In the same year we also acquired the StaHeés! brand and announced our plan to launchdkia Blotel brand in 2013. We are still in
the process of developing the Joya Hotel, JI H&&lrway Hotel and Hi Inn brands on top of our lelsthed brand of HanTing Hotel:

. Joya Hotel is an upscale brand concept targetistpmers of high star-rated hotels. We have limitpérating experience in developing
and operating hotels in the upscale market. Thiedoction of the Joya Hotel brand exposes us terpial risks, including risks
associated with high capital expenditure level aittl entering a highly competitive new mark

. JI Hotel is our organically developed mid-scalenlokaAs of December 31, 2012, we had 32 Jl Hote&pieration and an additional 35 JI
Hotels under development. We plan to further expghedll Hotel network through both the lease madel the manachise model.
However, we may not be able to successfully idgnsiécure and develop in a timely fashion additidh&lotels under the lease model or
to successfully compete for franchise agreememtadditional JI Hotels. The accelerated developroéit Hotels exposes us to poten
risks, including risks associated with high capigbenditures and uncertain financial outco

. Before our acquisition, Starway HK operated unfierftanchise model, without direct management vewlent in the franchised hotels.
After the acquisition of Starway HK, we introdudbe lease and manachise models to the StarwaysHutwhd and gradually converted
the franchised hotels Starway HK had before ouusdtipn to manachised or leased hotels where apjate. We also selectively
terminated the franchise arrangements with ce@tanway Hotels that did not meet the new Starwaypdistandards or did not accept
certain changes we made to the franchise agreenWatintegrated most of Starway Hotels’ supportfions into our existing corporate
platform and significantly reduced the personnel ather operating costs for Starway HK. The actjaisiof Starway HK exposes us to
potential risks, including risks associated witlswecessful transformation of business models ahddan growing the brand networ

. Hi Inns target practical and pri@®nscious travelers. We plan to strengthen theamdtrol over our Hi Inns to remain competitivettirir
target market and improve the RevPAR of Hi Innstigh increasing occupancy. However, we may nobleeta successfully execute
our growth strategy and achieve the desired ptufita level for Hi Inns.
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In addition, we cannot guarantee the size andtpfufity of the various market segments that easl hrand is targeting. The business
models of these four new brands are not provenandannot guarantee that they can generate retunparable to the established HanTing
Hotel brand. The process of developing new branalg divert management attention and resources framestablished HanTing Hotel brand.
We may not be able to find competent managemefittstiead and manage the execution of the muliRdrbusiness strategy. If we are unabl
to successfully execute our multi-brand strategtatget various market segments, we may be unalgerterate revenues from these market
segments in the amounts and by the times we aat&ipr at all, and our business, competitive msifinancial condition and prospects may
be adversely affected.

We may not be able to successfully identify, secame develop in a timely fashion additional hotelgperties under the lease model.

We plan to open more hotels to further grow ouiitess. Under our lease model, we may not be suatésédentifying and leasing
additional hotel properties at desirable locatiand on commercially reasonable terms or at allnEfee are able to successfully identify and
acquire new hotel properties, new hotels may noegse the returns we expect. We may also incus @og€onnection with evaluating hotel
properties and negotiating with property ownersluding properties that we are subsequently unibliease. In addition, we may not be able
to develop additional hotel properties on a timtdgis due to construction or regulatory delaysdffail to successfully identify, secure or
develop in a timely fashion additional hotel prdjesy, our ability to execute our growth strateguldde impaired and our business and
prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

We may not be able to successfully compete for éfsine agreements and, as a result, we may not e tbachieve our planned growth.

Our growth strategy includes expanding through rohising and franchising, both through entering iinémchise agreements with our
franchisees. We believe that our ability to comgetdranchise agreements primarily depends orboamnd recognition and reputation, the
results of our overall operations in general ardsiiccess of the hotels that we currently manaelddranchise. Other competitive factors for
franchise agreements include marketing supporgaigpof the central reservation channel and thityato operate hotels cosffectively. The
terms of any new franchise agreements that wermbtao depend on the terms that our competitoes &f those agreements. In addition, if
the availability of suitable locations for new pesfies decreases, or governmental planning or dalaf regulations change, the supply of
suitable properties for our manachise and franamiséels could be diminished. If the hotels thatmanachise or franchise perform less
successfully than those of our competitors or ifase unable to offer terms as favorable as thdeeasf by our competitors, we may not be i
to compete effectively for new franchise agreemehssa result, we may not be able to achieve camned growth and our business and resul
of operations may be materially and adversely #éfiec

Future acquisitions or strategic investment may leaan adverse effect on our ability to manage ouismess and harm our results of
operations and financial condition.

If we are presented with appropriate opportunitiessmay acquire businesses or assets. Future ammsesvould expose us to potential
risks, including risks associated with unforeseehidden liabilities, risks that acquired hoteldlwbt achieve anticipated performance levels,
diversion of management attention and resources &mar existing business, difficulty in integratitite acquired businesses with our existing
operational infrastructure, and inability to gertersufficient revenues to offset the costs and esge of acquisitions. In addition, following
completion of an acquisition, our management asdueces may be diverted from their core businesgitées due to the integration process,
which diversion may harm the effective manageméouo business. Furthermore, it may not be possibkchieve the expected level of
benefits after integration and the actual costadfvéring such benefits may exceed the anticipatesd. Any difficulties encountered in the
acquisition and integration process may have aeraéveffect on our ability to manage our businesshearm our results of operations and
financial condition. If a strategic investment issuccessful, then in addition to the diversion ahagement attention and resources from our
existing business we may lose the value of ourstmaent, which could have a material adverse effeaiur financial condition and results of
operations.
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Our legal right to lease certain properties coul@ lshallenged by property owners or other third gag or subject to government
regulation.

We do not hold any land use rights with respeth#&oland on which our hotels are located nor deowe any of the hotel properties we
operate. Instead, a substantial part of our busimeslel relies on leases with third parties whioezibwn or lease the properties from the
ultimate property owners. We also grant franchisdsotel operators who may or may not own theiehptoperties. We cannot assure you tha
the land use rights and other property rights wepect to properties we currently lease, manadnif@anchise for our existing hotels will not
be challenged. For example, as of December 31,,2kdessors failed to provide the property owhgrgertificates and/or the land use rights
certificates for 78 properties that we lease farlmtel operations. While we have performed our diligence to verify the rights of our lessors
to lease such properties, including inspecting damtation issued by competent government authséigdencing these lessors’ land use
rights and other property rights with respect &sthproperties that these lessors provided us wéltannot assure you that our rights under
those leases will not be challenged by other paitieluding government authorities.

Under PRC law, all lease agreements are requirbd tegistered with the local housing bureau. Wthiiemajority of our standard lease
agreements require the lessors to make such rgistr some of our leases have not been registesreelquired, which may expose both our
lessors and us to potential monetary fines. Sonmiofights under the unregistered leases mayssubordinated to the rights of other
interested third parties. In addition, in sevenstances where our immediate lessors are not tingat owners of hotel properties, no consent:
or permits were obtained from the owners, the piyniease holders or competent government authsyitie applicable, for the subleases of the
hotel properties to us, which could potentiallyahistate our leases or result in the renegotiatioguoh leases that leads to terms less favorabl
to us. Some of the properties we lease from thamtigs were also subject to mortgages at the tiradelases were signed. Where consent to th
lease was not obtained from the mortgage holdsuéh circumstances, the lease may not be bindirigeotrtansferee of the property if the
mortgage holder forecloses on the mortgage andfeemthe property. Moreover, we cannot assuretlyaithe property ownership or leaset
in connection with our manachised and franchisedlaavill not be subject to similar third-party d¢leages.

Any challenge to our legal rights to the propertised for our hotel operations, if successful, danipair the development or operations
of our hotels in such properties. We are also siltgethe risk of potential disputes with propestyners or third parties who otherwise have
rights to or interests in our hotel properties. Isdisputes, whether resolved in our favor or na@y mivert management’s attention, harm our
reputation or otherwise disrupt our business.

Any failure to comply with land- and property-releti PRC laws and regulations may negatively affegt ability to operate our hotels
and we may suffer significant losses as a result.

Our lessors are required to comply with variougleand property-related laws and regulations tdkntinem to lease effective titles of
their properties for our hotel use. For examplepprties used for hotel operations and the undegliand should be approved for commercial
use purposes by competent government authoritieddition, before any properties located on stateed land with allocated or leased land
use rights or on land owned by collective orgamdiret may be leased to third parties, lessors shahtigin appropriate approvals from the
competent government authorities. As of DecembeRB12, the lessors of approximately half of our@ied lease agreements subject to this
approval requirement did not obtain the requiredegomental approvals. Such failure may subjectabsors or us to monetary fines or other
penalties and may lead to the invalidation or taation of our leases by competent government atiggrand therefore may adversely affect
our ability to operate our leased hotels. While ynahour lessors have agreed to indemnify us agamslosses resulting from their failure to
obtain the required approvals, we cannot assurahatuve will be able to successfully enforce sindlemnification obligations against our
lessors. As a result, we may suffer significanséssresulting from our lessors’ failure to obtaguired approvals to the extent that we could
not be fully indemnified by our lessors.
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Our success could be adversely affected by theguerénce of our manachised and franchised hotels ahefaults or wrongdoings of our
franchisees may affect our reputation, which woutdiversely affect the results of our operations .

Our success could be adversely affected by themeance of our manachised and franchised hoteds,wkiich we have lesser control
compared to our leased hotels. As of December@I2,2ve manachised and franchised approximatelgb®f our hotels, and we plan to
further increase the number of manachised andliised hotels to increase our national presencéiingCOur franchisees for both our
manachised and franchised hotels may not be alldevelop hotel properties on a timely basis, wiichld adversely affect our growth strat
and may impact our ability to collect fees fromrthen a timely basis. Furthermore, given that canc¢hisees are typically responsible for the
costs of developing and operating the hotels, dioly renovating the hotels to our standards, anof &he operating expenses, the quality of
our manachised and franchised hotel operationshaaliminished by factors beyond our control andframchisees may not successfully
operate hotels in a manner consistent with ourdstals and requirements. Our manachised and fratthistels are also operated under our
brand names. If our brands are misused by anyofranchisees, there may be an adverse impact obusiness reputation and brand image.
In addition, like any operators in serviogented industries, we are subject to customerptaims and we may face complaints from unsatis
customers who are unhappy with the standard ofcse=offered by our franchisees. Any complaintsardtess of their nature and validity, may
affect our reputation, thereby adversely affectimgresults of our operations. We may also hawedar additional costs in placating any
customers or salvaging our reputation. If any affoanchisees defaults or commits wrongdoings,aleeuld be situations where the franchises
is not in a position to sufficiently compensatdarslosses which we may have suffered as a resglich defaults or wrongdoings. While we
ultimately can take action to terminate our fraselis that do not comply with the terms of our frése agreements or commit wrongdoings,
we may not be able to identify problems and makely responses and, as a result, our image antatepumay suffer, which may have a
material adverse effect on our results of operation

If we are unable to access funds to maintain ourtbts’ condition and appearance, or if our franchies fail to make investments
necessary to maintain or improve their properti¢ise attractiveness of our hotels and our reputatioauld suffer and our hotel
occupancy rates may decline.

In order to maintain our hotels’ condition and ama@&ce, ongoing renovations and other leaseholtwements, including periodic
replacement of furniture, fixtures and equipmenrd,r@quired. In particular, we manachise and fresechroperties leased or owned by
franchisees under the terms of franchise agreenmutistantially all of which require our franchisee comply with standards that are esse
to maintaining the relevant product integrity and ceputation. We depend on our franchisees to gomith these requirements by
maintaining and improving properties through inwestts, including investments in furniture, fixturamenities and personnel.

Such investments and expenditures require ongoingifig and, to the extent we or our franchiseesa@iund these expenditures from
existing cash or cash flow generated from operatiom or our franchisees must borrow or raise abgitough financing. We or our
franchisees may not be able to access capital anfilamchisees may be unwilling to spend availa@hlgital when necessary, even if require
the terms of our franchise agreements. If we orfiaurchisees fail to make investments necessamyaiatain or improve the properties, our
hotel’s attractiveness and reputation could suffer, wadclmse market share to our competitors and otellemcupancy rates and RevPAR r
decline.

We have incurred losses in the past and may in@sdes in the future.

We incurred net losses attributable to our compeEriMB111.6 million and RMB136.2 million in 2007 @r2008, respectively. Althoug
we had net income attributable to our company ofBR&RI5 million, RMB215.8, RMB114.8 million and RMB4:® million in 2009, 2010,
2011 and 2012 respectively, as we expect our tosterease as we continue to expand our busimebsgerations, we may incur losses in the
future. We cannot assure you that we will achieveustain profitability in the future.

Our leases could be terminated early, we may noabke to renew our existing leases on commerciaigsonable terms and our rents
could increase substantially in the future, whictoald materially and adversely affect our operatians

The lease agreements between our lessors andicallyprovide, among other things, that the leasmdd be terminated under certain
legal or factual conditions. If our leases wereni@ated early, our operation of such properties trajnterrupted or discontinued and we may
incur costs in relocating our operations to otleeations. Furthermore, we may have to pay lossgslamages and incur other liabilities to our
customers and other vendors due to our defaultrumgecontracts. As a result, our business, resdiliperations and financial condition could
be materially and adversely affected.
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We plan to retain the operation of our leased Baipbn lease expiration through (i) renewal oftaxislease or (ii) execution of a
franchise agreement with the lessor. We cannorassw, however, that we will be able to retain batel operation on satisfactory terms, ¢
all. In particular, we may experience an increaseur rent payments and cost of revenues in commmewith renegotiating our leases. If we fail
to retain our hotel operation on satisfactory teupsn lease expiration, our costs may increaseangrofit generated from the hotel operal
may decrease in the future. If we are unable ts gasincreased costs on to our customers thraagh rate increases, our operating margins
and earnings could decrease and our results oatipes could be materially and adversely affected.

Interruption or failure of our information systemsould impair our ability to effectively provide owgervices, which could damage our
reputation.

Our ability to provide consistent and high-qualigrvices and to monitor our operations on a read-thasis throughout our hotel group
depends on the continued operation of our inforomatiéchnology systems, including our web propernagement, central reservation and
customer relationship management systems. Ceréarade to or failure of our systems could interauptinventory management, affect the
manner of our services in terms of efficiency, éstency and quality, and reduce our customer satisi.

Our technology platform plays a central role in management of inventory, revenues, loyalty progaawh franchisees. We also rely on
our website, call center and mobile applicatiofeimlitate customer reservations. Our systems remalnerable to damage or interruption as a
result of power loss, telecommunications failusEsnputer viruses, fires, floods, earthquakes, inf#ions in access to our toll-free numbers,
hacking or other attempts to harm our systems oéimer similar events. Our servers, which are maiethin Shanghai, may also be vulnerable
to break-ins, sabotage and vandalism. Some ofy@terms are not fully redundant, and our disastwery planning does not account for all
possible scenarios. Furthermore, our systems ahtdéogies, including our website and databasddomntain undetected errors or “bugs”
that could adversely affect their performance,ard become outdated and we may not be able tagepdr introduce upgraded systems as
quickly as our competitors or within budgeted cdstssuch upgrades. If we experience frequent,gogéd or persistent system failures, our
quality of services, customer satisfaction, andafpenal efficiency could be severely harmed, whiclild also adversely affect our reputation.
Steps we take to increase the reliability and rddany of our systems may be costly, which couldicecbur operating margin, and there can
be no assurance that whatever increased reliahility be achievable in practice would justify thetsancurred.

Failure to maintain the integrity of internal or catomer data could result in harm to our reputatia@r subject us to costs, liabilities, fines
or lawsuits.

Our business involves collecting and retainingéarglumes of internal and customer data, includireglit card numbers and other
personal information as our various informatiorhtemlogy systems enter, process, summarize andtreyar data. We also maintain
information about various aspects of our businggsations as well as our employees. The integrity@otection of our customer, employee
and company data is critical to our business. @stamners and employees expect that we will adelyuattetect their personal information, &
the regulations applicable to security and privaybecoming increasingly important in China. Alngft, loss, fraudulent or unlawful use of
customer, employee or company data could harmeputation or result in remedial and other costilities, fines or lawsuits.

If the value of our brand or image diminishes, ibald have a material and adverse effect on our lmesis and results of operations.

We offer multiple hotel products that are desigtwethrget distinct segments of customers. Our naetl success in maintaining and
enhancing our brands and image depends, to adatget, on our ability to satisfy customer need$usther developing and maintaining our
innovative and distinctive products and maintaintogsistent quality of services across our hoteligr as well as our ability to respond to
competitive pressures. If we are unable to do sBopocupancy rates may decline, which could in adwersely affect our results of operations.
Our business may also be adversely affected ipabtic image or reputation were to be diminishedh®yoperations of any of our hotels,
whether due to unsatisfactory service, accidentgteerwise. If the value of our products or imagdiminished or if our products do not
continue to be attractive to customers, our busia@sl results of operations may be materially aveisely affected.
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Failure to protect our trademarks and other intettual property rights could have a negative impa&et our brands and adversely affect
our business.

The success of our business depends in part uparoatinued ability to use our brands, trade naamestrademarks to increase brand
awareness and to further develop our productsuhnibethorized reproduction of our trademarks coifuirsh the value of our brands and
their market acceptance, competitive advantaggsadwill. In addition, we consider our proprietéamjormation systems and operational
system to be key components of our competitive aidgge and our growth strategy. We have receivegraiy registration certificates for five
of our major proprietary information systems anddor operational system. However, none of ourrottug proprietary information system t
been patented, copyrighted or otherwise registasealir intellectual property.

Monitoring and preventing the unauthorized usewfintellectual property is difficult. The measumes take to protect our brands, trade
names, trademarks and other intellectual propéghts may not be adequate to prevent their unaizébebuse by third parties. Furthermore, the
application of laws governing intellectual properights in China and abroad is evolving and coniglve substantial risks to us. In particular,
the laws and enforcement procedures in the PR@rarertain and do not protect intellectual propedits to the same extent as do the laws
and enforcement procedures in the United Stateo#m developed countries. If we are unable taadiely protect our brands, trade names,
trademarks and other intellectual property righws,may lose these rights and our business mayrsutiterially.

We may also be subject to claims for infringementalidity, or indemnification relating to third pées’ intellectual property rights. Such
claims may be timeonsuming and costly to defend, divert managemtgrtion and resources, or require us to enterlioémsing agreemen
which may not be available on commercially reaststdrms, or at all.

If we are not able to retain, hire and train qual#éd managerial and other employees, our businesg/a materially and adversely
affected.

Our managerial and other employees manage ourstatel interact with our customers on a daily basisy are critical to maintaining
the quality and consistency of our services as agbur established brands and reputation. In gerenployee turnover, especially those in
lower-level positions, is relatively high in thedlging industry. As a result, it is important fortosretain as well as attract qualified managerial
and other employees who are experienced in lodgirggher consumeservice industries. There is a limited supply aftsqualified individual
in some of the cities in China where we have ojmratand other cities into which we intend to exghdn addition, we need to hire and train
qualified managerial and other employees on a tirhakis to keep pace with our rapid growth whileén@aning consistent quality of services
across our hotels in various geographic locatigvs must also provide continuous training to our aggmial and other employees so that they
have up-to-date knowledge of various aspects ofhotel operations and can meet our demand for tighiity services. If we fail to do so, the
quality of our services may decrease, which in,toray have a material and adverse effect on owtyats and business.

Our current employment practices may be adverseipacted under the labor contract law of the PRC.

China’s labor contract law imposes requirementsenring, among others, the execution of writtentizats between employers and
employees, the time limits for probationary periaaisd the length of fixeterm employment contracts. Due to its limited higtand the lack c
clear implementation rules, it is uncertain hove labor contract law will impact our current emptmnt practices. We cannot assure you that
our employment practices do not, or will not, vitel#his labor contract law or that we will not hdbgect to related penalties, fines or legal fees
If we are subject to severe penalties or incuriBant legal fees in connection with labor lawpmlises or investigations, our business, financia
condition and results of operations may be adveisibcted. In addition, a significant number of employees are contracted through third-
party human resources companies, which are redggerier managing, among others, payrolls, socisiiiance contributions and local
residency permits of these employees. We may nableeto continue this practice under this labortiact law, which would increase our
human resources administration expenses. Even @aallowed to continue this practice, we may &ld fointly liable under this labor
contract law for any damages to such employeesdadnsthese human resources companies includihgvbmes, if the human resources
company fails to pay such employees their wageo#met benefits. If we are subject to large peesltr fees related to the new labor contrac
law, our business, financial condition and resoftsperations may be materially and adversely &fic
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Failure to retain our management team could harm obusiness.

We place substantial reliance on the experiencelanhstitutional knowledge of members of our entrmanagement team. Mr. Qi Ji,
our founder, executive chairman and chief execuiffieer, and other members of the management tr@nparticularly important to our future
success due to their substantial experiences girigcdand other consumer-service industries. Findintable replacements for Mr. Qi Ji and
other members of our management team could beuiffiand competition for such personnel of simdaperience is intense. The loss of the
services of one or more members of our manageraant tlue to their departures or otherwise coulddrindr ability to effectively manage ¢
business and implement our growth strategies.

We are subject to various franchise, hotel industopnstruction, hygiene, health and safety and exvimental laws and regulations that
may subject us to liability.

Our business is subject to various compliance gadational requirements under PRC laws. For exam@eare required to obtain the
approval from, and file initial and annual reposith, the PRC Ministry of Commerce, or the MOCgetagage in the hotel franchising business
In addition, each of our hotels is required to abtaspecial industry license and a fire contrgirapal issued by the local public security
bureau, to have hotel operations included in trgriass scope of its business license, to obtaifehggermits and environmental impact
assessment approvals, and to comply with licergginements and laws and regulations with respecbistruction permit, zoning, fire
prevention, public area hygiene, food safety, pusdifety and environmental protection. See “Itenmfbrmation on the Company — B.
Business Overview — Regulation — Regulations oneHOperation.” If we fail to comply with any appdible construction, hygiene, health
and safety, and environmental laws and regulatieladed to our business, we may be subject to patigrsignificant monetary damages and
fines or the suspension of our operations or dgveént activities. Furthermore, new regulations dalo require us to retrofit or modify our
hotels or incur other significant expenses. Ii$® aossible that new zoning plans or regulatigieable to a specific location may cause
relocate our hotel(s) in that location, or requidelitional approvals and licenses that may notrbatgd to us promptly or at all, which may
adversely affect our operating results. Any failoyeus to control the use of, or to adequatelyrictghe discharge of, hazardous substances in
our development activities, or to otherwise openatgompliance with environmental laws could alabjsct us to potentially significant
monetary damages and fines or the suspension dfatel development activities or hotel operatiamsich could materially adversely affect
our financial condition and results of operatidBeme of our hotels are not in full compliance véthof the applicable requirements. Such
failure to comply with applicable construction pé;renvironmental, health and safety laws and rafguis related to our business and hotel
operation may subject us to potentially significam@netary damages and fines or the suspensionestipns and development activities of
company or related hotels. We cannot guaranteenhatill not be subject to any challenges or otietions with respect to such
noncompliance.

Owners of our manachised and franchised hotelsubgct to these same permit and safety requiremAftihough our franchise
agreements require these owners to obtain and aaiglt required permits or licenses, we have Bahicontrol over these owners. Any failure
to obtain and maintain the required permits omig=s by any owner of a manachised or franchiseal hwty require us to delay opening of the
manachised or franchised hotel or to forgo or teat@ our franchise agreement, which could harmbeoamd, result in lost revenues and subjec
us to potential indirect liability.

Our limited insurance coverage may expose us tséss which may have a material adverse effect onreputation, business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We carry all mandatory and certain optional comma¢rsurance, including property, business intgtian, money, fidelity guarantee,
construction, third-party liability, public liabil, product’s liability and employer’s liability surance for our leased hotel operations. We also
require our lessors and franchisees to purchadernasy insurance policies. Although we are ableetpuire our franchisees to obtain the
requisite insurance coverage through our franchisenagement, we cannot guarantee that our lesgbasihere to such requirements. In
particular, there are inherent risks of accidentsjaries in hotels. One or more accidents orrigjsiat any of our hotels could adversely affect
our safety reputation among customers and potesuiibmers, decrease our overall occupancy ratemarease our costs by requiring us to
take additional measures to make our safety prieresueéven more visible and effective. In the fufuve may be unable to renew our insuranc
policies or obtain new insurance policies withaudreases in cost or decreases in coverage levelsn&y also encounter disputes with
insurance providers regarding payments of clairaswe believe are covered under our policies. feuntiore, if we are held liable for amounts
and claims exceeding the limits of our insuranceecage or outside the scope of our insurance cgeerr reputation, business, financial
condition and results of operations may be matgréaid adversely affected.
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If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal control over financial reporting, we may not kable to accurately report our financi:
results or prevent fraud.

We are subject to reporting obligations under th®. decurities laws. The Securities and Exchanger@ission, or the SEC, as required
by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002he Sarbanes-Oxley Act, adopted rules requiriregyepublic company to include in its
annual report a management report on such compargimal control over financial reporting contaigimanagement’s assessment of the
effectiveness of its internal control over finarcigporting. In addition, an independent registgrallic accounting firm must attest to and
report on the effectiveness of such company’s imatiecontrol over financial reporting except where tompany is a non-accelerated filer. We
currently are an accelerated filer.

Our management has concluded that our internat@omter financial reporting was effective as ofdember 31, 2012. See “ltem 15.
Controls and Procedures.” Our independent regidtenblic accounting firm has issued an attestatmort as of December 31, 2012. See
“ltem 15. Controls and Procedures—Attestation Repbthe Registered Public Accounting Firm.” Howguéwe fail to maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting in thedte, our management and our independent regispergiect accounting firm may not be able to
conclude that we have effective internal contrardinancial reporting. This could in turn resultthe loss of investor confidence in the
reliability of our financial statements and negalyvimpact the trading price of our ADSs. Furthermyave have incurred and anticipate that we
will continue to incur considerable costs, manag&ntiene and other resources in an effort to comtittucomply with Section 404 and other
requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

We may not be able to develop hotel properties dimely or cost-efficient basis, which may advessaffect our growth strategy and
business.

We develop all of our leased hotels directly. Gwolvement in the development of properties presantumber of risks, including
construction delays or cost overruns, which maultes increased project costs or forgone revelfde.may be unable to recover developmen
costs we incur for projects that do not reach cetigh. Properties that we develop could becomedtgactive due to market saturation or
oversupply, and as a result we may not be abledover development costs at the expected rate adr &urthermore, we may not have
available cash to complete projects that we hawenoenced, or we may be unable to obtain financinghfe development of future properties
on favorable terms, if at all. If we are unablestcessfully manage our hotel development to mizerttiese risks, our growth strategy and
business prospects may be adversely affected.

We, our directors, management and employees maguigect to certain risks related to legal proceegtfiled by or against us, and
adverse results may harm our business.

We cannot predict with certainty the cost of deéerike cost of prosecution or the ultimate outcoféigation and other proceedings
filed by or against us, our directors, managemeseinaployees, including remedies or damage awardkadverse results in such litigation and
other proceedings may harm our business or reputeafiuch litigation and other proceedings may ide/lbut are not limited to, actions relas
to intellectual property, commercial arrangemeetsployment, norcompetition and labor law, fiduciary duties, perslanjury, death, proper
damage or other harm resulting from acts or omissity individuals or entities outside of our cohtioecluding franchisees and third-party
property owners. In the case of intellectual propktigation and proceedings, adverse outcomeddcimglude the cancellation, invalidation or
other loss of material intellectual property righted in our business and injunctions prohibitinguse of business processes or technology
that is subject to third-party patents or otherdtparty intellectual property rights.

We generally are not liable for the willful actioosour franchisees and property owners; howeberetis no assurance that we would be
insulated from liability in all cases.
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We may be liable for improper use or appropriatiofipersonal information provided by members of ddanTing Club.

PRC laws do not prohibit us from collecting andlgniag the personal information of our HanTing Clmembers and we require our
members to provide certain personal informationgavhen they register their membership. We haventaommercially reasonable measures
to keep the personal information safe and havedmphted a privacy policy regarding the use of snfdrmation. However, we cannot assure
you that individuals with access to personal infation will abide by our privacy policy or that tpersonal information will not b
appropriated by third parties, such as hackers;lwimay result in the inappropriate use or reledseich information and could lead to
potential lawsuits from members of our HanTing Céurdl liability to us for not protecting their pensd information.

Risks Related to Doing Business in China

Adverse changes in economic and political policaidthe PRC government could have a material adveefiect on the overall economic
growth of China, which could adversely affect ouniness.

We conduct substantially all of our business openatin China. As the lodging industry is highlyhsiive to business and personal
discretionary spending levels, it tends to dectingng general economic downturns. Accordingly, @sults of operations, financial condition
and prospects are subject to a significant degreeanomic developments in China. China’s econoiffigrd from the economies of most
developed countries in many respects, including waspect to the amount and degree of governmealviement and influence on the level of
development, growth rate, control of foreign exaf@and allocation of resources. While the PRC eegnioas experienced significant growth
in the past 30 years, growth has been uneven adiffexent regions and among various economic seabChina. The PRC government has
implemented various measures to encourage ecordeuaopment and guide the allocation of resouM#sle some of these measures ber
the overall PRC economy, they may also have a ivegeffect on us. For example, our results of opena and financial condition may be
adversely affected by government control over edqpitvestments or changes in environmental, helatior or tax regulations that are
applicable to us.

As the PRC economy is increasingly intricately édito the global economy, it is affected in varicespects by downturns and recess
of major economies around the world, such as tbkajifinancial crisis and sovereign debt crisiEimrope. Stimulus measures designed to he
China weather the global financial crisis may cibitie to higher inflation, which could adverselfe&t our results of operations and financial
condition. For example, certain operating costsexpknses, such as employee compensation andopetaiting expenses, may increase as a
result of higher inflation. Measures to control gfeee of economic growth may cause a decrease ievtkl of economic activity in China,
which in turn could adversely affect our result®©pérations and financial condition. The PRC econbas been transitioning from a planned
economy to a more market-oriented economy. AlthahghPRC government has implemented measurestbiadate 1970s emphasizing the
utilization of market forces for economic reformetreduction of state ownership of productive asaetl the establishment of improved
corporate governance in business enterprises,saasgulal portion of productive assets in Chindiis@vned by the PRC government. In
addition, the PRC government continues to playaicant role in regulating industry developmegtitmposing industrial policies.

The PRC government also exercises significant obotrer China’s economic growth through the allamabf resources, controlling
payment of foreign currency-denominated obligati@esting monetary policy and providing preferdrtieatment to particular industries or
companies. Certain measures adopted by the PRCGrgpeat, such as changes of the People’s Bank afahstatutory deposit reserve ratio
and lending guideline imposed on commercial bamies; restrict loans to certain industries. Thesmast as well as future actions and polic
of the PRC government, could materially affect liguidity and access to capital and our abilityoferate our business.

Inflation in China may disrupt our business and havan adverse effect on our financial condition amesults of operations.

The Chinese economy has experienced rapid expatwgjether with rising rates of inflation and incsemy salary. The salary increase
could potentially increase discretionary spendindravel, but general inflation may also erode désble incomes and consumer spending.
Furthermore, certain components of our operatirggscancluding personnel, food, laundry, consunmshbled property development and
renovation costs, may increase as a result of@ease in the cost of materials and labor resuftimg general inflation. However, we cannot
guarantee that we can pass increased costs tarerstthrough room rate increases. This could adiyeimpact our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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Uncertainties with respect to the Chinese legalteys could limit the legal protections available o and our investors and have a
material adverse effect on our business and resolft®perations.

The PRC legal system is a civil law system basedritten statutes. Unlike in common law systemgmeourt decisions may be cited
for reference but have limited precedential vakiace the PRC legal system continues to rapidiyveyehe interpretations of many laws,
regulations and rules are not always uniform arfdreament of these laws, regulations and rulesliguncertainties, which may limit legal
protections available to us. For example, we masetia resort to administrative and court proceesliogenforce the legal protection that we
enjoy either by law or contract. However, since PRIhinistrative and court authorities have sigaificdiscretion in interpreting and
implementing statutory and contractual terms, iy in@ more difficult than in more developed legatsyns to evaluate the outcome of
administrative and court proceedings and the lef/klgal protection we enjoy. These uncertaintiey impede our ability to enforce the
contracts we have entered into. In addition, suatertainties, including the inability to enforcer@antracts, could materially and adversely
affect our business and operations. Accordinglycamnot predict the effect of future developmentthe PRC legal system, including the
promulgation of new laws, changes to existing lawthe interpretation or enforcement thereof, ergheemption of local regulations by
national laws. These uncertainties could limitlggal protections available to us and other foréiyestors, including you. In addition, any
litigation in China may be protracted and resulsuibstantial costs and diversion of our resourndsn@anagement attention.

Rapid urbanization and changes in zoning and urbatanning in China may cause our leased hotels todmmolished, removed or
otherwise affected and our franchise agreementddmminate.

China is undergoing a rapid urbanization procesd,zoning requirements and other governmental naadeth respect to urban
planning of a particular area may change from tiongme. When there is a change in zoning requirgmer other governmental mandates
respect to the areas where our hotels are locttedffected hotels may need to be demolishedneoved. We have experienced such
demolition and relocation in the past and we magoanter additional demolition and relocation caedke future. For example, in 2012 we
were obligated to demolish one leased hotel diecal government zoning requirements and, as dtyegwte off property and equipment of
RMB3.0 million. We recorded this write-off as a edé@ble in other current assets as of Decembe2@ll2 and recognized no gain or loss in
2012. In addition, as of December 31, 2012, we wetdied by local government authorities that waynmave to demolish four additional
leased hotels due to local zoning requirements.f@anchise agreements typically provide that if th@nachised or franchised hotels are
demolished, the franchise agreements will termidat@012, we were obligated to demolish one maisachhotel due to local government
zoning requirements. We cannot assure you thatsgigheémolitions, termination of franchise agreemsemtinterruptions of our hotel operations
due to zoning or other local regulations will notar in the future. Any such further demolition aetbcation could cause us to lose primary
locations for our hotels and we may not be ablectieve comparable operation results followingréiecations. While we may be reimbursed
for such demolition and relocation, we cannot assou that the reimbursement, as determined byelbgant government authorities, will be
sufficient to cover our direct and indirect loss&scordingly, our business, results of operatiomd inancial condition could be adversely
affected.

Governmental control of currency conversion may linour ability to pay dividends in foreign currenes to our shareholders and
therefore adversely affect the value of your invasnt.

The PRC government imposes controls on the comlastiof RMB into foreign currencies and, in cdrtaases, the remittance of
currency out of China. See “Item 4. Informationtbea Company — B. Business Overview — Regulation egiations on Foreign Currency
Exchange” for discussions of the principal regolasi and rules governing foreign currency exchandeéhina. We receive substantially all of
our revenues in RMB. For most capital account iteampproval from appropriate government authorisagquired where RMB is to be
converted into foreign currency and remitted ou€bfna to pay capital expenses such as the repayfhbank loans denominated in foreign
currencies. The PRC government may also at itsatisa restrict access in the future to foreigrmrencies for current account transactions. If
the foreign exchange control system prevents um fibtaining sufficient foreign currency to satisiyr currency demands, we may not be able
to pay dividends in foreign currencies to our shaléers, including holders of our ADSs, which woaliiversely affect the value of your
investment.
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Fluctuation in the value of the Renminbi may haveraaterial adverse effect on your investment.

The value of the Renminbi against the U.S. doHamo and other currencies is affected by, amongrdtiings, changes in China'’s
political and economic conditions and China’s fgreexchange policies.

Our revenues and costs are mostly denominateciRé&mminbi, and a significant portion of our fineExi@ssets are also denominated in
the Renminbi. We rely substantially on dividend&lga us by our operating subsidiaries in Chinay Amgnificant depreciation of the Renmi
against the U.S. dollar may have a material adveffset on our revenues, and the value of, anddariglends payable on, our ADSs and
ordinary shares. If we decide to convert our Reimimto U.S. dollars for the purpose of making pays for dividends on our ordinary sha
or for other business purposes, depreciation oRémr@minbi against the U.S. dollar would reduceldtf®. dollar amount available to us. On the
other hand, to the extent that we need to convest tbllars into Renminbi for our operations, apfaton of the Renminbi against the U.S.
dollar would have an adverse effect on the Rennanimunt we receive from the conversion. See “ltdmQuantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk — Foreign Exchange&Rfior discussions of our exposure to foreign enay risks. In summary, fluctuation in
the value of the Renminbi in either direction cohftle a material adverse effect on the value otompany and the value of your investment

Our failure to obtain the prior approval of the Chia Securities Regulatory Commission, or the CSR@, dur initial public offering and
the listing and trading of our ADSs of the NASDAQI@bal Select Market could have a material adver$teet on our business, operating
results, reputation and trading price of our ADSeecent regulations also establish more complex gdares for acquisitions conducted
by foreign investors which could make it more dfilt to pursue growth through acquisitions.

In 2006, six PRC regulatory agencies jointly addgteeRegulations on Mergers and Acquisitions of Domdstiterprises by Foreign
Investors, or the New M&A Rule. See “Item 4. Information tire Company — B. Business Overview — Regulation egitations on
Overseas Listing.” While the application of the NB&A Rule remains unclear, we believe, based onatthece of our PRC counsel, that
CSRC approval is not required in the context ofiaitial public offering because we established BRC subsidiaries by means of direct
investment other than by merger or acquisitionahdstic companies, and we started to operate aimdas in the PRC through foreign
invested enterprises before September 8, 200&ftbetive date of the New M&A Rule. However, we nahassure you that the relevant PRC
government agency, including the CSRC, would réhetsame conclusion as our PRC counsel. If the C&Rther PRC regulatory body
subsequently determines that CSRC’s approval wasresl for our initial public offering, we may fasanctions by the CSRC or other PRC
regulatory agencies, which could have a materiaéest effect on our business, financial conditiesplts of operations, reputation and
prospects, as well as the trading price of our ADSs

Certain recently enacted PRC laws and regulatmund) as the New M&A Rule and tReiles of Ministry of Commerce on Implemente
of Security Review System of Mergers and Acquisitid Domestic Enterprises by Foreign Investarsthe MOC Security Review Rule, wh
was promulgated by the MOC in August 2011 and beceffective on September 1, 2011, also establiaddiional procedures and
requirements that could make mergers and acquisitiy foreign investors more time-consuming andpem

The New M&A Rule requires, among other things, thetMOC be notified prior to any change-of-contrahsaction in which a foreign
investor acquires control of a PRC domestic entsepr a foreign company with substantial PRC ajpeans, if certain thresholds under the
Provisions on Thresholds for Prior Notification @bncentrations of Undertaking, issued by the State Council on August 3, 2008ewe
triggered. The MOC Security Review Rule requirespag other things, that any acquisition by fordigrestors of PRC companies engaging
in military related or certain other industriestthee crucial to national security be subject twusiy review before consummation of such
acquisition.

In the future, we may grow our business in parabguiring complementary businesses. Complying thighrequirements of these
regulations to complete such transactions coultinbe-consuming, and any required approval procegsesiding obtaining approval from the
MOC, may delay or inhibit our ability to completech transactions, which could affect our abilityebgpand our business or maintain our
market share.
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Recent PRC regulations relating to the establishmehoffshore special purpose companies by PRCdaesis may subject our PRC
resident shareholders to personal liability and linour ability to inject capital into our PRC subdiaries, limit our PRC subsidiaries’
ability to distribute profits to us, or otherwisadgersely affect us.

In October 2005, the State Administration of Fonelitxchange, or the SAFE, promulgated Kwgice on Relevant Issues Concerning
Foreign Exchange Control on Domestic Resid Corporate Financing and Roundtrip Investment Tugb Offshore Special Purpose
Vehicles, or Circular 75. SAFE later issued a series oflamqentation guidance, including the most red¢atice of SAFE on Printing and
Distributing the Implementing Rules for the Adntirsison of Foreign Exchange in Futrraising and Round-trip Investment Activities of
Domestic Residents Conducted via Offshore Speaigdde Companie, or Circular 19, which came into effect on July2Q11. Their
regulations require PRC residents who use assetguity interests in their PRC entities as capitadtributions to establish offshore companie:s
or inject assets or equity interests in their PR(lies into offshore companies to register witbdbSAFE branches. See “ltem 4. Information
on the Company — B. Business Overview — RegulatioRegulations on Offshore Financinfyt discussions of the registration requirem
and the relevant penalties.

We attempt to comply, and attempt to ensure thasbareholders and beneficial owners of our shahesare subject to these rules
comply, with the relevant requirements. We canmovidle any assurance that our shareholders anditi@hewners of our shares who are
PRC residents have complied or will comply with tequirements imposed by Circular 75 or other eglatiles either. Any failure by any of
our shareholders and beneficial owners of our shale are PRC domestic residents to comply wittmaait requirements under this regula
could subject us to fines or sanctions imposedbByRRC government, including restrictions on olevant subsidiary’s ability to pay
dividends or make distributions to us and our gbib increase our investment in China.

We rely principally on dividends and other distribans on equity paid by our subsidiaries to fundynash and financing requirements
we may have, and any limitation on the ability ofitosubsidiaries to make payments to us could haveaaterial adverse effect on our
ability to conduct our business.

We are a holding company, and we rely principatiydévidends from our subsidiaries in China for oash requirements, including any
debt we may incur. Current PRC regulations permnitsubsidiaries to pay dividends to us only ouheir accumulated profits, if any,
determined in accordance with PRC accounting stasdand regulations. In addition, each of our slibsies in China are required to set aside
a certain amount of its aftéax profits each year, if any, to fund certainstaty reserves. These reserves are not distriteitsbtash dividenc
As of December 31, 2012, a total of RMB49.6 millwwas not distributable in the form of dividendsudue to these PRC regulations.
Furthermore, if our subsidiaries in China incurtded their own behalf in the future, the instrunsegbverning the debt may restrict their ab
to pay dividends or make other payments to us.ifidtaility of our subsidiaries to distribute divid#shor other payments to us could materially
and adversely limit our ability to grow, make intrasnts or acquisitions that could be beneficiaduobusinesses, pay dividends, or otherwise
fund and conduct our business.

We may be subject to fines and legal sanctions isgmbby SAFE or other Chinese government authoritéesl our ability to further grant
shares or share options to, and to adopt additioshbre incentive plans for, our directors and empé®s may be restricted if we or the
participants of our share incentive plans fail tomply with PRC regulations relating to employee sbs or share options granted by
offshore special purpose companies or offshoredstompanies to PRC participants.

In February 2012, the SAFE issued Nhatice on Relevant Issues Concerning Foreign Exgeaontrol on Domestic Individuals
Participating in the Stock Incentive Plan of An @eas Listed Compar, or Circular 7, which requires PRC individual peigants of stock
incentive plans to register with the SAFE and tmptly with a series of other requirements. See “lferinformation on the Company — B.
Business Overview — Regulation — Regulations orefgor Currency ExchangeWe are an offshore listed company and as a resuéingd th
participants of our share incentive plans who &€ Ritizens or foreigners having lived within tteeritory of the PRC successively for at least
one year, or, collectively, the PRC participants, subject to Circular 7. While we completed theefign exchange registration procedures and
complied with other requirements according to dac’ in June 2012, we cannot provide any assurdrateve or the PRC individual
participants of our share incentive plans have dmtr will comply with the requirements imposeg ®@ircular 7. If we or the PRC
participants of our share incentive plans faildonply with Circular 7, we or the PRC participantoar share incentive plans may be subjer
fines or other legal sanctions imposed by SAFEtbeoPRC government authorities and our abilitfutther grant shares or share options
under our share incentive plans to, and to adaflitiadal share incentive plans for, our directansl @mployees may be restricted. Such event:
could adversely affect our business operations.
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It is unclear whether we will be considered as a@Resident enterprise” under the EIT law, and depding on the determination of our
PRC “resident enterprise” status, dividends paidue by our PRC subsidiaries may be subject to PRtbholding tax, we may be subject
to 25% PRC income tax on our worldwide income, amalders of our ADSs or ordinary shares may be sudjio PRC withholding tax on
dividends paid by us and gains realized on theartsfer of our ADSs or ordinary shares.

In 2007, the PRC National People’'s Congress passdthterprise Income Tax Laywand the PRC State Council subsequently issued tf
Implementation Regulations of the Enterprise Incdiae Law. The Enterprise Income Tax Law and its ImpleméotaRegulations, or the El
Law, provides that enterprises established outsidghina whose e factomanagement bodies” are located in China are comsideesident
enterprises.” Currently, there are no detailedsroleprecedents governing the procedures and &pexteria for determining te facto
management body” and it is still unclear if the PR authorities would determine that we shoulalassified as a PRC “resident enterprise.”

Under the EIT Law, dividends paid to us by our sdibsies in China may be subject to a 10% withhuddiax if we are considered a
“non-resident enterprise.” If we are treated aRR&President enterpriseye will be subject to PRC income tax on our worldevincome at tr
25% uniform tax rate, which could have an impacbaneffective tax rate and an adverse effect ametiincome and results of operations,
although dividends distributed from our PRC sulasids to us could be exempt from the PRC divideitbdhelding tax, since such income is
exempted under the EIT Law to a PRC resident rectpif we are required under the EIT Law to pagoime tax on any dividends we receive
from our subsidiaries, our income tax expensesinéiease and the amount of dividends, if any, vag pay to our shareholders and ADS
holders may be materially and adversely affecte@ddition, dividends we pay with respect to oursbr ordinary shares and the gains
realized from the transfer of our ADSs or ordingimares may be considered as income derived frones®within the PRC and be subject to
PRC withholding tax. See “ltem 10. Additional Infeation — E. Taxation — PRC Taxation.”

We face uncertainty from PRC value-added tax refgrwhich could result in unfavorable tax consequersct® us.

On October 26, 2011 the State Council of China@pgat a new tax rule to launch the value-addeddform pilot program in Shanghai
on January 1, 2012. On November 16, 2011, the kynedf Finance of China and the State Administratd Taxation of China jointly issued
the Circular on the Pilot Program for the Collection ¥alue Added-Tax Instead of Business ;TaxCircular 110, and th@ircular on the Pilot
Program for the Collection of Value AdcTax Instead of Business Tax in Transportation @edain Modern Service Sectors in Shanghai
Circular 111, to provide specific implementatiotesifor the pilot program, which became effectimeJanuary 1, 2012. As part of a tax
replacement policy, Circular 110 and Circular 1lléve companies in the traffic and transport seetod certain modern service sectors in
Shanghai to switch from being a business tax paybeing a value-added tax payer. Starting fronudgnl, 2012, a 17% value-added tax rate
will apply to the movable property leasing sector,11% rate to the traffic and transport sectorafélo rate to sectors related to research anc
development, technological services, culture, kiggsand consultation. Value-added tax payers ealuct expenses incurred in providing the
relevant services from the taxable income. On Augu2012, the pilot program started to extendrotlaer eight provinces and cities, includ
Jiangsu Province. HanTing Technology (Suzhou) Cid., one of our major subsidiaries located in genProvince, has been subject to this
new valueadded tax reform pilot program since October 2@&2the new pilot program was just being rolled asibf January 1, 2012 and ¢
is in a trial phase, its impact on our future ofierais uncertain.

The audit report included in this annual report wasepared by auditors who are not inspected by Bublic Company Accounting
Oversight Board and, as such, you are deprivedtaf benefits of such inspection.

Our independent registered public accounting finat fssues the audit reports included in our anregrts filed with the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission, as auditorsrapanies that are traded publicly in the Uniteatest and a firm registered with the Un
States Public Company Accounting Oversight Boardhe PCAOB, is required by the laws of the UniBtdtes to undergo regular inspections
by the PCAOB to assess its compliance with the wesprofessional standards of the United Statesa@se our auditors are located in the
Peoples’ Republic of China, a jurisdiction where BCAOB is currently unable to conduct inspectiitout the approval of the Chinese
authorities, our auditors are not currently inspddty the PCAOB.
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Inspections of other firms that the PCAOB has catelt outside China have identified deficienciethwse firms’ audit procedures and
quality control procedures, which may be addresseplart of the inspection process to improve futwrdit quality. The lack of PCAOB
inspections in China prevents the PCAOB from redykevaluating our auditor’s audits and its quatiyntrol procedures. As a result, investors
may be deprived of the benefits of PCAOB inspedtion

The inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspectiorisaaditors in China makes it more difficult to ewate the effectiveness of our
auditor’s audit procedures and quality control paures as compared to auditors outside of Chirtaatieasubject to PCAOB inspections. As a
result, investors may lose confidence in our regzbfinancial information and procedures and thdityuaf our financial statements.

We may be adversely affected by the outcome obtirainistrative proceedings brought by the SEC agsifive accounting firms in
China.

Recently, the SEC commenced administrative proogsdinder Rule 102(e) of its Rules of Practiceaad under the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act against the Chinese affiliates of the “big fd@ccounting firms, including our auditors, and@against BDO China Dahua. The Rule 102
(e) proceedings initiated by the SEC relate todHems’ failure to produce documents, includinglworkpapers, to the request of the SEC
pursuant to Section 106 of the Sarbanes-Oxleyascthe auditors located in the PRC are not in @ipodawfully to produce documents
directly to the SEC because of restrictions und®€ Paw and specific directives issued by the CSRLCthe administrative proceedings are
ongoing, it is impossible to determine their outeoon the consequences thereof to us. We are nalivetw in these proceedings and are not
subject to any SEC investigations. The issuesddigehe proceedings are not specific to our auslivo to us, but affect all audit firms base«
China and all China-based businesses with seaufisiied in the United States. However, if the adstiative judge were to find in favor of the
SEC under the proceedings and depending upontiedies sought by the SEC, these audit firms, inetudur auditors, could be barred from
practicing before the SEC and hence unable to moatio be the auditors for China-based comparkeolirselves. As a result, listed
companies in the United States with major PRC dmeramay find it difficult or impossible to retaauditors in respect of their operations in
the PRC, which may result in their inability to rtieg the ongoing reporting requirements under Je8urities laws and ultimately their
deregistration and delisting. Moreover, any negatigws about the proceedings against these audg, fincluding our auditors, may erode
investor confidence in China-based, United Stasésd companies, including us, and the market micaur ADSs may be adversely affected.

Risks Relating to Our ADSs and Our Trading Market
The market price for our ADSs has been and may éoué to be volatile.

The market price for our ADSs has been volatile laaslranged from a low of US$10.51 to a high of US$5 on the NASDAQ Global
Select Market in 2012. The market price is sultigeetide fluctuations in response to various fagtorsluding the following:

. actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quartenberating results

. changes in financial estimates by securities rebeamalysts

. conditions in the travel and lodging industri

. changes in the economic performance or market tfahsof other lodging companie

. announcements by us or our competitors of new mtsdacquisitions, strategic partnerships, joimtuees or capital commitment
. addition or departure of key personr

. fluctuations of exchange rates between the RMBWu& dollar or other foreign currencie
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. potential litigation or administrative investigatiy
. release of loc-up or other transfer restrictions on our outstagpdidSs or ordinary shares or sales of additionaB&Panc
. general economic or political conditions in Chi

In addition, the market prices for companies wiplei@tions in China in particular have experiencaatiity that might have been
unrelated to the operating performance of such eomes. The securities of some China-based comp#raehave listed their securities in the
United States have experienced significant votgtilince their initial public offerings, includin@ some cases, substantial declines in the
market prices of their securities. The performamicthe securities of these China-based companiestakir offerings may affect the attitudes
of investors toward Chinese companies listed inLthited States, which consequently may impact #réopmance of our ADSs, regardless of
our actual operating performance. In addition, aegative news or perceptions about inadequate @ggovernance practices or fraudulent
accounting, corporate structure or other mattergttodr China-based companies may also negatividgtahe attitudes of investors towards
China-based companies in general, including usrdigss of whether we have engaged in any inapiptegactivities.

The global financial crisis and the ensuing ecomomcessions in many countries have contributechzadcontinue to contribute to
extreme volatility in the global stock markets, Isas the large declines in share prices in theedrfitates, China and other jurisdictions at
various times since 2008. These broad market ahbiry fluctuations may adversely affect the pa€eur ADSs, regardless of our operating
performance.

We may need additional capital, and the sale of diddal ADSs or other equity securities could resih additional dilution to our
shareholders and the incurrence of additional indedness could increase our debt service obligations

We believe that our current cash and cash equitslanticipated cash flow from operations and ttee@eds from our past capital
markets fundraising activities, and from undrawnlberedit facilities available to us will be suiént to meet our anticipated cash needs fo
foreseeable future. We may, however, require aafditicash resources due to changed business omsdisitrategic acquisitions or other future
developments, including expansion through leaseéeldhiand any investments or acquisitions we majdddo pursue. If these resources are
insufficient to satisfy our cash requirements, wayrseek to sell additional equity or debt secwgitieobtain a credit facility. The sale of
additional equity and equity-linked securities abrésult in additional dilution to our shareholdérke incurrence of indebtedness would resul
in increased debt service obligations and couldlr@s operating and financing covenants that waektrict our operations. We cannot assure
you that financing will be available in amountsoorterms acceptable to us, if at

Future sales or issuances, or perceived future sade issuances, of substantial amounts of our ordig shares or ADSs could adversely
affect the price of our ADSs.

If our existing shareholders sell, or are perceigsdhtending to sell, substantial amounts of adimary shares or ADSs, including those
issued upon the exercise of our outstanding stptikies, the market price of our ADSs could fallcBsales, or perceived potential sales, by
our existing shareholders might make it more difiéor us to issue new equity or equity-relatedwsiies in the future at a time and place we
deem appropriate. Shares held by our existing bbaters may be sold in the public market in thefatsubject to the restrictions contained in
Rule 144 and Rule 701 under the Securities Actthadpplicable lock-up agreements. If any existihgreholder or shareholders sell a
substantial amount of ordinary shares after thératipn of the lock-up period, the prevailing markece for our ADSs could be adversely
affected.

In addition, certain of our shareholders or theinsferees and assignees will have the right teecas to register the sale of their shares
under the Securities Act upon the occurrence dagecircumstances. Registration of these shardernuhe Securities Act would result in these
shares becoming freely tradable without restrictioder the Securities Act immediately upon theafieness of the registration. Sales of tt
registered shares in the public market could cthes@rice of our ADSs to decline.
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As our founder and co-founders collectively holdcantrolling interest in us, they have significanbiluence over our management and
their interests may not be aligned with our intete®r the interests of our other shareholders.

As of April 20, 2013, our founder, Mr. Qi Ji, wh® also our executive chairman and chief executifteen, and our co-founders,
Ms. Tong Tong Zhao and Mr. John Jiong Wu, bendficawvn approximately 44.4%, 13.4% and 3.8%, refipely, of our outstanding
ordinary shares on an as-converted basis. See Ttéviajor ShareholdersThe interests of these shareholders may conflidt thie interests «
our other shareholders. Our founder and co-founiigve significant influence over us, including oattars relating to mergers, consolidations
and the sale of all or substantially all of ouredisselection of directors and other significampooate actions. This concentration of ownership
may discourage, delay or prevent a change in clowfttes, which could deprive our shareholders obpportunity to receive a premium for
their shares as part of a sale of us or of outsassel might reduce the price of our ADSs. Thesierzs may be taken even if they are opposed
by our other shareholders, including holders of ADESs.

ADS holders may not have the same voting rightdtas holders of our ordinary shares and may not raeevoting materials in time to be
able to exercise their right to vote.

Except as described in the deposit agreement, tsotddeur ADSs may not be able to exercise votights attaching to the shares
evidenced by our ADSs on an individual basis. Hdde our ADSs appoint the depositary or its noraias their representative to exercise the
voting rights attaching to the shares represenyatidd ADSs. ADS holders may not receive voting malgin time to instruct the depositary to
vote, and it is possible that they may not haveoghortunity to exercise a right to vote.

ADS holders may not be able to participate in righdfferings and may experience dilution of his, her its holdings as a result.

We may from time to time distribute rights to ohaseholders, including rights to acquire our seémgi Under the deposit agreement for
the ADSs, the depositary will not offer those rigtd ADS holders unless both the rights and thestiyidg securities to be distributed to ADS
holders are either registered under the SecuAiie®f 1933, as amended, or exempt from registnatioder the Securities Act with respect to
all holders of ADSs. We are under no obligatiofiil®a registration statement with respect to amghsrights or underlying securities or to
endeavor to cause such a registration statemduet declared effective. In addition, we may not ble 40 take advantage of any exemptions
from registration under the Securities Act. Accagly, holders of our ADSs may be unable to paréitégn our rights offerings and may
experience dilution in their holdings as a result.

ADS holders may be subject to limitations on traesbf their ADSs.

Our ADSs are transferable on the books of the depgsHowever, the depositary may close its transboks at any time or from time
time when it deems expedient in connection withggormance of its duties. In addition, the defaogimay refuse to deliver, transfer or
register transfers of ADSs generally when our bawkihie books of the depositary are closed, ongatiane if we or the depositary deem it
advisable to do so because of any requirementobteof any government or governmental body, oraurahy provision of the deposit
agreement, or for any other reason.

As a foreign private issuer, we are permitted todave will, rely on exemptions from certain NASDArporate governance standards
applicable to U.S. issuers, including the requiremieegarding the implementation of a nominations wonittee. This may afford less
protection to holders of our ordinary shares and &B.

The NASDAQ Marketplace Rules in general requireeiscompanies to have, among other things, a ndimirsacommittee consisting
solely of independent directors. As a foreign piéviasuer, we are permitted to, and we will, follbeme country corporate governance
practices instead of certain requirements of th&NAQ Marketplace Rules, including, among others,ithplementation of a nominations
committee. The corporate governance practice irhoare country, the Cayman Islands, does not retjugrémplementation of a nominations
committee. We currently intend to rely upon thevaht home country exemption in lieu of the nomora committee. As a result, the level of
independent oversight over management of our coynpeay afford less protection to holders of our padly shares and ADSs.
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Our articles of association contain anti-takeoverqvisions that could have a material adverse effeatthe rights of holders of our
ordinary shares and ADSs.

Our amended and restated articles of associatiotaicoprovisions limiting the ability of others &mquire control of our company or
cause us to enter into changeeofatrol transactions. These provisions could hheesffect of depriving our shareholders of oppdties to sel
their shares at a premium over prevailing markieegrby discouraging third parties from seekinglitain control of our company in a tender
offer or similar transaction.

For example, our board of directors has the authasithout further action by our shareholdersisgue preferred shares in one or more
series and to fix their designations, powers, pegfees, privileges, and relative participatingjaml or special rights and the qualifications,
limitations or restrictions, including dividend hitg, conversion rights, voting rights, terms ofeexbtion and liquidation preferences, any or all
of which may be greater than the rights associaitour ordinary shares, in the form of ADSs dunariwvise. Preferred shares could be issued
quickly with terms calculated to delay or prevemhange in control of our company or make remo¥ahanagement more difficult. If our
board of directors decides to issue preferred shéne price of our ADSs may decline and the voéing other rights of the holders of our
ordinary shares and ADSs may be materially andradiyeaffected.

You may face difficulties in protecting your intests, and your ability to protect your rights throbghe U.S. federal courts may be
limited, because we are incorporated under Caymatahds law, conduct substantially all of our opei@ts in China and the majority of
our officers reside outside the United States.

We are incorporated in the Cayman Islands, andwirsiibstantially all of our operations in Chineotlgh our subsidiaries in China.
Most of our officers reside outside the United &adnd some or all of the assets of those persensaated outside of the United States. As a
result, it may be difficult or impossible for yowol bring an action against us or against these iahgials in the Cayman Islands or in China in the
event that you believe that your rights have beémiged under the securities laws or otherwiseerEif you are successful in bringing an
action of this kind outside the Cayman Islands loin@, the laws of the Cayman Islands and of Chiag render you unable to effect service of
process upon, or to enforce a judgment againshsaets or the assets of our directors and offi@éesre is no statutory recognition in the
Cayman Islands of judgments obtained in the Urfides, although the courts of the Cayman Islarilig@nerally recognize and enforce a
non-penal judgment of a foreign court of compejensdiction without retrial on the merits. A judgmt of a court of another jurisdiction may
be reciprocally recognized or enforced if the jdigsion has a treaty with China or if judgmentdted PRC courts have been recognized before
in that jurisdiction, subject to the satisfactidrother requirements. However, China does not li@aties providing for the reciprocal
enforcement of judgments of courts with Japan|thiéed Kingdom, the United States and most othestéfa countries.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our memonanand articles of association and by the Compdraes (2012 Revision) and the
common law of the Cayman Islands. The rights ofedfialders to take legal action against our direcémd us, actions by minority shareholc
and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directtwsus under Cayman Islands law are to a largeneg@verned by the common law of the
Cayman Islands. The common law of the Cayman Islanderived in part from comparatively limited icidl precedent in the Cayman Islands
as well as from English common law, which has pasaig, but not binding, authority on a court in @e&yman Islands. The rights of our
shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilitieswf directors under Cayman Islands law are notemslyg established as they would be under
statutes or judicial precedents in the United Stdteparticular, the Cayman Islands has a lessldped body of securities laws as compared t
the United States, and provides significantly f@sdection to investors. In addition, Cayman Iskodmpanies may not have standing to
initiate a shareholder derivative action beforeftéderal courts of the United States.

As a result of all of the above, our public shatdas may have more difficulty in protecting thigiterests through actions against our
management, directors or major shareholders thahdvathareholders of a corporation incorporatedjiriadiction in the United States.
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ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
4.A. History and Development of the Company

Powerhill was incorporated in accordance with Hvwed of the British Virgin Islands in December 2088¢d commenced operation with
mid-scale limited service hotels and commerciapprty development and management in 2005. Limiéedice hotels do not contain
restaurants and all amenities are provided byttféat the front desk or housekeeping. Powerloitiducted its operations through three wholly
owned subsidiaries in the PRC, namely Shanghai grflotel Management Group, Ltd., or Shanghai HagTHanTing Xingkong
(Shanghai) Hotel Management Co., Ltd., or HanTirmggKong, and Lishan Property (Suzhou) Co., LtdSorhou Property. In August 2006,
Suzhou Property transferred its equity interesthiiee leased hotels to Shanghai HanTing in exahfargShanghai HanTing’s equity interest
in Shanghai Shuyu Co., Ltd., which was primarilgaged in the business of sub-leasing and managaigstate properties in technology
parks.

China Lodging Group, Limited, or China Lodging, wasorporated in the Cayman Islands in January 2D0February 2007, Powerhill
transferred all of its ownership interests in HaigrKingkong and Shanghai HanTing to China Lodgmexchange for preferred shares of
China Lodging. After such exchange, each of HanMiggkong and Shanghai HanTing became a wholly alésidiary of China Lodging.
In addition, in February 2007, Powerhill and itbsidiary, Suzhou Property, were spun off in thefaf a dividend distribution to the
shareholders.

In 2007, China Lodging began our current businésgperating and managing a multi-brand hotel gran2007, we first launched our
economy hotel producanTing Express Hotelwhich was subsequently rebrandeddas Ting Hotel, targeting knowledge workers and value
conscious travelers. In the same year, we intradloce mid-scale limited service hotel produd¢gnTing Hotel, which was subsequently
rebranded first aslanTing Seasons Hotahd then adl Hotel. In 2008, we launched our budget hotel proddea Ting Hi Inn,which was
subsequently rebrandedtdsinn . In April 2007, China Lodging acquired Yiju (Shérag) Hotel Management Co., Ltd. from Crystal Water
Investment Holdings Limited, a British Virgin Islds company wholly owned by Mr. John Jiong Wu, damder of our company. In January
2008, China Lodging incorporated HanTing (Tianjimyestment Consulting Co., Ltd. in China and in@ber 2008, established China Lodging
Holdings (HK) Limited, or China Lodging HK, in Horigong, under which HanTing Technology (Suzhou) Ctd, was subsequently
established in China in December 2008.

In March 2010, we completed our initial public affgy. We issued and sold 10,350,000 ADSs, repraxggdil, 400,000 of our ordinary
shares at a public offering price of US$12.25 pBISAOur ADSs have been listed on the NASDAQ Gl@slect Market since March 26,
2010. Our ordinary shares are not listed or puptidded on any trading markets.

In May 2012, we acquired a 51% equity interesttamBay HK, a mid-scale hotel chain and increasadotel brands to four brands. In
August 2012, we announced our plan to launch andéthtel brand, Joya Hotel. In November 2012, wengea the Chinese trade name of our
Company from “HanTing Hotel Group” to “HuaZhu Hotéfoup.”

Our principal executive offices are located at R®66 Honggiao Road, Changning District, Shangh@B26, People’'s Republic of
China. Our telephone number at this address i2866195-2011. Our registered office in the Caynstends is located at the offices of
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, @r@ayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. Our agentdorise of process in the United
States is CT Corporation System, located at 11htRigvenue, 13th Floor, New York, New York 10011.

Investors should contact us for any inquiries thgfothe address and telephone number of our prinekeutive offices. Our websites
http://www.htinns.com and http://www.huazhu.comeThformation contained on our website is not @ phthis annual report.

4.B. Business Overview

We are a leading and fast-growing multi-brand hgteup in China with leased, manachised and fraechinodels. Under the lease
model, we directly operate hotels typically locatedleased properties. Under the manachise modéemanage manachised hotels through the
on-site hotel managers we appoint and collectfieas franchisees. Under the franchise model, weideotraining, reservation and support
services to the franchised hotels and collect fiems franchisees but do not appoint on-site hot@hagers. We apply a consistent standard an
platform across all of our hotels. As of Decemhkr@)12, we had 465 leased hotels, 516 manach@aetstand 54 franchised hotels in
operation and 80 leased hotels and 330 manachitets under development.
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As of the date of this annual report, we offer fbotel brands that are designed to target dissieginents of customers:

. JI Hotel, our standardized miseale limited service hotel product which targetgure and experienced travelers who seek a qt
experience in hotel stays, previously marketed firgler the name of HanTing Hotel and then HanBagsons Hote

. Starway Hotel| our mid-scale limited service hotel product witiriety in design and consistency in quality whigigets middle
class travelers who seek a spacious room, reasopebé and guaranteed quali

. HanTing Hotel, our economy product which targets knowledge warkend value- and quality-conscious travelers,iaity
marketed under the name of HanTing Express Hatel

. Hi Inn, our budget hotel product which targets pracieal price-conscious travelers, originally markatader the name of
HanTing Hi Inn.

In addition, we plan to launch Joya Hotel, a newehbrand targeting the upscale market, in the sg¢mlf of 2013. We currently have
one hotel under construction under the Joya brand.

As a result of our customer-oriented approach, @liebe that we have developed strong brand redograind a loyal customer base. In
2012, more than 80% of our room nights were solddéovidual and corporate members of HanTing Chulr, loyalty program.

Our operations commenced with mid-scale limitediserhotels and commercial property developmentraadagement in 2005. We
began our current business of operating and magagmulti-brand hotel group in 2007. Our total rewes grew from RMB1,838.4 million in
2010 to RMB3,419.3 million in 2012. We had net imepattributable to our company of RMB215.8 milliétlyiB114.8 million and RMB174.
million in 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. Wd hat cash provided by operating activities of RMBA4 million, RMB458.7 million and
RMB715.7 million in 2010, 2011 and 2012, respedyive

We have received many awards for our business ipeafuce, including the “China’s Outstanding Mid-ScHlotel brand of 2012” award
for our JI Hotel from Hotel Modernization magazine2012, the “Brand with the Most Space to Grow"aaghfrom Shanghai Morning Post in
2012, the “Best Budget Hotel” award from China Tisor Gold List byTravelermagazine in 2011, the “Best Economy Hotel Bran@liha”
award at the sixth China Hotel Starlight Award2011, the “Most Competitive Franchisor Brand ini@hin 2011 Award” from the Twelfth
China Commercial Real Estate Investment Promotionf€ence in 2011, the “Innovative Star Golden ldakgvard” fromThe Founder
magazine in 2011, the “Top 10 Corporate Hotel” alfaom Hotels Chinamagazine in 2010, “Best Business Services” awanah fQunar.com
in 2010 and “Best Hotel Product Design” award frAmChina in 2010.

Our Hotel Network

As of December 31, 2012, we operated 1,035 hateBhina. We have adopted a disciplined return-drigevelopment model aimed at
achieving high growth and profitability. Our hotetwork covers 171 cities in 31 provinces and mipaliies across China. As of
December 31, 2012, we had an additional 410 hateder development.

The following table sets forth a summary of albof hotels as of December 31, 2012.

Manachisec Franchisec Leased Hotels Manachised

Under Hotels Under
Leased Hotel Hotels Hotels Development(l1 Development(l
Shanghai, Beijing, Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Hangzhou 142 15C 23 15 79
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Manachisec Franchisec Leased Hotels Manachised

Under Hotels Under
Leased Hotel: Hotels Hotels Development(1 Development(l
Other cities 323 36€ 31 65 251
Total 465 51€ 54 80 33C

(1) Include hotels for which we have entered into bigdeases or franchise agreements but that hawehobmmenced operatior

The following table sets forth the status of outet®under development as of December 31, 2012.

Conversior
Pre-conversior
Period(1) Period(2) Total
Leased hotels 26 54 80
Manachised hotel 92 23€ 33C
Total 11¢€ 292 41C

(1) Includes hotels for which we have entered bitwling leases or franchise agreements but of wihietproperty has not been delivered by
the respective lessors or property owners, asdbe may be
(2) Includes hotels for which we have commenced coimeiactivities but that have not yet commenced afpens.

Leased hotels

As of December 31, 2012, we had 465 leased hatet®unting for approximately 44.9% of our hotelgperation. We manage and
operate each aspect of these hotels and bearthl @ccompanying expenses. We are responsibtednriting, training and supervising the
hotel managers and employees, paying for leasesasts associated with construction and renovatighese hotels, and purchasing all
supplies and other required equipment.

Our leased hotels are located on leased propeftiesterms of our leases typically range from ®Ra years. We generally enjoy an
initial two- to six-month renfree period. Rent is generally paid on a quarterlpiannual basis and is fixed for the first thredive years of th:
lease term. We are thereafter typically subject 836 to 5% increase every three to five years.|€ages usually allow for extensions by mu
agreement. In addition, our lessors are typicatyuired to notify us in advance if they intend étl er dispose of their properties, in which cast
we have a right of first refusal to purchase thapprties on equivalent terms and conditions. Féouo leases expired in 2012 and were all
renewed prior to their expiration. As of Decembgy 3012, three of our leases will expire in 201&oTof these three leases have been ren:
and the other one is subject to negotiation aspiflA9, 2013.

The following table sets forth the number of owrdes for hotels in operation and under developihemto expire in the periods indica
as of December 31, 2012.

Number of
Leases

2013 3
2014 4
2015 14
2016 12
2017 22
201¢-2020 90
20212023 16¢€
2024 and onwar 232
Total 54t
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Manachised hotels

As of December 31, 2012, we had 516 manachisedshatxounting for approximately 49.9% of our heiel operation. The franchisees
of our manachised hotels either lease or own tiagl properties and are required to invest inrém@vation of their properties according to
product standards. We manage our manachised laoglsnpose the same standards on all manachisels hoensure product quality and
consistency across our hotel network. We appoidtteain hotel managers who are responsible fongpinotel staff and managing daily
operation. We also provide our franchisees witkises such as central reservation, sales and niegkaipport, quality assurance inspections
and other operational support and information. famchisees are responsible for the costs of dpiredcand operating the hotels, including
renovating the hotels to our standards, and ali@bperating expenses. We believe the manachidelrhas enabled us to quickly and
effectively expand our geographical coverage anketahare in a less capital-intensive manner tjindaveraging the local knowledge and
relationships of our franchisees.

We collect fees from the franchisees of our marsszhhotels and do not bear any loss or share afiy ipcurred or realized by our
franchisees. They are also responsible for allscastl expenses related to hotel construction dacbighing. Our franchise and management
agreements for our manachised hotels typicallyfouran initial term of eight years. Our franchisees generally required to pay us a one-time
franchise fee ranging between RMB100,000 and RMBBI In general, we charge a monthly franchiseofespproximately 5% of the gross
revenues generated by each manachised hotel. Wedlsct from franchisees a reservation fee orrarpom-night basis for using our central
reservation system and a membership registrat®tofeervice customers who join our HanTing Clukalty program at the manachised hot
Furthermore, we employ and appoint hotel managereur manachised hotels and charge the franchéseemthly fee for services we
provide.

Franchised hotels

As of December 31, 2012, we had 54 franchised siadelcounting for approximately 5.2% of our hoteleperation. We collect fees frc
the franchisees of our franchised hotels and ddeat any loss or share any profit incurred orizedlby our franchisees. Services we provide
to our franchised hotels generally include trainicentral reservation, sales and marketing supquodtjty assurance inspections and other
operational support and information. We do not apipmotel managers for our franchised hotels. Athefdate of this annual report, we only
use the franchise model for our Starway Hotels.

Our hotel chain has grown rapidly since we begagrating to our current business of operating andagang a multi-brand hotel group
in 2007. The following table sets forth the numbkhotels we operated as of the dates indicated.

As of December 31

Leased hotels 5 24 62 14t 17 24: 344 46E
Manachised hotel — 2 5 22 63 19t 29t 51€
Franchised hotel - = = = = = = 54

Total 5 26 67 167 23€ 43t 63¢ 1,03t

Our Products

We began our current business of operating and giaga multi-brand hotel group in 2007. As of tlaedof this annual report, we offer
four hotel brands that are designed to targetrdisiegments of customers:

. JI Hotel, our standardized misleale limited service hotel product which targetgure and experienced travelers who seek a qt
experience in hotel stays, previously marketed firgler the name of HanTing Hotel and then HanBagsons Hote

. Starway Hote| our mid-scale limited service hotel product witiriety in design and consistency in quality whigtgets middle
class travelers who seek a spacious room, reasopebé and guaranteed quali

. HanTing Hotel, our economy product which targets knowledge warknd value- and quality-conscious travelers,iaity
marketed under the name of HanTing Express Hatel

. Hi Inn, our budget hotel product which targets practical price-conscious travelers, originally markatader the name of
HanTing Hi Inn.
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In addition, we plan to launch Joya Hotel, a newehbrand targeting the upscale market, in the sét@lf of 2013. We currently have
one hotel under construction under the Joya brand.

We believe that our multi-brand strategy providesvith a competitive advantage by (i) enablingaispgen a larger number of hotels in
attractive markets, (ii) capturing a greater studrine spending of customers whose lodging neegsamange from occasion to occasion or
evolve over time, and (i) providing us a gredtenefit of economy of scale through shared platform

Joya Hotel

In August 2012, we announced our plan to launcla }gtel. We are in the process of fine-tuning padiesigns, features, and
marketing plans for the Joya Hotels and have asdigndedicated internal team to develop the brandept and positioning. As of
December 31, 2012, we had one Joya Hotel undetrcatisn.

JI Hotel

JI Hotel, which was previously marketed first under the aafHanTing Hoteland therHanTing Seasons Hotelss typically located in
city centers or central business districts. Tyfycpticed between RMB250 and RMB500 per room nigjidse hotels target mature and
experienced travelers who seek a quality experignbetel staysJl Hotelsoffer rooms with a quality comparable to threetaor-star hotels,
but are priced at competitive rates. In addititbkese hotels offer complimentary wireless Intermeeas throughout the premises, spacious
lobbies with laser printers, computers, free drjrdeed a cafe serving breakfast and simple mealsf Becember 31, 2012, we had BHotels
in operation and an additional 3bHotelsunder development.

Starway Hotel

Typically priced between RMB250 and RMB600 per rooight, Starway Hotels vary in their designs andeamiddle class travelers
who seek a spacious room, reasonable price andmfead quality. Starway Hotels offer rooms withuality comparable to three- to four-star
hotels, but are priced at competitive rates. Iritaaig these hotels typically offer complimentantdrnet access throughout the premises,
spacious lobbies and meeting areas with complimgte¢a and coffee. As of December 31, 2012, weg@ta8tarway Hotels in operation and
additional 23 Starway Hotels under development.

HanTing Hotel

Launched in 2007 and originally marketed undemime ofHanTing Express Hotel, HanTing Hotelour economy hotel product with
the value proposition of “Quality, Convenience afadue.” These hotels are typically located in arglase to major business and commercial
districts, and are priced between RMB150 and RMB3&0room night. ThélanTing Hoteltargets knowledge workers and value- and quality-
conscious travelers. These hotels have lobbiesamitiplimentary wireless Internet access and laseteps, and a cafe serving breakfast and
simple meals. Rooms are equipped with a comfortaaitress, plush buckwheat and cotton pillows, ghdacilities, an outlet for free
broadband Internet access, a working desk and, @radruniversal and uninterruptable power soclkeiof December 31, 2012, we had 898
HanTing Hotelsin operation and an additional 3BthnTing Hotelaunder development.

Hi Inn

Launched in late 2008 and originally marketed undlemame oHanTing Hi Inn, Hi Innsare typically priced between RMB100 and
RMB200 per room night and target practical andgsdonscious travelers, such as new college graslaatgkbackpackers. These hotels offer
compact rooms with comfortable beds and showelitiasiand complimentary wireless Internet accessughout the premises, and provide at
Internet cafe and other facilities for guests taxend socialize. These hotels provide basic d&mhcaccommodations with consumables being
offered at affordable prices from vending machimethe common areas. As of December 31, 2012, wielf@li Innsin operation and an
additional 1Hi Innsunder development.
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Hotel Development

We prefer to lease the properties of the hotel@pearate rather than acquire properties ourselgeswaing properties is typically much
more capital intensive. We also use the manachiddranchise models to expand our network in adegstal-intensive manner. We have
adopted a systematic process with respect to #renplg and execution of new development projects.d@velopment department analyzes
economic data by city, field visit reports and nwriatelligence information to identify target ldicans in each city and develop a three-year
development plan for new hotels on a regular basis.plan is subsequently reviewed and approvealibynvestment committee. Once a
property is identified in the targeted locatiorafsin our development department analyzes thenassiterms and formulates a proposal for the
project. In the case of a lease opportunity, thestment committee evaluates each proposed pimgsed on several factors, including the
length of the investment payback period, the ratetoirn on the investment, the amount of net dlast projected during the operating period
and the impact on our existing hotels in the viginWhen evaluating potential manachising and finéging opportunities, the investment
committee considers the attractiveness of the ilmeais well as additional factors such as qualitthe prospective franchisee and product
consistency with China Lodging standards. Our itmesit committee weighs each investment proposafaldy to ensure that we can
effectively expand our coverage while concurremtiproving our profitability.

The following is a description of our hotel devetognt process.

Leased hotels

We seek properties that are in central or highbeasible locations in economically more develoggdscin order to maximize the room
rates that we can charge. In addition, we typicsdigk properties that will accommodate hotels aio8D60 rooms.

After identifying a proposed site, we conduct thagb due diligence and typically negotiate leasegxgoently with the lessors. All leas
and development plans are subject to the final@a@brof our investment committee. Once a leaseesgemt has been executed, we then er
independent design firms and construction companibggin work on leasehold improvement. Our casibn management team works
closely with these firms on planning and architemitdesign. Our contracts with construction companypically contain warranties for quality
and requirements for timely completion of constiartt Contractors or suppliers are typically reqdite compensate us in the event of dela
poor work quality. A majority of the constructioraterials and supplies used in the constructioruohew hotels are purchased by us throt
centralized procurement system.

Manachised and franchised hotels

We open manachised and franchised hotels to suppleour geographical coverage or to deepen peiwetrait existing markets.
Manachised and franchised hotels provide us vaduajpérating information in assessing the attrantigs of new markets, and supplement ou
coverage in areas where the potential franchissefiave access to attractive locations by levegaitieir own assets and local network. As is
the case with leased hotels, we generally loolstaldish manachised and franchised hotels neardgropammercial and office districts that
tend to generate stronger demand for hotel accorativog. Manachised and franchised hotels mustraéset certain specified criteria in
connection with the infrastructure of the buildisgch as adequate water, electricity and sewagensgs

We typically source potential franchisees throughdsof-mouth referrals, applications submitted mia website and industry
conferences. Some of our franchisees operate $@ferar manachised and franchised hotels. In gdnee seek franchisees who share our
values and management philosophies.

We typically supervise the franchisees in desigrind renovating their properties pursuant to timeesstandards required for our leased
hotels, and provide assistance as required. Wepataide technical expertise and require the fraesds to follow a pre-selected list of
qualified suppliers. In addition, we appoint oritrhiotel managers and help train other hotel steénsure that high quality and consistent
service is provided throughout all our hotels.
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Hotel Management

Our management team has accumulated significamtriexyge with respect to the operation of hotelsldiwg on this experience, our
management team has developed a robust operatilatiirm for our nationwide operations, implemengéedgorous budgeting process, and
utilized our information systems to monitor ouréigierformance. We believe the system is critisahbximizing our revenues and
profitability. The following are some of the keyraponents of our hotel management system:

Budgeting Our budget and analysis team prepares a detailedal cost and revenue budget for each of ouedelstels, and an
annual revenue budget for each of our manachisgdranchised hotels. The hotel budget is prepaasegd on, among other things, the
historical operating performance of each hotel pdormance of comparable hotels and local maretlitions. We may adjust the
budget upon the occurrence of unexpected everttsitirdficantly affect a specific hotel’'s operatipgrformance. In addition, our
compensation scheme for managers in each hotekistlgt linked to its performance against the antualget.

Pricing . Our room rates are determined using a centraiysttm and are based on the historical operagrfgnmance of each of
our hotels, including leased and manachised haiatsgompetitors’ room rates and local market ctons. We adjust room rates
regularly based on seasonality and market demasedal$d adjust room rates for certain events, ss¢heaChina Import and Export Fair
held twice a year in Guangzhou and the World Exp8hanghai in 2010. We believe our centralizedmgisystem enhances our ability
to adjust room rates in a timely fashion with algdfaptimizing average daily rates and occupamsels across our network. Room rates
for our franchised hotels are determined by thednésees based on local market condition.

Monitoring . Through the use of our web-based property managesystem, we are able to monitor each hotel'sjpaecy status,
average daily rates, RevPAR and other operating alat real-time basis. Real-time hotel operatifigrimation allows us to adjust our
sales efforts and other resources to rapidly cliggtan changes in the market and to maximize dpeyafficiency.

Centralized cash managemer@ur leased hotels deposit cash into our cent@unt several times a week. We also generally
centralize all payments for expenditures. Our mhisad and franchised hotels manage their cashatepar

Centralized procurement syster®ur centralized procurement system has enabléal efficiently manage our operating costs,
especially with respect to supplies used in lamggntjties. Given the scale of our hotel network endcentralized procurement system,
we have the purchasing power to secure favorabiestérom suppliers for all of our hotels.

Quality assurance We have developed an operating manual to whictstatdf closely adhere to ensure the consistendyqaiality
of our customer experience. We conduct periodieriél quality checks of our hotels to ensure thatoperating policies and procedures
are followed. We also engage “mystery guests” ftine to time to ensure that we are providing cdesisquality services. Furthermore,
we actively solicit customer feedbacks by condgctatbound e-mail surveys and monitor customer aggssleft in hotel guestbooks as
well as comments posted on our website and thirtpeebsites.

Training. We view the quality and skill sets of our empleyas essential to our business and thus have engmeyee training on
of our top priorities. Our HuaZhu University, preusly known as HanTing College, together with agional management teams, offers
structured training programs for our hotel managettser hotebased staff and corporate staff. Our hotel manaaersequired to attenc
three-week intensive training program, coveringdsguch as China Lodging corporate culture, teamagement, sales and marketing,
customer service, hotel operation standards amahdial and human resource management. Approxim8@4y of our hotel managers
have received training completion certificates. BluaZhu University also rolled out a new-hire tlagqpackage in October 2009 to
standardize the training for hotel-based staff s&@ur hotel group. In addition, we provide ourpcwate staff with various training
programs, such as managerial skills, office soféwskills and corporate culture. After our acquisitof a 51% equity interest in Starway
HK in May 2012, we extended the coverage of ounitng programs to all Starway employees. In 2012, hwtel-based staff and
corporate staff on average have received approgigné0 and 40 hours of training, respectively.
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Hotel Information Platform and Operational Systems

We have successfully developed and implementedieanaed operating platform capable of supportingnationwide operations. This
operating platform enables us to increase theiefiay of our operations and make timely decisidie following is a description of our key
information and management systems.

Web property management system (Web-PNI&sy Web-PMS is a web-based, centralized apptinatiat integrates all the critical
operational information in our hotel network. Thisstem enables us to manage our room inventorgrvaions and pricing for all of our hot
on a real-time basis. The system is designed tblens to enhance our profitability and competeareifectively by integrating with our
central reservation system and customer relatipnsianagement system. We believe our Web-PMS enabtesanagement to more
effectively assess the performance of our hotela timely basis and to efficiently allocate res@srand effectively identify specific market
sales targets.

Central reservation systemWe have a real-time central reservation systeailae 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Ouratent
reservation system allows reservations throughipielthannels including our website, call centeird-party travel agents and online
reservation partners. The real-time inventory manaant capability of the system improves the efficieof reservations, enhances customer
satisfaction and maximizes our profitability.

Customer relationship management (CRM) syst@ur integrated CRM system maintains informatibow HanTing Club members,
including reservation and consumption history aatlgun, points accumulated and redeemed, and prepdyand balance. By closely tracking
and monitoring member information and behaviorangeable to better serve the members of our loyatigram and offer targeted promotions
to enhance customer loyalty. The CRM system alsavalus to monitor the performance of our corpodditnt sales representatives.

Internet service system (HTOnling)ur Internet service system HTOnline consistswfwebsite (www.htinns.com), our mobile website
(m.htinns.com) and our mobile apps for smart phonering iOS or Android systems. HTOnline provides HanTing Club members and the
general public with convenient, friendly and updaservices, including information and search sewior China Lodging hotels, including
location, amenities and pricing, reservation s&@wjenembership registration and management and eresalmmunity services. Our mobile
apps also provide location based services, inctud@arch services for nearby China Lodging hotels.

Sales and Marketing

Our marketing strategy is designed to enhance r@ndarecognition and customer loyalty. Building atiiflerentiating the brand image of
each of our hotel products is critical to incregsimir brand recognition. We focus on targetingdiséinct guest segments that each of our hote
products serves and adopting effective marketingsmes based on thorough analysis and applicatidata and analytics. In 2012, 96% of
our room nights were sold through our own salefgras and the remaining 4% of our room nights tigto intermediaries.

We use our Web-PMS system to conduct pricing managéfor all of our hotels except for our franckismtels. We review our hotel
pricing regularly and adjust room rates as need@ased on local market conditions and the specifiation of each hotel, focusing mainly on
three factors: (i) optimum occupancy rate of theehand other China Lodging hotels nearby, (ii)s&e@l demand for the hotel and (iii) event-
driven demand for the hotel.

A key component of our marketing efforts is the Hiag Club, our loyalty program, which covers allafr brands. We believe the
HanTing Club loyalty program allow us to build custer loyalty and conduct lower-cost, targeted m@mgecampaigns. A majority of
individual members of the HanTing Club pay to ehirothe program. As of December 31, 2012, our HagTClub had more than eight millic
members. In 2012, more than 80% of our room niglgiee sold to our HanTing Club members. MemberfieHanTing Club are provided
with discounts on room rates, free breakfastsdfidd and platinum members), more convenient chetipmcedures and other benefits.
HanTing Club members can also accumulate pointaitir stays in our hotels or by purchasing prodactsservices provided at our hotels.
These points can be redeemed for gifts or freetsighour hotels. We also have joint promotionalgrams with leading financial institutions
and airlines to recruit new members of our loyaltggram. The HanTing Club includes three levelmembership: basic, gold and platinum.
The one-time membership fees we charge for the laami gold memberships are currently RMB28 (US$dis) RMB198 (US$31.8),
respectively. Gold memberships can be upgradethtmpm memberships upon the satisfaction of certanditions. The HanTing Club
membership card is a smart card that enables ele@atl room access, easy check-in and express-olueckhis smart card can also be use
pre-paid cards for in-hotel purchases. We expertrtame HanTing Club as HuaZhu Club in 2013.
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After our acquisition of a 51% equity interest itaiSvay HK in May 2012, we terminated Starway Hdtkdgalty program, the Star
Rewards program, and converted all Star Rewardsheeninto HanTing Club members.

We also introduced E-member under our HanTing @yhlty program in 2010 to enhance our brand awessm@nd to expand coverage
of our customer loyalty scheme. Our E-members egister on our website free of charge and are gealvivith discounts on room rates for
their on-line booking. They can also accumulatesiwhich can be redeemed for gifts or free nightsur hotels.

Our marketing activities also include Internet atiging, press and sponsored activities held jpintth our corporate partners and
advertisements on travel and business magazines.

Competition

The lodging industry in China is highly fragmentédsignificant majority of the room supply has cofrem stand-alone hotels, guest
houses and other lodging facilities. In recent géuntel groups emerged and began to consolidatadnlest by converting standalone hotels
into members of their hotel groups. As a multi-lordwotel group we believe that we compete primdrdged on location, room rates, brand
recognition, quality of accommodations, geograiaeerage, service quality, range of services, gam&nities and convenience of the central
reservation system. We primarily compete with otiatel groups as well as various stand-alone lagifanilities in each of the markets in
which we operate. Our HanTing Hotels mainly compete Home Inns, Jinjiang Inn, 7 Days Inn, varigagional hotel groups and staatbne
hotels, and certain international brands such aeiS81 We also compete with two- and three-staglhpas we offer rooms with amenities
comparable to many of those hotels. Our JI HotetkStarway Hotels face competition from existingethstar and certain four-star hotels,
boutique hotels whose price could be comparableadieds hotel chains such as Vienna Hotels and ldglidn Express. Our Hi Inns compete
mainly with stand-alone guest houses, lprice hotels and budget hotel chains such as Rw In addition, our proposed entry into the ups
hotel market through the launch of Joya Hotels alag expose us to more competition.

Intellectual Property

We regard our trademarks, copyrights, domain natrede secrets and other intellectual propertytsigis critical to our business. We
rely on a combination of copyright and trademauit, lkade secret protection and confidentiality agnents with our employees, lecturers,
business partners and others, to protect our éatelhl property rights.

As of December 31, 2012, we have registered 9Etnatks and logos with the China Trademark Offidee ffademarks and logos used
in our current hotels are under protection of #gistered trademarks and logos. An additional i&fetmark applications are under review by
the authority. We have also registered one tradeimagach of Singapore, Macau, Taiwan and Hong Kdvig have filed 3 trademark
applications both in Korea and Thailand, whichuamder review by the authority in Korea and Thailafagl of December 31, 2012, we have
applied for and received one utility model patemtdur bathroom hinged door. We have also recetopgright registration certificates for six
software programs developed by us as of Decemh&t@P. In addition, we have registered 39 natiamal international top-level domain
names, including www.htinns.com, www.hantinghotaisa and www.huazhu.com as of December 31, 2012.

Our intellectual property is subject to risks oéfttand other unauthorized use, and our abiliyragect our intellectual property from
unauthorized use is limited. In addition, we mayshbject to claims that we have infringed the Iettlal property rights of others. See “ltem
3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Rethte Our Business — Failure to protect our traddiand other intellectual property
rights could have a negative impact on our braraatversely affect our business.”
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Insurance

We believe that our hotels are covered by adecqratgerty and liability insurance policies with coage features and insured limits that
we believe are customary for similar companieshin@. We also require our franchisees to carry agigproperty and liability insurance
policies. We carry property insurance that covkesassets that we own at our hotels. Although \geire our franchisees to purchase
customary insurance policies, we cannot guarahigetey will adhere to such requirements. If weeneeld liable for amounts and claims
exceeding the limits of our insurance coverageutside the scope of our insurance coverage, oundss results of operations and financial
condition may be materially and adversely affecgeke “Item 3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors —isl& Related to Our Business — Our
limited insurance coverage may expose us to losgash may have a material adverse effect on cuuitegion, business, financial condition
and results of operations.”

Legal and Administrative Proceedings

In the ordinary course of our business, we, owrdaars, management and employees are subjectitaljpdegal or administrative
proceedings. Although we cannot predict with cetiathe ultimate resolution of lawsuits, investigas and claims asserted against us, our
directors, management and employees, we do n@Meethat any currently pending legal or administeaproceeding to which we, our
directors, management and employees are a pafthiavié a material adverse effect on our businessmurtation. Seeltem 3. Key Informatiol
— D. Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Businesg/e; our directors, management and employees mauliject to certain risks related to
legal proceedings filed by or against us, and a#vegsults may harm our business.”

Regulation

The hotel industry in China is subject to a numifdaws and regulations, including laws and redatet relating specifically to hotel
operation and management and commercial franchiamgell as those relating to environmental ansuomer protection. The principal
regulation governing foreign ownership of hotelibesses in the PRC is tRereign Investment Industrial Guidance Catalogssied by the
National Development and Reform Commission andRE€ Ministry of Commerce, or the MOC, which was trresently updated a
December 24, 2011. Pursuant to this regulatiomethee no restrictions on foreign investment initih service hotel businesses in China asid
from business licenses and other permits that dvetgl must obtain. Relative to other industrie€hina, regulations governing the hotel
industry in China are still developing and evolvidg a result, most legislative actions have cdedisf general measures such as industry
standards, rules or circulars issued by differeimistries rather than detailed legislations. Thasteon summarizes the principal PRC regulal
currently relevant to our business and operations.

Regulations on Hotel Operation

In November 1987, the Ministry of Public Securiggued théd/ieasures for the Control of Security in the Hoteldstry, and in June
2004, the State Council promulgated Becision of the State Council on Establishing Adstiiative License for the Administrative
Examination and Approval ltems Really Necessar& ®&ketaine. Under these two regulations, anyone who applieperate a hotel is
subject to examination and approval by the localipisecurity authority and must obtain a speciduistry license. The Measures for the
Control of Security in the Hotel Industry imposetaa security control obligations on the operatémer example, the hotel must examine the
identification card of any guest to whom accommimteits provided and make an accurate registrafibie. hotel must also report to the local
public security authority if it discovers anyonebating the law or behaving suspiciously or an ffer wanted by the public security authority.
Pursuant to theasures for the Control of Security in the Hoteldustry, hotels failing to obtain the special industryelse may be subject to
warnings or fines of up to RMB200. In addition, puant to various local regulations, hotels failiagbtain the special industry license may
subject to warnings, orders to suspend or cead&oary business operations, confiscations of dlegnins or fines.

In April 1987, the State Council promulgated Bhgblic Area Hygiene Administration Regulatioaccording to which, a hotel must obt
a public area hygiene license before opening fairtass. Pursuant to this regulation, hotels failngbtain a public area hygiene license may
be subject to the following administrative penalti'epending on the seriousness of their respeatitidties: (i) warnings; (i) fines; or
(iii) orders to suspend or cease continuing busiogerations. In March 2011, the Ministry of Hegdtbmulgated thémplementation Rules of
the Public Area Hygiene Administration Regulatj@ctcording to which, starting from May 1, 2011tdi@perators shall establish hygiene
administration system and keep records of hygieingrsistration. In February 2009, the Standing Cotteriof the National People’s
Congress, or the SCNPC, enactedRRC Law on Food Safefyaccording to which any hotel that provides foagstrobtain a food service
license; any food hygiene license which had beéaiodd prior to June 1, 2009 will be replaced ly/fibod service license once the food
hygiene license expires. To simplify licensing pdares, some cities such as Nanjing, Chengdu aad Kave combined the public area
hygiene license and the food service license (onéoly food hygiene license) into one unified hygidicense. Pursuant to this law, hotels
failing to obtain a food service license (or forigdood hygiene license) may be subject to: (i) ftsration of illegal gains, food illegally
produced for sale and tools, facilities and rawariats used for illegal production; or (ii) finestiveen RMB2,000 and RMB50,000 if the va
of food illegally produced is less than RMB10,00dines equal to 500% to 1000% of the value of fdaich value is equal to or more than
RMB10,000.
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The Fire Prevention Lawas amended by the SCNPC in October 2008, andrthasions on Supervision and Inspection on Fire
Prevention and Contr¢, promulgated by the Ministry of Public Securitydagffective as of May 1, 2009, require that pubithering places
such as hotels submit a fire prevention design fdapply for the completion acceptance of fireverdion facilities for their construction
projects and to pass a fire prevention safety ictspe by the local public security fire departmenmhich is a prerequisite for opening business.
Pursuant to these regulations, hotels failing t@iobapproval of fire prevention design plans dlirfg fire prevention safety inspections may be
subject to: (i) orders to suspend the construatfgorojects, use or operation of business; andi(i@s between RMB30,000 and RMB300,000.

In January 2006, the State Council promulgatedRibgulations for Administration of Entertainment ¢da. The Ministry of Culture
issued theCircular on Carrying Out the Regulations for Adnsimation of Entertainment Placé&s March 2006 and th&dministrative
Measures for Entertainment Placin February 2013. Under these regulations, hobasgrovide entertainment facilities, such as dismo
ballrooms, are required to obtain a license foegainment business operations.

On October 18, 2010, the General Administratio@uo#lity Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine &tashdardization Administration
approved and issuéglassification and Accreditation for Star-rated Tist Hotels(GB/T14308-2010), which became effective on Jandary
2011. On November 19, 2010, the National Touristidstration promulgated thenplementation Measures of Classification and
Accreditation for Ste-rated Tourist Hotels which became effective on January 1, 2011. Utltese regulations, all hotels with operations of
over one year are eligible to apply for a stamgaissessment. There are five ratings from onacfare stars for tourist hotels, assessed base
on the level of facilities, management standardsaurality of service. A star rating, once granisdjalid for three years.

On September 21, 2012, the Ministry of Commercenuigated thd rovisional Administrative Measures for Single-pesp Commercial
Prepaid Cards, according to which, if an enterprise engagecttail, accommodation and catering, or residen&alises issues any single-
purpose commercial prepaid card to its customes$gill undergo a record-filing procedure. For tehprimarily engaged in the business of
accommodation, the aggregate balance of the adymyeeent under the single-purpose commercial pdegaids it issued shall not exceed
40% of its income from its primary business in pinevious financial year.

Regulations on Leasing

Under theLaw on Urban Real Estate Administratipromulgated by the SCNPC, which took effect asaofuary 1995 and was amended
in August 2007 and th&dministrative Measures for Commaodity House Leapnognulgated by the Ministry of Housing and Urbanatu
Construction, which took effect as of February@1 2, when leasing premises, the lessor and lesseeguired to enter into a written lease
contract, prescribing such provisions as the lggmm, use of the premises, rental and repaiilitigls, and other rights and obligations of both
parties. Both lessor and lessee are also requirgd through registration procedures to recorddghse with the real estate administration
department. Pursuant to these laws and regulagiotiarious local regulations, if the lessor arsdée fail to go through the registration
procedures, both lessor and lessee may be subjioes, and the leasing interest will be subordiddo an interested third party acting in gooc
faith.

In March 1999, the National People’s CongressCGhima legislature, passed tRRC Contract Law of which Chapter 13 governs lease
agreements. According to tR&RC Contract Law subject to consent of the lessor, the lesseesulblgase the leased item to a third party.
Where the lessee subleases the lease item, tliegeastract between the lessee and the lessoiimemalid. The lessor is entitled to terminate
the contract if the lessee subleases the leasenitdraut the consent of the lessor.

35



Table of Contents

In March 16, 2007, the National People’s Congressed th®RC Property Law pursuant to which where a mortgagor leases the
mortgaged property before the mortgage contramngluded, the previously established leasingiogiathall not be affected; and where a
mortgagor leases the mortgaged property afterrdegtion of the mortgage interest, the leasing @stewill be subordinated to the registered
mortgage interest.

Regulations on Consumer Protection

In October 1993, the SCNPC promulgatedlthes on the Protection of the Rights and Intere$t€ansumers or the Consumer
Protection Law. Under the Consumer Protection Labisiness operator providing a commodity or seridca consumer is subject to a
number of requirements, including the following:

. to ensure that commodities and services meet \eitfain safety requirement
. to disclose serious defects of a commodity or @icernd to adopt preventive measures against daoagurrence
. to provide consumers with accurate information ncefrain from conducting false advertisit

. not to set unreasonable or unfair terms for conssimealleviate or release itself from civil liabyl for harming the legal rights and
interests of consumers by means of standard casiticicculars, announcements, shop notices or otleans; ani

. not to insult or slander consumers or to searclpénson of, or articles carried by, a consumenanfringe upon the personal
freedom of a consume

Business operators may be subject to civil liabditfor failing to fulfill the obligations discuss@bove. These liabilities include restoring
the consumer’s reputation, eliminating the adveffects suffered by the consumer, and offering@oiagy and compensation for any losses
incurred. The following penalties may also be ingmbapon business operators for the infraction e$¢hobligations: issuance of a warning,
confiscation of any illegal income, imposition ofiae, an order to cease business operation, réemcaf its business license or imposition of
criminal liabilities under circumstances that gpedfied in laws and statutory regulations.

In December 2003, the Supreme People’s Court inZanacted the Interpretation®dme Issues Concerning the Application of Law fol
the Trial of Cases on Compensation for Personalrinj which further increases the liabilities of busis@perators engaged in the operation c
hotels, restaurants, or entertainment facilities subjects such operators to compensatory liaslfior failing to fulfill their statutory
obligations to a reasonable extent or to guarahie@ersonal safety of others.

Regulations on Environmental Protection

In February 2012, the SCNPC issued the newly anteha@ on Promoting Clean Productigwhich regulates service enterprises such
as restaurants, entertainment establishments aat$ lamd requires them to use technologies angerarit that conserve energy and water,
serve other environmental protection purposesfaddce or stop the use of consumer goods that wasterces or pollute the environment.

According to theEnvironmental Protection Law of the People’s Refuubl China and the Environmental Impact Assessiawtof the
Peopl¢s Republic of Chingromulgated by the SCNPC on December 26, 1989 atab@r 28, 2002, respectively, tRegulations Governing
Environmental Protection in Construction Projepromulgated by the State Council on November 29818nd thdRegulations Governing
Completion Acceptance of Environmental Protectio@onstruction Projectpromulgated by the Ministry of Environmental Prdiee on
December 27, 2001, hotels shall submit a RepoEronironmental Impact Assessment and an Applicdtietter for Acceptance of
Environmental Protection Facilities in Constructrjects to competent environmental protectioharities for approvals before commenc
the operation. Pursuant to teRavironmental Impact Assessment Law of the Peoplefaiblic of China any hotel failing to obtain the approval
of an Environmental Impact Assessment may be odd@reease construction and apply for the appraithin a specified time limit. If the
hotel still fails to obtain approval within the gjféed time limit, it may be subject to fines besveRMB50,000 and RMB200,000, and the
person directly responsible for the project maiigject to certain administrative penalties. Putst@theRegulations Governing Completion
Acceptance of Environmental Protection in ConsinrcProjects, any hotel failing to obtain an Acceptance of Eanmental Protection
Facilities in Construction Projects may be subjedines and an order to obtain approval withirpacified time limit.
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Regulations on Commercial Franchising

Franchise operations are subject to the supervasidnadministration of the MOC, and its regionalmerparts. Such activities are
currently regulated by thRegulations for Administration of Commercial Fraigthg , which was promulgated by the State Council on
February 6, 2007 and became effective on May 17 208eRegulations for Administration of Commercial Frarsithg were subsequently
supplemented by thidministrative Measures for Archival Filing of Comarial Franchises which was promulgated by the MOC on April .
2007 and became effective on May 1, 2007 and thdyreamended Administrative Measures for Informatigisclosure of Commercial
Franchises, which was promulgated by the MOC omedg 23, 2012 and became effective on April 1,201

Under the above applicable regulations, a franchiagst have certain prerequisites including a neabwsiness model, the capability to
provide long-term business guidance and trainimgices to franchisees and ownership of at leastd®lfioperated storefronts that have bee
operation for at least one year within China. Frigmrs engaged in franchising activities withoutis$ging the above requirements may be
subject to penalties such as forfeit of illegalame and imposition of fines between RMB100,000 RiMB500,000 and may be bulletined by
the MOC or its local counterparts. Franchise ca$rahall include certain required provisions, saslterms, termination rights and payments.

Franchisors are generally required to file franeltisntracts with the MOC or its local counterpdarailure to report franchising activities
may result in penalties such as fines up to RMBIO®, Such noncompliance may also be bulletinetherfirst quarter of every year,
franchisors are required to report to the MOC sidtal counterparts any franchise contracts tikegwted, canceled, renewed or amended in
the previous year.

The term of a franchise contract shall be no leas three years unless otherwise agreed by fragehid he franchisee is entitled to
terminate the franchise contract in his sole dismnewithin a set period of time upon signing oé tihanchise contract.

Pursuant to thA&dministrative Measures for Information DiscloswfeCommercial Franchises30 days prior to the execution of
franchise contracts, franchisors are required ¢wige franchisees with copies of the franchise remt$, as well as written true and accurate
basic information on matters including:

. the name, domiciles, legal representative, regidteapital, scope of business and basic informaétaiing to its commercial
franchising;

. basic information relating to the registered trademlogo, patent, knc-how and business mod:

. the type, amount and method of payment of frandhiss (including payment of deposit and the coodgiand method of refund of
deposit);

. the price and conditions for the franchisor to fdewyoods, service and equipment to the franch

. the detailed plan, provision and implementatiompfconsistent services including operational gnik, technical support and
business training provided to the franchis

. detailed measures for guiding and supervising gegation of the franchiso

. investment budget for all franchised hotels offtda@chisee

. the current numbers, territory and operation evadnaf the franchisees within Chin

. a summary of accounting statements audited by esuating firm and a summary of audit reports fa ghevious two year:
. information on any lawsuit in which the franchisas been involved in the previous five yei

37



Table of Contents

. basic information regarding whether the franchisud its legal representative have any record oérigtviolation; anc
. other information required to be disclosed by th@®]

In the event of failure to disclose or misrepreatan, the franchisee may terminate the franchisgract and the franchisor may be fined
up to RMB100,000. In addition, such noncomplian@gy/rbe bulletined.

According to the 2008landbook of Market Access of Foreign Investnpeomulgated by the MOC in December 2008, if antexgs
foreign-invested company wishes to operate a frigadh China, it must apply to its original exantina and approval authority to expand its
business scope to include “engaging in commercialiies by way of franchise.”

Regulations on Trademarks

Both thePRC Trademark Lawdopted by the SCNPC in 1982 and revised in 20@%t@implementation Regulation of the PRC
Trademark Lavadopted by the State Council in 2002 give protactiothe holders of registered trademarks and tnadees. The Trademark
Office under the State Administration for Indusaiyd Commerce, or the SAIC, handles trademark ragjizhs and grants a term of ten years t
registered trademarks. Trademark license agreenmargsbe filed with the Trademark Office.

Regulations on Foreign Currency Exchange

The principal regulations governing foreign curnge&change in China are thereign Exchange Administration Regulations
promulgated by the State Council, as amended omugtg 2008, or the Foreign Exchange Regulationsledthe Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the RMB is freely convertible for @nt account items, including the distribution ofidends, interest payments, trade and
servicerelated foreign exchange transactions, but notépital account items, such as direct investmémds,s, repatriation of investments ¢
investments in securities outside of China, unleegrior approval of the State Administration of&gn Exchange, or the SAFE, is obtained
and prior registration with the SAFE is made.

On August 29, 2008, the SAFE promulgatedNingice on Perfecting Practices Concerning Foreigreliange Settlement Regarding the
Capital Contribution by Foreign-invested Enterpsser Circular 142, regulating the conversion bygefgn-invested company of foreign
currency into RMB by restricting how the converi®BIB may be used. Circular 142 requires that thésteged capital of a foreign-invested
enterprise settled in RMB converted from foreigmrencies may only be used for purposes within thgress scope approved by the applic
governmental authority and may not be used fortggavestments within the PRC. In addition, the dtrengthened its oversight of the flow
and use of the registered capital of foreign-ine@snterprises settled in RMB converted from fareigrrencies. The use of such RMB capital
may not be changed without the SAFE’s approval,raag not in any case be used to repay RMB loatieiproceeds of such loans have not
been used. Violations of Circular 142 will resuitsevere penalties, such as heavy fines.

On December 25, 2006, the People’s Bank of Chsizeid theAdministration Measures on Individual Foreign Exaga Controland its
Implementation Rules were issued by the SAFE onalgrb, 2007, both of which became effective onraty 1, 2007. Under these
regulations, all foreign exchange matters involirethe employee stock ownership plan, stock oppiam and other similar plans, participated
by onshore individuals shall be transacted upomagb from the SAFE or its authorized branch. Obriaary 25, 2012, the SAFE promulgated
theNotice on Relevant Issues Concerning Foreign Exgbeaontrol on Domestic Individuals Participatingtire Stock Incentive Plan of An
Overseas Listed Companyr Circular 7, to replace tl@perating Procedures for Administration of Domestidividuals Participating in the
Employee Stock Option Plan or Stock Option PlaAroDverseas Listed Compa. Under Circular 7, the board members, supervisifieers
or other employees, including PRC citizens andiforers having lived within the territory of the PRGccessively for at least one year of a
PRC entity, who participate in stock incentive glam equity compensation plans by an overseasqgyliited company, or the PRC
participants, are required, through a PRC ageRR{ subsidiaries of such overseas publicly-lismdmany, to complete certain foreign
exchange registration procedures with respecta@liins upon the examination by, and approvahef SAFE. We and our PRC patrticipants
who have been granted stock options are subje&ciréolar 7. If our PRC participants who hold sugtiiens or our PRC subsidiary fail to
comply with these regulations, such participants teir PRC employer may be subject to fines agdllsanctions.
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Regulations on Share Capital

In October 2005, the SCNPC issued the newly ame@dethbany Law of the People’s Republic of Chimdiich became effective on
January 1, 2006. In April 2006, the SAIC, the M@Aitz General Administration of Customs and the S/dtfgly issued thémplementation
Opinions on Several Issues regarding the Laws &aple to the Administration of Approval and Registm of Foreign-invested Companies
Pursuant to the above regulations, shareholdeadatkign-invested company are obligated to makeafd timely contribution to the
registered capital of the foreign-invested compdare shareholders can make their capital contobstin cash or in kind, including in the
forms of contributions of intellectual property hig or land use rights that can be valued andissterable. Contribution to a foreign-invested
company’s registered capital in cash must not &g tlekan 30% of the total registered capital ofcirapany. The shareholders may choose to
make the contributions either in a lump sum onstallments. If the shareholders choose to makedh#ibutions in installments, the first
tranche of the contribution shall be no less tha¥ bf the total registered capital and shall bel péthin three months of the establishment of
the company and the remaining contribution shalbdid within two years of the establishment of tbenpany. Shareholders who fail to make
contribution in accordance with the schedule mapioered by the SAIC or its regional counterparnintke contribution or reduce the
registered capital within a time limit and be subj administrative fines. A company which propotereduce its registered capital shall
prepare a balance sheet and a list of assets.orhgany shall notify its creditors within 10 daysrr the date of resolution on reduction of
registered capital and publish an announcemertt@nawspapers within 30 days. The creditors mainvB0 days from receipt of the notice
or within 45 days from the announcement date, reghie company to settle the debts or provide spoeding guarantee.

As of December 31, 2012, all the registered capitalur operating subsidiaries has been fully praidash, except for HuaZzhu Hotel
Management Co., Limited, whose outstanding regsiteapital of RMB240.0 million is unpaid and wik blue on August 15, 2014 and Han
Hesheng (Suzhou) Hotel Management Co., Limited,sghmutstanding registered capital of RMB40.0 milli® unpaid and will be due on
June 12, 2014.

Regulations on Dividend Distribution

The principal regulations governing distributiondi¥idends of foreign-invested enterprises incltiteForeign-invested Enterprise Law
promulgated by the SCNPC, as amended on Octob&080, and thémplementation Rules of the Foreign-invested Emtsed awissued by
the State Council, as amended on April 12, 2001.

Under these laws and regulations, foreign-investedrprises in China may pay dividends only ouhefr accumulated profits, if any,
determined in accordance with PRC accounting staisdand regulations. In addition, foreign-investeterprises in China are required to
allocate at least 10% of their respective accuraedlatofits each year, if any, to fund certain resdunds unless these reserves have reached
50% of the registered capital of the enterprisé®sE reserves are not distributable as cash déden

Regulations on Offshore Financing

On October 21, 2005, the SAFE issidatice on Relevant Issues Concerning Foreign Exgbalontrol on Domestic Residents’
Corporate Financing and Roundtrip Investment Thio@jffshore Special Purpose Vehicles Circular 75, which became effective as of
November 1, 2005. Under Circular 75, if PRC residerse assets or equity interests in their PRGi@ntis capital contributions to establ
offshore companies or inject assets or equity éstisrof their PRC entities into offshore compatoesise capital overseas, they are required t
register with local SAFE branches with respech&irtoverseas investments in offshore companie€. RRidents are also required to file
amendments to their registrations if their offshooenpanies experience material events involvingtakyariation, such as changes in share
capital, share transfers, mergers and acquisitgpis;off transactions, long-term equity or deltestments or uses of assets in China to
guarantee offshore obligations.

Moreover, Circular 75 applies retroactively. Asault, PRC residents who have established or adjamntrol of offshore companies
that have made onshore investments in the PRipdhkt were required to complete the relevanttragjisn procedures with the local SAFE
branch by March 31, 2006. Under the relevant rdbgkire to comply with the registration proceduses forth in Circular 75 may result in
restrictions being imposed on the foreign exchawities of the relevant onshore company, inalgdhe increase of its registered capital,
payment of dividends and other distributions tmifshore parent or affiliate and the capital imflirom the offshore entity, and may also
subject relevant PRC residents to penalties unB€r Breign exchange administration regulations. P&dents who control our company are
required to register periodically with the SAFEcionnection with their investments in us.
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The SAFE issued a series of guidelines to its lbcahches with respect to the operational proaasSAFE registration, including the
Notice of SAFE on Printing and Distributing the lleypenting Rules for the Administration of ForeigicEange in Fun-raising and Round-
trip Investment Activities of Domestic Residentadilmted via Offshore Special Purpose CompangeCircular 19, which came into effect as
of July 1, 2011. The guidelines standardized mpeeific and stringent supervision on the registratiequired by Circular 75. For example,
guidelines impose obligations on onshore subsikaof an offshore entity to make true and acclg@iements to the local SAFE authorities ir
case any shareholder or beneficial owner of thehoife entity is a PRC citizen or resident. Unttaéesnents by the onshore subsidiaries will
lead to potential liability for the subsidiariesidain some instances, for their legal represergatand other individuals.

Regulations on Merger and Acquisition and Oversdasting

On August 8, 2006, six PRC regulatory agencies,aeiathe MOC, the State Assets Supervision and Athtnation Commission, the
State Administration of Taxation, the SAIC, the @hiSecurities Regulatory Commission, or the CSR@ the SAFE, jointly adopted the
Regulations oMergers and Acquisitions of Domestic Enterprise§obseign Investors or the New M&A Rule, which became effective on
September 8, 2006. This New M&A Rule, as amendedume 22, 2009, purports, among other things,doire offshore special purpose
vehicles, or SPVs, formed for overseas listing pags through acquisitions of PRC domestic compamidsontrolled by PRC companies or
individuals, to obtain the approval of the CSRMpto publicly listing their securities on an ovesis stock exchange. On September 21, 200¢€
the CSRC published a notice on its official websjtecifying documents and materials required teuimmitted to it by SPVs seeking the
CSRC approval of their overseas listings.

While the application of this new regulation rengaimclear, we believe, based on the advice of B@ Bounsel, that CSRC approval is
not required in the context of our initial publiffearing because we established our PRC subsidibyigseans of direct investment other thai
merger or acquisition of domestic companies, andtaded to operate our business in the PRC thréargign invested enterprises before
September 8, 2006, the effective date of the NewAMRule. However, we cannot assure you that thevasliePRC government agency,
including the CSRC, would reach the same concluagaur PRC counsel. If the CSRC or other PRC atgryl body subsequently determines
that CSRC'’s approval was required for our initiabfic offering, we may face sanctions by the CSRGther PRC regulatory agencies, which
could have a material adverse effect on our busjrigmncial condition, results of operations, fagion and prospects, as well as the trading
price of our ADSs.

The New M&A Rule also established additional praged and requirements that could make merger apdsiiion activities by foreign
investors more time-consuming and complex, inclgdaquirements in some instances that the MOC bifietbin advance of any change of
control transaction in which a foreign investordalcontrol of a PRC domestic enterprise.

Regulation on Security Review

In August 2011, the MOC promulgated tRales of Ministry of Commerce on Implementatio8exurity Review System of Mergers and
Acquisitions of Domestic Enterprises by Foreigrelsters, or the MOC Security Review Rule, which came iefiect on September 1, 2011,
implement theNotice of the General Office of the State CoungiEstablishing the Security Review System for Merged Acquisitions of
Domestic Enterprises by Foreign Investpromulgated on February 3, 2011. Under these régnia a security review is required for foreign
investors’ mergers and acquisitions having “natial&diense and security” implications and mergeid aequisitions by which foreign investors
may acquire “de facto control” of domestic entesps having “national security” implications. In &dsh, when deciding whether a specific
merger or acquisition of a domestic enterprisedrgifjn investors is subject to a security revidw, MOC will look into the substance and
actual impact of the transaction. The MOC SecRigyiew Rule further prohibits foreign investorsrfrdypassing the security review
requirement by structuring transactions throughigs trusts, indirect investments, leases, loamstrol through contractual arrangements or
offshore transactions.
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Regulations on Labor Contracts

The labor contract law that became effective owdanl, 2008, as amended on December 28, 2012 seelarify the responsibilities
both employers and employees and codifies certsiclyights and protections of employees. Amongmstithe labor contract law provides
after completing two fixed-term employment contsaetn employee that desires to continue workingufoemployer is entitled to require a
non-fixed-term employment contract. In addition,pdmyees who have been employed for more than 1 ysathe same employer are entitlec
to require a non-fixed-term contract. The labortcact law also requires that hiring employees thfohuman resources outsourcing firms or
labor agencies be limited to temporary, auxiliangabstitute positions. Furthermore, an employey bwheld jointly liable for any damages to
its employees caused by its human resources ogtaguirm or labor agency if it hired such emplogdbrough these entities.

As the interpretation and implementation of theotatontract law is still evolving, we cannot assyoe that our employment practice v
at all times be deemed in compliance with the negulations. If we are subject to severe penaltiésaur significant liabilities in connection
with labor disputes or investigations, our busirexss results of operations may be adversely affeGee “ltem 3. Key Information — D. Risk
Factors — Risks Related to Our Business — Our atigmployment practices may be adversely impaateléiuthe labor contract law of the
PRC.”

Regulation on Information Protection on Networks

On December 28, 2012, the Standing Committee oR#t@nal People’s Congress issuRekcision of the Standing Committee of the
National Peopl’s Congress on Strengthening Information ProtectiorNetworks pursuant to which network service providers atigo
enterprises and institutions shall, when gathegimdj using electronic personal information of citizén business activities, publish their
collection and use rules and adhere to the priesipf legality, rationality and necessarily, exlljcstate the purposes, manners and scopes o
collecting and using information, and obtain thasent of those from whom information is collectadd shall not collect and use information
in violation of laws and regulations and the agreetibetween both sides; and the network servicegeos and other enterprises and
institutions and their personnel must strictly keaph information confidential and may not divulgker, damage, sell, or illegally provide
others with such information.

4.C. Organizational Structure

The following diagram illustrates our corporate awehership structure, the place of formation areldtvnership interests of our
subsidiaries as of April 19, 2013.
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The following table sets forth summary informatfon our subsidiaries as of April 19, 2013.

Percentage c
Date of or

Major Subsidiaries Ownership Incorporation/Acquisition Place of Incorporation
China Lodging Holdings (HK) Limited 10C% October 22, 200 Hong Kong
China Lodging Holdings Singapore Pte. L 10C% April 14, 2010 Singapore
Shanghai HanTing Hotel Management Group, 10C% November 17, 200 PRC
HanTing Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Managem

Co., Ltd. 10C% March 3, 200¢ PRC
HanTing (Tianjin) Investment Consulting Co., L 10C% January 16, 200 PRC
Yiju (Shanghai) Hotel Management Co., L 10C% April 12, 2007 PRC
HanTing Technology (Suzhou) Co., L 10C% December 3, 200 PRC
HanTing (Shanghai) Enterprise Management

Co., Ltd. 10C% December 14, 201 PRC
Starway Hotels (Hong Kong) Limite 51% May 1, 201z Hong Kong
Starway Hotel Management (Shanghai) Co., 51% May 1, 201z PRC
HuazZhu Hotel Management Co., L 10C% August 16, 201: PRC

4.D. Property, Plants and Equipment

Our headquarters are located in Shanghai, Chin@eewupy 6,074 square meters of office space. A3ezember 31, 2012, we leased -
out of our 1,035 hotel facilities with an aggregsitee of approximately 2.1 million square metemsjuding approximately 43,000 square me
subleased to third parties. For detailed infornmatibout the locations of our hotels, see “ltermforimation on the Company — B. Business
Overview — Our Hotel Network.”

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.

ITEMS5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

5.A. Operating Results

You should read the following discussion and anglgsour financial condition and results of opeoats in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the relate@sincluded elsewhere in this annual report om#80-F. This discussion may contain
forward-looking statements based upon current expectattmatsinvolve risks and uncertainties. Our actuasults may differ materially from
those anticipated in these forward-looking statet®as a result of various factors, including these forth under “ltem 3. Key Information —
D. Risk Factor” or in other parts of this annual report on Forn®Z.

Overview

We are a leading and fast-growing multi-brand hgtelp in China with leased, manachised and fraechimodels. Under the lease
model, we directly operate hotels typically locatedleased properties. Under the manachise moéemanage manachised hotels through the
on-site hotel managers we appoint and collectfie®s franchisees. Under the franchise model, weideotraining, reservation and support
services to the franchised hotels and collect fiess franchisees but do not appoint on-site hot@hagers. We apply a consistent standard an
platform across all of our hotels. As of Decembkr@)12, we had 465 leased, 516 manachised andaehised hotels in operation and 80
leased hotels and 330 manachised hotels underogeneht.
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As of the date of this annual report, we offer fbotel brands that are designed to target dissieginents of customers:

. JI Hotel, our standardized miseale limited service hotel product which targetgure and experienced travelers who seek a qt
experience in hotel stays, previously marketed firgler the name of HanTing Hotel and then HanBagsons Hote

. Starway Hotel| our mid-scale limited service hotel product witiriety in design and consistency in quality whigigets middle
class travelers who seek a spacious room, reasopebé and guaranteed quali

. HanTing Hotel, our economy product which targets knowledge warkend value- and quality-conscious travelers,iaity
marketed under the name of HanTing Express Hatel

. Hi Inn, our budget hotel product which targets pracieal price-conscious travelers, originally markatader the name of
HanTing Hi Inn.

In addition, we plan to launch Joya Hotel, a newehbrand targeting the upscale market, in the sg¢mlf of 2013. We currently have
one hotel under construction under the Joya brand.

As a result of our customer-oriented approach, axetdeveloped strong brand recognition and a loystomer base. In 2012, more than
80% of our room nights were sold to members of HagTlub, our loyalty program.

Our operations commenced with mid-scale limitediserhotels and commercial property developmentraadagement in 2005. We
began our current business of operating and magagmulti-brand hotel group in 2007. Our total rewes grew from RMB1,838.4 million in
2010 to RMB3,419.3 million in 2012. We had net imepattributable to our company of RMB215.8 milliétlyiB114.8 million and RMB174.
in 2010, 2011, and 2012 respectively. We had reh paovided by operating activities of RMB469.1lioit, RMB458.7 million and
RMB715.7 million in 2010, 2011 and 2012, respedyive

Specific factors affecting our results of operatios

While our business is affected by factors relatmmgeneral economic conditions and the lodging $tiguin China (see “ltem 3. Key
Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Related tarBusiness — Our operating results are subjecbialitions affecting the lodging
industry in general.”), we believe that our resolt®perations are also affected by company-spefafitors, including, among others:

. The total number of hotels and hotel rooms in atehnetwork Our revenues largely depend on the size of otel metwork.
Furthermore, we believe the expanded geographierage of our hotel network will enhance our bragmbgnition. Whether we
can successfully increase the number of hotelshatel rooms in our hotel group is largely affecbgdour ability to effectively
identify and lease, manachise or franchise additibntel properties at desirable locations on corsially favorable terms and the
availability of funding to make necessary capitalestments to open these new hot

. The fixed-cost nature of our busineds significant portion of our operating costs angenses, including rent and depreciation an
amortization, is relatively fixed. As a result, iagrease in our revenues achieved through highePRR generally will result in
higher profitability. Vice versa, a decrease in ;euenues could result in a disproportionatelyéamdecrease in our earnings
because our operating costs and expenses arelyntldecrease proportionate

. The number of new leased hotels under developntgenerally, the operation of each leased hoted gfu®ugh three stages:
development, ramp-up and mature operations. Duheglevelopment stage, leased hotels generally predopening expenses
ranging from approximately RMBO0.5 to RMB3.0 milliger hotel and no revenue. During periods whemgelaumber of new
leased hotels are under development, the pre-opexipenses incurred may have a significant negatipact on our financial
performance

. The mix of mature leased hotels, new leased hgielsachised hotels and franchised hotééhen a new hotel starts operation anc
goes through the ramp-up stage, the occupancysregéatively low and the room rate may be subjeatiscount. Revenues
generated by these hotels are lower than thoseateddoy mature hotels and may be insufficientogec their operating costs,
which are relatively fixed in nature and are simitathose of mature hotels. The lower profitapiduring the ramp-up stage for
leased hotels may have a significant negative imgaour financial performance. The length of rangpstage may be affected by
factors such as hotel size, seasonality and latafio average, it takes our hotels approximatedyrsinths to ramp up. We define
mature leased hotels as those that have been iatmpefor more than six months. Our mature ledssdls have been and will
continue to be the main contributor to our reverares profit.
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Under the manachise and franchise models, we gerengenues from fees we charge to each manachigbffanchised hotel
while the franchisee bears substantially all thaitehexpenditures, pre-opening and operationaéazps. The hotel operating costs
relating to manachised hotels are mainly costiédel managers as we hire and send them to maeddmigels.

Key Performance Indicators

We utilize a set of nofinancial and financial key performance indicatatsich our senior management reviews frequently. rEvéew of
these indicators facilitates timely evaluationtwd performance of our business and effective conration of results and key decisions,
allowing our business to react promptly to changingtomer demands and market conditions.

Non-financial Key Performance Indicators

Our non-financial key performance indicators cansigi) change in the total number of hotels antehrooms in our hotel group,
(i) RevPAR, especially RevPAR achieved by our éshkotels and (iii) same-hotel RevPAR change.

Change in the total number of hotels and hotel reokive track the change in the total number of haals hotel rooms in operation to
monitor our business expansion. Our total hotetspiaration increased from 438 in 2010 to 1,0350h22and our total hotel room-nights
available for sale increased from 13.7 million 012 to 33.2 million in 2012. The following tabletséorth various measures of changes in the
total number of hotels and hotel rooms as of andhfe dates and periods indicated.

As of December 31

2010 2011 2012
Total hotels in operation 43¢ 63¢ 1,03¢
Leased hotel 24¢ 344 46E
Manachised hotel 19t 29t 51¢
Franchised hotel — — 54
Total hotel rooms in operatic 50,43¢ 71,62: 113,65(
Leased hotel 29,88¢ 40,51« 54,69¢
Manachised hotel 20,55( 31,10% 53,38!
Franchised hotel — — 5,67¢
Total hotel roor-nights available for sal 13,705,40 21,536,41 33,204,65
Leased hotel 8,552,222, 12,282,18 16,704,18
Manachised hotel 5,153,18: 9,254,23! 14,655,17
Franchised hotel — — 1,845,29:
Number of cities 65 10C 171
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RevPAR RevPAR is a commonly used operating measureeithoidiging industry and is defined as the produewafrage occupancy rat
and average daily rates achieved. Occupancy ratas diotels mainly depend on the locations of loatels, product and service offering, the
effectiveness of our sales and brand promotiorrstfour ability to effectively manage hotel resgions, the performance of managerial and
other employees of our hotels, as well as ourtghidi respond to competitive pressure. From yegetr, occupancy of our portfolio may
fluctuate as a result of change in the mix of ma@md ramp-up hotels, as well as special eventasithe Shanghai Expo in 2010. We set the
room rates of our hotels primarily based on thation of a hotel, room rates charged by our congrstiwithin the same locality, and our
relative brand and product strength in the citgitr cluster. From year to year, average daily cdteur portfolio may change due to our yield
management practice, city mix change and spec@its\such as Shanghai Expo in 2010. The followabdetsets forth our RevPAR, average
daily room rate and occupancy rate for our leasebinaanachised hotels for the periods indicateddd/eot track the RevPAR, average daily
room rate or occupancy rate for our franchisedlaote

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
RevPAR (in RMB)
Leased hotel 18¢ 167 17z
Manachised hotel 172 162 162
Total hotels in operatio 18< 16& 16¢
Average daily room rate (in RME
Leased hotel 20C 18t 184
Manachised hotel 192 174 172
Total hotels in operatio 197 18C 17¢
Occupancy rate (as a percents
Leased hotel 94 9C 94
Manachised hotel 9C 93 95
Total hotels in operatio 93 92 94
Weight of hotel room-nights available for sale cinited by leased hotels less than 6
months (%), 7 18 13

RevPAR may change from period to period due tth@)change in the mix of our hotels in the rammn@ mature phases, (ii) the change
in the mix of our hotels in different cities and#tions, (iii) the change in the mix of our hotefdifferent brands, and (iv) the change in same
hotel RevPAR. The leased hotel RevPAR in 2012gkdii than that in 2011, mainly due to the incréasbe proportion of mature hotels
among our leased hotels. The leased hotels irathe-up stage accounted for 13% of room nights alkglfor sale from the leased hotels
portfolio in 2012, compared with 18% in 2011.

The leased hotel RevPAR in 2011 is lower thanitha010, mainly as a result of the absence of treetane benefit from Shanghai Expo
and a higher percentage of room nights contribbtethe ramp-up hotels.

The seasonality of our business may cause fluctusin our quarterly RevPAR. We typically have linegest RevPAR in the first quarter
due to reduced travel activities in the winter dndng the Spring Festival holidays, and the higiRes/PAR in the third quarter due to
increased travel during the summer. National agéral special events that attract large numbepeople to travel may also cause
fluctuations in our RevPAR. The Shanghai Expo drsiveng demand and led to increased occupancyaatkaverage daily rates for our hc
in Shanghai from May 1 to October 31, 2010 andrifouted to our RevPAR increase from 2009 to 201@weler, after the Shanghai Expo’s
closing on October 31, 2010, the demand for oueleah Shanghai for the period from November 2@l Bébruary 2011 was lower than the
comparable periods of prior years and thereforédealdecrease in our RevPAR for these periodssBlsee “— Results of Operations — Expo
Impact.”

For the Three Months Ended
March 31, June 30 September 3C December 31 March 31, June 30 September 3C December 31

2011 2011 2011 2011 2012 2012 2012 2012
(in RMB thousands)

RevPAR (in RMB):

Leased hotel 144 172 17¢ 17¢ 15€ 181 18< 167
Manachised hotel 142 16€ 17k 164 158 171 173 157
Total leased and manachised hotels in operi 14z 17C 177 167 15€ 17¢ 17¢ 162
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Same-hotel RevPAR chang@ur overall RevPAR trend does not reflect thedref a stable and mature portfolio, because it may
fluctuate when city mix and mix of mature and raopphotels change. We track same-hotel year-ovarfgeaPAR change for hotels in
operation for at least 18 months to monitor RevRAgRd for our mature hotels on a comparable basis following table sets forth our same-
hotel RevPAR for hotels in operation for at leag&tdonths for the periods indicated.

For the Three Months Ended
March 31, June 30 September 3C December 31 March 31, June 30 September 3C December 31

2011 2011 2011 2011 2012 2012 2012 2012
Number of hotels in operation for at least 18 mei 21€ 23€ 28C 32t 362 42¢ 464 50¢€
RevPAR (RMB) 161 191 19: 184 172 19t 19t 17¢
Sam«hotel RevPAR change (9 2 (5) (10) 5 10 7 5 2

Financial Key Performance Indicators
Our financial key performance indicators consistipfevenues, (ii) operating costs and expen$igsEBITDA and adjusted EBITDA
from operating hotels, (iv) hotel income and (v) c&sh provided by operating activities.

RevenuesWe primarily derive our revenues from operatiohsur leased hotels and franchise and serviceffeasour manachised and
franchised hotels. Our revenues are subject tesméss tax of 5% and other related taxes. Theviilig table sets forth the revenues generate
by our leased and manachised and franchised hbtglsjn absolute amount and as a percentagealfrestenues for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
(RMB) % (RMB) % (RMB) (US$) %
(In thousands except percentage:

Revenues

Leased hotel 1,707,77 92.¢ 2,172,93. 91.1 3,069,43 492,67¢ 89.¢
Manachised and franchised hot 130,57 7.1 212,64« 8.C 349,84° 56,15 10.2
Total revenue: 1,838,35¢ 100.C 2,385,557 100.C 3,419,27: 548,83: 100.(
Less: Business tax and related ta 99,85" 5.4 135,98 5.7 194,75 31,26( 5.7
Net revenue 1,738,49. 94.€ 2,249,559 94.z 3,224,552 517,57 94.:

. Leased Hotel. In 2010, we generated revenues of RMB1,707.8anifrom our leased hotels, which accounted foB920f our
total revenues for the year. In 2011, we genenaeenues of RMB2,172.9 million from our leased lgterhich accounted for
91.1% of our total revenues for the year. In 2042 generated revenues of RMB3,069.4 million fromleased hotels, which
accounted for 89.8% of our total revenues for tharyWe expect that revenues from our leased hwitblsontinue to constitute a
substantial majority of our total revenues in tbieefeeable future. As of December 31, 2012, weBBddased hotels under
development

For our leased hotels, we lease properties frofregate owners or lessors and we are responsibleofel development and
customization to conform to our standards, as ag&for repairs and maintenance and operating aost&xpenses of properties
over the term of the lease. We are also responfibkal aspects of hotel operations and managenraitding hiring, training and
supervising the hotel managers and employees estjtdroperate our hotels and purchasing suppliestypical lease term ranges
from ten to 20 years. We typically enjoy an initiab- to six-month rent-free period. We generally fixed rent on a quarterly or
biannual basis for the first three to five yearshaf lease term, after which we are generally sligea 3% to 5% increase every
three to five years.

Our revenues generated from leased hotels ardisatly affected by the following two operating asaires:

. The total number of room nights available from lgesed hotels in our hotel groud he future growth of revenues gener:
from our leased hotels will depend significantlyoapur ability to expand our hotel group into newdtions in China and
maintain and further increase our RevPAR at exgdtiotels. As of December 31, 2012, we had entertechinding contract
with lessors of 80 properties for our leased hotelich are currently under developme

. RevPAR achieved by our leased hotels, which reptesiee product of average daily rates and occupaates. To
understand factors impacting our RevPAR, pleast— Non-financial Key Performance Indicatc- RevPAR”

46



Table of Contents

. Manachised and Franchised Hott. In 2010, we generated revenues of RMB130.6 milfrom our manachised hotels, which
accounted for 7.1% of our total revenues for theryln 2011, we generated revenues of RMB212.6anifrom our manachised
hotels, which accounted for 8.9% of our total raxesnfor the year. In 2012, we generated revenuBdE349.8 million from our
manachised and franchised hotels, which accountetl2% of our total revenues for the year, amehigh the revenues we
generated from our franchised hotels were insigaifi. We expect that revenues from our manachistdshwill increase in the
foreseeable future as we add more manachised hotels hotel group. We also expect the numberuwfroanachised hotels as a
percentage of the total number of hotels in ouwnéh to increase. As of December 31, 2012, we I&drBanachised hotels and nil
franchised hotel under developme

Manachised Hotel. Our franchisees either lease or own their hatgh@rties and also invest in the renovation ofrthei
properties according to our product standards.f@mchisees are typically responsible for the costieveloping and
operating the hotels, including renovating the Isoéecording to our standards, and all of the dpega&xpenses. We direc
manage our manachised hotels and impose the sanuasds for all manachised hotels to ensure pragladity and
consistency across our hotel network. Managemenices we provide to our franchisees for our marssezhhotels
generally include hiring, appointing and trainingtéd managers, managing reservations, providingssahd marketing
support, conducting quality assurance inspectiodspaoviding other operational support and infoiioratWe believe our
manachise model has enabled us to quickly andtaféde expand our geographical coverage and mathate in a less
capita-intensive manner through leveraging the local kreolgk and relationships of our franchist

We collect fees from our franchisees and do not thealoss, if any, incurred by our franchiseeseyrare also responsible
for all costs and expenses related to hotel coctaduand refurbishing. Our franchise and managermagreements for
manachised hotels typically run for an initial teofreight years. Our franchisees are generallyirequo pay us a one-time
franchise fee ranging between RMB100,000 and RMBBID In general, we charge a monthly franchiseofee
approximately 5% of the total revenues generateedajph manachised hotel. We also collect from freseets a reservation
fee on a per-room-night basis for using our cemeraérvation system and a membership registragiend service customers
who join our HanTing Club loyalty program at themaahised hotels. Furthermore, we employ and appoiet managers
for the manachised hotels and charge the franches@eonthly fee for the service.

Franchised Hotel. We inherited the franchise agreements with camdhised hotels as a result of our acquisition &t %
equity interest in Starway HK. Under these franelagreements, we provide our franchisees withitrgjrcentral
reservation, sales and marketing support, quadisyic@ance inspections and other operational suppdrinformation
services. We do not appoint hotel managers foframchised hotels. We collect fees from the frasebs of our franchised
hotels and do not bear any loss or share any pnafitred or realized by our franchisees. As ofdhte of this annual report,
we only use the franchise model for our Starwayel$o
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Operating Costs and Expensddur operating costs and expenses consist of farst®tel operation, selling and marketing expsnse
general and administrative expenses and pre-opexipenses. The following table sets forth the camepés of our operating costs and
expenses, both in absolute amount and as a pegeeoitaet revenues for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31
2010 2011 2012
(RMB) % (RMB) % (RMB) (US$) %
(In thousands except percentage:

Net revenue 1,738,49: 100.C 2,249,59 100.C 3,224,52 517,57. 100.(

Operating costs and expense
Hotel operating cost:

Rents 476,100 27.4 655,247  29.1 916,35° 147,08" 28.4
Utilities 108,20t 6.2 150,86 6.7 215,76¢  34,63: 6.7
Personnel cosi 210,90¢ 12.1 329,07¢ 14.€ 505,77 81,18: 15.7
Depreciation and amortizatic 163,12! 9.4 227,93¢ 10.1 337,16: 54,11¢ 10.t
Consumables, food and bever: 145,31 8.4 228,24:  10.z 333,24¢  53,49( 10.
Others 76,54¢ 4.4 111,96! 5.C 145,59°  23,37( 4.5
Total hotel operating cos 1,180,20. 67.¢ 1,703,33  75.7 2,453,90. 393,87t 76.1
Selling and marketing expens 70,78t 4.1 94,754 4.2 102,81« 16,50z 3.2
General and administrative expen 119,98¢ 6.¢ 160,06: 7.1 217,38t  34,89: 6.7
Pre-opening expense 111,21( 6.4 184,29¢ 8.2 230,69(  37,02¢ 7.2
Total operating costs and expen 1,482,18 85.2 2,142,45 ~ 95.z 3,004,79. 482,30. 93.Z

Hotel operating cost. Our hotel operating costs consist primarily oftscand expenses directly attributable to the djperaf our
leased and manachised hotels. Leased hotel opecatits primarily include rental payments andtytitiosts for hotel properties,
compensation and benefits for our hotel-based eyeply costs of hotel room consumable products apckdiation and
amortization of leasehold improvements. Manachis&el operating costs primarily include compensatiad benefits for
manachised hotel managers and other limited nuofbemployees directly hired by us, which are re@alipy us in the form of
monthly service fees. We anticipate that our hopalrating costs will increase as we continue tonopev hotels. Our hotel
operating costs as a percentage of our total reveray change from period to period mainly driverthrge factors, namely, (i) the
hotel operating costs as a percentage of reveoues!f mature leased hotels, (ii) the level of miaitfor our leased hotel portfolio
and (iii) the weight of manachised and franchisetls in our revenue mi:

Selling and marketing expensedur selling and marketing expenses consist pifynai commissions to travel intermediaries,
expenses for marketing programs and materials, fesskfor processing bank card payments, and cogatien and benefits for o
sales and marketing personnel, including persoain@lir centralized reservation center. We expexttdhr selling and marketing
expenses will increase as our sales increase and agther expand into new geographic locatiors gromote our brand

General and administrative expensé3ur general and administrative expenses congieply of compensation and benefits for
our corporate and regional office employees andratmployees who are not sales and marketing et-based employees, travel
and communication expenses of our general and astnaitive staff, costs of third-party professiosatvices, and office expenses
for corporate and regional office. We expect that@eneral and administrative expenses will ina@éaghe near term as we hire
additional personnel and incur additional costsannection with the expansion of our business aitld being a public company,
including costs of enhancing our internal contr

Pre-opening expenseur pre-opening expenses consist primarily ofs,gmersonnel cost, and other miscellaneous expense
incurred prior to the opening of a new leased h

48



Table of Contents

Our pre-opening expenses are largely determingddopumber of pre-opening hotels in the pipeling #re rental fees incurred
during the development stage. Landlords typicatfgraa two- to six-month rent-free period at thegina@ing of the lease.
Nevertheless, rental is booked during this perioé atraight-line basis. Therefore, a portion @&ppening expenses is non-cash
rental expenses. The following table sets forthctiiaponents of our pre-opening expenses for theggemdicated.

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands)
Rents 88,177 153,22¢ 191,53t 30,74«
Personnel cos 5,214 13,27: 15,48¢ 2,48¢
Others 17,81¢ 17,79¢ 23,66 3,79¢
Total pre-opening expense 111,21( 184,29¢ 230,69( 37,02¢

Our hotel operating costs, selling and marketingeeses and general and administrative expensesléshare-based compensation
expenses. The following table sets forth the atiooeof our shardsased compensation expenses, both in absolute armadias a percentage
total share-based compensation expenses, amorgghand expense items set forth below.

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
(RMB) % (RMB) % (RMB)  (US$) %
(In thousands except percentage:
Hotel operating cos! 1,558 11.¢ 2,11 137 2,597 41€ 124
Selling and marketing expens 77¢ 5.¢ 783 5C 1,031 16€ 5.C
General and administrative expen 10,78 82.z 12,58¢ 81.Z2 17,21« 2,76: 82.€
Total shar-based compensation expen 13,11 100.C 15,48! 100.C 20,837 3,34t 100.(

We adopted our 2007 Global Share Plan and 2008aG&iare Plan in February and June 2007, respbgtasgpanded the 2008 Global
Share Plan in October 2008, adopted the 2009 $hegative Plan in September 2009, and expandeddf®@ Share Incentive Plan in October
2009 and August 2010. We have granted options ttchaise 11,909,540, 1,948,370, 6,305,975, 767,595788 and 2,838,795 of our ordinary
shares in 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 20%Rectively. We granted 628,061 and 2,554,405 shunesstricted stock in 2011 and 2012,
respectively. We recognized share-based compensadicompensation expenses in the statement ofrebemnsive income based on the fair
value of equity awards on the date of the grant) thie compensation expenses recognized over timpe which the recipient is required to
provide service to us in exchange for the equitgralwShare-based compensation expenses have liegarized as hotel operating costs,
general and administrative expenses, or sellingnaaidketing expenses, depending on the job functibtize grantees.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from Operating HoteWe use earnings before interest expense, taxnegg®enefit) and depreciation
and amortization, or EBITDA, a non-GAAP financiakéasure, to assess our results of operations bis@impact of investing and financing
transactions and income taxes. Given the signifitarestments that we have made in leasehold ingmmants, depreciation and amortization
expense comprises a significant portion of our stisicture. We believe that EBITDA is widely usaddther companies in the lodging
industry and may be used by investors as a mea$ong financial performance. We also use Adjug&lTDA from Operating Hotels,
another non-GAAP measure, which is defined as EBI'O@fore pre-opening expenses and share-based osatfpn expenses, to assess
operating results of the hotels in operation. Weeke that the exclusion of pre-opening expensgsriaon of which is non-cash rental
expenses and share-based compensation expense$dodifate period-on-period comparison of oumtesof operations as the number of
hotels in the development stage may vary signiflgdrom year to year and provides a proxy for tash generation capability of the hotels in
operation at their current level of maturity.
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The following tables present certain unauditedrfoial data and selected operating data as of arttiéoyears ended December 31, 2010

2011 and 2012:

1)

Year Ended December 31
2010 2011 2012
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands)

Non-GAAP Financial Data
EBITDA ® 447,23 377,38 577,45 92,68¢
Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hote® 571,55 577,16t 828,98(  133,06:

We believe that EBITDA is a useful financial tmeto assess our operating and financial perfoicesefore the impact of investing and
financing transactions and income taxes. Giversifpgificant investments that we have made in lealseimprovements, depreciation ¢
amortization expense comprises a significant poeribour cost structure. In addition, we believattBBITDA is widely used by other
companies in the lodging industry and may be useid\estors as a measure of our financial perfogaakvVe believe that EBITDA will
provide investors with a useful tool for comparaypibetween periods because it eliminates depiieci@nd amortization expense
attributable to capital expenditures. We also udpigted EBITDA from Operating Hotels, which is daefd as EBITDA before pre-
opening expenses and share-based compensatiorsexpamassess operating results of the hotelsdration. We believe that the
exclusion of pre-opening expenses, a portion ottvig non-cash rental expenses, share-based coatipensxpenses helps facilitate
yeal-on-year comparison of our results of operationthasiumber of hotels in the development stage vaay significantly from year to
year and provides a proxy for the cash generatipalgility of the hotels in operation at their catrkevel of maturity. Therefore, w
believe Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotels matesely reflects the performance capability of lotarrently in operation. Our
calculation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from Opming Hotels does not deduct interest income, whigh RMB15.9 million,
RMB18.1 million and RMB14.6 million in 2010, 201hd2012, respectively, or foreign exchange gairickvivas RMB7.0 million and
RMB16.0 million in 2010 and 2011, respectively fareign exchange loss which was RMB2.0 million 201RBe presentation of EBITD
and Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotels should be construed as an indication that our futuraltesvill be unaffected by other
charges and gains we consider to be outside theavydcourse of our busines

The use of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from OperafiHotels has certain limitations. Depreciation antbrtization expense for
various long-term assets, income tax and intergetrese have been and will be incurred and areeflected in the presentation of
EBITDA. Pre-opening expenses have been and withtyerred and are not reflected in the presentaifohdjusted EBITDA from
Operating Hotels. Each of these items should adscomsidered in the overall evaluation of our rssldditionally, EBITDA or Adjuste
EBITDA from Operating Hotels does not consider tagxpenditures and other investing activities sinduld not be considered as a
measure of our liquidity. We compensate for th@sédtions by providing the relevant disclosureoaf depreciation and amortization,
interest expense, income tax expenseopening expenses, capital expenditures and otlerar items both in our reconciliations to
U.S. GAAP financial measures and in our consolididiteancial statements, all of which should be ideed when evaluating our
performance.

The terms EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from OperatiHgtels are not defined under U.S. GAAP, and nei#f @ TDA nor Adjusted
EBITDA from Operating Hotels is a measure of nebime, operating income, operating performanceqoidity presented in accordance
with U.S. GAAP. When assessing our operating amaiftial performance, you should not consider thia ¢h isolation or as a substitute
for our net income, operating income or any otlparating performance measure that is calculateddéordance with U.S. GAAP. In
addition, our EBITDA or Adjusted EBITDA from Opeiag) Hotels may not be comparable to EBITDA or AdagsEBITDA from
Operating Hotels or similarly titted measures méll by other companies since such other comparagaot calculate EBITDA or
Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotels in the samammer as we do.
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A reconciliation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA frof®perating Hotels to net income, which is the naictly comparable U.S.
GAAP measure, is provided below:

For the Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(in thousands)
Net income attributable to our compe 215,75, 114,83 174,88 28,07:
Interest expens 2,682 882 822 132
Tax expens! 57,26 24,81¢ 54,16¢ 8,69¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 171,53¢ 236,85 347,57 55,79(
EBITDA (Non-GAAP) 447,23. 377,38 577,45 92,68¢
Pre-opening expense 111,21 184,29¢  230,69( 37,02¢
Share-based compensation expen 13,11 15,48 20,83% 3,34¢
Adjusted EBITDA from Operating Hotels (N-GAAP) 571,55 577,16t 828,98(  133,06:

Hotel Income Hotel income is the difference between net reesrand hotel operating costs. Hotel income was RMB5million for
2012, compared with RMB546.3 million for 2011. Tyesar-over-year increase was mainly due to higheaeHocome generated from the
expanded network of manachised hotels and matasedehotels.

We track Hotel Income as a percentage of net reveaparately for our mature and ramp-up leasedshetewell as for manachised and
franchised hotels. For leased hotels in operatiomf least six months, our hotel income was RMBS&Tillion during 2012, or 22% of net
revenues derived from those hotels. Leased hatalpération for less than six months derived alto$s of RMB72.2 million, or 28% of net
revenues derived from those hotels in 2012. Foramlsised and franchised hotels, the hotel incomeR#B8265.7 million, or 81% of net
revenue derived from those hotels in 2012.

Net cash provided by operating activitie®ur net cash provided by operating activitiegrimarily attributable to our net income, add-
backs from share-based compensation expensescigjme and amortization and deferred rent and gharin deferred revenue and prepaid
rent. We use net cash provided by operating aigts/tb assess the cash generation capability amchnerofile of our business. Compared with
EBITDA, net cash provided by operating activitiesutralizes the impact of straigline based rental accounting and timing differeimceertair
areas of revenue recognition when assessing thenetofile and profitability of our business. Wadhnet cash provided by operating activities
of RMB469.1 million, RMB458.7 million and RMB715miillion in 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. Tlearsoveryear increase was mair
due to increases in depreciation and amortizatiohdeferred rent as we expanded our hotel netwiigkexpect that our net cash provided by
operating activities will continue to increase asfarther expand our hotel network.

Taxation

We are incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Undecthrent law of the Cayman Islands, we are ngestiko income or capital gains t
In addition, dividend payments we make are notesxtthip withholding tax in the Cayman Islands.

China Lodging HK and Starway HK are subject to @fiptax at the rate of 16.5% on assessable piefiermined under relevant Hong
Kong tax regulations. To date, neither China Loddi#tK nor Starway HK has been required to pay ptafitas it had no assessable profit.

China Lodging Singapore is subject to Singaporpate income tax at a rate of 17% in 2012. No &doge profit tax has been provic
as we have not had assessable profit that wasdearioe derived from Singapore during the yearsented.

Prior to January 1, 2008, our PRC operating estitiere governed by thecome Tax Law of the PRC for Enterprises with kgpre
Investment and Foreign Enterprises and the Promaid®egulations of the PRC on Enterprises Income, or the old EIT Laws. Pursuant to
the old EIT Laws, PRC enterprises were generalbjesui to the enterprise income tax at a statutaty of 33% (30% state income tax plus 3%
local income tax). On March 16, 2007, the NatidP@bple’s Congress passed the Enterprise Incomé&dawxand on December 6, 2007, the
PRC State Council issued thmplementation Regulations of the Enterprise Incdiae Law, both of which became effective on January 1,
2008. The Enterprise Income Tax Law and its Impletaon Regulations, or the EIT Law, applies a omif 25% enterprise income tax rate to
both foreign-invested enterprises and domestiaerises.
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The EIT Law imposes a withholding tax of 10% onidénds distributed by a PRC foreign-invested emtgego its immediate holding
company outside of China, if such immediate holdingipany is considered a “non-resident enterprs#iout any establishment or place
within China or if the received dividends have mmrection with the establishment or place of smumédiate holding company within China,
unless such immediate holding company’s jurisdictibincorporation has a tax treaty with China {hatvides for a different withholding
arrangement. Holding companies in Hong Kong, faneple, are subject to a 5% withholding tax ratee Tayman Islands, where we are
incorporated, does not have such a tax treaty @lhiima. Thus, dividends paid to us by our subsidgimn China may be subject to the 10%
withholding tax if we are considered a “non-residemerprise” under the EIT Law. See “Item 3. Kaformation — D. Risk Factors — Risks
Related to Doing Business in China — It is unclebether we will be considered as a PRC ‘residetdrprise’ under the EIT Law, and
depending on the determination of our PRC ‘resiéamé¢rprise’ status, dividends paid to us by ou€RRbsidiaries may be subject to PRC
withholding tax, we may be subject to 25% PRC inedax on our worldwide income, and holders of olxS& or ordinary shares may be
subject to PRC withholding tax on dividends paidusyand gains realized on their transfer of our ADSordinary shares.”

Critical Accounting Policies

We prepare financial statements in accordance adgitiounting principles generally accepted in thed¢hStates, or U.S. GAAP, which
requires us to make judgments, estimates and asisunsthat affect the reported amounts of our assed liabilities and the disclosure of our
contingent assets and liabilities at the end ohd&cal period and the reported amounts of reverunel expenses during each fiscal period. W
continue to evaluate these judgments and estirbatesd on our own historical experience, knowledgkassessment of current business and
other conditions, our expectations regarding theréubased on available information and assumptitetswe believe to be reasonable, which
together form our basis for making judgments alnoatters that are not readily apparent from otharcss. Since the use of estimates is an
integral component of the financial reporting ps;eour actual results could differ from thosereates. Some of our accounting policies
require a higher degree of judgment than othetlsgir application.

The selection of critical accounting policies, thégments and other uncertainties affecting apptioaof those policies and the sensiti
of reported results to changes in conditions asdragtions are factors that should be consideredhwddgewing our financial statements. We
believe the following accounting policies involeetmost significant judgments and estimates uséukipreparation of our financial
statements.

Revenue Recognition

Our revenues from leased hotels are derived froenatipns of leased hotels, including the rentaboims, food and beverage sales and
souvenir sales. Revenues are recognized when ramccupied and food and beverages and souveaisok.

Our revenues from manachised and franchised hatelderived from franchise agreements where tineliaees are required to pay
(i) an initial one-time franchise fee and (ii) amgoing franchise fee, the major part of which iarged at 2.0% to 5.0% of the revenues of the
manachised and franchised hotels. Aside from themge-based fee, we also charge a central resamatstem usage fee and a monthly
system maintenance and support fee which are remmywhen services are provided. The one-time friecfee, which is non-refundable, is
recognized when the manachised and franchised dpéels for business, and we have fulfilled all @ammitments and obligations, including
assistance to the franchisees in property destgisehold improvement construction project managgmgstems installation, personnel
recruiting and training. Ongoing franchise feesramgnized when the underlying service revenuesearognized by the franchisees’
operations. The system maintenance, support feeemdal reservation system usage fee is recognibeth services are provided.

We account for hotel manager fees related to tiedrander the manachise program as revenues.dmtsuthe franchise agreements
under the manachise program, we charge the fraseshitxed hotel manager fees to cover the manathistel managers’ salaries, social
welfare benefits and certain other out-of-pocketemses that we incur on behalf of the manachisegElfhd he hotel manager fee is recognizec
as revenue monthly. During the years ended DeceBthe2010, 2011 and 2012, the hotel manager feg¢swére recognized as revenue were
RMB30.1 million, RMB43.0 million and RMB72.1 millig respectively.
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Revenues derived from selling membership cardsasisld, manachised and franchised hotels are eamreedtraight-line basis over the
estimated membership life which is estimated taeroximately two to five years dependent upon nesstip level. Membership life is
estimated at the time the membership card is sdeédbon management’s industry experience and detaalated by our company, including
usage frequency and actual attrition. These estirate updated regularly to reflect actual memigersitention.

Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate the carrying value of our long-livededs for impairment by comparing the expected wadisted future cash flows of the
assets to the net book value of the assets ifindrigger events occur, such as receiving goventraening notification. Inherent in reviewing
the carrying amounts of the long-lived assetsesutse of various estimates. First, our managemast determine the usage of the asset.
Impairment of an asset is more likely to be recpgaiwhere and to the extent our management dettidesuch asset may be disposed of or
sold. Assets must be tested at the lowest levakrgdly the individual hotel, for which identifisbtash flows exist. If the expected
undiscounted future cash flows are less than theawk value of the assets, the excess of theau balue over the estimated fair value is
charged to current earnings. Fair value is based dscounted cash flows of the assets at a ratimeleé reasonable for the type of asset and
prevailing market conditions, appraisals and, grapriate, current estimated net sales proceeds fiending offers. Future cash flow estimate:
are, by their nature, subjective and actual resnétg differ materially from our estimates. If ourgwing estimates of future cash flows are not
met, we may have to record additional impairmemirghs in future accounting periods. Our estimatessh flow are based on the current
regulatory, social and economic climates where aredact our operations as well as recent operatifgrnation and budgets for our business.
These estimates could be negatively impacted bygdwin laws and regulations, economic downtumetleer events affecting various forms
of travel and access to our hotels.

Goodwill Impairment

Goodwill is required to be tested for impairmenleatst annually or more frequently if events orrafes in circumstances indicate that
these assets might be impaired. If we determingtiieacarrying value of our goodwill has been imgdj the carrying value will be written
down.

We adopted Accounting Standards Update (*“ASU”) 208 1Intangibles-Goodwill and other (Topic350),c&r2012, which gives us an
option to first assess qualitative factors to datee whether it is “more likely than not” that tfa@r value of a reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount as a basis for determining whetiemecessary to perform the two-step goodwilbanment test. If it is more likely than not
that the fair value of a reporting unit is lessrtlits carrying amount, goodwill is then testeddaling a two-step process. The first step
compares the fair values of each reporting unitstoarrying amount, including goodwill. If the faialue of a reporting unit exceeds its carn
amount, goodwill is not considered to be impairad the second step will not be required. If theyiag value of a reporting unit exceeds its
fair value, we would perform the second step inasgessment process and record an impairmenblessriings to the extent the carrying
amount of the reporting unit's goodwill exceedsitplied fair value. We estimate the fair valuesath reporting unit through internal analysis
and external valuations, which utilize income aratkat valuation approaches through the applicaifarapitalized earnings and discounted
cash flow. These valuation techniques are basedrmmber of estimates and assumptions, includiagtbjected future operating results of
the reporting unit, appropriate discount rateslangd-term growth rates. The significant assumptieggarding our future operating
performance are revenue growth rates, discours eatd terminal values. If any of these assumpiibasges, the estimated fair value of our
reporting unit will change, which could affect thmount of goodwill impairment charges, if any.

We acquired Starway HK in May 2012 and the faiueadf the Starway reporting unit approximated #sying value because of the st
period since its acquisition. The fair values obtadditional reporting units were 9% and 12% inemscof their carrying values, respectively.
However, the goodwill associated with these twargpg units is not material. The fair values dfthe other reporting units were substantially
in excess of their respective carrying values.
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Customer Loyalty Program

HanTing Club is our customer loyalty program. Owemibers can earn points based on spending at a@demanachised and franchised
hotels and participating in certain marketing pawgs. Points can be redeemed for room night awardigiéts within two years after the points
are earned. Management determines the fair valtteediiture redemption obligation based on ceffimimulas which project the future point
redemption behavior based on historical experieincéyding an estimate of points that will neverrbdeemed, and an estimate of the points
that will eventually be redeemed as well as thé tmobe incurred in conjunction with the point reg#tion. The actual expenditure may differ
from the estimated liability recorded. Prior to Redry 28, 2009, we recorded estimated liabilitmsdll points earned by our customers as we
did not have sufficient historical information tetdrmine point forfeitures or breakage. Based araoaumulated knowledge on reward points
redemption and expiration, we began to apply hisabredemption rates in estimating the costs afifgearned from March 1, 2009 onwards.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes has been determirséty the asset and liability approach of accognttim income taxes. Under this
approach, we recognize deferred tax assets arilitieesbbased on the differences between the firstatement carrying amounts and tax
basis of assets and liabilities. A valuation allog&is required to reduce the carrying amountetdrded tax assets if, based on the available
evidence, it is more likely than not that such tsaéll not be realized. Accordingly, the need stablish valuation allowances for deferred tax
assets is assessed periodically based on a metg-thkan-not realization threshold. This assessrmoensiders, among other matters, the nature
frequency and severity of current and cumulatiesés, forecasts of future profitability, the dwatof statutory carryforward periods, our
experience with operating loss in the China’s ladiservice hotel industry, tax planning strategglemented and other tax planning
alternatives. Prior to 2009, we had significantragiag losses attributable to rapid expansion atated pre-opening costs incurred. As of
December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, we had defearegissets generated from net loss carryforward \edlaation allowance of RMB14.1
million, RMB37.8 million and RMB35.3 million, respgvely. We expect many of our hotels that wereipuiperation since 2010 will become
mature and generate sufficient taxable profit thhizetthe substantial portion of the net loss cmyard. If our operating results are less than
currently projected and there is no objectivelyifisdle evidence to support the realization of daferred tax asset, additional valuation
allowance may be required to further reduce ouerdefl tax asset. The reduction of the deferrecisart could increase our income tax
expenses and have an adverse effect on our resalperations and tangible net worth in the pemfodhich the allowance is recorded.

The provision for income taxes represents incomestpaid or payable for the current year plus tienge in deferred taxes during the
year. Our tax rate is based on expected incomteitetp tax rates and tax planning opportunitiesilaisée in the various jurisdictions in whic
we operate. For interim financial reporting, wdraste the annual tax rate based on projected texiabbme for the full year and record a
quarterly income tax provision in accordance whith anticipated annual rate. As the year progresgesefine the estimates of the year’s
taxable income as new information becomes availaidtuding year-to-date financial results. Thisittoual estimation process often results in
a change to our expected effective tax rate foy#ee. When this occurs, we adjust the income taxigion during the quarter in which the
change in estimate occurs so that the year-toftatasion reflects the expected annual tax ratgnicant judgment is required in determining
our effective tax rate and in evaluating its tasipons.

We recognize a tax benefit associated with an saicetax position when, in our judgment, it is mbkely than not that the position will
be sustained upon examination by a taxing authdfity a tax position that meets the more-likelyrtimat recognition threshold, we initially
and subsequently measure the tax benefit as thesttamount that we judge to have a greater th#ml&@lihood of being realized upon
ultimate settlement with a taxing authority. Owatiility associated with unrecognized tax benefitadjusted periodically due to changing
circumstances, such as the progress of tax acdgs, law developments and new or emerging legislaBuch adjustments are recognized
entirely in the period in which they are identifiglur effective tax rate includes the net impaathdnges in the liability for unrecognized tax
benefits and subsequent adjustments as considgpedpaiate by management. We classify interestpamlties recognized on the liability for
unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense.
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Share-Based Compensation

The costs of share based payments are recognized consolidated financial statements based dnghant-date fair value over the
vesting. We determine fair value of our share aystias of the grant date using binomial option pgenodel and the fair value of our
nonvested restricted stocks as of the grant datedoan the fair market value of the underlying wady shares. Under the binomial option
pricing model, we make a number of assumptionsrdigg fair value including the expected price npl#iat which employee are likely to
exercise stock options, the expected volatilitpoif future ordinary share price, the risk freeriest rate and the expected dividend yield. In
July 2012, we granted (i) nonvested restrictedkstodth market condition, the fair value of whickasvdetermined using a Monte Carlo
simulation, and (ii) options and nonvested restdcttocks with performance conditions. Determirnfregvalue of our share-based
compensation expense in future periods also regjthesinput of subjective assumptions around estidntorfeitures of the underlying shares
and likely future performance. We estimate ourditures based on past employee retention rategxpactations of future retention rates, anc
we will prospectively revise our forfeiture ratessed on actual history. We estimate our futuregperéince based on our historical results. Ou
compensation charges may change based on changasassumptions.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth a summary of our saidated results of operations, both in absolateunt and as a percentage of net
revenues for the periods indicated. This informasbould be read together with our consolidateaifoial statements and related notes
included elsewhere in this annual report.

We have grown rapidly since we began our curresirtass of operating and managing a multi-brand! lgoteip in 2007. Our limited
operating history makes it difficult to predict duture operating results. We believe that the yyearear comparison of operating results
should not be relied upon as being indicative e performance.
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For the Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
RMB % RMB % (RMB) (US$) %
(In thousands except percentage:
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income Dat
Revenues
Leased hotel 1,707,77. 98.z 2,172,93. 96.€ 3,069,43. 492,67¢ 95.C
Manachised and franchised hot 130,57¢ 7.5 212,64 9.4 349,84 56,154 10.¢
Total revenue: 1,838,351 105.7 2,385,57 106.C 3,419,27: 548,83 106.(
Less: Business tax and related ta 99,857 5.7 135,98: 6.C 194,75.  31,26( 6.C
Net revenue 1,738,49: 100.C 2,249,59 100.C 3,224,52° 517,57. 100.(
Operating costs and expenses
Hotel operating cosi 1,180,20: 67.¢ 1,703,33 75.7 2,453,90: 393,87¢ 76.1
Selling and marketing expens 70,78¢ 4.1 94,75« 4.2 102,81« 16,50: 3.2
General and administrative expen 119,98¢ 6.¢ 160,06: 7.1 217,38¢  34,89: 6.7
Pre-opening expense 111,21( 6.4 184,29t 8.2 230,69( 37,02¢ 7.2
Total operating costs and expen 1,482,18 85.2 2,142,45. 95.z 3,004,79. 482,30: 93.7
Income from operation 256,30t  14.7 107,14t 4.8 219,73: 35,27( 6.€
Interest incom 15,94¢ 1.C 18,11: 0.8 14,55¢ 2,33¢ 0.t
Interest expense 2,682 0.2 88~ 0. 82z 132 0.1
Other income 2,56¢ 0.2 2,64¢ 0.1 2,20¢ 354 0.
Foreign exchange gain (los 6,92: 0.4 15,93( 0.7 (2,000 (321) (0.1
Income before income tax 279,05¢ 16.1 142,95: 6.4 233,67. 37,507 7.2
Tax expens: 57,26: 3.3 24,81¢ 1.1 54,16¢ 8,69¢ 1.€
Net income 221,79:  12.t 118,13¢ .3 179,50  28,81: 5.€
Less: net income attributable to noncontrollingiest 6,04: 0.4 3,30¢ 0.2 4,617 741 0.2
Net income attributable to China Lodging Group, ltéd 215,75 12.4 114,83. 5.1 174,88 28,07 5.4
Note: (1) Includes sha-based compensation expenses as follows:
Year Ended December 31
2010 2011 2012
(RMB) (RMB) (RMB) (US$)
(In thousands)
Sharebased compensation expen 13,11 15,48: 20,837 3,34¢

Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to Year Emdieckmber 31, 2011
RevenuesOur net revenues increased by 43.3% from RMB2@4ddllion in 2011 to RMB3,224.5 million in 2012.

. Leased hotel. Revenues from our leased hotels increased byegr@n RMB2,172.9 million in 2011 to RMB3,069.4 foh in
2012. This increase was primarily due to our car@thexpansion of leased hotels from 344 hotelsA@rfll4 hotel rooms as of
December 31, 2011 to 465 hotels and 54,694 hotehscas of December 31, 2012. RevPAR for our leheégls increased from
RMB167 in 2011 to RMB173 in 2012 primarily due ketincrease in the proportion of mature hotels ajraur leased hotel

. Manachised and franchised hot. Revenues from our manachised and franchisedshioteased by 64.5% from RMB212.6
million in 2011 to RMB349.8 million in 2012. Thiadérease was primarily due to our continued expansionanachised hotels
from 295 hotels and 31,107 hotel rooms as of Deegr@b, 2011 to 516 hotels and 53,381 hotel roontf Beecember 31, 2012.
RevPAR for our manachised hotels remained stabilkeasffect of a decrease in the average dailyafateir manachised hotels
from RMB174 in 2011 to RMB172 in 2012 was offsetdnyincrease of the occupancy rate of our manatiigtels from 93% in
2011 to 95% in 2012. The decrease in the averagerdte resulted primarily from (i) a higher pentage of our new manachised

hotels being in the ramp-up stage in 2012 and (&hift in the mix of hotels toward smaller citigsere our average daily rates are

lower.
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Operating Costs and Expens&dur total operating costs and expenses incrdasd0.3% from RMB2,142.5 million in 2011 to
RMB3,004.8 million in 2012.

Hotel operating cost. Our hotel operating costs increased by 44.1% fRMB1,703.3 million in 2011 to RMB2,453.9 million i
2012. This increase was primarily due to our exjmemnsf leased hotels from 344 hotels as of DeceritheP011 to 465 hotels as of
December 31, 2012. The increase in personnel quatisof hotel operating costs, was also attribletédo our expansion of
manachised hotels from 295 hotels as of Decemhe2@lll to 516 hotels as of December 31, 2012. Otal loperating costs as a
percentage of net revenues increased from 75.7201t to 76.1% in 2012, primarily due to the inceemsthe cost of renovation,
labor, food and supplies resulting from generdhiidn.

Selling and marketing expensedur selling and marketing expenses increased ¥ &om RMB94.8 million in 2011 to
RMB102.8 million in 2012. The increase was slowent the increase in revenue resulting from ourrtass expansion. Our selling
and marketing expenses as a percentage of netuevelecreased from 4.2% in 2011 to 3.2% in 201&hiydue to the benefit
from economies of scale and our «saving efforts

General and administrative expenseédur general and administrative expenses increiassdRMB160.1 million in 2011 to
RMB217.4 million in 2012, primarily as a resultair business expansion. Our general and adminigrexpenses as a percentage
of net revenues decreased from 7.1% in 2011 to 872612, primarily due to the benefit from econemof scale

Pre-opening expenseur pre-opening expenses increased from RMBL&dll®n in 2011 to RMB230.7 million in 2012,
primarily due to our acceleration of leased hoperings from 101 in 2011 to 121 in 2012, in palticthe increase in leased JI
Hotel openings from two in 2011 to eight in 2012ir@nid-scale hotel product, JI Hotel, has higherppening expense per hotel
than our economy hotel product, HanTing Hotel, ttukigher rent for the underlying property and &rgpom count. The growth in
JI Hotel openings and the strong JI Hotel pipetits® contributed to the increase of pre-openingpgps in 2012. Our pre-opening
expenses as a percentage of net revenues decfeane®i2% in 2011 to 7.2% in 2012 primarily duestganded revenue ba:

Income from OperationsAs a result of the foregoing, we had income frgmerations of RMB219.7 million in 2012 comparedrncome
from operations of RMB107.1 million in 2011.

Interest Income (Expense), N&ur net interest income was RMB13.8 million irl200ur interest income was RMB14.6 million in
2012, and our interest expense was RMBO0.8 mill@ur. net interest income was RMB17.2 million in 200Lr interest income was RMB18.1
million in 2011, and our interest expense was RMB1illion. The decrease in interest income from2@12012 was primarily due to the
decrease in the average balance of our cash ahaqagvalents.

Other income Our other income was RMB2.6 million and RMB2.2lioin in 2011 and 2012, respectively, primarilyrititable to
reimbursement from the depositary of our ADSs fatain expenses incurred by us in respect of th& Abbgram established pursuant to the
deposit agreement.
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Foreign Exchange Loss or GaiWe had foreign exchange loss of RMB2.0 millior2012 compared to foreign exchange gain of
RMB15.9 in 2011. Our foreign exchange loss in 2@A2 primarily attributable to the depreciationttd Renminbi against the U.S. dollar in
the first half of 2012. Our foreign exchange gair2011 was primarily attributable to the appreciatf the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar.

Tax ExpenseOur tax expenses increased from RMB24.8 millim2011 to RMB54.2 million in 2012, primarily duettte increase in o
income before income taxes from RMB143.0 millior20i1 to RMB233.7 million in 2012 and the increaseur effective tax rate. Our
effective tax rate increased from 17.4% in 20123®2% in 2012, primarily because the benefit ofttheholiday that we enjoyed accounted fol
a smaller percentage of the increased taxable iacom

Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interedtet income attributable to noncontrolling inténepresents joint venture partners’
share of our net income based on their equity ésten the leased hotels owned by the joint vestudet income attributable to noncontrolling
interest increased from RMB3.3 million in 2011 tMBR4.6 million in 2012, primarily due to the increaim the net income of our majority-
owned joint venture in 2012.

Net Income Attributable to China Lodging Group, lted . As a result of the foregoing, we had net incomtiébaitable to China Lodging
Group, Limited of RMB174.9 million in 2012 comparexnet income attributable to China Lodging Groumited of RMB114.8 million in
2011.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from Operating HoteEBITDA (non-GAAP) was RMB577.5 million in 2012pmpared with EBITDA
of RMB377.4 million in 2011. Adjusted EBITDA fromg@rating Hotels (non-GAAP) increased from RMB57miflion in 2011 to RMB829.0
million in 2012. This change was primarily due e growth of our manachised hotels and mature delaseels.

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Emdieckmber 31, 2010
RevenuesOur net revenues increased by 29.4% from RMB1%/88llion in 2010 to RMB2,249.6 million in 2011.

. Leased hotel. Revenues from our leased hotels increased by@#d&@n RMB1,707.8 million in 2010 to RMB2,172.9 fioh in
2011. This increase was primarily due to our car@thexpansion of leased hotels from 243 hotel28r8B8 hotel rooms as of
December 31, 2010 to 344 hotels and 40,514 hatehscas of December 31, 2011, partially offset bigerease in RevPAR.
RevPAR for our leased hotels decreased from RMBA2®10 to RMB167 in 2011 primarily due to (i) tless of the favorable
impact of the Shanghai Expo held in 2010 (see “-eHxppact”) and (ii) a higher percentage of our Heased hotels being in the
ramp-up stage in 2011. The leased hotels in the1aprstage accounted for 18% of room nights aviglédy sale from the leased
hotels portfolio in 2011, compared with 7% in 20

. Manachised hotel. Revenues from our manachised hotels increas&2 8¢ from RMB130.6 million in 2010 to RMB212.6
million in 2011. This increase was primarily dueotar continued expansion of manachised hotels ft8hotels and 20,550 hotel
rooms as of December 31, 2010 to 295 hotels arikdd3hotel rooms as of December 31, 2011, partidfiset by a decrease in
RevPAR. RevPAR for our manachised hotels decrefisgttRMB172 in 2010 to RMB163 in 2011 driven byecdease in the
average daily rate of our manachised hotels fronBR82 in 2010 to RMB174 in 2011 and partially offbgtan increase of the
occupancy rate of our manachised hotels from 902010 to 93% in 2011. The decrease in the averai)e rdte resulted primarily
from (i) the loss of the favorable impact of theaBfhai Expo held in 2010, (ii) a higher percentageur new manachised hotels
being in the ram-up stage in 2011 and (iii) a shift in the mix otdie toward smaller cities where our average dailgs are lowe!

Operating Costs and Expensedur total operating costs and expenses increasdd.5% from RMB1,482.2 million in 2010 to
RMB2,142.5 million in 2011.

. Hotel operating cost. Our hotel operating costs increased by 44.3% fRWB1,180.2 million in 2010 to RMB1,703.3 million i
2011. This increase was primarily due to our exjmemsf leased hotels from 243 hotels as of DecerBiteR010 to 344 hotels as of
December 31, 2011. Our hotel operating costs &s@ptage of net revenues increased from 67.99910 & 75.7% in 2011,
primarily due to a decrease in our RevPAR primaa#ya result of a decrease in the average daéyofadur hotels from 197 in 20:
to 180 in 2011
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. Selling and marketing expensedur selling and marketing expenses increased8£8 from RMB70.8 million in 2010 to
RMB94.8 million in 2011. The increase was in linghaour expansion of business and increase of tevas a result. Our selling
and marketing expenses as a percentage of netuevarcreased from 4.1% in 2010 to 4.2% in 2

. General and administrative expenseé3ur general and administrative expenses increiassdRMB120.0 million in 2010 to
RMB160.1 million in 2011, primarily as a resultadr business expansion. Our general and adminisraxpenses as a percentage
of net revenues increased from 6.9% in 2010 to 2011, primarily due to a revenue base favorahlyacted by the Shanghai
Expo in 2010

. Pre-opening expenseur pre-opening expenses increased from RMBLhilldn in 2010 to RMB184.3 million in 2011,
primarily due to our accelerated expansion of ldds#els. We opened 101 leased hotels in 2011, amdpvith 70 in 2010, and v
had 93 leased hotels under development as of Dexre®ibh 2011, compared to 69 as of December 31,.20Hzldition, the
extension of the conversion period of new hotela essult of prolonged new hotel license approvatess also led to increased
pre-opening expenses in 2011. Our pre-opening eq3ess a percentage of net revenues increased #émin 2010 to 8.2% in
2011.

Income from OperationsAs a result of the foregoing, we had income frgmerations of RMB107.1 million in 2011 comparedritcome
from operations of RMB256.3 million in 2010.

Interest Income (Expense), N&ur net interest income was RMB17.2 million irl200ur interest income was RMB18.1 million in
2011, and our interest expense was RMBO0.9 mill@ur. net interest income was RMB13.2 million in 200Qr interest income was RMB15.9
million in 2010, and our interest expense was RMBHillion, RMB1.4 million of which was capitalized connection with leasehold
improvements. The increase in interest income 200 to 2011 was primarily due to higher inter@shed as a result of our effective treas
management. The decrease in interest expense ittt 2011 was primary due to our reduced borrgwin

Other income Our other income remained unchanged in 2011 2640 at RMB2.6 million, and was primarily attribbta to
reimbursements received from the depositary ofAdBs for certain expenses incurred by us in respittte ADR program established
pursuant to the deposit agreement.

Foreign Exchange GainWe had foreign exchange gain of RMB15.9 milliar2D11 compared to foreign exchange gain of RMB6.9
2010. Our foreign exchange gain in 2011 was pripatiributable to the appreciation of the Renmiafainst the U.S. dollar.

Tax ExpenseOur tax expenses decreased from RMB57.3 milliio2d10 to RMB24.8 million in 2011, primarily dueaadecrease in our
income before income taxes from RMB279.1 millior201L0 to RMB143.0 million in 2011. Our effectivectaate decreased from 20.5% in
2010 to 17.4% in 2011, primarily due to the taxidey that we enjoyed effective from 2011, partiaffset by the change in valuation
allowance resulting from certain new hotels inthap-up stage.

Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interedfet income attributable to noncontrolling inténepresents joint venture partners’
share of our net income based on their equity éstan the leased hotels owned by the joint vestuxet income attributable to noncontrolling
interest decreased from RMB6.0 million in 2010 tdBB.3 million in 2011, primarily due to our acquisn of certain noncontrolling interests
in our majority-owned joint ventures in 2010.

Net Income Attributable to China Lodging Group, lted. As a result of the foregoing, we had net incomtiébaitable to China Lodging
Group, Limited of RMB114.8 million in 2011 compartmnet income attributable to China Lodging Graumited of RMB215.8 million
incurred in 2010.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA from Operating HoteEBITDA (non-GAAP) was RMB377.4 million in 2011ompared with EBITDA
of RMB447.2 million in 2010. This change was priiyadue to the loss of the favorable impact of 8tenghai Expo held in 2010, a higher
percentage of leased hotels in the ramp-up stadjdigher pre-opening expenses in 2011. AdjustedrBBI from Operating Hotels (non-
GAAP) increased from RMB571.6 million in 2010 to B&77.2 million in 2011.
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Expo Impact

Expo 2010 Shanghai China, or the Shanghai Expa;iwilias held in Shanghai from May 1 to October 31,2 had a favorable impact
on our results of operations in 2010. As of Decen®ig 2010, we had 85 hotels in operation in Shangthich constituted 19.4% of our hot
in operation. By analyzing our internal operatingtrits under normal business circumstances and &angpto the performance of our non-
Shanghai hotels, our management estimated thé&avbeable impact from the Shanghai Expo contrib@et¥s to our net revenues of
RMB1,738.5 million in 2010. Excluding the impactifn the Shanghai Expo, we estimate that our RevPA®dwhave improved by 4.0% from
163 in 2009 to 2010 for our overall portfolio and 0% on a like-for-like basis. Excluding imparirh the Shanghai Expo, from 2009 to
2010, we estimate that our net revenue would hasreased by 29.2% from RMB1,260.2 million in 2008t net income attributable to China
Lodging Group, Limited would have increased by 224 from RMB42.5 million in 2009, our EBITDA wouldlie increased by 59.4% from
RMB214.9 million in 2009, and our EBITDA from opéray hotels would have increased by 79.5% from RBE&BZ million in 2009.

Financial information with regard to the favorabtgact from the Shanghai Expo has been generatechally and has not been
subjected to the same review and scrutiny, inclyditernal auditing procedures and audit by indepahauditors, to which we subject our
annual consolidated financial statements, and naay materially from the audited consolidated finahmformation for the same period. Any
evaluation of this financial information should@lske into account our published audited constdiifinancial statements and the notes to
those statements. In addition, this financial infation is not necessarily indicative of our restdtsany future period.

Outstanding Indebtedness

In September 2008, we entered into a three-yeditdeeility with the Industrial and Commercial Baof China under which we can
borrow up to RMB172.0 million during the term oktFacility. As of December 31, 2009, we had fullan down the facility and repaid
RMB35.0 million. In February 2010, we repaid theneening RMB137.0 million. The weighted average iast rates were 5.72% and 5.4% for
the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2010, resgecCertain commercial properties owned by Lisaxoperty (Suzhou) Co., Ltd., an
entity controlled by Mr. Qi Ji, our founder, exeigetchairman and chief executive officer, are pkatitp secure such credit facility. This credit
facility expired in September 2011.

In January 2010, we entered into a credit facilitth the Industrial and Commercial Bank of Chinalenwhich we can borrow up to
RMB150.0 million by September 2011. Principal paytseare due on each anniversary date with the anpayable being dependent upon
amounts previously borrowed against the facilitg.a% December, 31, 2010, we had drawn down thetdiaidlity of RMB70.0 million and
repaid RMB70.0 million and had available creditifiacof RMB80.0 million for future borrowing. Theveighted average interest rate for
borrowings drawn under such credit was 4.86% ferytsar ended December 31, 2010. We did not drawdbis credit facility during the ye:
ended December 31, 2011. This credit facility iscallateralized. This credit facility expired ire@ember 2011.

In March 2012, we entered into a credit facilityttwihe Industrial and Commercial Bank of China unalkich we can draw down up to
RMB500.0 million, subject to adjustment, by May 2015 with the final tranche of repayment due inrdéha2017. The interest rate for each
draw down is established on the draw-down dateisaadjusted annually, based on the loan interéststipulated by the People’s bank of
China for the corresponding period. In 2012, RMBOQ@illion of this credit facility expired. As of &ember 31, 2012, we had drawn down
this credit facility of RMB1.0 million and repaidViB1.0 million and had available credit facility 899.0 million for future borrowing. The
weighted average interest rate for borrowings dramater such credit was 6.9% for the year ended mdbee31, 2012.

In September 2012, we entered into a three-yeaivieng credit facility with China Merchants Bankder which we can borrow up to
RMB300.0 million by October 9, 2015. We did notwirdown this credit facility during the year endeddember 31, 2012.
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In December 2012, we entered into a thirty-mon#ditrfacility with Luso International Banking Ltdnder which we can borrow up to
US$10.0 million by April 5, 2013. The interest réte each draw-down is established on the draw-ddate and is based on the 12-Month
London Interbank Offered Rate on the draw-down gaie a margin of 2.7%. Each draw-down will be gudeed by a letter of guarantee or a
stand-by letter of credit. During the year endedéddber 31, 2012, we did not draw down this creaitlity.

5.B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of liquidity have been ouesa preferred shares, ordinary shares and cabieriotes through private placements
our initial public offering, borrowings from PRC monercial banks and cash generated from operatimngtas. Our cash and cash equivalents
consist of cash on hand and liquid investments lwhave maturities of three months or less wheniemdjand are unrestricted as to withdre
or use. As of December 31, 2012, we had enteredintling contracts with lessors of 80 propert@sdur leased hotels under development.
As of December 31, 2012, we expected to incur apprately RMB1,227.7 million of capital expendituriesconnection with certain recently
completed leasehold improvements and to fund theeleold improvements of these 80 leased hoteldniéted to fund this planned expansion
with our operating cash flow, our cash balanceantcredit facilities.

We have been able to meet our working capital nesaswe believe that we will be able to meet oarking capital needs in the
foreseeable future with our operating cash flovisting cash balance and our credit facilities.

The following table sets forth a summary of ourtcisws for the periods indicated:

For the Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
(RMB) (RVMB) (RMB) (US$)
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activit 469,12¢ 458,74( 715,72( 114,87¢
Net cash used in investing activiti (515,310 (734,57) (1,068,13) (171,44)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 845,83" 13,83« 19,89t 3,19t
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casbaéts (10,177 (16,467 75€ 12z
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 789,48( (278,46¢) (331,75) (53,25)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ofdhe 270,58°  1,060,06 781,60: 125,45¢
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 1,060,06 781,60: 449,84 72,20¢

Operating Activities

In 2010, 2011 and 2012, we financed our operatitigides primarily through cash generated from @piens. We currently anticipate
that we will be able to meet our needs to fund afi@ns in the next twelve months with operatinghcéew.

Net cash provided by operating activities amoumteBMB715.7 million in 2012, primarily attributabte (i) our net income of
RMB179.5 million in 2012, (ii) an add-back of RMBB4 million in depreciation and amortization in 204iii) an add-back of RMB143.9
million in deferred rent because rental accrued straight-line basis exceeded rental paid ouuotontractual liabilities, (iv) an increase of
RMB90.5 million in deferred revenue primarily dtiutable to one-time membership fees in connectibim @ur HanTing Club loyalty program
as well as advances received from customers andHisees, and (v) an increase of RMB93.2 milliopriepaid rent, which partially offset
factors (i) to (iv).

Net cash provided by operating activities amoumteBMB458.7 million in 2011, primarily attributabte (i) our net income of
RMB118.1 million in 2011, (ii) an add-back of RMB&3 million in depreciation and amortization in 204iii) an add-back of RMB92.9
million in deferred rent because rental accrued straight-line basis exceeded rental paid outiotontractual liabilities (iv) an increase of
RMB92.8 million in deferred revenue primarily dtiutable to one-time membership fees in connectidim @ur HanTing Club loyalty program
as well as advances received from customers andHisees, (v) an increase of RMB75.8 million ingaiel rent, which partially offset factors
(i) to (iv) and (vi) an increase of RMB35.7 millian deferred taxes, which partially offset factéijgo (iv).
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Net cash provided by operating activities amoumteBMB469.1 million in 2010, primarily attributabte (i) our net income of
RMB221.8 million in 2010, (ii) an add-back of RMBILB million in depreciation and amortization in BO4iii) an add-back of RMB70.8
million in deferred rent because rental accrued straight-line basis exceeded rental paid outiotontractual liability, (iv) an increase of
RMB42.3 million in deferred revenue primarily dtiutable to one-time membership fees in connectibim @ur HanTing Club loyalty program
as well as advances received from customers, grah(increase of RMB82.6 million in prepaid renhigh partially offset factors (i) to (iv).

Net cash provided by operating activities incredsesh RMB458.7 million in 2011 to RMB715.7 million 2012, primarily due to (i) an
increase in the add back of our depreciation angriration from RMB236.9 million in 2011 to RMB34/million in 2012, (ii) an increase in
our net income from RMB118.1 million in 2011 to RIMBO.5 million in 2012 and (iii) an increase in deéa rent from RMB92.9 million in
2011 to RMB143.9 million in 2012.

Net cash provided by operating activities decredised RMB469.1 million in 2010 to RMB458.7 million 2011, primarily due to (i) a
decrease in our net income from RMB221.8 millior2@10 to RMB118.1 million in 2011 and (ii) the clgenfrom deferred tax expenses of
RMB9.2 million in 2010 to deferred tax benefit oMB35.7 million in 2011, partially offset by (i) ancrease in the add back of our
depreciation and amortization from RMB171.5 million2010 to RMB236.9 million in 2011 and (ii) archease in the change of deferred
revenue from RMB42.3 million in 2010 to RMB92.8 haih in 2011.

Investing Activities

Our cash used in investing activities is primaréated to our leasehold improvements, purchasgoipment and fixtures used in leasec
hotels and our investment in Starway HK and UBOinational Holdings Co Limited, or UBOX. In 201111 and 2012, we experienced
cash outflows from investing activities.

Net cash used in investing activities increasethfRMB734.6 million in 2011 to RMB1,068.1 million 2012, primarily due to (i) an
increase in our purchases of property and equipfremt RMB768.8 million in 2011 to RMB998.1 million 2012 and (ii) a decrease in our
proceeds from sales of short-term investments fRdB130.0 million in 2011 to nil in 2012. The inceain our purchases of property and
equipment was primarily due to (i) our acceleraggpgansion of our leased hotel network, and (iilnenease in the number of our leased Ji
Hotels opened and under development which havglehper room renovation cost compared with owstép HanTing Hotel.

Net cash used in investing activities increasethfRIMB515.3 million in 2010 to RMB734.6 million ir021, primarily due to (i) an
increase in our purchases of property and equipfremt RMB397.3 million in 2010 to RMB768.8 millioin 2011 as a result of our accelere
expansion of our leased hotel network and (ii)ramgase in our acquisitions, net of cash receiv@d RMB9.7 million in 2010 to RMB57.8
million in 2011, partially offset by a decreaseour purchase of short-term investments from RMB@38illion in 2010 to RMB30.0 million in
2011.

Financing Activities
Our major financing activities since 2010 consfdbans with PRC commercial banks and our initiablc offering in 2010.

Net cash provided by financing activities increaBedh RMB13.8 million in 2011 to RMB19.9 million iB012. Net cash provided by
financing activities in 2012 primarily consisted(gfproceeds of RMB18.5 million from issuance oflimnary shares upon exercise of options,
(ii) excess tax benefit from share-based compesrsatithe amount of RMB4.3 million and (iii) fundslvanced from noncontrolling
shareholders in the amount of RMB3.0 million, iy offset by the dividend paid to noncontrollimjerest holders in the amount of RMB3.5
million and the repayment of funds advanced fromaamtrolling shareholders in the amount of RMB2illiom.

Net cash provided by financing activities decredsech RMB845.8 million in 2010 to RMB13.8 milliomi2011. Net cash provided by
financing activities in 2011 primarily consisted(gfexcess tax benefit from share-based compensatithe amount of RMB8.3 million,
(i) proceeds of RMB7.3 million from issuance oflorary shares upon exercise of options and (iiigdgiadvanced from noncontrolling
shareholders in the amount of RMB3.5 million, iy offset by the dividend paid to noncontrollimjerest holders in the amount of RMB3.2
million and the repayment of funds advanced fromaomtrolling shareholders in the amount of RMB2 iBiom.
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Restrictions on Cash Transfers to Us

We are a holding company with no material operatioihour own. We conduct our operations primatilotigh our subsidiaries in Chit
As a result, our ability to pay dividends and twafice any debt we may incur depends upon dividpaidisto us by our subsidiaries. If our
subsidiaries or any newly formed subsidiaries irdrlst on their own behalf in the future, the instemts governing their debt may restrict theil
ability to pay dividends to us. In addition, oubsidiaries are permitted to pay dividends to uy onit of their retained earnings, if any, as
determined in accordance with PRC accounting staisdand regulations. Pursuant to laws applicablntiies incorporated in the PRC, our
subsidiaries in the PRC must make appropriatioos fafter-tax profit to non-distributable reserveds. These reserve funds include one or
more of the following: (i) a general reserve, i) enterprise expansion fund and (iii) a staff lsomod welfare fund. Subject to certain
cumulative limits, the general reserve fund requar annual appropriation of 10% of after-tax pr@ts determined under accounting
principles generally accepted in the PRC at eaeln-gad); the other fund appropriations are at thisigliaries’ discretion. These reserve funds
can only be used for the specific purposes of priter expansion, staff bonus and welfare, and ardistributable as cash dividends. In
addition, due to restrictions on the distributidrsbare capital from our PRC subsidiaries, theeskapital of our PRC subsidiaries is consid
restricted. As a result of the PRC laws and regariat as of December 31, 2012, approximately RM82.2 million was not available for
distribution to us by our PRC subsidiaries in thef of dividends, loans, or advances.

Furthermore, under regulations of the SAFE, thenilehi is not convertible into foreign currencies éapital account items, such as
loans, repatriation of investments and investmeatside of China, unless the prior approval of$d-E is obtained and prior registration with
the SAFE is made.

The EIT Law provides that enterprises establishedide of China whose “de facto management bodieslocated in China are
considered “resident enterprises.” Currently, tregeeno detailed rules or precedents governingtheedures and specific criteria for
determining “de facto management body.” See “ltédmAdditional Information — E. Taxation — PRC Taixet.”

The EIT Law imposes a withholding tax of 10% onidiénds distributed by a foreign-invested enterpiasiés immediate holding
company outside of China, if such immediate holdingipany is considered a “non-resident enterprs#iout any establishment or place
within China or if the received dividends have mrection with the establishment or place of smumédiate holding company within China,
unless such immediate holding company’s jurisdictdincorporation has a tax treaty with China thatvides for a different withholding
arrangement. Holding companies in Hong Kong, faneple, are subject to a 5% withholding tax ratee Tayman Islands, where we are
incorporated, does not have such a tax treaty @lhiima. Thus, dividends paid to us by our subsidgimn China may be subject to the 10%
withholding tax if we are considered a “non-residemerprise” under the EIT Law.

The EIT Law provides that PRC “resident enterpfises generally subject to the uniform 25% entexpincome tax rate on their
worldwide income. Therefore, if we are treated &R& “resident enterprise,” we will be subject ®@®income tax on our worldwide income
at the 25% uniform tax rate, which could have apaot on our effective tax rate and an adverse efieour net income and results of
operations, although dividends distributed from BRC subsidiaries to us would be exempt from th€ BRidend withholding tax, since such
income is exempted under the EIT Law to a PRC esdicecipient.

We do not expect any of such restrictions or ta@dsgave a material impact on our ability to meeat@ash obligations.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures were incurred primarilg@mnection with leasehold improvements, investsmanfurniture, fixtures and
equipment and technology, information and operatignftware. Our capital expenditures totaled RM&B6nillion, RMB919.5 million and
RMB1,200.0 million in 2010, 2011 and 2012, respayi. Our capital expenditures in 2012 consistrofrcrease in the amount of RMB1,1€
million in property and equipment and an increasthneé amount of RMB2.3 million in software. Theliease in property and equipment
included primarily our capital expenditures asstriavith new hotels opened in 2012 and hotelsgtidler development by the end of 2012, a:
well as capital expenditure associated with thevation of our hotels in operation. We will contnto make capital expenditures to meet the
expected growth of our operations and expect osh balance, cash generated from our operatingitéesiand credit facilities will meet our
capital expenditure needs in the foreseeable future
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5.C. Research and Development, Patents and Licensetc.
Hotel Information Platform and Operational Systems

We have successfully developed and implementedizanaed operating platform capable of supportingnationwide operations. This
operating platform enables us to increase theiefiay of our operations and make timely decisidie following is a description of our key
information and management systems.

Web property management system (Web-PNIsy Web-PMS is a web-based, centralized apptinatiat integrates all the critical
operational information in our hotel network. Thisstem enables us to manage our room inventorgrvasons and pricing for all of our hot
on a real-time basis. The system is designed tblens to enhance our profitability and competeareifectively by integrating with our
central reservation system and customer relatipnsfanagement system. We believe our Web-PMS enabtesanagement to more
effectively assess the performance of our hotela timely basis and to efficiently allocate resasrand effectively identify specific market
sales targets.

Central reservation systemWe have a real-time central reservation systeailae 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Ouratent
reservation system allows reservations throughipielthannels including our website, call centeird-party travel agents and online
reservation partners. The real-time inventory manaant capability of the system improves the efficieof reservations, enhances customer
satisfaction and maximizes our profitability.

Customer relationship management (CRM) syst@ur integrated CRM system maintains informatibow HanTing Club members,
including reservation and consumption history aatlgun, points accumulated and redeemed, and prepayand balance. By closely tracking
and monitoring member information and behaviorangeable to better serve the members of our loyatigram and offer targeted promotions
to enhance customer loyalty. The CRM system alswvalus to monitor the performance of our corpoddignt sales representatives.

Internet service system (HTOnling)ur Internet service system HTOnline consistswfwebsite (www.htinns.com), our mobile website
(m.htinns.com) and our mobile apps for smart phonegring iOS or Android systems. HTOnline provides HanTing Club members and the
general public with convenient, friendly and updaservices, including information and search sewior China Lodging hotels, including
location, amenities and pricing, reservation s&wjenembership registration and management and erezalmmunity services. Our mobile
apps also provide location based services, inctud@arch services for nearby China Lodging hotels.

Intellectual Property

We regard our trademarks, copyrights, domain natrede secrets and other intellectual propertytsigis critical to our business. We
rely on a combination of copyright and trademaui, lkade secret protection and confidentiality agnents with our employees, lecturers,
business partners and others, to protect our éatelhl property rights.

As of December 31, 2012, we have registered 9Etnatks and logos with the China Trademark Offidee ffademarks and logos used
in our current hotels are under protection of #gistered trademarks and logos. An additional i&fetmark applications are under review by
the authority. We have also registered one tradeimagach of Singapore, Macau, Taiwan and Hong Kdvig have filed 3 trademark
applications both in Korea and Thailand, whichamder review by the authority in Korea and Thailafvgl of December 31, 2012, we have
applied for and received one utility model patemtdur bathroom hinged door. We have also recetopgright registration certificates for six
software programs developed by us as of Decemh&t@P. In addition, we have registered 39 natiamal international top-level domain
names, including www.htinns.com, www.hantinghotaisa and www.huazhu.com as of December 31, 2012.
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Our intellectual property is subject to risks oéftrand other unauthorized use, and our abilityrtdect our intellectual property from
unauthorized use is limited. In addition, we mayshbject to claims that we have infringed the Iet#lal property rights of others. See “ltem
3. Key Information — D. Risk Factors — Risks Rethte Our Business — Failure to protect our traddiand other intellectual property
rights could have a negative impact on our brartaatversely affect our business.”

5.D. Trend Information

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this annpalteve are not aware of any trends, uncertaintiesiands, commitments or events
since January 1, 2012 that are reasonably likehat® a material adverse effect on our net revemuesme, profitability, liquidity or capital
resources, or that caused the disclosed finamdfaiation to be not necessarily indicative of fetoperating results or financial conditions.

5.E. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Other than operating lease and purchase obligasieif®rth in the table under “Item 5. Operating &mnancial Review and Prospects —
F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligationsg have not entered into any financial guarante@th®r commitments to guarantee the
payment obligations of any third parties. We haoteantered into any derivative contracts that adexed to our shares and classified as
shareholder’s equity, or that are not reflectedunconsolidated financial statements. Furthermeeegdo not have any retained or contingent
interest in assets transferred to an unconsolidattty that serves as credit, liquidity or markisk support to such entity. We do not have any
variable interest in any unconsolidated entity fralvides financing, liquidity, market risk or ciegupport to us or engages in leasing, hedgini
or research and development services with us.

5.F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations
The following table sets forth our contractual ghtions as of December 31, 2012:

Payment Due in the year ending December 3 Payment Due
Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter
(In RMB millions)
Operating Lease Obligatiol 15,317 1,19¢ 1,32: 1,35¢ 1,34¢ 1,32 8,771
Purchase Obligatior 82 82 — — — — —
Total 15,39¢ 1,281 1,32z 1,35¢ 1,34/ 1,32: 8,771

Our operating lease obligations related to ourgattibns under lease agreements with lessors déased hotels. Our purchase
obligations primarily consisted of contractual coittngnts in connection with leasehold improvemenis iastallation of equipment for our
leased hotels.

5.G. Safe Harbor

This annual report on Form 20-F contains forwaiking statements that are based on our managentetie$s and assumptions and on
information currently available to us. These stants relate to future events or to our future foalnperformance and involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factor$ i@y cause our or our industry’s actual resuttgells of activity, performance or
achievements to be materially different from anyfe results, levels of activity, performance dniagements expressed or implied by these
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statateénclude, but are not limited to, statementsuébo

. our anticipated growth strategies, including depiglg new hotels at desirable locations in a tingelg cost-effective manner and
launching a new hotel bran

. our future business development, results of opmratand financial conditiol
. expected changes in our revenues and certain cegpense item:

. our ability to attract customers and leverage sand; anc

. trends and competition in the lodging indus
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In some cases, you can identify forward-lookingesteents by terms such as “may,” “could,” “will,"feuld,” “would,” “expect,” “plan,”
“intend,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “pmict,” “potential,” “future,” “is/are likely to,” ‘project” or “continue” or the negative of these
terms or other comparable terminology. These sttésrare only predictions. You should not placeueneliance on forward-looking
statements because they involve known and unknisks, uncertainties and other factors, which arspime cases, beyond our control and
which could materially affect results. Factors thty cause actual results to differ materially frcumrent expectations include, among other
things, those listed under “Item 3. Key InformatienD. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this annupbre If one or more of these risks or
uncertainties occur, or if our underlying assummiprove to be incorrect, actual events or resadtg vary significantly from those implied or
projected by the forward-looking statements. Navimd-looking statement is a guarantee of futuréoperance.

The forward-looking statements made in this annejabrt relate only to events or information ashaf tlate on which the statements are
made in this annual report. We undertake no ohtigab update any forwarkboking statements to reflect events or circumstarafter the da
on which the statements are made or to reflecbticarrence of unanticipated events.

ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEE¢
6.A. Directors and Senior Management

The following table sets forth the name, age argitipm of each of our directors and executive @fficas of the date of this annual report
The business address of all of our directors aedgtive officers is No. 2266 Honggiao Road, Changmistrict, Shanghai 200336, People’s
Republic of China.

Directors and Executive Officers Age Position/Title
Qi Ji 46  Founder, Executive Chairman of the Board of Direst@€hief Executive Office
Tuo (Matthew) Zhan 47  Vice Chairman of the Board of Directc
John Jiong Wi 45 Cc-founder, Independent Direct
Tong Tong Zhac 46  Cc-founder, Independent Direct
Min Fan 47  Director
Yan Huancg 45 Independent Directc
Joseph Choy 51 Independent Directc
Min (Jenny) Zhan¢ 39 Chief Financial Office
Yunhang Xie 44  Chief Operating Office

Qi Jiis our founder and has also served as the exeathaieman of our board since February 2007. He sdseed as our chief executive
officer from 2007 to August 2009 and returned fis thle in January 2012. Mr. Ji has served on tiedas a director for UBOX since June
2012. He co-founded Home Inns & Hotels Managemeant br Home Inns, and served as its chief exeeutfficer from January 2001 to
January 2005. He also co-founded Ctrip.com Inténat, Ltd., or Ctrip, one of the largest onlinavel services providers in China, in 1999,
acted as its chief executive officer and presidetil December 2001, and currently serves on Girfijmard as an independent director. Prior tc
founding Ctrip, Mr. Ji was the chief executive oéff of Shanghai Sunflower High-Tech Group, whictidwnded in 1997. He headed the East
China Division of Beijing Zhonghua Yinghua Intekigce System Co., Ltd. from 1995 to 1997. Mr. Jeread both his Master’s and Bachetor’
degrees from Shanghai Jiao Tong University.

Tuo (Matthew) Zhanbas served as the vice chairman of our board Siaceary 2012. From August 2009 to December 2014ehe=d &
our chief executive officer. From October 2007 tigh July 2009, he was our chief operating offitég.has more than 17 years of working
experience with multinational companies in senianagement capacities and has accumulated extdmsiwdedge in chain management and
multi-location management. Prior to joining us D0Z, he served as the co-founder and the Genershdéa of Shanghai IJIAS Technology
Co., Ltd., an e-commerce company specializing méémprovement products, from 2005 to 2007. Heestas the Vice President of Sales
and Marketing of Zhejiang Kasen Industrial Co., lted, an upholstery manufacturer, from 2004 to 2006 Zhang also served as the Vice
President of OBl Management Systems (China) Cd., &nd the General Manager of OBI Asia Trade andlhternational (Shanghai) Co.,
Ltd., a German-based retail chain of home improv@meaterials with a national retail network in Cdaifirom 2002 to 2004. Prior to that,

Mr. Zhang worked at Haworth, Inc., PepsiCo, Ind Xerox Corporation. Mr. Zhang received his Bachieldegree in Management
Administration from Shanghai Jiao Tong University.
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John Jiong Wy a co-founder of our company, has served as oectdir since January 2007. He is the founder andagiag Partner of
F&H Fund Management Pte. Ltd. He served as theuferRartner of Northern Light Venture Capital fr@808 to 2010 and was an angel
investor and the Chief Technology Officer of AlilmaGroup from 2000 to 2007. Prior to joining AlibaBeoup, he worked as an engineer or
manager in several companies in the Silicon Vallegluding Oracle and Yahoo! Inc. Mr. Wu received Bachelor of Science in Computer
Science degree from the University of Michigan.

Tong Tong Zhaga co-founder of our company, has served as oectdir since February 2007. She also serves asrdbearef the board
of directors of China Education & Technology Grdiimited. She was the General Manager of Shanghiai-Aang Health Technology
Development Co., Ltd. from 2004 to 2006, the Gelndianager of Shanghai Hong Ying Hi-Tech Co., Ltanfi 1999 to 2001, and the Deputy
General Manager of Shanghai Xie Cheng Science antology Co., Ltd. from 1997 to 1998. Ms. Zhaeeieed her Master of Science deg
from Shanghai Jiao Tong University and obtained\iaster of Business Administration degree from MEGniversity.

Min Fanhas served as our director since March 2010. ldaésof the co-founders of Ctrip and has serveti@site chairman of its
board of directors since March 2013, as a membis dbard of director since October 2006 andsapriesident since February 2009.
Previously, Mr. Fan served as Ctrip’s chief examibfficer from January 2006 to February 2013 tsashief operating officer from November
2004 to January 2006 and as its executive vicadmasfrom 2000 to November 2004. From 1997 to 2080 Fan was the chief executive
officer of Shanghai Travel Service Company, a legdiomestic travel agency in China. From 1990 @7]1%e served as the deputy general
manager and in a number of other senior positib@hanghai New Asia Hotel Management Company, whiah one of the leading hotel
management companies in China. In addition to bsstions at Ctrip, Mr. Fan currently serves onlibards and compensation committees of
PerfectEnergy International, Ltd., ChinaEdu Corftioraand 99 Joyu Tourism Operating Group. Mr. Feceived his Master’s and Bachelor’s
degrees from Shanghai Jiao Tong University. He stisdied at the Lausanne Hotel Management Schd®idkerland in 1995.

Yan Huandhas served as our independent director since J00i& Ble has been a General Partner of CDH Vensimes 2006 and was
an Associated Director of Intel Capital from 20042005. Mr. Huang received his Bachelor's degre@aomputer Science from Zhejiang
University.

Joseph Chovas served as our independent director since A@fidl. He has over 19 years of experience in catpdinance, financial
advisory and management and has held senior exearid managerial positions in various public arape companies. Mr. Chow is
currently a managing director of Moelis and Compang was previously a managing director at Gold®achs (Asia) LLP from 2008 to
2009. Prior to that, he served as an independeamdial consultant from 2006 to 2008, as chiefrfaial officer of Harbor Networks Limited
from 2005 to 2006, and as chief financial officéChina Netcom (Holdings) Company Limited from 20012004. Prior to that, Mr. Chow
served as the director of strategic planning of Bardier Capital, Inc., as vice president of intéioreal operations of Citigroup and as the
corporate auditor of GE Capital. Mr. Chow currerttis on the board as a director for Synutra Irggonal, Inc., a company listed on
NASDAQ, and an independent r-executive director for Kasen International Holdingmited and for Intime Department Store (Group),C
Ltd., a company listed on the Stock Exchange ofd¢Hiéang. Mr. Chow obtained a Bachelor of Arts degrepolitical science from Nanjing
Institute of International Relations and a MasteBosiness Administration degree from the Univegrsit Maryland at College Park.

Min (Jenny) Zhan@as served as our chief financial officer since #2008 and the Executive Vice President of Findrara Septemb
2007. Prior to joining us, she served as the Fiadicector of Eli Lilly (Asia) Inc., Thailand Brahcand the Chief Financial Officer of
ASIMCO Casting (Beijing) Company, Ltd. She also lext previously with McKinsey & Company, Inc. asansultant. Ms. Zhang has served
on the board as a director for Synutra Internatidna. since February 2011. She obtained her MastBusiness Administration degree from
Harvard Business School and received both MastéadsBachelor's degrees from the University of In&ional Business and Economics.
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Yunhang Xidnas served as our chief operating office sincel®fx12. He has more than 16 years of working expeg in the IT
industry. Prior to joining us, Mr. Xie held sevelahdership roles in Digital China Networks Cog.Lor DCN, a leading network equipment
and solutions provider, since 2000. He acted a&tmeral Manager of DCN from 2005 to 2012, formotatorporate development strategy
and managing day-tday operations. From 1997 to 2000, Mr. Xie sernv&®aputy General Manager at the network divisiohesfovo Scienc
and Technology Development Co., Ltd. Mr. Xie reegiwa Master of Business Administration degree f@imung Kong Graduate School of
Business, and a Bachelor’s degree in engineerarg Bhanghai Jiao Tong University.

Employment Agreements

We have entered into an employment agreement waith ef our named executive officers. Each of ouneexecutive officers is
employed for a specified time period, which will fsetomatically extended unless either we or theauhaxecutive officer gives prior notice to
terminate such employment. We may terminate the@mypent for cause, at any time, without noticeemuneration, for certain acts, includ
but not limited to the conviction of a criminal effce and negligent or dishonest acts to our dettirdenamed executive officer may terminate
his or her employment at any time with a one-mqantor written notice.

Each named executive officer has agreed to holdh, dharing and after the termination or expiry of br her employment agreement, in
strict confidence, and not to use, except as reduir the performance of his or her duties in ceotine with the employment, any of our
confidential information or trade secrets or thafential or proprietary information of any thipdrty received by us and for which we have
confidential obligations. In addition, each namgdative officer has agreed to be bound by non-citipn restrictions. Specifically, each
named executive officer has agreed not to, duris@hher employment with us and for a period aof twears following his or her termination
with our company, be engaged as employee or irhanctipacity to participant directly or indirecitlyany business that is in competition with
ours. Each named executive officer also agreesrply with all material applicable laws and regigdas related to his or her responsibilitie:
our company as well as all material written corp@nd business policies and procedures of our anyp

6.B. Compensation

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, theeggte cash compensation and benefits that wegaildr directors and executive
officers were approximately RMB6.7 million. No péns retirement or similar benefits have been si&teaor accrued for our executive offic
or directors. We have no service contracts with@myur directors providing for benefits upon tenation of employment.

Share Incentive Plans

In February 2007, our board of directors and oareiholders adopted our 2007 Global Share Plartreceiand retain the best available
personnel for positions of substantial respongjhito provide additional incentives to selectecpbtoyees, directors, and consultants and to
promote the success of our business. Our 2007 C&itzae Plan was subsequently amended in DeceriB&c Zen million ordinary shares
may be issued under our amended and restated 200@lGhare Plan, or the Amended and Restated R20v

In June 2007, our board of directors and our sluddens adopted our 2008 Global Share Plan witts#imee purpose as our 2007 Global
Share Plan. Our 2008 Global Share Plan was substygaenended in October 2008. Seven million ordirerares may be issued under our
amended and restated 2008 Global Share Plan, éntliemded and Restated 2008 Plan.

In September 2009, our board of directors and bareholders adopted our 2009 Share Incentive Pilinparrposes similar to our 2007
Global Share Plan and 2008 Global Share Plan. @29 Share Incentive Plan was subsequently amend@dtober 2009 and August 2010.
Fifteen million ordinary shares may be issued umdgramended 2009 Share Incentive Plan, or the Ae@ga009 Plan.

Plan Administration The compensation committee appointed by our badndinisters all of our share incentive plans. ®irJi has been
delegated the authority to grant, in his sole diian, option and restricted stock to be issueceundr share incentive plans to any of our
employees and consultants except for our direeodsexecutive officers. The aggregate number aesheovered by any single grant he m:
shall not exceed 500,000 ordinary shares.
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Types of AwardsThe following briefly describes the principal feges of the various awards that may be granteémmgr Amended an
Restated 2007 and 2008 Plans.

. Options. Each option agreement must specify the exercise.prhe exercise price of an option must notdss than 100% of the
fair market value of the underlying shares on thgom grant date, and a higher percentage maydséresl. The term of an option
granted under the Amended and Restated 2007 ar@Rl8fAs must not exceed ten years from the datepttien is granted, and a
shorter term may be require

. Share Purchase Right#A share purchase right is a right to purchaseicésd stock. Each share purchase right undeAthended
and Restated 2007 and 2008 Plans must be evidégaedestricted stock purchase agreement betwegputithaser and us. The
purchase price will be determined by the admintstral he share purchase rights will automaticalyiee if not exercised by the
purchaser within 30 days after the grant d

The following briefly describes the principal feads of the various awards that may be granted umgeAmended 2009 Plan:

. Options. The purchase price per share under an optiorbiletermined by a committee appointed by ourcaad set forth in tF
award agreement. The term of an option grantedruhdeAmended 2009 Plan must not exceed ten yearsthe grant date, and a
shorter term may be require

. Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock L. An award of restricted stock is a grant of oudimary shares subject to restrictions the
committee appointed by our board may impose. Aiptetl stock unit is a contractual right that isdminated in our ordinary
shares, each of which represents a right to re¢kevgalue of a share or a specified percentagedf value upon the terms and
conditions set forth in the Amended 2009 Plan d&edapplicable award agreeme

. Other Stock-based Award3he committee is authorized to grant other stoaged awards that are denominated or payable in or
otherwise related to our ordinary shares suchazk stppreciation rights and rights to dividends divilend equivalents. Terms &
conditions of such awards will be determined bydbmmittee appointed by our board. Unless the asvare granted in substituti
for outstanding awards previously granted by aityetitat we acquired or combined, the value ofd¢besideration for the ordinary
shares to be purchased upon the exercise of sumfilsishall not be less than the fair market vafubeounderlying ordinary shares
on the grant datt

Vesting ScheduleAs of the date of this annual report, we haversat into option agreements and restricted stoctdagreements
respectively under our Amended and Restated 2002608 Plans and our Amended 2009 Plan. Pursuanirttypical option agreement, 50%
of the options granted shall vest on the secondrarsary of the vesting commencement date spedifi¢ide corresponding option agreement,
and 1/48 of the options shall vest each month #ftxeover the next two years on the first dayaiflemonth, subject to the optionee’s
continuing to provide services to us. Pursuantithaestricted stock award agreement, 50% of tteicted stock granted shall vest on the
second anniversary of the vesting commencementsgaigfied in the corresponding restricted stockrawagreement, and 1/8 of the restrictec
stock shall vest each six-month period thereafter the next two years on the last day of eachrsixth period, subject to the grantee’s
continuing to provide services to us.

Termination of the Amended and Restated 2007 aB8 Rans and the Amended 2009 Pl&dur Amended and Restated 2007 and 200(
Plans and our Amended 2009 Plan will terminate0ih72 2018 and 2019, respectively. Our board ofctlirs may amend, suspend, or termi
our Amended and Restated 2007 and 2008 Plans amtheended 2009 Plan at any time. No amendmentadilbe, suspension, or termination
of these plans shall materially and adversely imibes rights of any participant with respect tocanstanding award, unless mutually agreed
otherwise between the participant and the admatistr
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The following tables summarize options and restdcdtocks that we have granted to our directorseeardutive officers and to other
individuals as a group under our share incentieasl

Ordinary Shares

Underlying Options Exercise Price
Name Awarded 1) (US$/Share) Date of Grant Date of Expiration
Qi Ji 400,00( 1.5z October 1, 200! October 1, 201!
755,672 2.7¢ July 17, 201: July 17, 201¢
Tong Tong Zha 100,00( 1.5¢ October 1, 200! October 1, 201!
John Jiong Wi 100,00( 1.5 October 1, 200! October 1, 201!
Yan Huanc * 1.5¢ October 1, 200! October 1, 201!
Joseph Chov * 3.71 July 20, 201( July 20, 202(
Tuo (Matthew) Zhan * 1.40, July 1, 2007, July 1, 2017,
1.53 August 3, 2009 August 3, 2019
1.5 November 20, 20( November 20, 201
Min (Jenny) Zhan¢ * 1.40, October 1, 2007 October 1, 2017
1.5 November 20, 20( November 20, 201
2.7¢ July 17, 201z July 17, 201¢
Yunhang Xie * 2.7¢ July 17, 201z July 17, 201¢
Other individuals as a group February 4, 2007 February 4, 2017 —
13,431,74 0.5C-4.7¢ January 20, 201 July 20, 202(
Ordinary Shares Underlying
Name Restricted Stocks Awarded Date of Grant
Qi Ji 200,00 August 6, 201:
649,002 July 17, 201:
Min (Jenny) Zhan¢ * July 17, 201z
Yunhang Xie * July 17, 201z
Other individuals as a grot 1,370,81: February 7, 201- September 10, 20

* Upon exercise of all options granted, would berniafic own less than 1% of our outstanding ordinsinares

(1) Includes options to purchase an aggregate of B35Grdinary shares that have been exercised bgi@fficers and options to purchi
an aggregate of 7,827,806 ordinary shares that e exercised by certain employe

(2) The number of ordinary shares underlying oggtiand restricted stocks awarded will vary dependjpan whether certain performance
conditions and market conditions are satisf

6.C. Board Practices
General

Our board of directors currently consists of sedieactors. Under our amended and restated memonaadd articles of association,
which came into effect upon our initial public affeg, our board of directors shall consist of astetwo directors. Our directors shall be ele:
by the holders of ordinary shares. There is nogdt@ding requirement for qualification to serveaamember of our board of directors.

Our board of directors may exercise all the poveéthe company to borrow money, mortgage or chésgendertaking, property and
uncalled capital, and issue debentures, debentinck and other securities whenever money is bordooveas security for any debt, liability or
obligation of the company or of any third party.

We believe that each of Ms. Tong Tong Zhao, Mrnldiong Wu, Mr. Joseph Chow and Mr. Yan Huang ar&ralependent director” as
that term is used in NASDAQ corporate governandestu

Duties of Directors

Under Cayman Islands law, our directors have a ditgyalty to act honestly in good faith with a&ew to our best interests. Our direct
also have a duty to exercise the skill they aggyadissess and such care and diligence that a @ag@rudent person would exercise in
comparable circumstances. In fulfilling their datiycare to us, our directors must ensure compliaviteour memorandum and articles of
association.
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Terms of Directors and Executive Officers

Each of our directors holds office until a successs been duly elected and qualified. All of oxe@utive officers are appointed by and
serve at the discretion of our board of directors.

Board Committees

We have established two committees under the bafadfectors — the audit committee and the compgmsaommittee. We have
adopted a charter for each of the board committeash committee’s members and functions are destikelow. We currently do not plan to
establish a nominations committee. As a foreigmate issuer, we are permitted to follow home couotrporate governance practices under
Rule 5615(a)(3) of the NASDAQ Marketplace RulesisThiome country practice of ours differs from RE&D5(e) of the NASDAQ
Marketplace Rules regarding implementation of a inations committee, because there are no speeijigirerments under Cayman Islands lav
on the establishment of a nominations committee.

Audit Committee

Our audit committee consists of three directorselg Mr. John Jiong Wu, Mr. Joseph Chow and Mr. Yarang. All of these three
directors satisfy the “independence” requiremefith® NASDAQ Global Select Market and the Secwsitiad Exchange Commission, or the
SEC regulations. In addition, our board of direstbas determined that Mr. Joseph Chow is qualdgdn audit committee financial expert
within the meaning of the SEC regulations. The acolinmittee oversees our accounting and finanefdnting processes and the audits of the
financial statements of our company. The audit cittemis responsible for, among other things:

. selecting the independent auditors and pre-appgafirauditing and non-auditing services permitietie performed by the
independent auditor

. setting clear hiring policies for employees or fememployees of the independent audit

. reviewing with the independent auditors any audibfems or difficulties and managem’s response
. reviewing and approving all proposed reli-party transactions

. discussing the annual audited financial statemsittsmanagement and the independent audi

. discussing with management and the independentossiginajor issues regarding accounting principfesfanancial statement
presentations

. reviewing reports prepared by management or thepeddent auditors relating to significant financedorting issues and
judgments

. reviewing with management and the independent argdielate-party transactions and «balance sheet transactions and struct
. reviewing with management and the independent ansdihe effect of regulatory and accounting initie$ and actions

. reviewing policies with respect to risk assessnagit risk managemer

. reviewing our disclosure controls and proceduresiaternal control over financial reportin

. timely reviewing reports from the independent amditregarding all critical accounting policies guectices to be used by our
company, all alternative treatments of financidéimation within GAAP that have been discussed winmagement and all other
material written communications between the inddpahauditors and manageme

. establishing procedures for the receipt, reterdiog treatment of complaints received from our elygds regarding accounting,
internal accounting controls or auditing matterd #re confidential, anonymous submission by ourleyges of concerns regardi
guestionable accounting or auditing matt
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. annually reviewing and reassessing the adequacyradudit committee charte
. such other matters that are specifically delegatexir audit committee by our board of directosirtime to time; ani
. meeting separately, periodically, with managemttinternal auditors and the independent audi

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee consists of Mr. JohngliWu, Mr. Joseph Chow and Mr. Yan Huang. All cégh three directors satisfy 1
“independence” requirements of NASDAQ MarketplacgelR and the SEC regulations. Our compensation d¢ttemrassists the board in
reviewing and approving the compensation struadfii@ur directors and executive officers, includadbforms of compensation to be provided
to our directors and executive officers. The consaéion committee is responsible for, among othiegih

. reviewing and approving the compensation for oniceexecutives

. reviewing and evaluating our executive compensadimh benefits policies general

. reporting to our board of directors periodica

. evaluating its own performance and reporting tolmard of directors on such evaluati

. periodically reviewing and assessing the adequétlyeocompensation committee charter and recommegratiy proposed changes
to our board of directors; at

. such other matters that are specifically delegaigde compensation committee by our board of thirsdrom time to time

6.D. Employees

We had7,801, 10,694 and 12,833 employees as ofnire31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. Asaxfdinber 31, 2012, 5,592 of
our 12,833 employees were contracted through thantly human resources companies. We recruit aedttirtrain and manage all of our
employees. We believe that we maintain a good wgrkelationship with our employees and we havesrptrienced any significant labor
disputes. Our employees have not entered into alfgctive bargaining agreements.

6.E. Share Ownership

The following table sets forth information with pest to the beneficial ownership, within the megrof Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange
Act, of our ordinary shares, as of April 20, 2033 b

. each of our directors and executive officers;
. each person known to us to own beneficially moasath% of our ordinary share

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordand e rules of the Securities and Exchange Coniomissnd includes voting or
investment power with respect to the ordinary shaEscept as indicated below, and subject to agipleccommunity property laws, the pers
named in the table have sole voting and investipewer with respect to all ordinary shares showheseficially owned by them.

Ordinary Shares Beneficially Owned®)

Number %
Directors and Executive Officer
Qi Ji 113,072,75@ 44 4
Tong Tong Zha 34,220,856) 13.4
John Jiong Wi 9,724,93. 3.8
Min Fan 22,049,444 8.7
* *

Yan Huanc
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(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

()
(6)

Ordinary Shares Beneficially Owned(®)

Number %

Joseph Chow & &
Tuo (Matthew) Zhan * *
Min (Jenny) Zhan¢ * *
Yunhang Xie * *
All Directors and Executive Officers as a Grc 150,523,200 59.1
Principal Shareholder

Winner Crown Holdings Limite: 79,207,84©) 31.1
East Leader International Limite 34,129,250 134
Ctrip.com International, Ltc 22,049,44@®) 8.7

Less than 1%

The number of ordinary shares outstanding loutating the percentages for each listed persagraup includes the ordinary shares
underlying options held by such person or group@sable within 60 days after April 20, 2013. Peitege of beneficial ownership of
each listed person or group is based on (i) 2478B57ordinary shares outstanding as of April 2@,30ncluding 3,048,662 shares of
restricted stock and (ii) the ordinary shares ulydey share options exercisable by such personinv8f days after April 20, 201
Includes (i) 77,607,849 ordinary shares and@@® ADRs representing 1,600,000 ordinary sharstheWinner Crown Holdings
Limited, or Winner Crown, a British Virgin Island®mpany wholly owned by Sherman Holdings Limite@adamas company, which is
in turn wholly owned by Credit Suisse Trust Limit@d CS Trustee. CS Trustee acts as trustee dfi fh@mily Trust, of which Mr. Qi Ji
and his family members are the beneficiaries 366,640 ordinary shares issuable upon exercisetafres held by Mr. Qi Ji that are
exercisable within 60 days after April 20, 2018) @00,000 shares of restricted stock held by Jilr(iv) 649,009 shares of restricted
stock held by Mr. Ji, subject to adjustment, (V0®,000 ordinary shares held by East Leader Intiermel Limited, or East Leader, a
British Virgin Islands company, over which Mr. Adwoting power pursuant to a power of attornegdi&ebruary 25, 2010, and

(vi) 4,000,000 Restricted ADSs representing 16,000 ordinary shares, 342,313 ADSs representing®123@ ordinary shares and
280,000 ordinary shares held by East Leader, olhaMr. Ji has voting power pursuant to a poweattdrney dated February 5, 2013.
East Leader is wholly owned by Perfect Will Holdsngmited, or Perfect Will, a British Virgin Islasccompany, which is in turn wholly
owned by Asia Square Holdings Ltd., or Asia Squasenominee for Sarasin Trust Company (Singapdritéd, or Sarasin Trust.
Sarasin Trust acts as trustee of the Tanya Trbsthich Ms. Tong Tong Zhao and her family membeestae beneficiarie:

Includes (i) 91,600 ordinary shares issuable up@maise of options held by Ms. Tong Tong Zhao Hratexercisable within 60 days al
April 20, 2013, and (ii) 16,760,000 ordinary sha#®00,000 Restricted ADSs representing 16,000¢00ihary shares and 342,313
ADSs representing 1,369,252 ordinary shares helasy Leader, a British Virgin Islands company viholvned by Perfect Will, a
British Virgin Islands company, which is in turn alty owned by Asia Square, as nominee for SarasiistT Sarasin Trust acts as trustee
of the Tanya Trust, of which Ms. Tong Tong Zhao aedfamily members are the beneficiaries. Ms. Zkabe sole director of East
Leader.

Includes (i) 7,202,482 ordinary shares thaipGturchased from us, (ii) an aggregate of 11,8846 @& our ordinary shares that Ctrip
purchased from the Chengwei Funds, CDH Courtyantited, the IDG Funds, the Northern Light Funds Bitpoint Capital 2006 A
Limited, and (iii) 800,000 ADSs representing 3,200 ordinary shares that Ctrip subscribed in oitiairpublic offering. By virtue of
being the vice chairman of the board of directord president of Ctrip, Mr. Fan may be deemed tebeially own an aggregate of
22,049,446 ordinary shares. Mr. Fan disclaims heiaébwnership of the shares beneficially owneddisip except to the extent of his
pecuniary interests therein. Mr. F's business address is 99 Fu Quan Road, Shangl&82@eopl's Republic of Chine

Includes ordinary shares and ordinary shamslde upon exercise of all of the options thateaercisable within 60 days after April 20,
2013 held by all of our directors and executiveceifs as a grouj

Winner Crown is a British Virgin Islands comganholly owned by Sherman Holdings Limited, a Balaanacompany, which is in turn
wholly owned by Credit Suisse Trust Limited, or TSistee. CS Trustee acts as trustee of the Ji ffamikt, of which Mr. Qi Ji, our
founder and executive chairman, and his family memmbare the beneficiaries. Mr. Ji is the soleatimeof Winner Crown. The address
Winner Crown is Akara Bldg., 24 De Castro Streeigkllams Cay |, Road Town, Tortola, British Virgisidnds.
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(7) East Leader is a British Virgin Islands comparholly owned by Perfect Will Holdings Limited, aiBsh Virgin Islands company, which
is in turn wholly owned by Bank Sarasin Nomineef (@nited, as nominee for Sarasin Trust Companygf@eey Limited, or Sarasin
Trust. Sarasin Trust acts as trustee of the Tamyst,Tof which Ms. Tong Tong Zhao and her familymiers, are the beneficiaries.

Ms. Zhao is the sole director of East Leader. Tddress of East Leader is P.O. Box 957, Offshorerparations Centre, Road Town,
Tortola, British Virgin Islands

(8) Includes (i) 7,202,482 ordinary shares thaipGiurchased from us, (ii) an aggregate of 11,8846 @ our ordinary shares that Ctrip
purchased from the Chengwei Funds, CDH Courtyandited, the IDG Funds, the Northern Light Funds Bitpoint Capital 2006 A
Limited, and (iii) 800,000 ADSs representing 3,200 ordinary shares that Ctrip subscribed in ottialrpublic offering. Ctrip is a
Cayman Islands company and its address is 99 Fa Road, Shanghai 200335, Pe’s Republic of Chine

As of April 20, 2013, we had 247,757,897 ordinadmares issued and outstanding. To our knowledgédnaaleonly two record sharehold
in the United States, including Citibank, N.A., whiis the depositary of our ADS program and helagraximately 40.2% of our total
outstanding ordinary shares under our ADS prognadithe depositary of our restricted ADS program laeld approximately 6.5% of our total
outstanding ordinary shares under our restricte® dbgram. The number of beneficial owners of oDISA in the United States is likely to be
much larger than the number of record holders ofoodinary shares in the United States.

None of our existing shareholders has differeningptights from other shareholders since the cpsifiour initial public offering. We ai
not aware of any arrangement that may, at a subségate, result in a change of control of our canyp

ITEM7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION
7.A. Major Shareholders
Please refer to “Item 6. Directors, Senior Managgraed Employees — E. Share Ownership.”

7.B. Related Party Transactions
Transactions with Suzhou Property

We conduct transactions in the ordinary courseuofbmisiness with Lishan Property (Suzhou) Co.,,lddSuzhou Property, a subsidiary
of Powerhill, which was owned by Mr. Qi Ji and M&ng Tong Zhao until January 2010 and was whollpedvby Mr. Qi Ji from January
2010 to August 2011.

Prior to Powerhill's transfer in February 2007 8fad its ownership interests in HanTing XingkongdaShanghai HanTing to us in
exchange for our preferred shares, Powerhill cotedlits operations through three wholly owned ddibsies in the PRC, namely HanTing
Xingkong, Shanghai HanTing and Suzhou PropertyerAdtich exchange, each of HanTing Xingkong and @terHanTing became our
wholly owned subsidiary while Suzhou Property rema wholly owned subsidiary of Powerhill. Seertitd. Information on the Company —
A. History and Development of the Company.”

We entered into lease agreements with Suzhou Ryojpelease three hotel buildings owned by Suzhmpé&rty. We paid rents under
these leases in amounts similar to what an uncethted party would pay for such leases. In 2008 2010, the aggregate amount we paid for
rent to Suzhou Property was RMB3.6 million and RMB8hillion, respectively.

In August 2011, Mr. Qi Ji sold all the equity irgets in Powerhill to certain third parties. As sule Suzhou Property ceased to be a
related party for us. The aggregate amount we foaicknt to Suzhou Property was RMB2.3 million foe eight-month period ended
August 31, 2011.

Certain commercial buildings of Suzhou Propertyeyg@ledged as collateral to secure our credit fgaifith a maximum amount of
RMB172.0 million with the Industrial and Commercidnk of China in 2008 and 2009.
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Transactions with Ctrip

We conduct transactions in the ordinary courseuofbaisiness with Ctrip.com International, Ltd. Girip, an entity in which Mr. Qi Ji,
our founder, is a ctounder, shareholder and independent directorp@mdered reservation services to us to faciliatecustomers in makil
reservations at our hotels from Ctsgiotel booking system. In 2010, 2011 and 2012atjggegate commission fees of our leased hotedistp
Ctrip.com for its reservation services amounteRB9.5 million, RMB8.0 million and RMB10.9 milliorrespectively.

In a private placement before our initial publiéesing in 2010, Ctrip purchased 7,202,482 ordirergres from us and an aggregate of
11,646,964 of our ordinary shares from the Chendweids, CDH Courtyard Limited, the IDG Funds, thartNern Light Funds and Pinpoint
Capital 2006 A Limited at a price equal to theiaipublic offering price per share. The investnsdoy Ctrip were made pursuant to
transactions exempt from registration under thauB8ges Act. In connection with these transactidbsjp was granted registration rights
substantially similar to those granted to certatdrs of our registrable securities under our atedrand restated shareholders agreement. Ir
addition, we have granted Ctrip the right to norténane person to serve on our board as long as &itd its affiliates continuously maintain
(i) at least 5% of our total outstanding ordinamai®s in the three years following the closing wfioitial public offering and (ii) at least 8% of
our total outstanding ordinary shares thereafteaddition, Ctrip subscribed a total of 800,000 A$our initial public offering at the initial
public offering price. The ADSs issued and sol€tdp are on the same terms as the other ADSs lmdfeged in our initial public offering.

Ctrip and one of our competitors, Home Inns, shhawedirectors between their boards.

On April 15, 2012, we entered into a definitive @gment to acquire a 51% equity interest of Stamidyfrom C-Travel International
Limited, or C-Travel, a whollyawned subsidiary of Ctrip. The base acquisitioagmwas RMB17.3 million in cash, which was fundethvaast
on hand. In addition, we obtained under the dediningreement the right to purchase the remain®8g dquity interest in Starway HK held by
C-Travel for RMB16.5 million by May 1, 2013. Thecpgsition of the 51% equity interest in Starway H&came effective in May 2012. We
will retain the Starway brand and we plan to camito open new hotels under the Starway branceificteseeable future. We introduced the
lease and manachise models to the Starway brandraddally converted the franchised hotels Stariigyhad before our acquisition to
manachised or leased hotels where appropriate.|8@dexminated certain franchise agreements inscabere the franchised hotels could not
meet the new Starway brand standards or the fraeebidid not accept certain changes we made fmatiehise agreement after the acquisi
We integrated most of Starway Hotels’ support fior into our existing corporate platform and sfigaintly reduced the personnel and other
operating costs for Starway HK.

Investment in UBOX

One of our directors, Mr. John Jiong Wu, owns amatiols Whistling Kite Limited. In April, 2012, onaf our wholly owned subsidiarie
China Lodging HK, together with Whistling Kite Lited, entered into a definitive agreement with UB&13I certain other parties, to subscribe
for preferred shares of UBOX. Pursuant to thismdgfin agreement, China Lodging HK invested US$4illion in return for an approximately
4.3% equity interest in UBOX in June 2012. Mr. Qiolir founder, executive chairman and chief exgeutfficer, has served as a member of
the board of directors of UBOX since June 201Détember 2012, we purchased a convertible pronyissmie in the amount of US$1.3
million from UBOX. UBOX engages mainly in the vendimachine business. With over 10,000 vending nm&shin operation across 32 cities
in China as of December 31, 2012, UBOX is one efléngest vending machine operators in China. WiesseUBOX'’s operations have
potential synergies with our operations.

Employment Agreements
See “ltem 6. Directors, Senior Management and Eygals — A. Directors and Senior Management — EmpémyrAgreements” for a
description of the employment agreements we haterexhinto with our senior executive officers.

Share Incentives

See “Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Eygale — B. Compensation of Directors and Executiffe€s — Share Incentive
Plans” for a description of share options we haeatgd to our directors, officers and other indists as a group.

75



Table of Contents

7.C. Interests of Experts and Counsel
Not applicable.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
8.A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial lformation

8.A.1.See “Item 18. Financial Statements” for our audiensolidated financial statements.

8.A.2.See “ltem 18. Financial Statements” for our aud@tedsolidated financial statements, which coveddbethree financial years.
8.A.3.See page F-2 for the report of our independenstegid public accounting firm.

8.A.4.Not applicable.

8.A.5.Not applicable.

8.A.6.Not applicable.

8.A.7.See “ltem 4. Information on the Company — B. Buss1®verview — Legal and Administrative Proceedihgs.
8.A.8.Dividend Policy

We currently intend to retain most, if not all,amfr available funds and any future earnings to aeesind expand our business. We had
never declared or paid dividends prior to Decen®ie2012 and we do not have any plan to declapapmany dividends in the near future.

Our board of directors has complete discretiongaiding whether to distribute dividends. Even if board of directors decides to pay
dividends, the timing, amount and form of futureidiends, if any, will depend on, among other thirms future results of operations and cast
flow, our capital requirements and surplus, the amof distributions, if any, received by us fromr gubsidiaries, our financial condition,
contractual restrictions and other factors deeretl/ant by our board of directors.

If we pay any dividends, our ADS holders will bditead to such dividends to the same extent asdreldf our ordinary shares, subject tc
the terms of the deposit agreement, including ¢les find expenses payable thereunder. Cash dividerais ordinary shares, if any, will be
paid in U.S. dollars.

We are a holding company with no material operatiofhour own. We conduct our operations primatilsotigh our subsidiaries in Chit
As a result, our ability to pay dividends and twafice any debt we may incur depends upon dividpaidisto us by our subsidiaries. If our
subsidiaries or any newly formed subsidiaries irdrlst on their own behalf in the future, the instemts governing their debt may restrict thei
ability to pay dividends to us. In addition, oubsidiaries are permitted to pay dividends to uy onit of their retained earnings, if any, as
determined in accordance with PRC accounting staisdand regulations. Pursuant to laws applicabéntities incorporated in the PRC, our
subsidiaries in the PRC must make appropriatioos fafter-tax profit to non-distributable reservads. These reserve funds include one or
more of the following: (i) a general reserve, &i) enterprise expansion fund and (iii) a staff lsomod welfare fund. Subject to certain
cumulative limits, the general reserve fund requar annual appropriation of 10% of after-tax pr@s determined under accounting
principles generally accepted in the PRC at eaaln-gad); the other fund appropriations are at thesisliaries’ discretion. These reserve funds
can only be used for specific purposes of entex@igansion, staff bonus and welfare, and areistttiitable as cash dividends.

8.B. Significant Changes

Except as disclosed elsewhere in this annual repwerhave not experienced any significant chanies she date of our audited
consolidated financial statements included in #nisual report.
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ITEM9. THE OFFER AND LISTING
9.A. Offering and Listing Details

Our ADSs have been listed on the NASDAQ Global Gdltarket under the symbol “HTHT” since March 2618. The table below sets
forth, for the periods indicated, the high and lmarket prices on the NASDAQ Global Select Marketdor ADSs.

High Low
2010 (from March 26) US$ 27.5( US$ 13.4¢
First quarter (from March 2¢ 15.5C 13.4¢
Second quarte 18.5¢ 13.81
Third quartel 25.9¢ 14.2¢
Fourth quarte 27.5( 19.1¢
2011 24.47 12.0(
First quartel 24.4i 15.9(
Second quarte 22.5( 16.01
Third quartel 18.9¢ 12.5(
Fourth quarte 16.9¢ 12.0C
2012 17.5¢ 10.51
First quarte! 15.9% 11.5¢
Second quarte 13.45 10.7:
Third quartel 16.91 10.51
Fourth quarte 17.5¢ 13.9(
October 17.5¢ 15.82
Novembel 17.45 13.9(
Decembe 17.1C 14.5:
2013
First quarte! 19.9: 15.3¢
January 19.4¢ 15.61
February 19.9: 17.3¢
March 19.5¢ 15.3¢
April (through April 19, 2013 16.6( 14.9%

9.B. Plan of Distribution
Not applicable.

9.C. Markets
The principal trading market for our shares isRM&SDAQ Global Select Market, on which our sharestaaded in the form of ADSs.

9.D. Selling Shareholders
Not applicable.

9.E. Dilution
Not applicable.

9.F. Expenses of the Issue
Not applicable.
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ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
10.A. Share Capital
Not applicable.

10.B. Memorandum and Articles of Association

We incorporate by reference into this annual refirtdescription of our amended and restated merdara and articles of association
contained in our registration statement on Form(File No. 333-165247) originally filed with the Gerities and Exchange Commission on
March 5, 2010, as amended. Our shareholders adopteamended and restated memorandum and artichssaciation by a special resolut
on March 12, 2010 and further amended our amendédestated memorandum and articles of associbti@special resolution on
November 21, 201:

10.C. Material Contracts

We have not entered into any material contractsrdtian in the ordinary course of business andr dittza those described in Item 4,
“Information on the Company” and in Item 7, “MajShareholders and Related Party Transactions” emblsre in this annual report.

10.D. Exchange Controls
See “ltem 4. Information on the Company — B. Bus:®verview — Regulation — Regulations on Foreigimrécy Exchange.”

10.E. Taxation

The following summary of the material Cayman Isksr@eoples Republic of China and United States federal irectem consequences
an investment in our ADSs or ordinary shares igthagon laws and relevant interpretations thereeffiect as of the date of this annual ref
all of which are subject to change. This summamgsdwoot deal with all possible tax consequencetimgléo an investment in our ADSs or
ordinary shares, such as the tax consequences statierlocal and other tax laws.

Cayman Islands Taxation

The Cayman Islands currently levies no taxes oivididals or corporations based upon profits, incpogans or appreciation and there is
no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax oastluty. There are no other taxes likely to beeniltto us levied by the Government of the
Cayman Islands except for stamp duties which magppdicable on instruments executed in, broughdt@roduced before a court of the
Cayman Islands. The Cayman Islands is not paranyodouble tax treaties. There are no exchangeateegulations or currency restrictions
the Cayman Islands.

PRC Taxation
PRC taxation on us

On March 16, 2007, the National People’s CongrbesChinese legislature, passed Emerprise Income Tax Layand on December 6,
2007, the PRC State Council issuedlthplementation Regulations of the Enterprise Incdrae Law, both of which became effective on
January 1, 2008. The Enterprise Income Tax Lawitrdplementation Regulations, or the EIT Law, lgggpa uniform 25% enterprise incol
tax rate to both foreign-invested enterprises ardastic enterprises. There is a transition peroehterprises, whether foreign-invested or
domestic, which currently receive preferential t@atments granted by relevant tax authoritiesepnises that are subject to an enterprise
income tax rate lower than 25% may continue to\etije lower rate and gradually transfer to the texrate within five years after the
effective date of the EIT Law. Enterprises that@argently entitled to exemptions or reductionsirthe standard income tax rate for a fixed
term may continue to enjoy such treatment untilftked term expires. Preferential tax treatmenti ezintinue to be granted to industries and
projects that are strongly supported and encourbgéle state, and enterprises classified as “amghnew technology enterprises strongly
supported by the state” are entitled to a 15% pritar income tax rate.
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The EIT Law provides that enterprises establishedide of China whose “de facto management bodieslocated in China are
considered “resident enterprises.” The “de factoagement body” is defined as the organizational/libdt effectively exercises overall
management and control over production and busimgssations, personnel, finance and accounting pamypkerties of the enterprise. Currently,
there are no detailed rules or precedents govethimmgrocedures and specific criteria for deterngriide facto management body.” The State
Administration of Taxation, or the SAT, issued thetice Regarding the Determination of Chinese-Gallegd Offshore Incorporated
Enterprises as PRC Tax Resident Enterprises oB#sés of De Facto Management Boc, or Circular 82, on April 22, 2009. Circular 82
provides certain specific criteria for determiningether the “de facto management body” of a PRGrobied offshore incorporated enterprise
is located in China, which include: (a) the locatishere senior management members responsibl@ fentarprise’s daily operations discharge
their duties; (b) the location where financial dnonan resource decisions are made or approvedgayiaations or persons; (c) the location
where the major assets and corporate documenkepteand (d) the location where more than hatflisive) of all directors with voting rights
or senior management have their habitual residdneeddition, the SAT issued tiAeministrative Measures on Income Taxes of Chinese-
controlled Offshore Incorporated Resident EntergsigTrial Implementation)or Tax Trial Measures, on July 27, 2011, effecBeptember 1,
2011, providing more guidance on the implementatib@ircular 82. The Tax Trial Measures clarify tea$ including resident status
determination, post-determination administratiod aampetent tax authorities. Both Circular 82 drelTax Trial Measures apply only to
offshore enterprises controlled by PRC enterprisd®RC enterprise groups and not applicable tccase. But the determining criteria set forth
in Circular 82 and the Tax Trial Measures may fthe SAT’s general position on how the “de fattanagement bodytést should be appli
in determining the tax resident status of offshemterprises, regardless of whether they are céedrbly PRC enterprises or PRC enterprise
groups or by PRC or foreign individuals. As sutlis istill unclear if the PRC tax authorities woulétermine that, notwithstanding our statu
the Cayman Islands holding company of our operdiimginess in China, we should be classified as@ f&sident enterprise.”

The EIT Law imposes a withholding tax of 10% onidénds distributed by a foreign-invested enterpidgsiés immediate holding
company outside of China, if such immediate holdingipany is considered a “non-resident enterprs#iout any establishment or place
within China or if the received dividends have mrection with the establishment or place of smumédiate holding company within China,
unless such immediate holding company’s jurisdictdincorporation has a tax treaty with China thratvides for a different withholding
arrangement. Holding companies in Hong Kong, fameple, are subject to a 5% withholding tax rathéf holding companies are the
beneficial owners of the dividends. The Caymamid$éa where we are incorporated, does not haveatahtreaty with China. Thus, divider
paid to us by our subsidiaries in China may beextthp the 10% withholding tax if we are consideagtthon-resident enterprise” under the EIT
Law.

The EIT Law provides that PRC “resident enterpfisee generally subject to the uniform 25% enteg@income tax rate on their
worldwide income. Therefore, if we are treated &R& “resident enterprise,” we will be subject ®@income tax on our worldwide income
at the 25% uniform tax rate, which could have apaot on our effective tax rate and an adverse efieour net income and results of
operations, although dividends distributed from BRC subsidiaries to us would be exempt from th€ BRidend withholding tax, since such
income is exempted under the EIT Law to a PRC esitkcipient. However, if we are required underBtT Law to pay income tax on any
dividends we receive from our subsidiaries, oubine tax expenses will increase and the amounwaltefids, if any, we may pay to our
shareholders and ADS holders may be materiallysaivérsely affected.

PRC taxation of our overseas shareholders

Under the EIT Law, PRC withholding tax at the rate. 0% is applicable to dividends payable to ingesthat are “non-resident
enterprises,” which do not have an establishmeptame of business in the PRC, or which have sstdbéshment or place of business but the
relevant income is not effectively connected with establishment or place of business, to the este dividends have their sources within
the PRC. Similarly, any gain realized on the transf ADSs or ordinary shares by such investoedse subject to 10% PRC withholding tax if
such gain is regarded as income derived from sewwithin the PRC. Therefore, if we are consider&R& “resident enterpriseglividends we
pay to non-resident enterprise investors with resfpeour ADSs or ordinary shares and the gainizexhfrom the transfer of our ADSs or
ordinary shares may be considered as income defiwedsources within the PRC and be subject to RiREBholding tax at a rate of 10% or
lower subject to the provisions of any applicalilatbral tax treaty. The double taxation treatywsn the PRC and the United States, or the
Treaty, does not reduce the 10% tax rate.
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Moreover, non-resident individual investors areuiggd to pay PRC individual income tax on dividepagable to the investors or any
capital gains realized from the transfer of ADSswlinary shares if such gains are deemed incomeediefrom sources within the PRC. Uni
the PRC Individual Income Tax Law, or lITL, non-ident individual refers to an individual who hasdamicile in China and does not stay in
the territory of China or who has no domicile ini@zhand has stayed in the territory of China feslthan one year. Pursuant to the IITL an
implementation rules, for purposes of the PRC aapiins tax, the taxable income will be the batapicthe total income realized from the
transfer of the ADSs or ordinary shares minustedidosts and expenses that are permitted undeitdR&ws to be deducted from the income.
Therefore, if we are considered as a PRC “residetgrprise” and dividends we pay with respect toAIDSs or ordinary shares and the gains
realized from the transfer of our ADSs or ordinginares are considered income derived from souritesthe PRC by relevant competent
PRC tax authorities, such dividends and gains @dogenon-resident individuals may also be subjed®RC withholding tax.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following is a description of the material Uf&€deral income tax consequences to the U.S. Heldiescribed below of owning and
disposing of ordinary shares or ADSs, but it dogspuirport to be a comprehensive description ofaaliconsiderations that may be relevant to
a particular person’s decision to own such ordirsdrgres or ADSs. This discussion applies onlyto& Holder that holds ordinary shares or
ADSs as capital assets for tax purposes. In additi@loes not describe all of the tax consequetiwtsmay be relevant in light of the U.S.
Holder’s particular circumstances, including altgive minimum tax consequences, the potential egiin of the provisions of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), kramithe Medicare contribution tax and tax consecgrapplicable to U.S. Holders
subject to special rules, such as:

. certain financial institutions
. dealers or traders in securities who use a -to-market method of tax accountir

. persons holding ordinary shares or ADSs as patstfaddle, wash sale, conversion transactiontegiated transaction or persons
entering into a constructive sale with respechtodrdinary shares or ADS

. persons whose functional currency for U.S. fed@@me tax purposes is not the U.S. dol
. entities classified as partnerships for U.S. feldemme tax purpose:

. tax-exempt entities, includin“individual retirement accour” or “Roth IRA¢”;

. persons that own or are deemed to own ten percenbie of our voting stocl

. persons who acquired our ordinary shares or AD$supmt to the exercise of an employee stock omtiatherwise as
compensation; ¢

. persons holding shares in connection with a tradmisiness conducted outside of the United St

If an entity that is classified as a partnershipUcS. federal income tax purposes owns ordinagyeshor ADSs, the U.S. federal income
tax treatment of a partner will generally dependtenstatus of the partner and the activities efgartnership. Partnerships owning ordinary
shares or ADSs and partners in such partnershiqddhonsult their tax advisers as to the particuls. federal income tax consequences of
owning and disposing of the ordinary shares or ADSs

This discussion is based on the Code, adminisggiienouncements, judicial decisions, final, terappand proposed Treasury
regulations, all as of the date hereof, any of Wihscsubject to change, possibly with retroactiffeat. It is also based in part on representation
by the depositary and assumes that each obligatidar the deposit agreement and any related agréewvilebe performed in accordance with
its terms.
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A “U.S. Holder” is a holder who, for U.S. federatbme tax purposes, is a beneficial owner of orglishares or ADSs and is:
. a citizen or individual resident of the United $&

. a corporation, or other entity taxable as a corjmmacreated or organized in or under the lanthefUnited States, any state thel
or the District of Columbia; ¢

. an estate or trust the income of which is subjeti.S. federal income taxation regardless of itgc®.

In general, a U.S. Holder who owns ADSs will beategl as the owner of the underlying shares repreddry those ADSs for U.S. fede
income tax purposes. Accordingly, no gain or logklve recognized if a U.S. Holder exchanges AD@dtlfie underlying shares represented by
those ADSs.

The U.S. Treasury has expressed concern that pastigshom American depositary shares are releaskedeoshares are delivered to the
depositary, also referred to as pre-release, errmrgdiaries in the chain of ownership between heldad the issuer of the security underlying
the American depositary shares, may be taking r&tioat are inconsistent with the claiming of fgretax credits by holders of American
depositary shares. These actions would also begmstent with the claiming of the favorable tavestdescribed below, applicable to divide
received by certain non-corporate holders and ithax affect the availability of these rates to sholders.

U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisers eomiag the U.S. federal, state, local and foreandonsequences of owning and
disposing of ordinary shares or ADSs in their gaittir circumstances.

This discussion assumes that we are not, and etilbacome, a passive foreign investment compangessribed below.

Taxation of Distributions

Distributions paid on ordinary shares or ADSs, pthan certairpro ratadistributions of ordinary shares, will be treateddévidends to
the extent paid out of our current or accumulagethiegs and profits (as determined under U.S. #decome tax principles). Because we do
not maintain calculations of our earnings and psafnder U.S. federal income tax principles, xpected that distributions generally will be
reported to U.S. Holders as dividends. Subjecpmieable limitations and the discussion above réigg concerns expressed by the U.S.
Treasury, dividends paid to certain non-corporate. Blolders may be taxable at rates applicablertg-term capital gain. U.S. Holders should
consult their tax advisers regarding the availabdf these favorable rates on dividends. The arnofithe dividend will be treated as foreign-
source dividend income to U.S. Holders and will beteligible for the dividends-received deductiemerally available to U.S. corporations
under the Code. Subject to applicable limitatimmne of which may vary depending upon a U.S. H&ddarcumstances, and subject to the
discussion above regarding concerns expressecely. 8. Treasury, PRC income taxes withheld fronidéivds on ordinary shares or ADSs at
a rate not exceeding the rate applicable undefthaty will be creditable against the U.S. Hold&)'S. federal income tax liability. PRC taxes
withheld in excess of the rate applicable undefTiteaty will not be eligible for credit against aSJHolder’s federal income tax liability. The
rules governing foreign tax credits are complex] &@inS. Holders should consult their tax advisegarding the creditability of foreign taxes in
their particular circumstances. Dividends will beluded in a U.S. Holder's income on the date efithS. Holders, or in the case of ADSs, t
depositary’s, receipt of the dividend. The amourdry dividend income paid in RMB will be the Udllar amount calculated by reference to
the exchange rate in effect on the date of recedgrdless of whether the payment is in fact cdedanto U.S. dollars. If the dividend is
converted into U.S. dollars on the date of receipi,S. Holder should not be required to recogforzeign currency gain or loss in respect of
the dividend income. A U.S. Holder may have foraigrrency gain or loss if the dividend is convelitetd U.S. dollars after the date of rece

Sale or Other Disposition of Ordinary Shares or ABS

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, gain orileabzed on the sale or other disposition of ordirsnares or ADSs will be capital gain
or loss, and will be long-term capital gain or ldfshe U.S. Holder held the ordinary shares or AD& more than one year. The amount of the
gain or loss will equal the difference betweenth8. Holder’s tax basis in the ordinary shares DiSA disposed of and the amount realized ol
the disposition, in each case as determined indbffars. The deductibility of capital losses i®@cet to limitations.
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As described in “Taxation — PRC Taxation — PRC texaon us,” if we were deemed to be a tax resigamerprise under PRC tax law,
gains from dispositions of our ordinary shares B¥S& may be subject to PRC withholding tax. In tese, a U.S. Holder's amount realized
would include the gross amount of the proceedh@tale or disposition before deduction of the R&CAIlthough any such gain of a U.S.
Holder would generally be characterized as U.Sresincome, a U.S. Holder that is eligible for Hemefits of the Treaty may be entitled to
elect to treat the gain as foreign-source incomédieign tax credit purposes. U.S. Holders shaaldsult their tax advisers regarding their
eligibility for benefits under the Treaty and theditability of any PRC tax on dispositions in thegarticular circumstances.

Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules

We do not believe we were a passive foreign investraompany, or PFIC, for U.S. federal income tasppses for our 2012 taxable
year. However, because PFIC status depends omihgosition of a compars income and assets and the market value of siste$rom time
to time, there can be no assurance that we wilbea PFIC for any taxable year. In general, alddh-corporation will be considered a PFIC
for any taxable year in which (i) 75% or more afdross income consists of passive income or@# ®r more of the average quarterly value
of its assets consists of assets that producegdredd for the production of, passive income. umposes of the above calculations, a non-U.S
corporation that directly or indirectly owns at$€25% by value of the shares of another corparasidreated as if it held its proportionate
share of the assets of the other corporation acelvwed directly its proportionate share of the imecof the other corporation. Passive income
generally includes dividends, interest, rents, ltigsmand capital gains.

If we were a PFIC for any taxable year during whach.S. Holder held ordinary shares or ADSs, gagognized by a U.S. Holder on a
sale or other disposition (including certain plesjgef the ordinary shares or ADSs would be allataédably over the U.S. Holder’s holding
period for the ordinary shares or ADSs. The amoalitgated to the taxable year of the sale or afisgosition and to any year before we
became a PFIC would be taxed as ordinary income .ahtount allocated to each other taxable year wmeilsubject to tax at the highest rat
effect for individuals or corporations, as appraf®i for that taxable year, and an interest chaxgéd be imposed on the amount allocated to
that taxable year. Further, to the extent thatdistyibution received by a U.S. Holder on its oatinshares or ADSs exceeds 125% of the
average of the annual distributions on the ordirstuares or ADSs received during the preceding teaes or the U.S. Holderholding perioc
whichever is shorter, that distribution would béjset to taxation in the same manner as gain, thestimmediately above.

Alternatively, if we were a PFIC, a U.S. Holder twhuf certain conditions are met, make a mark-tarket election that would result in
tax treatment different from the general tax tresitrfor PFICs described above. If a U.S. Holderanermake such an election, the holder
generally would recognize as ordinary income argesg of the fair market value of the ADSs at the @freach taxable year over its adjusted
tax basis, and would recognize an ordinary losss$pect of any excess of the adjusted tax basieeoADSs over their fair market value at the
end of the taxable year (but only to the exterthefnet amount of income previously included assailt of the mark-to-market election). If we
were a PFIC, it is unclear whether our ordinaryretavould be treated as “marketable stock” eligibtehe mark-to-market election. If a U.S.
Holder makes the election, the holder’s tax basthé ADSs will be adjusted to reflect these incamiss amounts. Any gain recognized on
the sale or other disposition of ADSs in a yearmvve are a PFIC would be treated as ordinary incamaeany loss would be treated as an
ordinary loss (but only to the extent of the nebant of income previously included as a resulthef mark-to-market election).

A timely election to treat us as a qualified elegtfund under Section 1295 of the Code would asalt in alternative treatment from the
general treatment for PFICs described above (wdlighnative treatment could, in certain circumséaenitigate the adverse tax consequence
of holding shares in a PFIC). U.S. Holders sho@dtare, however, that we do not intend to satesfprdkeeping and other requirements 1
would permit U.S. Holders to make qualified elegtfond elections if we were a PFIC.

In addition, if we were a PFIC, the favorable ratesussed above with respect to dividends pag@ttain non-corporate U.S. Holders
would not apply. Furthermore, if we were a PFICday taxable year during which a U.S. Holder hettirary shares or ADSs, such U.S.
Holder may be required to file a report containsngh information as the U.S. Treasury may reqir&. Holders should consult their tax
advisers regarding whether we are or were a PRi#Glampotential application of the PFIC rules.

82



Table of Contents

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Dividend payments with respect to ADSs or ordinstigres and proceeds from the sale or exchange 88ADordinary shares may be
subject to information reporting to the InternaBeue Service and possible U.S. backup withholdirg current rate of 28%. Backup
withholding will not apply, however, to a U.S. Heldwho furnishes a correct taxpayer identificatimmber and makes any other required
certification or who is otherwise exempt from bagkuthholding. U.S. Holders who are required taab8tsh their exempt status generally rr
provide such certification on Internal Revenue ®er¥orm W-9. U.S. Holders should consult theiraadxisers regarding the application of the
U.S. information reporting and backup withholdinges.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Amagiatithheld as backup withholding may be creditedlir@gt your U.S. federal income
tax liability, and you may obtain a refund of angess amounts withheld under the backup withholdites by timely filing the appropriate
claim for refund with the Internal Revenue Senacel furnishing any required information.

10.F. Dividends and Paying Agents
Not applicable.

10.G. Statement by Experts
Not applicable.

10.H. Documents on Display

We are subject to the periodic reporting and ottii@rmational requirements of the Exchange Act. &intthe Exchange Act, we are
required to file reports and other information witte SEC. Specifically, we are required to file aalty a Form 20-F no later than four months
after the close of each fiscal year, which is Ddoen81. Copies of reports and other informationemvko filed, may be inspected without
charge and may be obtained at prescribed ratée atublic reference facilities maintained by theuiies and Exchange Commission at 100 |
Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 2054® fiblic may obtain information regarding the Waghon, D.C. Public Reference Room
by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC mlamtains a website at www.sec.gov that contaiperts, proxy and information
statements, and other information regarding regjissrthat make electronic filings with the SEC gsis EDGAR system. As a foreign private
issuer, we are exempt from the rules under the &xgph Act prescribing the furnishing and conterjudrterly reports and proxy statements,
and officers, directors and principal shareholdeesexempt from the reporting and short-swing preftovery provisions contained in
Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

We will furnish Citibank, N.A., the depositary ofiloADSs, with our annual reports, which will inckid review of operations and annual
audited consolidated financial statements prepiarednformity with U.S. GAAP, and all notices ofaskholders’ meetings and other reports
and communications that are made generally avaitabbur shareholders. The depositary will maké swatices, reports and communications
available to holders of ADSs and, upon our requeifitmail to all record holders of ADSs the infoation contained in any notice of a
shareholders’ meeting received by the depositamy fus.

10.1. Subsidiary Information
Not applicable.

ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to interest rate risk primarily redaiethe interest rates for our outstanding debttha interest income generated by exces
cash invested in liquid investments with originatorities of three months or less. As of Decemlig2B12, we have no outstanding loans.
have not used any derivative financial instrumeénmt®ianage our interest risk exposure. Interestigguinstruments carry a degree of interest
rate risk.
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We have not been exposed to material risks dubaonges in interest rates. However, our future @steincome may be lower than
expected due to changes in market interest rates.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Substantially all of our revenues and most of ogremses are denominated in RMB. Our exposure &dorexchange risk primarily
relates to cash and cash equivalent denominatddSndollars as a result of our past issuanceseféped shares through a private placement
and proceeds from our initial public offering. We bt believe that we currently have any signiftadirect foreign exchange risk and have nof
hedged exposures denominated in foreign currenciasy other derivative financial instruments. Altigh in general, our exposure to foreign
exchange risks should be limited, the value of yinuestment in our ADSs will be affected by thedign exchange rate between U.S. dollars
and RMB because the value of our business is afédgtdenominated in RMB, while the ADSs will badled in U.S. dollars.

The value of the RMB against the U.S. dollar artteoturrencies may fluctuate and is affected bygragrother things, changes in
China’s political and economic conditions. The cersion of RMB into foreign currencies, includingSJdollars, has been based on rates set
by the People’s Bank of China. On July 21, 2008,RRC government changed its decade-old policygfiimg the value of the RMB to the
U.S. dollar. Under the new policy, the RMB is petad to fluctuate within a narrow and managed begainst a basket of certain foreign
currencies. This change in policy caused the Rebindnappreciate by more than 20% against the dbfar between July 2005 and July 2008
Between July 2008 and June 2010, this appreciatdted and the exchange rate between the Renmidtthe U.S. dollar remained within a
narrow band. Since June 2010, the PRC governmesralttaved the Renminbi to appreciate slowly agaimstU.S. dollar again. There remains
significant international pressure on the PRC gowemt to adopt an even more flexible currency polichich could result in a further and
more significant appreciation of the RMB againgt thS. dollar. It is difficult to predict how mariki®rces or PRC or U.S. government policy
may impact the exchange rate between the Renminbitee U.S. dollar in the future. To the extent tha need to convert U.S. dollars we
received from our initial public offering into RMBr our operations, appreciation of the RMB agaihstU.S. dollar would have an adverse
effect on the RMB amount we receive from the cosieer. Conversely, if we decide to convert our RM#dminated cash amounts into U.S.
dollars amounts for the purpose of making paymfamtdividends on our ordinary shares or ADSs ordthrer business purposes, appreciation
of the U.S. dollar against the RMB would have aatieg effect on the U.S. dollar amount availableisoBy way of example, assuming we
converted a U.S. dollar denominated cash balantkS@fL.0 million as of December 31, 2012 into Rerbhét the exchange rate of US$1.00
for RMB6.2301, such cash balance would have beproapnately RMB6.23 million. Assuming a further %Cappreciation of the Renminbi
against the U.S. dollar, such cash balance would Hacreased to RMB6.17 million as of Decembe2812. We have not used any forward
contracts or currency borrowings to hedge our exymo foreign currency exchange risk.

Inflation

Since our inception, inflation in China has not enelly impacted our results of operations. Accogdio the National Bureau of Statistics
of China, consumer price index in China increase8.8% , 5.4% and 2.6% in 2010, 2011 and 2012 gasely. Although we have not been
materially affected by inflation in the past, weyise affected if China experiences higher ratdaftdtion in the future.

ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITES
12.A. Debt Securities
Not applicable.

12.B. Warrants and Rights
Not applicable.
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12.C. Other Securities
Not applicable.

12.D. American Depositary Shares
Fees and Charges Our ADS holders May Have to Pay

An ADS holder will be required to pay the followisgrvice fees to the depositary, Citibank, N.A.:

e Issuance of ADS Up to U.S. !¢ per ADS issue!

e Cancellation of ADS: Up to U.S. !¢ per ADS cancele
«  Distribution of cash dividends or other cash disttions Up to U.S. !¢ per ADS helc

. Distribution of ADSs pursuant to stock dignds, free stock Up to U.S. 5¢ per ADS held

distributions or exercise of righ

. Distribution of securities other than AD&wrights to purchase Up to U.S. 5¢ per ADS held
additional ADS¢

. Depositary Services Up to U.S. 5¢ per ADS held on the applicable redati(s)
established by the Depositary (U.S. 2¢ per ADSHeryear of
2012)

An ADS holder will also be responsible to pay cierfaes and expenses incurred by the depositargardin taxes and governmental
charges such as:

. Fees for the transfer and registration of ordirdngres charged by the registrar and transfer &getite ordinary shares in the
Cayman Islands (i.e., upon deposit and withdrawaldinary shares

. Expenses incurred for converting foreign curremty U.S. dollars

. Expenses for cable, telex and fax transmissiond@ndelivery of securities

. Taxes and duties upon the transfer of securities (then ordinary shares are deposited or withafasm deposit)
. Fees and expenses incurred in connection witheleedy or servicing of ordinary shares on depc

Depositary fees payable upon the issuance and ltatiae of ADSs are typically paid to the deposjtéanks by the brokers (on behalf of
their clients) receiving the newly issued ADSs frtira depositary banks and by the brokers (on belidlifeir clients) delivering the ADSs to
the depositary banks for cancellation. The broketarn charge these fees to their clients. Depositees payable in connection with
distributions of cash or securities to ADS holdengl the depositary services fee are charged byapesitary banks to the holders of record of
ADSs as of the applicable ADS record date.

The depositary fees payable for cash distributemesgenerally deducted from the cash being digethun the case of distributions other
than cash (i.e., stock dividend, rights), the dépposbanks charge the applicable fee to the Alx®nedate holders concurrent with the
distribution. In the case of ADSs registered intlaene of the investor (whether certificated or utifteated in direct registration), the
depositary banks send invoices to the applicalnlerdedate ADS holders. In the case of ADSs helorikerage and custodian accounts (via
The Depository Trust Company (“DTC")), the depasithanks generally collects its fees through theteays provided by DTC (whose
nominee is the registered holder of the ADSs heldTC) from the brokers and custodians holding AbS&éeir DTC accounts. The brokers
and custodians who hold their clients’ ADSs in Da€tounts in turn charge their clients’ accountsatimeunt of the fees paid to the depositary
banks.
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In the event of refusal to pay the depositary fées depositary may, under the terms of the depgséement, refuse the requested se
until payment is received or may set off the amairihe depositary fees from any distribution tontede to the ADS holder.

The fees and charges an ADS holder may be reqtarpdy may vary over time and may be changed andsby the depositary. An AL
holder will receive prior notice of such changes.

Fees and Other Payments Made by the Depositary tosU

The depositary may reimburse us for certain expemseirred by us in respect of the ADR programldisiaed pursuant to the deposit
agreement, by making available a portion of theod#gary fees charged in respect of the ADR progoamtherwise, upon such terms and
conditions as we and the depositary may agree firomto time. For the year ended December 31, 2@&2ave received a total of RMB1.1
million (US$0.2 million) from the depositary asméursement for our expenses incurred in connegtitminvestor relationship programs
related to the ADS program.

86



Table of Contents

PART Il

ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES
None of these events occurred in any of the yaatedDecember 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012.

ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEED!
There have been no material modifications to thktsi of securities holders or the use of proceeds.

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURE!
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our cleeécutive officer and chief financial officer, hgerformed an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and prooesiwithin the meaning of Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@) of the Exchange Act as of the end
of the period covered by this annual report. Baseduch evaluation, our management has conclua@gda of the end of the period covered
by this annual report, our disclosure controls pratedures were effective.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as defined in Rules 13a:
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act, for company. Internal control over financial reportiag process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaiicial reporting and the preparation of constéiddinancial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles and iredutiose policies and procedures that (a) pexaimet maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of a company’ssis@® provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to pereparation of consolidated financial statementooedance with generally accepted
accounting principles and that a company’s receiptbexpenditures are being made only in accordaitheauthorizations of a company’s
management and directors and (c) provide reasomaabl@gance regarding prevention or timely deteaifamauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of a company’s assets that could havaterial effect on the consolidated financialestaénts.

Because of its inherent limitations, a system tdrimal control over financial reporting can provim@y reasonable assurance with respec
to consolidated financial statement preparationfedentation and may not prevent or detect messints. Also, projections of any evalua
of effectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that controls may become inadequate becazudeanges in conditions, or that the deg
of compliance with the policies and procedures thetgriorate.

As required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxletyafd related rules as promulgated by the SECpauragement assessed the
effectiveness of the internal control over finahoégorting as of December 31, 2012 using critestablished itnternal Control — Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrtee Treadway Commission. Based on this evalnatiur management has
concluded that our internal control over financegorting was effective as of December 31, 2012.

Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounhg Firm

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioi@l reporting as of December 31, 2012 has beditegliby Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants LLP, an independengistered public accounting firm. Deloitte Touchehiatsu Certified Public Accountants
LLP was formerly known as Deloitte Touche Tohma@ftA, Ltd. At the direction of the PRC governmenaatordance with applicable PRC
laws and regulations, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu ARé, has been restructured as a new partnershiigl@ainged its name to Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants LLP, which &l purposes succeeded and assumed all of tigatibhs and rights of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu CPA, Ltd. with effect from January 1, 20IBe attestation report issued by Deloitte TouEblematsu Certified Public Accountants
LLP can be found on page F-3 of this annual repofEorm 20-F.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no significant changes that have mé#lieatiected, or are reasonably likely to matesiaffect, our internal control over
financial reporting during 2012.

ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our board of directors has determined that Mr. gogehow is an audit committee financial expertihas term is defined in Item 16A(b)
of Form 20-F, and is independent for the purpo$édute 5605(a)(2) of the NASDAQ Marketplace Rulesthe NASDAQ Rules, and Rule
10A-3 under the Exchange Act.

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

Our board of directors adopted a code of businesduct and ethics on January 27, 2010 that apfaliear directors, officers, employees
and agents, including certain provisions that djmadiy apply to our executive officers and any etlpersons who perform similar functions for
us. We have filed our code of business conductetinids as an exhibit to our registration statensanftorm F-1 (File No. 333-165247)
originally filed with the Securities and Exchangen@nission on March 5, 2010, as amended. Our cobesihess conduct and ethics is
publicly available on our website at http://ir.mtgicom/.

ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accoumsdr_P, or Deloitte, our independent registeredliguiccounting firm, began
serving as our auditor in August 2009.

Our audit committee is responsible for the oversajlDeloitte’s work. The policy of our audit comiteie is to pre-approve all audit and
non-audit services provided by Deloitte, includaglit services, audit-related services, tax sesvérel other services, other than thosealéor
minimisservices which are approved by the audit commjite® to the completion of the audit.

We paid the following fees for professional sersite Deloitte for the years ended December 31, 2012012,

Year Ended December 31

2011 2012
US$ US$
Audit Fees® 72C 84C
Audit-Related Fee — —
Tax Fees — —
All Other Fees — —
Total 72C 84C

Note: (1) Audit Fees. This category includes the aggeefgss billed for the professional services rerdiéseour principal auditors for
assurance and related services. Our 2011 and 2@tXees mainly include the audit of our annuabficial statements, the services
provided in connection with our compliance with tha@rbanes-Oxley Act, or services that are nornmathyided by the accountant in
connection with statutory and regulatory filin

ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES
Not applicable.

ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AHLIATED PURCHASERS
None.

ITEM 16F. CHANGE IN REGISTRANT S CERTIFYING ACCOUNTANT
Not applicable.
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ITEM 16G. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The NASDAQ Rules provide that foreign private issumay follow home country practice in lieu of ttwporate governance
requirements of the NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, subjeccertain exceptions and requirements and exodpe extent that such exemptions
would be contrary to U.S. federal securities lamd segulations. The significant differences betweencorporate governance practices and
those followed by U.S. companies under the NASDA@eR are summarized as follows:

. We follow home country practice that permits outdpendent directors not to hold regularly schedaoledtings at which only
independent directors are present in lieu of complwith Rule 5605(b)(2)

. We follow home country practice that permits ouatzbof directors not to implement a nominations nuttee, in lieu of complyin
with Rule 5605(e) of the NASDAQ Rules that requittes implementation of a nominations commiti

Other than the above, we have followed and intermbhtinue to follow the applicable corporate goxgrce standards under the
NASDAQ Marketplace Rule:

In accordance with Rule 5250(d)(1) under NASDAQ kédplace Rules, we will post this annual reporfFenm 20-F on our company

website at http://ir.htinns.com. In addition, wdlyrovide hard copies of our annual report freelofirge to shareholders and ADS holders
request.

ITEM 16H. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

PART IlI

ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have elected to provide financial statementsyant to Item 18.

ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our consolidated financial statements are incluatdtie end of this annual report.

ITEM 19. EXHIBITS

Exhibit

Number Description of Document

1.1 Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles obdason of the Registrant. (Incorporated by refieesto Exhibits 3.2
from the Amendment No. 1 to our Registration Staehon Form F-1 (file no. 333-165247) filed withketS8ecurities and
Exchange Commission on March 12, 20:

1.2* Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articlesssbaiation of the Registrant, adopted by the sluddehs of the
Registrant on November 21, 20:

2.1 Registrar's Specimen American Depositary Receipt (includexhibit 2.3).

2.2 Registrant’s Specimen Certificate for Ordinary ®saIncorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 framn Registration
Statement on Form-1 (file no. 33:-165247) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdssion on March 5, 2010

2.3 Form of Deposit Agreement among the RegistrantPigositary and all Holders and Beneficial Owndrthe American

Depositary Shares issued thereunder. (Incorpoiatedference to Exhibits 4.3 from the Amendment N our Registration
Statement on Form-1 (file no. 33:-165247) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdssion on March 12, 201C
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Exhibit

Number

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8*

4.9

4.10

4.11*

8.1*
111

12.1*
12.2*

13.1*

Description of Document

Amended and Restated 2007 Global Share Plan, amamderestated as of December 12, 2007. (Incomoiat reference to
Exhibit 10.1 from our Registration Statement onrfé-1 (file no. 333-165247) filed with the Secw#tiand Exchange
Commission on March 5, 201(

Amended and Restated 2008 Global Share Plan, amiemderestated as of October 31, 2008. (Incorpdtajereference to
Exhibit 10.2 from our Registration Statement onrfrét-1 (file no. 333-165247) filed with the Secw#tiand Exchange
Commission on March 5, 201(

Amended and Restated 2009 Share Incentive Plamdedeand restated as of October 1, 2009. (Incomgbiay reference to
Exhibit 10.3 from our Registration Statement onrfét-1 (file no. 333-165247) filed with the Secw#tiand Exchange
Commission on March 5, 201(

Amendment to the Amended and Restated 2009 Sheeatime Plan, amended as of August 26, 2010. (pwated by
reference to Exhibit 99.2 from our report on ForK @file no. 33334656) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cossior
on July 15, 2010.

Form of Indemnification Agreement with the Registta Directors. (Incorporated by reference to Exhil0.4 from our
Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file no. 33324) filed with the Securities and Exchange Comsinison March 5,
2010.)

English translation of the Form of Employment Agrnemt between the Registrant and Executive Offiobthe Registrant.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 from annual report on Form 20-F (File No. 001-3465@dilvith the Securities
and Exchange Commission on April 12, 20:

English translation of the Fixed Assets Loan Caritbeetween the Industrial and Commercial Bank ah&land HanTing
Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Management Co., Ltd.edd#larch 2, 2012. (Incorporated by reference toitkit4.10 from our
annual report on Form -F (File No. 00-34656) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cossinon on April 12, 2012

English translation of the Facility Agreement betweChina Merchants Bank and HanTing Xingkong (Shaidotel
Management Co., Ltd., dated September 25, 2

Subscription Agreement between the Registrant arid.€om International, Ltd., dated March 12, 20@l8corporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.9 from the Amendment Nto bur Registration Statement on Form F-1 (file 388-165247) filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Mag; 2010.

Investor and Registration Rights Agreement betwherRegistrant and Ctrip.com International, Ltétedi March 12, 2010.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 frora &mendment No. 1 to our Registration Statemeritam F-1 (file no.
333-165247) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdssion on March 12, 201C

Share Purchase Agreement by and between Chinangétpldings (HK) Limited and C-Travel Internationamited, dated
April 15, 2012.

Subsidiaries of the Registra

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics of the Regist(ancorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 frour Registration
Statement on Form-1 (file no. 33:-165247) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdssion on March 5, 2010

Certification of Qi Ji, Chief Executive Officer tffie Registrant, pursuant to Section 302 of the &a-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Min (Jenny) Zhang, Chief Financ@fficer of the Registrant, pursuant to Section 80the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 2002
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Exhibit
Number Description of Document
15.1* Consent of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified RuBlicountants LLP, Independent Registered Publicoioting Firm.

101.INS*** XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

101.CAL*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
101.DEF*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurt
101.LAB*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum
101.PRE*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

* Filed with this Annual Report on Form-F.

**  Furnished with this Annual Report on Forrr-F.
***  XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Languagejarmation is furnished and not filed or a paraakgistration statement or prospectus

for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securhigtsof 1933, is deemed not filed for purposes eftidn 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, and otherwise is not subject to lidpiinder these section
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SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets fithe requirements for filing on Form 20-F and thdttas duly caused and authorized the
undersigned to sign this annual report on its Behal

CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

By: /s/ Qi Ji
Name Qi Ji
Title: Chief Executive Office

Date: April 23, 2013
92



Table of Contents

CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS F OR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2012

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfing F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&01 201z F-4
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incominéo¥ears Ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and F-5
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity fervtbars Ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and F-6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Yeaded December 31, 2010, 2011 and Z F-7
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statem F-9
Financial Statement Schedul— Financial Information for Parent Compa F-32
Financial Statement Schedule— Valuation and Qualifying Accoun F-36

F-1



Table of Contents
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC A CCOUNTING FIRM

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of China Lodging Group, Limited andutssidiaries (the “Group”) as of
December 31, 2011 and 2012, and the related cdasedl statements of comprehensive income, changegiity, and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 3P, 20d the related financial statement schedulessd financial statements and financial
statement schedules are the responsibility of tloaiBs management. Our responsibility is to expeasspinion on these financial statements
and financial statement schedules based on outsaudi

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dndbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, tinaricial position of China Lodging
Group, Limited and its subsidiaries as of Decen#ier2011 and 2012 and the results of their operatamd their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20T@nformity with accounting principles generadlgcepted in the United States of Amer
Also, in our opinion, such financial statement shiies, when considered in relation to the basisacliated financial statements taken as a
whole, present fairly in all material respects, itifermation set forth therein.

Our audits also comprehended the translation ofriR@n amounts into United States dollar amounts andur opinion, such translation
has been made in conformity with the basis statédiote 2. Such United States dollar amounts arsepted solely for the convenience of
readers in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@/nited States), the Group’s
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2012, based on the criteria establishbdarnal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission and our report datedl &8, 2013 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the Group’s internal contoekr financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Acetaunts LLP

Shanghai, China
April 23, 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

We have audited the internal control over finanmglorting of China Lodging Group, Limited andstsbsidiaries (the “Group”) as of
December 31, 2012 based on criteria establishédennal Control — Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Gaomnagement is responsible for maintaining eiffednternal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectissmd internal control over financial reportingclided in the accompanying Management'’s
Annual Report on Internal Control over FinanciapBeing. Our responsibility is to express an opinam the Group’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedwof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@d&/nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dndbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®is:. audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etasting and evaluating the design and operatifegéfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre®& considered necessary in the circumstancefeéliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidij the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or pmrs performing similar functions, and effected g tompany’s board of directors,
management, and other personnel to provide reakpassurance regarding the reliability of financeglorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles. A comgisaimternal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and proceduras(th) pertain to the maintenance of records thatasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of treetsof the company; (2) provide reasonable assertduat transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statesin accordance with generally accepted acaagiptinciples, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordg@ordance with authorizations of management amedtdirs of the company; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prereatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tlenéial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcoinover financial reporting, including the possti of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatémdue to error or fraud may not be preventetbtacted on a timely basis. Also,
projections of any evaluation of the effectivenekthe internal control over financial reportingftdure periods are subject to the risk that the
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance Withpolicies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Group maintained, in all madkrespects, effective internal control over finaheceporting as of December 31, 2012,
based on the criteria establishedriternal Control — Integrated Framewoissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifribe
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated financial statements and financiakstant schedules as of and for the year ended Dewedi, 2012 of the Group and our report
dated April 23, 2013 expressed an unqualified gpirgn those financial statements and financiaéstant schedules and included an
explanatory paragraph regarding the translatidResfmimbi amounts into United States dollar amototshe convenience of readers in the
United States of America.

/s/ Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Acetaunts LLP
Shanghai, China
April 23, 2013
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED B ALANCE SHEETS
(Renminbi in thousands, except share and per shadata, unless otherwise stated)

As of December 31

2011 2012 2012
USs$
(Note 2)
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel 781,60: 449,84« 72,20¢
Restricted cas 1,50( 1,79(C 287
Shor-term investment 8,07¢ 1,29¢

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of RMB1,448 MB2,683 in 2011 and 2012, respecti 37,41¢ 50,63: 8,12]

Prepaid ren 228,08 321,30! 51,57
Inventories 31,23: 37,97: 6,09t
Other current asse 53,86: 83,05¢ 13,33:
Deferred tax asse 40,11¢ 44,23 7,09¢
Total current asse 1,173,81 996,90¢ 160,01
Property and equipment, r 2,095,79. 2,951,500 473,75(
Intangible assets, n 69,77¢ 100,98( 16,20¢
Long-term investmen — 28,12¢ 4,51¢
Goodwill 42 53¢ 64,18( 10,30z
Other asset 102,05t 133,53¢ 21,43¢
Deferred tax asse 40,96¢ 54,947 8,82(
Total asset 3,524,951 4,330,18 695,04

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl 417,60! 624,82: 100,29:
Amounts due to related parti 1,03( 801 12¢
Salary and welfare payak 80,26¢ 117,98 18,931
Deferred revenu 138,14 200,51! 32,18¢
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 142,14¢ 187,38 30,07¢
Income tax payabl 14,14¢ 23,14 3,71¢
Total current liabilities 793,347 1,154,64; 185,33
Deferred ren 329,77 470,43t 75,51:
Deferred revenu 71,69¢ 99,80( 16,01¢
Other lon¢-term liabilities 61,57« 92,40" 14,83:
Deferred tax liabilitie: 12,67 22,33t 3,58¢
Total liabilities 1,269,061 1,839,62; 295,28
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Equity:
Ordinary shares (US$0.0001 par value per shar8p800,000 shares authorized; 242,604,22:
244,494,095 shares issued and outstanding as ehfler 31, 2011 and 2012, respectivi 17¢ 18C 28
Additional paic-in capital 2,199,95. 2,243,40. 360,09:
Retained earning 85,12} 260,01 41,73¢
Accumulated other comprehensive | (39,16¢) (38,409 (6,165
Total China Lodging Group, Limited shareholc equity 2,246,09. 2,465,18' 395,69(

Noncontrolling interes 9,79( 25,37¢ 4,07:
Total equity 2,255,88. 2,490,56! 399,76:
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 3,524,951 4,330,18 695,04«

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012 2012
Uss
(Note 2)

Revenues

Leased hotel 1,707,77. 2,172,93 3,069,43 492,67t

Manachised and franchised hot 130,57¢ 212,64« 349,84 56,15«
Total revenue 1,838,35! 2,385,57 3,419,27: 548,83.

Less: Business tax and related ta 99,85 135,98: 194,75: 31,26(
Net revenue 1,738,49. 2,249,59 3,224,52 517,57.
Operating costs and expens

Hotel operating cos! 1,180,20: 1,703,33 2,453,90: 393,87t

Selling and marketing expens 70,78¢ 94,754 102,81 16,50:

General and administrative expen 119,98¢ 160,06: 217,38t 34,89:

Pre-opening expense 111,21( 184,29¢ 230,69( 37,02¢
Total operating costs and expen 1,482,18 2,142,45. 3,004,79: 482,30:
Income from operation 256,30¢ 107,14¢ 219,73: 35,27(
Interest incom 15,94t 18,11: 14,55 2,33¢
Interest expens 2,68: 882 822 132
Other income 2,56¢ 2,64¢ 2,20¢ 354
Foreign exchange gain (los 6,92: 15,93( (2,000 (327)
Income before income tax 279,05¢ 142,95¢ 233,67: 37,50"
Tax expens: 57,26 24,81¢ 54,16¢ 8,69t
Net income 221,79 118,13t 179,50: 28,81
Less: net income attributable to noncontrollingiest 6,04: 3,30¢ 4,617 741
Net income attributable to ordinary shareholc 215,75:; 114,83. 174,88 28,07
Net earnings per shai

Basic 1.0t 0.47 0.72 0.1Z

Diluted 0.92 0.47 0.71 0.11
Weighted average number of shares used in compnut

Basic 198,517,28 241,928,28 243,284,33 243,284,33

Diluted 234,480,89 246,181,20 246,981,00 246,981,00
Other comprehensive incor
Foreign currency translation adjustments, netxobfenil for 2010, 2011 and

2012 (10,179 (16,469) 75¢ 122

Comprehensive incorr 211,62: 101,67 180,26 28,93¢
Comprehensive income attributable to the noncdimgpinteresi 6,04: 3,30¢ 4,617 741
Comprehensive income attributable to China Lodgingup, Limited 205,57¢ 98,36¢ 175,64! 28,19:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.

F-5



Table of Contents

CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
CONSOLI DATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Balance at January 1, 2010

Issuance of ordinary shares to Ctrip.c

Issuance of ordinary shares upon initial pu
offering

Conversion of Series A convertible preferred

shares to ordinary shares upon comple
of initial public offering

Conversion of Series B convertible
redeemable preferred shares into ordir
shares upon completion of initial public
offering

Issuance of warran

Acquisitions of noncontrolling intere

Issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise of

warrants

Issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise
option

Shar-based compensatic

Capital contribution from noncontrolling
interest

Sales of partial ownership interest in one
subsidiary

Net income

Dividend paid to noncontrolling intere

Foreign currency translation adjustme

Balance at December 31, 2C

Issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise
option

Shar-based compensatic

Excess tax benefit from share-based
compensatiol

Capital contribution from noncontrolling
interest

Net income

Dividend paid to noncontrolling intere

Foreign currency translation adjustme

Balance at December 31, 2C

Issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise
option

Shar-based compensatic

Excess tax benefit from share-based
compensatiol

Capital contribution from noncontrolling
interest

Acquisitions with noncontrolling intere

Net income

Dividend paid to noncontrolling intere

Foreign currency translation adjustme

Balance at December 31, 2C

Series A Retained Accumulated
ordi sh Pref e”gSSh Additional earnings Other
rainary shares reierre ares (Accumulated Comprehensive  Noncontrolling

Paid-in Total

Share Amount Share Amount Capital Deficit) loss Interest Equity
60,948,01 47 44,000,00 34 351,99« (245,45() (12,530 11,36¢ 105,45:
7,202,48: 5 — — 150,56 — — — 150,57.
41,400,00 28 — — 804,82( — — — 804,84
44,000,00 34  (44,000,00) (34) — — — — —
78,058,91 57 — — 796,74t — — — 796,80:
— — — — 947 — — — 94z
— — — — (10,589 — — (6,512) (17,099
1,700,00! 1 — — 17,87: — — — 17,87:
7,842,34 6 — — 42,33¢ — — — 42,34:
— — — — 13,11: — — — 13,11:
— — — — — — — 10 10
— — — — 562 — — 56¢ 1,13(
— — — — — 215,75: — 6,04: 221,79
— — — — — — — (2,29¢) (2,299
— — — — — — (10,179 — (10,177)
241,151,75 17¢ — — 2,168,36. (29,70%) (22,7079 9,17¢ 2,125,311
1,452,46! 1 — — 7,78¢ — — — 7,78¢
_ — — — 15,48: — — — 15,48
— — — — 8,32¢ — — — 8,32¢
— — — — — — — 45¢ 45¢
— — — — — 114,83: — 3,30¢ 118,13t
— — — — — — — (3,157 (3,15
_ _ _ _ — — (16,469 — (16,469
242,604,22 17¢ — — 2,199,95 85,127 (39,16€) 9,79C  2,255,88
1,889,87. 1 — — 18,31( — — — 18,31:
— — — — 20,831 — — — 20,83:
— — — — 4,30% — — — 4,30z
— — — — — — — 24C 24(
— — — — — — — 14,21¢ 14,21¢
— — — — — 174,88 — 4,615 179,50:
— — — — — — — (3,48¢) (3,48¢)
— — — — — — 758 — 75¢
244,494,09 18C — — 2,243,40. 260,01« (38,409) 25,37¢  2,490,56!

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAS H FLOWS
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Operating activities
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigenl by operating activitie:

Sharebased compensatic

Depreciation and amortizatic

Deferred taxe

Bad debt expenst

Deferred ren

Impairment los:

Excess tax benefit from shi-based compensatic

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffett of acquisitions

Accounts receivabl
Prepaid ren
Inventories
Amount due from related parti
Other current asse
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Amount due to related parti
Salary and welfare payabl
Deferred revenu
Accrued expenses and other current liabili
Income tax payabl
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activit
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipmr
Purchases of intangibli
Amount received as a result of government zol
Acquisitions, net of cash receiv
Purchase of lor-term investmen
Purchase of shc-term investment
Sales of sho-term investment
Decrease (increase) in restricted ¢
Net cash used in investing activiti

F-7

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012 2012
uss

(Note 2)
221,79 118,13t 179,50« 28,81
13,118 15,48 20,83 3,34¢
171,53¢ 236,85 347,57 55,79(
9,22¢ (35,719 (18,226  (2,92%)
10¢ 667 1,23¢ 19¢
70,76 92,92 143,85¢ 23,09:
— 71C 5,34¢ 85¢
— (8,329 (4,307) (691)
(6,480 (16,407 (12,336 (1,980
(82,649 (75,820 (93,219 (14,967
(9,400 (12,799 (6,719 (1,079

1,36¢ 3,261 — —
(13,40 (15,689 (29,409 (4,720
(17,84) (22,109 (31,48) (5,059
3,47¢ 3,43¢ 3,39( 544
(72) 17¢ (229) (37
28,04: 22,62¢ 36,80¢ 5,90¢
42,28 92,80: 90,46¢ 14,52:
16,29( 34,24¢ 36,07¢ 5,791
11,25: 7,35( 13,29¢ 2,13¢
9,73: 16,89: 33,231 5,33¢
469,12¢  458,74( 715,72( 114,87¢
(397,25) (768,750  (998,05() (160,19
(7,630 (14,674 (3,537) (567)

— 6,90( — —
(9,659 (57,827 (30,05 (4,829
- = (28,129 (4,519
(430,000 (30,000 (8,079 (1,296

330,00  130,00( — —
(775) (225) (290) (47
(515,31() (734,57) (1,068,13) (171,44)




Table of Contents

Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shi
Ordinary share issuance costs, net of existingesivdder reimbursemen
Net proceeds from exercise of warra
Net proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares egercise of optiol
Proceeds from lor-term debt
Repayment of lor-term debi
Funds advanced from noncontrolling interest holi
Repayment of funds advanced from noncontrollingriest holder
Acquisitions of noncontrolling intere
Proceeds from sales of partial ownership interesnie subsidiar
Contribution from noncontrolling interest holde
Dividend paid to noncontrolling interest hold
Excess tax benefit from shi-based compensatic

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casba&ts

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ofdhe

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Interest paic
Income taxes pai
Supplemental schedule of r-cash investing and financing activiti¢
Purchases of property and equipment included imlple
Consideration payable for business acquisi
Purchase of intangible assets included in pay:
Payment of ordinary share issuance costs throliligration of prepayment and amot
included in payable
Reimbursement of government zoning included inivaddes
Issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise of apfimm subscription depos
Issuance warrant for acquisition of noncontrollintgrest
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares uportisgesf option included in
receivable

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012 2012
USs$

(Note 2)

959,10« — — —

3,92¢ — — —

17,87: — — —
41,12¢ 7,28t 18,52( 2,97:
70,00( — 1,00(¢ 161
(207,00() — (1,000 (161)
2,77¢ 3,48¢ 3,00( 482
(23,719 (2,566  (2,68) (430)

(17,099 — — —

1,13( — — —
1C 45¢ 24C 39
(2,29¢) (3,15]) (3,486 (560)
— 8,324 4,30z 691
845,83 13,83¢ 19,89¢ 3,19¢
(10,179 (16,469 75€ 122
789,48( (278,460 (331,75) (53,25))
270,58 1,060,06 781,60 125,45¢
1,060,06 781,60 449,84« 72,20
4,07t 882 85¢ 13¢€
36,78: 53,18( 69,98( 11,23:
269,81! 395,68:  590,87. 94,84
54,047 16,62¢ 10,50¢ 1,68¢
12,27¢ 11,45t 10,58¢ 1,69¢

7,614 — — —
4,40( — 3,042 48¢

1,215 — — —

7,067 — — —
— 49¢ 29C 47

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 and 2@
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

1. ORGANIZATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

China Lodging Group, Limited (the “Company”) wasdanporated in the Cayman Islands under the laviseo€ayman Islands on
January 4, 2007. The principal business activifdbe Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group& ta develop leased, manachised and
franchised hotels under the “Joya Hotel”, “JI HbtelStarway Hotel” , “HanTing Hotel” and “Hi Innbrands in the PeopkeRepublic of Chin
(“PRC"). As of December 31, 2012, the Group doetsawen any hotel properties.

Leased hotels

The Group leases hotel properties from propertyayaand is responsible for all aspects of hotetaifm;s and management, including
hiring, training and supervising the managers angleyees required to operate the hotels. In additiee Group is responsible for hotel
development and customization to conform to thedsieds of the Group brands at the beginning ofgase, as well as repairs and
maintenance, operating expenses and managemerapafrfies over the term of the lease.

Under the lease arrangements, the Group typicatlgives rental holidays of two to six months angspant on a quarterly or biannual
basis. Rent is typically subject to the fixed eatiahs of three to five percent every three to fiears. The Group recognizes rental expense
straight-line basis over the lease term.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2012, the Group hachBd465 leased hotels in operation, respectively.

Manachised and franchised hotels

Typically the Group enters into certain franchise amanagement arrangements with franchisees fatwthe Group is responsible for
providing branding, quality assurance, trainingergation, hiring and appointing of the hotel gaharanager and various other support
services relating to the hotel renovation and dperaThose hotels are classified as manachiseslshatinder typical franchise and
management agreements, the franchisee is requoirgaytan initial franchise fee and ongoing franetdied management service fees, the
majority of which are equal to a certain percentafgie revenues of the hotel. The franchiseedparsible for the costs of hotel development
renovation and the costs of its operations. Tha t@frthe franchise and management agreements@ioally eight years and are renewable
upon mutual agreement between the Group and thetisee. The Group also has a small number of fiilaad hotels in which cases the Gr
does not provide a hotel general manager. As oebéer 31, 2011 and 2012, the Group had 295 andnab@chised hotels in operation and
nil and 54 franchised hotels in operation, respebti

2. SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements of the Gioane been prepared in accordance with the accguptinciples generally accepted in
the United States of America (“US GAAP").

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include itmential statements of the Company and its majavyed subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany transactions and balances are eligdnar consolidation.

The Group evaluates the need to consolidate cersaiable interest entities in which equity investdo not have the characteristics of a
controlling financial interest or do not have scifint equity at risk for the entity to finance distivities without additional subordinated
financial support.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 and 2@
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

The Group is deemed as the primary beneficiaryndf@nsolidates variable interest entities wherGhmup has the power to direct the
activities that most significantly impact the econio success of the entities and effectively assuimesgbligation to absorb losses and has the
rights to receive benefits that are potentiallyngigant to the entities.

The Group evaluates its business activities arahgements with the entities that operate the masetland franchised hotels to identify
potential variable interest entities. Generallgsih entities qualify for the business scope exaeptherefore consolidation is not appropriate
under the variable interest entity consolidatiordgace.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith US GAAP requires management to make estisiahd assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilitieg|atsire of contingent assets, long lived assetdiabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amount of revenuesxgahses during the reporting period. Actual restould differ from those estimates. The
Group bases its estimates on historical experiandevarious other factors believed to be reasonaider the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments aboutdeying value of assets and liabilities thatraoereadily apparent from other sources.
Significant accounting estimates reflected in theu@’s consolidated financial statements inclugeubeful lives and impairment of property
and equipment and intangible assets, valuationvalae of deferred tax assets, impairment of goddstibre-based compensation and costs
related to its customer loyalty program.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on mahdeanand deposits, which are unrestricted asttaivéwal and use, and which have
original maturities of three months or less wherchased.

Restricted cash

Restricted cash represents bank demand depodasecalized for certain newly established subsidsapending capital verification
procedure of relevant PRC government authorityageqbsits used as security against borrowings. @pitad verification approval process
typically takes between three to six months.

Short-term investments

Short-term investments represent held-to-matugatusties and are measured at amortized cost indhsolidated balance sheets. The
Group classifies investments with maturities of entttan three months and less than 12 months astehmrinvestments.

Accounts receivable, net of allowance

Trade receivables mainly consist of franchise &ivables, amounts due from corporate customraxgltagents, hotel guests and credi
card receivables, which are recognized and caati¢lde original invoice amount less an allowancedfubtful accounts. The Group establis
an allowance for doubtful accounts primarily basadhe age of the receivables and factors surrogrthie credit risk of specific customers.

Inventories

Inventories mainly consist of small appliances,dieg and daily consumables. Small appliances addibg are stated at cost, less
accumulated amortization, and are amortized owar gstimated useful lives, generally one yeamfthe time they are put into use. Daily
consumables are expensed when used.
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CHINA LODGING GROUP, LIMITED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 and 2@
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment, net are stated at costEasnulated depreciation and amortization. Thevations , betterments and interest
cost incurred during construction are capitaliz2elpreciation and amortization of property and emépt is provided using the straight line
method over their expected useful lives. The exgueaseful lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvemen Shorter of the lease term or their estimated udeies
Buildings 40 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipme 3-5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Construction in progress represents leasehold imgpnents under construction or being installed arstdted at cost. Cost comprises
original cost of property and equipment, instatlaticonstruction and other direct costs. Constouadti progress is transferred to leasehold
improvements and depreciation commences when et @sready for its intended use.

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are ergemsincurred. Gain or loss on disposal of prgpettd equipment, if any, is
recognized in the consolidated statement of congrgilie income as the difference between the ne$ gabceeds and the carrying amount of
the underlying asset.

Intangible assets, net and unfavorable lease

Intangible assets consist primarily of brand nane®-compete agreement, franchise agreements aodhfde leases acquired in business
combinations and purchased software. Intangibletassquired through business combinations argynéoed as assets separate from goodwi
if they satisfy either the “contractual-legal” aeparability” criterion. Intangible assets, inchuglibrand name, non-compete agreement,
franchise agreements and favorable lease agreemsqiged from business combination are recograzetimeasured at fair value upon
acquisition. Non-compete agreement, franchise ageats and favorable lease agreements are amoovezdhe expected useful life,
remaining franchise contract terms and remainirgrating lease term. Unfavorable lease agreememtstiusiness combination transactions
are recognized as other long-term liabilities aredaanortized over the remaining operating leasa.tBurchased software is stated at cost les:
accumulated amortization.

Brand name is considered to have an indefinite Tifee Group evaluates the brand name each repquirigd to determine whether
events and circumstances continue to support aifiitite useful life. Impairment is tested annualtymore frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaireue Group measures the impairment by comparingainedlue of brand name with its
carrying amount. If the carrying amount of brandeaexceeds its fair value, an impairment loss diebecognized in an amount equal to that
excess. The Group measured the fair value of tiedoname under the relief-from-royalty method. Mgemaent performs its annual brand
name impairment test on November 30.

Long-term investment

The Group accounts for the investment in an ineestavhich the Group owns less than 20% of thengpsiecurities and does not have
the ability to exercise significant influence owgrerating and financial policies of the entity astanethod investment. The Group’s cost-
method investment is carried at historical costdrtonsolidated financial statements and measairéalr value on a nonrecurring basis when
there are events or changes in circumstances thahave a significant adverse effect. An impairniess is recognized in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income equal to thesexaf the investment’s cost over its fair valuemwthe impairment is deemed other-than-
temporary.

As of December 31, 2012, the Group’s investmetdBOX, a privately-held company, of RMB28,129 was@mted for using the cost
method. No event had occurred that indicated thatther than temporary impairment existed and fbezehe Group did not record any
impairment charges for this cost-method investndeming 2012.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 and 2@
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of guiaition over the fair value of the identifiablesats less liabilities acquired.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or mémrequently if events or changes in circumstancdgate that it might be impaired. T
Group adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASW1)1208,Intangibles-Goodwill and other (Topic3503ince 2012, which gives the Grc
an option to first assess qualitative factors tieiaeine whether it is “more likely than not” thagtfair value of a reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount as a basis for determining whetiemecessary to perform the two-step goodwil&inment test. If it is more likely than not
that the fair value of a reporting unit is lessrtlits carrying amount, goodwill is then testeddaling a two-step process. The first step
compares the fair values of each reporting unitstoarrying amount, including goodwill. If the faialue of a reporting unit exceeds its carn
amount, goodwill is not considered to be impaired the second step will not be required. If theydéag amount of a reporting unit exceeds its
fair value, the second step compares the impligd/édue of goodwill to the carrying value of a cepng unit's goodwill. The implied fair valt
of goodwill is determined in a manner similar te@agnting for a business combination with the allmcaof the assessed fair value determinec
in the first step to the assets and liabilitieshef reporting unit. The excess of the fair valu¢hefreporting unit over the amounts assignede
assets and liabilities is the implied fair valuegobdwill. This allocation process is only perfohfer purposes of evaluating goodwill
impairment and does not result in an entry to ddhesvalue of any assets or liabilities. An impaént loss is recognized for any excess in the
carrying value of goodwill over the implied fairlua of goodwill. Management performs its annualdyeidl impairment test on November 30.

The Group recognized goodwill impairment of nil, BM10 and nil for years ended December 31, 2010] 2d 2012, respectively.

Impairment of long-lived assets

The Group evaluates its long-lived assets and=fiied intangibles for impairment whenever evantshanges in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not beveable. When these events occur, the Group memsupairment by comparing the
carrying amount of the assets to future undiscalingt cash flows expected to result from the ugbehssets and their eventual disposition. |
the sum of the expected undiscounted cash flovesssthan the carrying amount of the assets, tbafatecognizes an impairment loss based
on the fair value of the assets. There was no impit charge recognized during the years endedrbteee31, 2010 or 2011.

The Group performed a recoverability test of itsgdived assets associated with certain hotelstaltiee continue underperformance
relative to the projected operating results, ofchiithe carrying amount of the property and equigregoeed the future undiscounted net cash
flows, and recognized an impairment loss of RMB49,8uring the year ended December 31, 2012.

Fair value of the property and equipment was detexchby the Group based on the income approacly tistsndiscounted cash flow
associated with the underlying assets, which inm@fed certain assumptions including projectedlsotevenue, growth rates and projected
operating costs based on current economic condigiqymectation of management and projected trendaroént operating results.

Accruals for customer loyalty program

The Group invites its customers to participate austomer loyalty program. The membership has déimiiad life. Members enjoy
favorable treatment such as more convenient chatkrocedures and late check-out, discounts on mabes and accumulate membership
points for their paid stays, which can be redeefoedoom night awards and other gifts within tway after the points are earned. The
estimated incremental costs to provide room nigi@rds and other gifts are accrued and recordedaaieals for customer loyalty program as
members accumulate points and are recognized aambexpense in the accompanying consolidateedrsatts of comprehensive income. As
members redeem awards or their entitlements expiegyrovision is reduced correspondingly. As o€&maber 31, 2011 and 2012, the accrual
for estimated liabilities under the customer loygitogram amounted to RMB7,629 and RMB 12,963, eetiyely.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 and 2@
(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue generally consists of non-refuledativances received from customers for rentaboifnis, cash received for
membership fees and initial franchise fees recepram to the Group fulfilling its commitments tbe franchisee.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from leased hotels is derived from hotetatpons, mainly including the rental of rooms,dand beverage sales and souvenir
sales from leased hotels. Revenue is recognized vdwens are occupied and food and beverages anérsiosiare sold.

Revenues from manachised and franchised hoteldeareed from franchise agreements where the fraeelsi are primarily required to
pay (i) an initial one-time franchise fee, and €¢dntinuing franchise fees, which mainly consisfafon-going management and service fees
mainly based on a certain percentage of the romantees of the franchised hotels, and (b) systemtar@énce, support fees and central
reservation system usage fee. The one-time fram¢bésis recognized when the manachised and freeattiotel opens for business, the fee
becomes non-refundable, and the Group has fulfdleils commitments and obligations, including #esistance to the franchisees in property
design, leasehold improvement construction prajesmtagement, systems installation and personnelitiegr and training. The ongoing
management and service fees are recognized whemtieelying service revenue is recognized by thadhisees’ operations. The system
maintenance, support fee and central reservatistesyusage fee is recognized when services aréprbv

In addition, the Group accounts for hotel managesfrelated to the manachised hotels under thehiissnprogram as revenues. Pursuan
to the franchise agreements, the Group chargefsahehisees fixed hotel manager fees to cover theathised hotel managers’ payroll, social
welfare benefits and certain other out-of-pocketemses that the Group incurs on behalf of the ntased hotels. The hotel manager fee is
recognized as revenue monthly. During the yearse@imecember 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, the hotel gearf@es that were recognized as
revenue were RMB30,097, RMB43,021 and RMB72,064peetively.

Membership fees from the Group’s customer loyattygpam are earned and recognized on a straighbése over the expected
membership duration of the different membershiglevSuch duration is estimated based on the Gsaupl management’s experience and is
adjusted on a periodic basis to reflect chang@seémbership retention. Effective October 1, 2018,@noup prospectively revised the estim.
membership duration from three to five years to tavéive years to more closely reflect the expectambership retention. The effect of this
change in accounting estimate was immaterial ferythar ended December 31, 2010. Revenues recogniredhe customer loyalty program
were RMB22,633, RMB35,623 and RMB51,132 for thergemded December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, regelycti

Business tax and related taxes

The Group is subject to business tax, educaticasand urban maintenance and construction tath@services provided in the PRC.
Such taxes are primarily levied based on revenagicable rates and are recorded as a reductiGvenues.
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(Renminbi in thousands, except share data and pehare data, unless otherwise stated)

Advertising and promotional expenses

Advertising related expenses, including promotigpenses and production costs of marketing matedadscharged to the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income as incurredaamminted to RMB18,217, RMB28,445 and RMB 30,053lie years ended
December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively.

Government grants

Unrestricted government subsidies from local gonemtal agencies allowing the Group full discretiomtilize the funds were
RMB4,034, RMB7,491 and RMB 6,723 for the years enBecember 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectivdlichwere recorded as a
reduction of general and administrative expenséisdrconsolidated statements of comprehensive iacom

Leases

A lease of which substantially all the benefits aistis incidental to ownership remain with lessoclassified as an operating lease. All
leases of the Group are currently classified asatipg leases. When a lease contains rent holidagesquires fixed escalations of the minimum
lease payments, the Group records the total rermEnse on a straight-line basis over the inidiaté term and the difference between the
straight-line rental expense and cash payment uhddease is recorded as deferred rent. As ofibbee31, 2011 and 2012, deferred rent of
RMB8,690 and RMB11,882 were recorded as other nttiabilities and RMB329,774 and RMB 470,438 wegeorded as long-term
liabilities, respectively.

Capitalization of interest

Interest cost incurred on funds used to constaagdhold improvements during the active constmgigriod is capitalized. The interest
capitalized is determined by applying the borrowimgrest rate to the average amount of accumutapial expenditures for the assets undel
construction during the period. The interest expansurred for the years ended December 31, 2011, and 2012 was RMB4,074, RMB882
and RMB859, of which RMB1,392, nil and RMB 37 wapitalized as additions to assets under constrmatgspectively.

Income taxes
Current income taxes are provided for in accordavittethe relevant statutory tax laws and regulatio

Deferred income taxes are recognized for tempatdfgrences between the tax basis of assets apitlitles and their reported amounts
the financial statements. Net operating lossesamied forward and credited by applying enactetusbry tax rates applicable to future years.
Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuatiowatioe when, in the opinion of the Group, it is mlikely-than-not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Tdrepgonents of the deferred tax assets and liakilétie individually classified as current and
non-current based on the characteristics of thenyidg assets and liabilities, or the expectedrtgrof their use when they do not relate to a
specific asset or liability.

Foreign currency translation

The reporting currency of the Group is the Renm{tiRMB”). The functional currency of the Companytie United States dollar (“US
dollar”). Monetary assets and liabilities denomathin currencies other than the US dollar are taded into US dollar at the rates of exchange
ruling at the balance sheet date. Transactionarecies other than the US dollar during the yearconverted into the US dollar at the
applicable rates of exchange prevailing on thetdaysactions occurred. Transaction gains and l@®sa®ecognized in the statements of
comprehensive income. Assets and liabilities amedliated into RMB at the exchange rates at thabalgheet date, equity accounts are
translated at historical exchange rates and reweex@enses, gains and losses are translatedtbsiagerage rate for the year. Translation
adjustments are reported as cumulative translatijustments and are shown as a separate compdr@heocomprehensive loss in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
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The financial records of the Group’s subsidiariesraaintained in local currencies, RMB, which ie fanctional currency.

Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income includes all changes in eguitgpt for those resulting from investments by emsrand distributions to owners
and is comprised of net income and foreign-currerenyslation adjustments. The consolidated findrst&ements have been adjusted for the
retrospective application of the authoritative guide regarding presentation of comprehensive incarieh was adopted by the Group on
January 1, 2012.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose theup to concentration of credit risk consist priityaof cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, short-term investment and accaentsvable.

All of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents astticked cash are held with financial institutiaghat Group management believes to be
high credit quality. In addition, the Group’s in@&nt policy limits its exposure to concentratiofigredit risk and the Group’s short-term
investment consists of corporate debt security Wigin credit quality. The Group conducts creditleations on its group and agency custor
and generally does not require collateral or ofleeurity from such customers. The Group periodiaalialuates the creditworthiness of the
existing customers in determining an allowancedfmubtful accounts primarily based upon the agéeféceivables and factors surrounding
the credit risk of specific customers.

Fair value

The Group defines fair value as the price that wdnd received from selling an asset or paid tosteara liability in an orderly transactic
between market participants at the measurement\déten determining the fair value measurementsgsets and liabilities required or
permitted to be recorded at fair value, the Gromupsiders the principal or most advantageous mamnke&hich it would transact and it considers
assumptions that market participants would use vghieing the asset or liability.

The established fair value hierarchy requires dityeio maximize the use of observable inputs amdmize the use of unobservable
inputs when measuring fair value. A financial instent’s categorization within the fair value hiefar is based upon the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value measurem&he three levels of inputs may be used to measiredlue include:

Level 1 applies to assets or liabilities for whtblere are quoted prices in active markets for idahassets or liabilities.

Level 2 applies to assets or liabilities for whtblere are inputs other than quoted prices includédn Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability such as quoted pricessfmilar assets or liabilities in active markejapted prices for identical assets or liabili
in markets with insufficient volume or infrequeranisactions (less active markets); or model-denixgdations in which significant
inputs are observable or can be derived princidedisn, or corroborated by, observable market data.

Level 3 applies to assets or liabilities for whtblere are unobservable inputs to the valuation atetlogy that are significant to the
measurement of the fair value of the assets otlitiab.

The estimated fair value of the Group’s financiatiuments, including cash, restricted cash, sleont-investments, receivables, payal
and accruals, approximates their carrying valuetdukeir short-term nature.
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The following table presents the Group’s assetssomed at fair value on a non-recurring basis fenthar ended December 31, 2012:

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Usin
Quoted Price

Significant
in Active Other
Year Ended Markets for Observable Significant
December 31 Identical Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2012 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total loss
Property and equipment 4,991 — — 4,991 5,34¢

As a result of reduced expectations of future dkwsirs from certain leased hotels, the Group deteeaithat the hotels property and
equipment with a carrying amount of RMB10,340 wasfally recoverable and consequently recordechgmairment charge of RMB5,349 for
the year ended December 31, 2012.

Fair value of the property and equipment was datechby the Group based on the income approacly tistndiscounted cash flow
associated with the underlying assets, which inm@fed certain assumptions including projectedlsotevenue, growth rates and projected
operating costs based on current economic congigiqgmectation of management and projected trendaroént operating results. As a result,
the Group has determined that the majority of tipaiis used to value its long-lived assets heldused are unobservable inputs that fall withir
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The revenuevgh rate and the discount rate were the significaobservable input used in the fair value
measurement, which are 4% and 15%, respectively.

Warrants

The Group records warrants convertible into mezmaeguity securities and ordinary shares as ltasiland adjusts the carrying amount
of such liabilities to fair value at each reportuhate.

Share-based compensation

The Group recognizes shdrased compensation in the consolidated stateméotsrprehensive income based on the fair valuejoitg
awards on the date of the grant, with compensatimense recognized over the period in which thetgeais required to provide service to the
Group in exchange for the equity award. The shaset compensation expenses have been categorigitdeashotel operating costs, general
and administrative expenses or selling and maretkpenses, depending on the job functions of thetges. For the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, the Group rezedrshare-based compensation expense of RMB13RMB15,483 and RMB20,837,
respectively, which was classified as follows:

At December 31,

2010 2011 2012
Hotel operating costs 1,55¢ 2,11t 2,59:
Selling and marketing expens 77¢ 783 1,031
General and administrative expen 10,78( 12,58¢ 17,21«
Total 13,118 15,48 20,83’

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividiegnme attributable to holders of ordinary sharetheyweighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Dil@arnings per share reflects the potential dituti@at could occur if securities or other
contracts to issue ordinary shares were exercisedrverted into ordinary shares and is calculatadg the treasury stock method for stock
options and nonvested restricted stocks.
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Prior to the Group’s initial public offering (“IPQ’'In March 2010, the Group determined that its &eA convertible preferred shares and
Series B convertible redeemable preferred shares pagticipating securities as each participatettiénundistributed earnings on the same
basis as the ordinary shares. Accordingly, the Grmed the two-class method of computing earniegsipare. Under this method, net income
applicable to holders of ordinary shares was attan a pro-rata basis to the ordinary and predeshares to the extent that each class coulc
share in income for the period. Losses were notated to the participating securities. Dilutechéags per share was computed using the mol
dilutive of the two-class method or thecibnverted method. The preferred shares were cat/erto ordinary shares upon the completion o
Group’s IPO. The two-class method of computing E@$per share ceased to apply on the conversien da

Segment reporting

The Group operates and manages its business rgl@a ségment. The Group primarily generates itemaes from customers in the PRC.
Accordingly, no geographical segments are prese®glistantially all of the Group’s long-lived assate located in the PRC.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements

On July 27, 2012, the Financial Accounting Stand@dard (the “FASB”) issued Accounting Standardslatp (“ASU”) 2012-02, which
amends the guidance in ASC 350-30 on testing indeflived intangible assets, other than goodvalt,impairment. Under ASU 2012-02, an
entity testing an indefinite-lived intangible asketimpairment has the option of performing a dfative assessment before calculating the fai
value of the asset. Although ASU 2012-02 revisesetkamples of events and circumstances that aty shtiuld consider in interim periods, it
does not revise the requirements to test indeflinitzl intangible assets (1) annually for impairmand (2) between annual tests if there is a
change in events or circumstances. ASU 2012-0ffastive for annual and interim impairment testsfpamed. The Group will be required to
adopt ASU 2012-02 as of January 1, 2013 and daesxpect any significant impact on its consolidatesults of operations, financial position
or cash flows.

On January 31, 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-bichclarifies the offsetting disclosure requirensein ASU 2011-11. Under ASU
2013-01, the disclosure requirements would appljetdvative instruments accounted for in accordamite ASC 815, including bifurcated
embedded derivatives. ASU 2013-01 is effectivefifmal years beginning on or after January 1, 2@b8, interim periods within those years.
Retrospective application is required for all conapiae periods presented. The Group will be regutceadopt ASU 2013-01 as of January 1,
2013 and does not expect any significant impadtoconsolidated results of operations, financ@ifion or cash flows.

On February 5, 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-0fichvrequires entities to disclose the followingliéidnal information about items
reclassified out of accumulated other comprehenisis@me (AOCI): (1) Changes in AOCI balances by ponent (e.g., unrealized gains or
losses on available-for-sale securities or foragmency items). Both before-tax and net-of-taxspraations of the information are acceptable
as long as an entity presents the income tax leredixpense attributed to each component of O@lraalassification adjustments in either the
financial statements or the notes to the finarstalements. (2)Significant items reclassified dud©CI by component either on the face of the
income statement or as a separate footnote torthedal statements. The ASU is effective for flsgzars, and interim periods within those
years, beginning after December 15, 2012 and sHzeilgpplied prospectively. The Group will be reqdito adopt ASU 20:-02 as of
January 1, 2013 and does not expect any signifiogpdct on its consolidated results of operatidingncial position or cash flows.
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Translation into United States Dollars

The financial statements of the Group are statd®IMB. Translations of amounts from RMB into UnitSthtes dollars are solely for the
convenience of the reader and were calculateccattie of US$1.00 = RMB 6.2301, on December 312284 set forth in H.10 statistical
release of the Federal Reserve Board. The tramslainot intended to imply that the RMB amountslddave been, or could be, converted,
realized or settled into United States dollardat tate on December 31, 2012, or at any other rate

3. ACQUISITIONS

(i) During the year ended December 31, 2012, tackrihe Group’s brand and accelerate the Grousiesion in the mid-scale market,
the Group acquired 51% equity interest of Starwayel$ (Hong Kong) Limited (“Starway”), a franchiskdtel chain from C-Travel
International Limited (“C-Travel”), a wholly owneglibsidiary of Ctrip.com International, Ltd. forabtash consideration of RMB17,292. C-
Travel granted the Group a purchase right to aedhie remaining 49% equity interest of Starwaynaamount in US$ equal to RMB16,460
within one year. The right may be exercised byG@neup in its sole discretion. The business acdarsivas accounted for under purchase
accounting.

The following is a summary of the fair values of thissets acquired and liabilities assumed:

2012 Amortization period
Current assets 954
Intangible asset 29¢
Property and equipme 667 5-10 year
Brand name 28,60( indefinite
Non-compete agreeme 40C 10 year
Franchise agreemer 7,70C remaining contract terr
Goodwill 21,49:
Current liabilities (19,430
Deferred tax liabilitie: (9,179
Noncontrolling interes (14,219
Total 17,29:

Brand name represents the registered trademartanf/&y which is well recognized brand in mid-sdadéel market in PRC. The useful
life of brand name is indefinite. The Group meaduhe fair value of the brand name under the rétah-royalty method.

Goodwill was recognized as a result of expecte@yias from combining operations of the Group ataihvi&ay and other intangible
assets that do not qualify for separate recognit8oodwill is not amortized and is not deductilde thx purpose.

(ii) During the year ended December 31, 2010, 241d 2012, the Group acquired nine, four and onithaal hotels in the form of
leased hotel for total cash consideration of RMB83, RMB20,400 and RMB7,000, respectively. The bess acquisitions were accounted
under purchase accounting.
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The following is a summary of the fair values of tissets acquired and liabilities assumed:

2010 2011 2012 Amortization period

Current assets 33 2,19¢ 127

Intangible asset — 63 —

Property and equipme 25,55( 10,98(  4,66¢ 5-10 year
Favorable leas 20,80( 5847 2,47( remaining lease terr
Deferred tax asse 22¢ — —

Franchise agreemer 60C 90C 20C remaining contracts terr
Goodwill 22,92: 1,87: 15z

Unfavorable leas (1,600 — — remaining lease terr
Deferred tax liabilitie: (4,800 (1,462 (61¢)

Total 63,73 20,400  7,00(

(iii) In 2010, the Group acquired noncontrollingarests in four existing subsidiaries. The aggreeganhsideration for these acquisitions
was comprised of the following:

2010
Cash consideration 17,09¢
Fair value of warrant 7,06¢
Total consideratiol 24,16°

The warrants provide the holder with the abilityptorchase 1,500,000 ordinary shares of the Groap akercise price of US$1.54 per
share. The fair value of the warrants was deterthinethe Group using generally accepted valuatiethodologies, including the discounted
cash flow approach which incorporates certain agsioms including the financial results, growth tlenterminal value and discount rate of the
Group, to derive the total equity value of the Grou

The acquisitions of the noncontrolling interestsevaccounted for as equity transactions. The diffee between the purchase

consideration and the related carrying value ofnitvecontrolling interests of RMB17,655 were recards a reduction of additional paid-in
capital during the year ended December 31, 2010.

4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
Property and equipment, net consist of the follgwin

As of December 31

2011 2012
Cost:
Buildings 11,86( 11,86(
Leasehold improvemen 2,213,22. 3,220,48:
Furniture, fixtures and equipme 348,71 479,80¢
Motor vehicles 82¢ 833
2,574,62 3,712,98:
Less: Accumulated depreciati (663,005 (1,013,69)
1,911,621 2,699,28:
Construction in progres 184,17: 252,22
Property and equipment, r 2,095,79 2,951,50!

Depreciation expense was RMB167,490, RMB229,742Rii& 337,511 for the years ended December 31, 22001 and 2012,
respectively.

In 2010, the Group demolished one leased hotetaligcal government zoning requirements. As a tethe Group wrote off property
and equipment of RMB3,994 associated with this lrentd recognized a gain of RMB406, which is netedfnbursements receivable of
RMB4,400, which have been included as a componfesther current assets in the consolidated balaheet as of December 31, 2010 and
received in 2011.
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In 2011, the Group demolished one leased hotetaligcal government zoning requirements. As a tethe Group wrote off property
and equipment of RMB2,411 associated with this lrentd recognized a gain of RMB89, which is net MB2,500 cash received.

In 2012, the Group demolished one leased hotetaligecal government zoning requirements. As a tethe Group wrote off property
and equipment of RMB3,042 associated with this lhetkich has been recorded as receivable in otlneent assets as of December 31, 2012.
No gain or loss was recognize

As of December 31, 2012, the Group has been foymalified by local government authorities thatrfadditional leased hotels of the
Group will likely be demolished due to local governt zoning requirements. The aggregate carryirguatof property and equipment at the
hotels was RMB14,844 as of December 31, 2012. Nétige hotels have recorded intangible assets odwil. The Group has not recognized
any impairment as expected cash flows from thel$iatperations prior to demolition and expected ants to be received as a result of the
demolition will likely exceed the carrying value sifich assets. The Group estimated amounts to bweddased on the relevant PRC laws
regulations, terms of the lease agreements, angrévailing market practice.

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET AND UNFAVORABLE LEASE
Intangible assets, net consist of the following:

As of December 31

2011 2012

Brand name — 28,60(
Franchise agreemer — 7,90(
Non-compete agreeme — 40C
Favorable lease agreeme 67,15¢ 69,62¢
Purchased softwal 18,15¢ 20,49(
Total 85,31 127,01¢
Less: Accumulated amortizatic (15,539 (26,036)
Total 69,77¢ 100,98(

Unfavorable lease

As of December 31

2011 2012

Unfavorable lease agreements 3,92 3,92¢
Less: Accumulated amortizatic (1,539 (1,969
Unfavorable lease agreements, 2,392 1,95¢

The values of favorable lease agreements weremdigied based on the estimated present value ofioaiat the Group has avoided
paying as a result of entering into the lease ages¢s. Unfavorable lease agreements were deterrhasesti on the estimated present value of
the acquired lease that exceeded market pricearanecognized as other long-term liabilities. Vakie of favorable and unfavorable lease
agreements is amortized using the straight-lindhotebver the remaining lease term.

Amortization expense of intangible assets for tharg ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 ander®MB3,754, RMB6,652 at
RMB 10,501, respectively.

The annual estimated amortization expense forlbeeaintangible assets and unfavorable lease éofolfowing years is as follows:
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Amortization for

Amortization for Net

Intangible Asset: Unfavorable Least Amortization

2013 8,63: (337) 8,29t
2014 8,18t (297) 7,88¢
2015 8,117 (28¢) 7,82¢
2016 7,82¢ (209) 7,61¢
2017 7,501 (130) 7,371
Thereaftel 32,12( (699) 31,42%
72,38( (1,959 70,42

6. GOODWILL
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwilltfe years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 202asdollows:

Gross Accumulated Net
Amount Impairment Loss Amount
Balance at January 1, 2010 19,55( (2,099 18,45
Increase in goodwill related to acquisitic 22,92: — 22,92
Balance at December 31, 20 42,47 (2,099 41,37:
Increase in goodwill related to acquisitic 1,87: — 1,87:
Impairment losses recogniz — (710 (710
Balance at December 31, 20 44,34 (1,809 42,53¢
Increase in goodwill related to acquisitic 21,64 — 21,64+
Balance at December 31, 20 65,98¢ (1,809 64,18(

7. DEBT

In March 2012, the Group entered into a five-yearkbcredit facility under which the Group can barngp to RMB 500,000 by May 21,
2015, which is subject to bank’s reevaluation fitimme to time. The credit facility has a specifiegbieation schedule for draw-down. The
interest rate for each draw-down is establishetherdraw-down date and is adjusted annually, basdte loan interest rate stipulated by the
People’s Bank of China for the corresponding perfslof December, 31, 2012, the Group had drawnrditw credit facility of RMB 1,000,
repaid RMB 1,000, and RMB100,000 of the creditlfgchas expired. As of December 31, 2012, crealiflity of RMB399,000 was available
for future borrowing, which will expire on May 22015. The weighted average interest rate for bangsvdrawn under such credit facility v
6.9% for the year ended December 31, 2012. Thetdemility is restricted to certain hotels’ rendian and the credit facility was not
collateralized.

In September 2012, the Group entered into a theaeevolving bank credit facility under which tGeoup can draw down up to
RMB300,000 by October 9, 2015. As of December 81,22 the Group has not drawn down anything undsrfétility. The interest rate for
this credit facility will be determined on the drnaxdown date and the credit facility was not colalieed.

In December 2012, the Group entered into a thirpnii bank credit facility under which the Group claw down up to US$10,000 by
April 5, 2013. The interest rate for each draw dasvhased on the twelve-month London Interbank @ffeRate (“Libor”) on draw-down date
plus 2.7%. Each draw down will be guaranteed hgieif guarantee or stand-by letter of credit. ABecember 31, 2012, the Group has not
drawn down anything under this credit facility.
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8. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

As of December 31

2011 2012
Payable for business acquisitions 13,57: 7,628
Business taxes and other subcharge pay: 28,44¢ 41,17¢
Accrual for customer loyalty progra 7,62¢ 12,96:
Payable to noncontrolling interest hold 11,43 11,75
Other payable 13,24¢ 16,58¢
Accrued renta 26,544 35,98¢
Accrued utilities 19,22« 28,33
Other accrued expens 22,04t 32,95¢
Total 142,14¢ 187,38(

From time to time, the Group receives cash fundigiganced from noncontrolling interest holders &ng venture hotels. Such advances
are non-interest bearing and are payable withinyee.

9. PREFERRED SHARES, WARRANT | and WARRANT II

In February 2007, the Company issued 44,000,00@sSArconvertible preferred shares, par value UBXIL per share, at issuance price
of US$0.50 per share.

On June 20, 2007, the Company issued 35,873,53&s3convertible redeemable preferred sharesyalae US$0.0001, of which
32,144,009 shares were issued for cash proceerlsIBB812,338 (US$41,000) and 3,729,526 shares wsoedsupon the conversion of
convertible notes and accrued interest of RMB30/4¥2$4,000) and RMB331 (US$43), respectively. Totadh proceeds of RMB310,383
(US$40,743) were net of issuance costs of RMB1(8&85257).

In conjunction with the Series B convertible redabie preferred shares, the Group granted Warramd Marrant 1l to purchase
13,066,670 and 3,136,001 Series B convertible redbte preferred shares at a per share purchageR¥M®810.44 (US$1.53) and RMB8.70
(US$1.28), respectively. The total fair value of Wéat | and Warrant Il was RMB15,544.

In 2007 and June 2008, the Company issued 16,05%6des B convertible redeemable shares uponiegert8,212,044 Warrants I,
3,136,001 Warrant Il and 4,704,001 Warrant I, efhivere granted in conjunction with a promissorteriesued in 2007, for total
consideration of RMB160,596 (US$22,569). On June2R08, 4,854,626 Warrant | expired unexerciseeré&hvas no warrant outstanding
then.

In 2008, the Company issued 11,760,002, 11,760a0021,306,667 Series B Shares for RMB10.44 (US$héBshare for total procee
of RMB129,323 (US$18,000), RMB127,588 (US$18,00t) BMB13,894 (US$2,000), respectively, to existimdinary and Series A
shareholders.

In 2008, the Company exchanged 1,306,667 SeridsaBeS for a RMB13,894 (US$2,000) related party pleydue to Powerhill
Holdings Limited (“Powerhill”, a BVI company wholgwned by Qi Ji and Tongtong Zhao), previously adbeal to the Group for working
capital purposes. No compensation expense wasdedtgiven the effective purchase price of the SdiShares exceeded the fair value of th
Series B Shares on the exchange date.

Upon the completion of the Group’s IPO in March @0%eries A convertible preferred shares and SBriganvertible redeemable
preferred shares were converted into ordinary shamea one-to-one basis.

The key terms of Series A Shares and Series B Slieotiectively the “Preferred Shares”) were atofosb:
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Dividends
The holders of the Preferred Shares were entitigghtticipate in dividends paid to holders of oetdinshares on an as-converted basis.

Voting Rights
Each ordinary share was entitled to two votes pares A Series A Share was entitled to one onedidlfe number of ordinary shares

into which it was convertible (one vote per ordinahare). Each Series B Share was entitled toomtn as-if converted basis (two votes per
ordinary share).

Conversion

The Preferred Shares were convertible into ordishares at 1:1 ratio initially, at the option oé tolder at any time. The Preferred
Shares were also automatically convertible uporctmsummation of IPO or obtaining the necessarttemwriconsent from the holders of
Preferred Shares. An IPO referred to a firm committmunderwritten IPO by the Company of its ordjnstrares with (i) a market
capitalization equal to no less than US$495,000éuhiately prior to the IPO, and (i) total offeripgoceeds to the Company, before deduction
of selling expenses, of not less than US$50,000.

The conversion prices of the Preferred Shares adygect to anti-dilution adjustments and in thenéthe Company issued ordinary
shares at a price per share lower than the appdicaimversion price in effect immediately priorsiach issuance. No adjustments to the
conversion prices occurred.

The Company determined that there was no BCF at#iite to the Preferred Shares as the effectiveazsion price of the Preferred
Shares was greater than the fair value of the argishares on the respective commitment dates.

Redemption
The Series A Shares were not redeemable.

The Series B Shares were redeemable at a pricétegha subscription price plus all declared bopaid dividends at the election of the
holders of a majority of such shares on or aftey Ma2012.

Liquidation Preferences

The holders of Preferred Shares had preferencehmlgers of ordinary shares with respect to paymédividends and distribution of
assets in the event of any voluntary or involuntayidation, dissolution, winding up or deemediiidation of the Company. A deemed
liquidation event included a change in control #m&lsale, transfer or disposition of all or subtédly all of the assets of the Group. The
holders of Preferred Shares were entitled to recaivamount equal to the subscription price, pacsaded but unpaid dividends. Series B
Shares must receive their liquidation payment gaany such payments being made on the SeriesafeSh

Investor Put Option

The holders of Series B Shares had the right beferelate of a Qualified IPO to require Qi Ji, fdanand CEO of the Group, to purch
all or any portion of the Series B Shares at ashare price equal to 105% of the subscription pripen the occurrence of certain triggering
events.

10. HOTEL OPERATING COSTS

Hotel operating costs include all direct costs med in the operation of the leased hotels, masadnand franchised hotels and consist ¢
the following:
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Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
Rent 476,10( 655,24 916,35
Utilities 108,20¢ 150,86! 215,76¢
Personnel cos 210,90¢ 329,07¢ 505,77
Depreciation and amortizatic 163,12! 227,93t 337,16
Consumable, food and beverz 145,31° 228,24« 333,24!
Others 76,54¢ 111,96! 145,59
Total 1,180,20; 1,703,33 2,453,90:;

11. PRE-OPENING EXPENSES

The Group expenses all costs incurred in conneetitnstart-up activities, including pre-operatiogsts associated with new hotel
facilities and costs incurred with the formationtloé subsidiaries, such as organization costsopeaing expenses primarily include rental
expenses and employee costs incurred during thed fi@-opening period.

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
Rents 88,17 153,22¢ 191,53t
Personnel cos 5,21¢ 13,27: 15,48¢
Others 17,81¢ 17,79¢ 23,66¢
Total 111,21( 184,29t 230,69(

12. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

In February 2007, the Group adopted the 2007 Gl8bhate Plan which allows the Group to offer incemawards to employees, officers,
directors and consultants or advisors (the “Padicis”). Under the 2007 Global Share Plan, the @roay issue incentive awards to the
Participants to purchase not more than 10,000,08@ary shares. In June 2007, the Group adopteddB8 Global Share Plan which allows
the Group to offer incentive awards to Participabtsder the 2008 Global Share Plan, the Group ®s&yei incentive awards to purchase up to
3,000,000 ordinary shares. In October 2008, thai®nocreased the maximum number of incentive awavd#lable under the 2008 Global
Share Plan to 7,000,000. In September 2009, thepgGadopted 2009 Share Incentive Plan which alltsGroup to offer incentive awards to
Participants. Under the 2009 Share Incentive RlenGroup may issue incentive awards to purchage 800,000 ordinary shares. In July
2010, the Group increased the maximum number efnitive awards available under 2009 Share Inceftiae to 15,000,000. The 2007 and
2008 Global Share Plans and 2009 Share Incentare (Ebllectively, the “Incentive Award Plans”) cairt the same terms and conditions. All
incentive awards granted under the Incentive AviRleths have a maximum life of ten years and vest 88%e second anniversary of the
stated vesting commencement date with the remab8g vesting ratably over the following two yeaks.of December 31, 2012, the Group
had granted 24,743,043 options and 3,182,466 ntetvesstricted stocks.

Share options

In July 2012, the Group granted 1,475,366 optioextcutive officers that will vest 50% on the satanniversary of the stated vesting
commencement date with the remaining 50% vestitabhaover the following two years and will becomeercisable if the Group satisfies
certain performance conditions for the three-yeaion ending December 31, 2014. The number of lyidgrshares that may become
exercisable will range from 0% to 200% dependingrughether the performance conditions are achiewekl if achieved, to what level. The
Group recognizes compensation expenses for thedawdth performance conditions based upon the Gsgudgment of likely future
performance and may be adjusted in future periegending on actual performance.
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The weighted-average grant date fair value foramgatigranted during the years ended December 30, 2011 and 2012 was RMB12.99
(US$1.96), RMB14.37 (US$2.23) and RMB8.52 (US$1,.8&3pectively, computed using the binomial oppoising model. The binomial
model requires the input of subjective assumptinakiding the expected stock price volatility ahe £xpected price multiple at which
employees are likely to exercise stock options. Ghaup uses historical data to estimate forfeitate. Expected volatilities are based on the
average volatility of the Group and comparable canigs. The risk-free rate for periods within thatcactual life of the option is based on the
U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the timegadnt.

The fair value of stock options was estimated u#liregfollowing significant assumptions:

2010 2011 2012
Suboptimal exercise factor 2.510 4.2¢ 3.83 10 8.9: 7.45 to 7.6¢€
Risk-free interest rat 3.58 to 4.50% 1.88 to 2.66% 0.81to 1.19¥%
Volatility 45.36 to 51.42¢ 50.61 to 50.69% 51.35 to 51.89¢
Dividend yield — — —

Life of option 10 years 6 years 6 years

The following table summarized the Group’s shargompactivity under the option plans:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual
Number of Exercise Intrinsic
Options Price Life Value
Uss$ Years us¢§000
Share options outstanding at January 1, 2 9,773,84. 1.8¢4
Grantec 2,838,79! 2.8(C
Forfeited (917,94() 3.5t
Exercisec (1,889,87) 1.52
Share options outstanding at December 31, : 9,804,82! 2.0z 5.9t 22,04
Share options vested or expected to vest at Deaedih@01Z 9,302,211 2.0C 5.92 21,057
Share options exercisable at December 31, ' 5,676,00: 1.5¢ 6.0 15,14

As of December 31, 2012, there was RMB31,401 ial imtrecognized compensation expense related testew share-based
compensation arrangements, which is expected tedmgnized over a weighted-average period of 2e&8/

During the years ended December 31, 2010, 201208, 7,842,341, 1,452,468 and 1,889,872 optiome @xercised having an
aggregate intrinsic value of RMB11,271, RMB37,700 &MB 32,562, respectively.

Nonvested restricted stock

The fair value of nonvested restricted stock wéhvie conditions or performance conditions is dase the fair market value of the
underlying ordinary shares on the date of grant.

In July 2012, the Group granted 1,059,977 nonvestsilicted stocks to executive officers which Wwilcome exercisable if the Group
satisfies certain performance conditions for threg¢hyear period ending December 31, 2014, and Q@3)@nvested restricted stocks to
executive officers which will become exercisabléhi# Group satisfies certain market condition fer three-year period ending December 31,
2014. These awards vest 50% on the second anniyerfsthe stated vesting commencement date withigheining 50% vesting ratably over
the following two years. The number of underlyitigues that may become exercisable will range frétn®200% depending upon whether
the performance conditions and market conditioragteeved and, if achieved, to what level. The @racognizes compensation expense for
the awards with performance conditions based uperiroup’s judgment of likely future performancel anay be adjusted in future periods
depending on actual performance. The Group estahthtegrant date fair value of the awards with raadonditions using a Monte Carlo
simulation. Compensation expenses for the awarttsmarket conditions are recognized during the isstguservice period, even if the market
condition is never satisfied. The significant asptions of the Monte Carlo simulation are the foliog:
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2012
Expected dividends —

Risk-free interest rat 0.2%%
Expected volatility 48.41%

The following table summarized the Group’s nonvestsstricted stock activity in 2012.

Weighted averagt

Number of
restricted grant date
stocks fair value
Us$

Nonvested restricted stocks outstanding at Janl&2912 571,82! 417
Grantec 2,554,40! 2.92
Forfeited (92,189 4.07
Nonvested restricted stocks outstanding at DeceBihe2012 3,034,04. 3.1z

As of December 31, 2012, there was RMB45,160 ircognized compensation cost, net of estimatediforés, related to unvested
restricted stocks, which is expected to be recaghwer a weighted-average period of 3.31 years.

The total fair value of nonvested restricted stogksted in 2012 was nil.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation aiz and diluted earnings per share for the yealisated:

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
Net income attributable to ordinary sharehol— basic 207,81 114,83. 174,88
Amounts allocated to preferred shares for parttgigarights to

dividends 7,937 — —
Net income attributable to ordinary sharehol— diluted 215,75 114,83: 174,88
Weighted average ordinary shares outstan— basic 198,517,28 241,928,28 243,284,33
Incremental weighted-average ordinary shares fresnraed

exercise of share options and nonvested restratterks using

the treasury stock meths 6,201,30: 4,252 911 3,696,66!
Preferred share 29,762,31 — —
Weighted average ordinary shares outstan— diluted 234,480,89 246,181,20 246,981,00
Basic earnings per she 1.0t 0.47 0.72
Diluted earnings per sha 0.92 0.47 0.71
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For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 ar®) #8.Group had securities which could potentidilyte basic earnings per shart
the future, but which were excluded from the corapat of diluted earnings per share as their effeciuld have been anti-dilutive. Such
outstanding securities consist of the following:

Year Ended December 31
2011 2012

1,486,53 797,98:

Outstanding employee options and nonvested resdritiocks

N
| |2
=
o

14. INCOME TAXES
Cayman Islands
Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, th@any is not subject to tax on income or capiééhg

Hong Kong

China Lodging Holdings (HK) Limited and Starway ldtst (Hong Kong) Limited are subject to Hong Kongfjirtax at a rate of 16.5%
2010, 2011 and 2012. No Hong Kong profit tax haanbgrovided as the Group has not had assessalfitetipad was earned in or derived from
Hong Kong during the years presented.

Singapore

China Lodging Holdings Singapore Pte. Ltd. is sabje Singapore corporate income tax at a rate/éé in 2010, 2011 and 2012. No
Singapore profit tax has been provided as the Ghagmot had assessable profit that was earneddierived from Singapore during the years
presented.

PRC

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of Chinggmterprise Income Tax (“EIT Law”), which was effeet from January 1, 2008,
domestically-owned enterprises and foreign-investaérprises are subject to a uniform tax rate5862

Hanting Technology (Suzhou) Co., Ltd, as a recagmheoftware development entity located at Suzhdudtrial Park in Suzhou of PRC,
is entitled to a two-year exemption and three-y###6 reduction starting from the first profit makipear after absorbing all prior years’ tax
losses. Hanting Suzhou has entered into the éirsptofitable year for the year ended DecembeB11.

Tax expense (benefit) is comprised of the following

As of December 31

2010 2011 2012
Current Tax 48,03¢ 60,53( 72,39¢
Deferred Ta 9,22¢ (35,719 (18,226)
Total 57,26: 24,81¢ 54,16¢
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A reconciliation between the effective income taterand the PRC statutory income tax rate is &l

Year Ended December 31
2010 2011 2012

PRC statutory tax rate 25% 25% 25%
Tax effect of other expenses that are not dedectibtietermining taxable pro — 3% 3%

Effect of different tax rate of group entities ogmg in other jurisdiction 2% )% 1%
Effect of change in valuation allowan (1)% 9% 6%
Effect of tax holiday — A% (12%
Other _(M)% — —

Effective tax rate _21% _17% _23%

The aggregate amount and per share effect of xheoladays are as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
Aggregate amount — 24,15¢ 28,13¢
Per share effe— basic — 0.1C 0.1Z
Per share effe— diluted == 0.1C 0.11

The principal components of the Group’s deferreme tax assets and liabilities as of Decembe2@1] and 2012 are as follows:

As of December 31

2011 2012
Deferred tax assets
Net loss carryforwar 59,34( 71,56¢
Pre-opening expense 76¢ 1,40t
Deferred revenu 25,997 37,68¢
Deferred ren 4,02t 4,20(
Unfavorable leas 68t 2,70¢
Bad debt provisiol 361 79€
Accrual for customer loyalty progra 1,907 3,241
Accrued payrol 2,092 3,24¢
Sharebased compensatic 7,46¢ 10,42
Others — 19¢
Valuation allowanct (21,557 (36,287)
Total deferred tax asse 81,081 99,17¢
Deferred tax liabilities:
Favorable leas 10,52¢ 18,67(
Capitalized interes 2,151 1,83¢
Others — 1,82¢
Total deferred tax liabilitie 12,67; 22,33t
Deferred tax assets are analyzed a
Current 40,11¢ 44,231
Non-Current 40,96¢ 54,94
81,081 99,17¢
Deferred tax liabilities are analyzed as
Current — —
Non-current 12,67 22,33t
12,67 22,33t
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For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 201&tiad allowance of RMB17,350 and RMB18,792 was/jated, respectively, and
RMB4,045 and RMB5,658 was reversed due to utilimatf the deferred tax assets, respectively. Foyé&ar ended December 31, 2012, an
additional valuation allowance of RMB1,597 was pded due to the acquisition of Starway. The Groopsiders positive and negative
evidence to determine whether some portion orfati@deferred tax assets will more likely than betrealized. This assessment considers,
among other matters, the nature, frequency andisgeérecent losses, forecasts of future profiigh the duration of statutory carryforward
periods, the Group’s experience with tax attribeegiring unused and tax planning alternativesus@bn allowances have been established
for deferred tax assets based on a more likely tioathreshold. The Group’s ability to realize dedd tax assets depends on its ability to
generate sufficient taxable income within the clamyard periods provided for in the tax law.

As of December 31, 2012, the Group had tax losyfmawards of RMB286,256 which will expire betwe2d13 and 2017 if not used.

The Group determines whether or not a tax positidmore-likely-than-not” of being sustained uparda based solely on the technical
merits of the position. At December 31, 2010, 28hd 2012, the Group had recorded uncertain taxfite o0& approximately RMB799,
RMB1,494 and RMB4,148 associated with the intereststercompany loans, respectively. No interegiemalty expense was recorded for
years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012. fidww@oes not anticipate any significant changets ticability for unrecognized ta
benefits within the next 12 months.

The following table is a roll-forward of the unrepozed tax benefits:

As of December 31

2010 2011 2012
Balance at January 1 — 79¢ 1,49¢
Addition for tax position: 79¢ 69¢ 2,654
Balance at December . 79¢ 1,49¢ 4,14¢

In accordance with the EIT Law, dividends, whiclsarfrom profits of foreign invested enterpriseSIEs”) earned after January 1, 2008,
are subject to a 10% withholding income tax. A low&hholding tax rate may be applied if there i&@orable tax treaty between mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign holdirgmpany. For example, holding companies in Hong Kibiag) are also tax residents in Hong
Kong are eligible for a 5% withholding tax on digitds under the Tax Memorandum between China anddhg Kong Special Administrati
Region if the holding company is the beneficial ewof the dividends. Under applicable accountiriggiples, a deferred tax liability should
recorded for taxable temporary differences atteblé to the excess of financial reporting basig tae basis in a domestic subsidiary. The
Group intends to indefinitely reinvest the undtstited earnings of the Group’s PRC subsidiariesethees, no provision for PRC dividend
withholding tax was provided.

According to the PRC Tax Administration and ColiectLaw, the statute of limitations is three yeiithe underpayment of income ta
is due to computational errors made by the taxpayes statute of limitations will be extended teefiyears under special circumstances, whicl
are not clearly defined, but an underpayment adrime tax liability exceeding RMB100 is specificdlilgted as a special circumstance. In the
case of a transfer pricing related adjustmentsthtute of limitations is ten years. There is raige of limitations in the case of tax evasion.
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries are therefore sulbjeexamination by the PRC tax authorities from 2808ugh 2012 on non-transfer pricing
matters, and from the inception of the Group thto§12 on transfer pricing matters.
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15. MAINLAND CHINA CONTRIBUTION PLAN

Full time employees of the Group in the PRC pagéité in a government-mandated defined contribyilan pursuant to which certain
pension benefits, medical care, unemployment ima&raemployee housing fund and other welfare benafe provided to employees. PRC
labor regulations require the Group to accrueliesé benefits based on a certain percentage ehtptyees’ salaries. The total contribution
for such employee benefits were RMB29,611, RMB5%,28d RMB 93,178 for the years ended December@l),2011 and 2012,
respectively. The Group has no ongoing obligatmitst employees subsequent to its contributiorieed®RC plan.

16. RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Pursuant to laws applicable to entities incorpatatethe PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group inRRE must make appropriations from
after-tax profit to non-distributable reserve fun@leese reserve funds include one or more of thewing: (i) a general reserve, (ii) an
enterprise expansion fund and (iii) a staff bormud welfare fund. Subject to certain cumulative tanthe general reserve fund requires annua
appropriation of 10% of after tax profit (as detered under accounting principles generally acceptebde PRC at each year-end) until the
accumulative amount of such reserve fund reach#sdiQheir registered capital; the other fund appiations are at the subsidiaries’
discretion. These reserve funds can only be usespfecific purposes of offsetting future lossesemrise expansion and staff bonus and
welfare and are not distributable as cash dividemdsamounted to RMB11,186, RMB26,915 and RMB 48 &2 of December 31 2010, 2011
and 2012, respectively. In addition, due to resitnits on the distribution of share capital from @empany’s PRC subsidiaries, the PRC
subsidiaries share capital of RMB2,044,579 at Ddmar1, 2012 is considered restricted. As a reduliese PRC laws and regulations, as of
December 31, 2012, approximately RMB 2,094,20%tsavailable for distribution to the Company byRRC subsidiaries in the form of
dividends, loans or advances.

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Parties are considered to be related if one pasytie ability, directly or indirectly, to contritle other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party in making finaneat operational decisions. Parties are also comgide be related if they are subject to
common control or common significant influence. &etl parties may be individuals or corporate eiti

The following entities are considered to be relgiadies to the Group because they are affiliateéseoGroup under the common control
of the Group’s major shareholder. The related paminly act as service providers and lessors tGthap and there is no other relationship
wherein the Group has the ability to exercise $iggmt influence over the operating and financialiges of these parties. The Group is not
obligated to provide any type of financial supgorthese related parties.

Related Party Nature of the Party Relationship with the Group
Lishan Property (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (“Suzhou Commercial leasing business Controlled by Qi Ji
Propert)
Ctrip.com International, Ltd“Ctrip.con™) Online travel services provid Qi Jiis a directo
UB(OX Igterr)wational Holdings Co Limited Merchandize trader Qi Ji is a director
“UBOX”

In August 2011, Mr. Qi Ji sold all the ownershipeirests in Powerhill to third parties and sincentRewerhill and its wholly owned
subsidiary Suzhou Property has been no longeterkfzdrty to the Group.

(a) Related party balances

Amounts due to related parties were comprised ofrassions payable to Ctrip for reservation servidé® amounts due to related
parties were interest free and payable upon demand.
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At December 31,
2011 2012

Ctrip.com 1,03( 801

(b) Related party transactions
During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2012@h8, related party transactions consisted ofaHewing:

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012
Rental expense — Suzhou Property 3,64( 2,27¢ —
Commission expens«— Ctrip.com 9,45¢ 7,96: 10,94

In March 2010, the Group issued 7,202,482 ordishares at the price equal to the IPO price penargishare for the total proceeds of
RMB150,572 (US$22,058) to Ctrip.com.

In May 2012, the Group acquired a 51% equity irdeod Starway Hotels (Hong Kong) Limited from C-VehInternational Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Ctrip. The acquisitiorigge was RMB17,292 in cash.

In December 2012, the Group purchased convertitgmigsory note of RMB8,074 (US$1,284) from UBOX.

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Operating lease commitments
The Group has entered into lease agreements faircéiotels which it operates. Such leases arsifiles as operating leases.

Future minimum lease payments under non-canceltgi#eating lease agreements at December 31, 20Easdollows:

Year ending December 31

2013 1,198,87.
2014 1,321,99;
2015 1,358,882
2016 1,343,87.
2017 1,322,33
Thereaftel 8,771,55
Total 15,317,46

(b) Purchase Commitments
As of December 31, 2012, the Group’s commitmeritted to leasehold improvements and installatioacufipment for hotel operations
was RMB81,686, which is expected to be incurredhiwibne year.

(c) Contingencies
The Group is subject to periodic legal or admiiste proceedings in the ordinary course of ouiress. The Group does not believe
that any currently pending legal or administrafiveceeding to which the Group is a party will hawmaterial adverse effect on the business «

financial condition.
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As of December 31

2011 2012 2012
uss$
(Note 2)

Assets
Current asset:

Cash and cash equivalel 45,06¢ 22,95 3,68¢

Other current asse 1,01¢ 3,37¢ 54z

Total current asse 46,08 26,327 4,22¢
Other asset 62¢ 471 76
Investment in subsidiarie 2,204,25: 2,442,559 392,06
Total asset 2,250,96' 2,469,39" 396,36t
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities:

Deferred revenu 1,50( 1,49¢ 24C

Accrued expenses and other current liabili — 84C 13€

Total current liabilities 1,50( 2,33¢ 37¢€
Deferred revenu 3,37¢ 1,87( 30C
Total liabilities 4,87¢ 4,20¢ 67€
Equity:

Ordinary shares (US$0.0001 par value per shar@0800,000 shares authorized; 242,604,22:

244,494,095 shares issued and outstanding as efnil®r 31, 2011 and 2012, respectivi 17¢ 18C 28
Additional paic-in capital 2,199,95. 2,243,40. 360,09:
Retained earning 85,12} 260,01 41,73¢
Accumulated other comprehensive | (39,16¢) (38,409 (6,165

Total equity 2,246,09. 2,465,18 395,69(
Total liabilities and equit 2,250,96! 2,469,39! 396,36t
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Operating costs and expens

Selling and marketing expens

General and administrative expen

Total operating costs and expen

Loss from operation

Interest incomt

Foreign exchange gain (los

Other income

Income in investment in subsidiari

Net income attributable to ordinary share holc

Other comprehensive incor
Foreign currency translation adjustme

Comprehensive incorr

ENTS SCHEDULE |

Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012 2012
Us$
(Note 2)
157 157 157 25
13,48t 16,44 24,90 3,99¢
13,64 16,60 25,05¢ 4,021
(13,647 (16,609 (25,059 (4,02))
81: 452 131 21
(547)  1,08¢ (142) (24)
3,02¢ 2,64¢ 2,20¢ 354
226,09¢ 127,24¢ 197,74t 31,74
215,75, 114,83: 174,88 28,07
(10,179 (16,46Y) 75€ 122
205,57¢ 98,36¢ 175,64' 28,19:
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Year Ended December 31

2010 2011 2012 2012
US$
(Note 2)
Operating activities:
Net income 215,75. 114,83. 174,88  28,07:
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashl useperating activities
Shar+-based compensatic 13,11 15,48: 20,83’ 3,34¢
Income in investment in subsidiari (226,099 (127,249) (197,749 (31,74)
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Deferred revenu 6,70( (1,82%) (1,509¢) (242)
Other current asse (18,58) 12,26¢ (2,417) (38¢)
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 15 (81¢) 84C 13E
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi (9,109 12,69: (5,109 (820
Investing activities:
Collection from amount due from subsidiar 13,65« — — —
Investment in subsidiarie (979,345 — (35,227 (5,659
Net cash used in investing activiti (965,69) — (35,227) (5,659
Financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance ordinary shi 959,10 — — —
Ordinary share issuance costs, net of existingesivdder reimbursemen 3,93( — — —
Net proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares egercise of optiol 41,12¢ 7,28¢ 18,52( 2,97
Net proceeds from exercise of warra 17,87 — — —
Net cash provided by financing activiti 1,022,03. 7,28¢ 18,52( 2,97
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casbaémts (16,189 (14,806 (30%) (49)
Net increase in cash and cash equival 31,05 5,171 (22,116 (3,550
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning ofdhe 8,84 39,89¢ 45,06¢ 7,23¢
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 39,89¢ 45,06¢ 22,95: 3,68¢
Supplemental schedule of r-cash investing and financing activiti¢
Payment of ordinary share issuance costs throduliatiobn of prepayment and amount
included in payable 7,614 — — —
Issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise of apfi@m subscription depos 1,217 — — —
Issuance warrant for acquisition of noncontrollintgrest 7,067 — — —
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares uportieresf option included in receivak — 49¢ 29C 47

The accompanying notes are an integral part obthessolidated financial statements
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Note to Schedule |

Schedule | has been provided pursuant to the remeints of Rule 12-04(a) and 5-04-(c) of RegulaBex, which require condensed
financial information as to the financial positia@mange in financial position and results of ogeret of a parent company as of the same date
and for the same periods for which audited conatdid financial statements have been presented thikaestricted net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries exceed 25 percent of consolidatedsssits as of the end of the most recently compfistesl year.

The condensed financial information has been pegpasing the same accounting policies as set dhkiaccompanying consolidated
financial statements except that the equity mettasibeen used to account for investments in itsidiaiies.

Certain information and footnote disclosures nolyniakcluded in financial statements prepared inoadance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Amenaae been condensed or omitted. The footnote diseds contain supplemental information
relating to the operations of the Company anduabk,ghese statements should be read in conjungitbrthe notes to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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This financial information has been prepared infeomity with accounting principles generally acagghin the United States.

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance a Charge tc

Charge Balance a
Beginning Costs anc Addition Taken
due to Against end of
of Year Expense: acquisition Allowance Write off Year

(Renminbi in thousands)
Allowance for doubtful accounts of accounts reckiga and other

receivables

December 31, 201 2,17¢ 10z — — — 2,27¢
December 31, 201 2,27¢ 667 — — — 2,94¢
December 31, 201 2,94t 1,23¢ — — (1,000 3,18:
Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass

December 31, 201 11,86: 3,85¢ — (7,477 — 8,24
December 31, 201 8,24 17,35( — (4,045 — 21,55
December 31, 201 21,55: 18,79: 1,597 (5,65¢) — 36,28:

*kkkkk
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Exhibit 1.2
Amendment to the Amended and Restated ArticlesssbAiation
of China Lodging Group, Limite#
By adding the following Section 86(1B) immediatelger the existing Section 86(1A):

“86(1B) (i) For so long as Winner Crown Holdggimited (“Winner Crown”), together with its affiites as defined in Rule 405 under the
U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, contibmé®ld at least 25% of the Company’s outstandiminary shares:

(@)

Winner Crown shall have the right to appoind t{#) Directors to the Board (each a “Winner Crddirector” and, collectively, the
“Winner Crown Director”);

(b) The Winner Crown Directors may only be removedemiaiced by Winner Crown; a1
(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, any person nomindtgdVinner Crown to serve as the Winner Crown Ooemust be accepted |
a majority of the Board, in their reasonable disore before such nomination becomes effect

(i) Any amendment or revocation of this Articl6(@@B) shall require the prior written consent ofiér Crown as long as Winner
Crown has the right to appoint any Winner Crownebfor according to this Article 86(1B).”

! A copy of the Amended and Restated Articles of Aggton of China Lodging Group, Limited was filed Bxhibit 3.2 to the Company’s

registration statement on Form F-1/A (File No. 3%%247), filed with the SEC on March 12, 2010slavailable in the SEC’'s EDGAR
database ¢http://www.sec.gov/edgar/searchedgar/companysehficih.



Exhibit 4.8
2012 Version2
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.
Shanghai Branch
Credit Agreement

(Applicable to shared credit)



Credit Agreement
(Applicable to shared credit)

No.:
1. Party A (credit grantor): refer to Article 15this contract
2. Party B (individual name or collective nameldd tredit applicant): refer to Article 15 of thisntract

Upon Party B’s application, Party A agrees to pdeviredit line to Party B for the use by Partymatcordance with the provisions of related
laws, Party A and Party B hereby sign this agre¢mpan agreement on the following articles throfighconsultation.

Avrticle 1 Credit line
Refer to Article 16 of this contract.

Article 2 Credit period
Refer to Article 17 of this contract.

Article 3 Use of the credit line
3.1 Type and scope of line

Refer to Article 18 of this contract.

3.2 Within the credit period, Party B can cycligalise the revolving credit line, whereas the offeeredit line cannot be used cyclically. To |
the credit line, Party B shall make applicationdrstallment, with the review and approval of Paktgccordingly. The two parties may
separately sign specific transaction contracts @dliencluded), agreement, or the applicationffelated transactions submitted to Party A by
Party B and approved by Party A, in order to spyettié amount, time limit, specific purpose of thiedit and other credit each time.

Under domestic factoring without recourse, the ‘ibbf Transfer of the creditor’s Right to AccouRsceivable” issued by Party A shall be
claimed by Party B in ways as accepted by Partihén it is regarded that the two parties have aated a “specific transaction contract”.

3.3 The specific time of using each installmenipai or of other credits within the credit line Bl determined by Party B’s business needs
and Party A’s business management regulationsthenexpiration date of each specific transactioy blater than the expiration date of the
credit period.

Article 4 Interest and expenses

The interest of the loans and funds within the bheredit, and expenses charged for corresportdimgaction shall be determined in
accordance with the terms of specific contracts.

Article 5 Warranty clause
Refer to Article 19 of this contract.

5.3 Under this agreement, the credit applicantawfyPB shall be the guarantor of joint and sevkailities for all the debts owed to Party A
the credi-sharing applicants of Party B, who shall issuettedef commitment and an irrevocable letter ofrquéee to Party A



Article 6 Rights and obligations of Party B
6.1 Party B is entitled to the following rights:

6.1.1 Party B has the right to request Party Artayvigle loans or other credits within the creditlim accordance with the terms and conditions
of this agreement;

6.1.2 Party B has the right to use the creditdis@greed in this agreement;

6.1.3 Party B has the right to request Party Adegkconfidential the information of production, cgi@n, property and accounts provided by
Party B, unless stipulated otherwise by laws agdlegions or required otherwise by the regulatasglibs;

6.1.4 Party B has the right to transfer the delat tioird party upon the approval of Party A.
6.2 Party B assumes the following obligations:

6.2.1 Party B shall truthfully provide the docuntergquested by Party A (including but not limiteddithful financial statements, annual
financial reports, major decisions and changesrodyztion, operation and management accordingeidrdguency requested by Party A) and
the information about Party B’s bank, account nunarel balances of deposits and loans to Party dshall cooperate in the investigation,
inspection, and review of Party A;

6.2.2 Party B shall be subject to the supervisioRasty A in respect of the use of credit fund, agldted production, operation and financial
activities;

6.2.3 Party B shall use the loans and/or otheritsradaccordance with the purpose designated awcdfmmitted in this agreement and any
other individual contracts;

6.2.4 Party B shall repay the principals and irgeoé the loans, advances and other credits ondimdein full in accordance with the terms and
conditions of this agreement and any other indialdwontracts;

6.2.5 Party B can only transfers part or wholehef debts under this agreement to a third partyewutied written approval of Party A;

6.2.6 Party B shall notify Party A immediately white following conditions occur, and cooperate viatirty A in implementing the repayment-
ensuring measures in relation to the loans, adw@eel other credits with both principals and iegéras well as all accompanied expenses:

6.2.6.1 Significant financial loss, assets losetber financial crisis occurs to Party B;
6.2.6.2 Party B provides loans or warranties toira tparty, or collateralize its own property aghits for mortgage or pledge;

6.2.6.3 Matters of change occur to Party B, suamager (acquisition), demergers, reorganizatioinj venture (cooperation), transfer of
ownership of assets (stock), joint-stock reform aaan;

6.2.6.4 Following situations occur to Party B, cias business license withdrawal or deregistratiplying for or being applied for
bankruptcy, dissolution 6.2.6.5 Significant opeyadil or financial crisis occur in controlling shoéders and other related companies of Party
B, which affects its normal operation;

6.2.6.6 Significant related party transactions odmtween Party B and its controlling shareholadenslated companies, which affect its nor
operation;

6.2.6.7 Any significant lawsuits, arbitration, ciimal or administrative punishment of Party B, whattversely affect its operation and assets
situation;

6.2.6.8 The occurrence of other significant everfikch may affect Party 's solvency



6.2.7 Party B shall not neglect to manage and cfainits due credit, or dispose of its existing argjroperty free of charge or in other
inappropriate ways.

6.3 If Party B is a group corporate, Party B shidb comply with the following terms

6.3.1 Upon the occurrence of a related transagtitose amount accounts for more than 10% of itasstets, Party B shall notify Party A
within 5 working days after its occurrence, andugaghat the content of the notice is completeaswlirate. The items of the notice include:

6.3.1.1 The relationship among all the transagbadies;

6.3.1.2 The items and nature of each transaction;

6.3.1.3 Amount or corresponding proportion of elahsaction;

6.3.1.4 Pricing policies (including transactionshano amount or only hominal amount).

6.3.2 Party B must obtain the written approval aft? A in advance in the event of transfer of egoit major assets. The transfer of major
assets refers to that the assets sold accountsoi@ than 20% of Party B’s total assets in thestadedit or the related profits of the assets sold
account for more than 20% of the profits of PartinBhe latest audit.

6.3.3 Party B shall not make use of false contradts related parties, or receipts, accounts reddesand other creditor’s claims without
trading background to do business with Party Ahsagnote discount, factoring, pledge, L/C, fonfigjt etc.

6.3.4 Party B shall not use related transactionstemtionally damage or evade the creditor’'s ckaon Party A.

Related party transaction refers to the transfeesdurces or obligations among related partiggrddess of whether charged or not. Related
party refers to that, during enterprise finance aperation decision-making, if one party is ablelirectly or indirectly control, jointly control
the other party or impose significant influencetlom other party, then they are regarded as refmgiks; if two parties or multiple parties are
controlled by the same party, then they are alkta@ parties; both parties agree that the sped#fimition of the related party shall be set by
Party A.

The term Group as mentioned in this agreementgédea legal entity group with direct or indireantrol, being-controlled relationships, or a
legal entity group with substantial material rigkationships (such as being jointly controlled kihiad party, the existence of other connecti
which may lead to the transfer of assets and prdéiant from the principle of fair value). Thentlling relationship means the relationship
where, one party has substantial control or exsgtsificant influence on the operating decisioraqital operation, and the appointment of
senior management of the other party. The pareseathat, Party A’s definition of whether the gartbncerned is a member of the group shal
prevail.

Article 7 Rights and obligations of Party A
7.1 Party A is entitled to the following rights:

7.1.1 Party A has the right to request Party Befmay, on time and in full, the principal and instref the loans, advances, and other credits
under this agreement and other specific contracts;

7.1.2 Party A has the right to request Party Brayiole the documents related to its use of theitliee;
7.1.3 Party A has the right to know about the potidn, operating and financial activities of PaBty

7.1.4 Party A has the right to supervise whethetyFause the loans and/or other credit in accocdamith the agreed purposes of this
agreement and other specific contra



7.1.5 After accepting Party B’s application for opey an L/C, Party A has the right to entrust arotiranch institution of China Merchants
Bank Co., Ltd. in the location of beneficiariesojgen a back-to-back L/C to the beneficiaries irbadance with the needs of its internal
process;

7.1.6 Party A has the right to directly debit frtime bank accounts of Party B to repay the debBadfy B under this agreement and other
specific contracts;

7.1.7 Party A has the right to transfer the cretitolaim on Party B, and adopt any ways deemegppsopriate by Party A, including but not
limited to faxing, mailing, delivering by hand, auncement on mass media, to notify Party B of thesfer and to urge Party B to make
repayment.

7.1.8 Other rights specified in this agreement.
7.2 Party A assumes the following obligations:

7.2.1 Party A shall provide loans and other credithin the credit line to Party B in accordancehathe terms and conditions of this agreen
and other specific contracts;

7.2.2 Party A shall keep confidential the inforroatof assets, finance, production, and operatidanty B, unless stipulated otherwise by i
and regulations or required otherwise by the regafeauthorities.

Article 8 Party B’s special warranty of the following issues

8.1 Party B is a legal-person entity which is inmoated formally in accordance with laws of the PR has full capacity for civil conduct to
sign and fulfill this agreement;

8.2 Party B is fully authorized by its board ofetitors or any other competent authorities to sighfalfill this agreement;

8.3 Party B shall ensure that the documents, filed,vouchers related to Party B, any warrantortgagor (pledgor), and collateral are
authentic, accurate, complete and valid withoutemialt mistakes inconsistent with the facts or théssion of any material fact;

8.4 Party B shall strictly comply with the termsdaronditions of each specific contract, lettersahmitment on opening a L/C, trust receipts,
and other related documents issued to Party A.

8.5 Party B shall ensure that it does not havevdtdot have any lawsuit, arbitration, criminalrgdty or administrative penalty which may
have significant adverse impact on Party B or tladnrproperty of Party B at the time of signing aluling the execution of this agreement. If
any of the above-mentioned events occur, Partyal abtify Party A immediately.

8.6 Party B shall strictly comply with national lsvand regulations in its operating activities, gaut businesses in strict accordance with the
scope of business specified in the business licenkgal authorization, and perform annual regtgin and inspection on time.

8.7 Party B shall keep or improve its current ofiegeand managing standard, ensure the preservatidrmppreciation of the existing assets
not forego any due claims, and do not disposeefithin existing property free of charge or in atheoinappropriate ways;

8.8 Without the permission of Party A, Party Bashidden to prepay any other long-term debt andrsth(refer to Article 20 of this contract).

8.9 When signing this agreement, there does net arly other matters which will affect Party B'sligpto fulfill its obligations under this
agreement



Article 9 Other expenses

In the case of notarization (not including compuysaotarization), and other services provided lilyiad party under entrustment, the related
expenses shall be covered by the entrusting partis@wn. If the two parties are jointly the erstting parties, then each party shall bear 50%.

Party B shall bear all the expenses incurred byyPafor the realization of the creditor’'s claim$ian Party B cannot repay the debts owed to
Party A under this agreement on time, which incliadeyer fees, filing fees, travelling expense, ammement fees, fees of service and so on.
Party A is authorized by Party B to directly dehi¢ above-mentioned expenses from the bank accofiRty B. In the case of a shortfall,
Party B assures full payment after receiving PArsynotice, where Party A is not required to pravihy proof.

Article 10 Event of default and its settlement
10.1 The occurrence of any of the following circtamees shall be deemed as a default if Party B:

10.1.1 Defaults on the obligations specified uniieicle 6.2.1, provides fraudulent information @mnceals real status of important matters to
Party A, or fails to cooperate with Party A in istigation, review, or inspection;

10.1.2 Defaults on the obligations specified uniieicle 6.2.2, rejects or evades Party A’s supéovin the use of the credit capital within the
credit line and on related production, operating fimancial activities;

10.1.3 Defaults on the obligations specified uniticle 6.2.3, does not use the loans and/or athexdlit as agreed in this agreement and each
other specific contract;

10.1.4 Defaults on the obligations specified uniiticle 6.2.4, does not repay the principal an@iiest of the loans, advances or other credit
debts in a timely manner or in full amount as adrieethis agreement and/or each other specificraoft

10.1.5 Defaults on the obligations specified unieicle 6.2.5, and transfers the debt under thie@ment to a third party without the approval
of Party A; or defaults on the obligations spedifiender Article 6.2.7, and neglect to manage andurse of the due creditor’s claims, or
dispose of its existing major properties free adrge or in other inappropriate ways;

10.1.6 Defaults on the obligations specified urilticle 6.2.6, and does not notify Party A in adiljpmanner in the case of the circumstances
specified in the Article 6.2.6, or provides no cemgiion when Party A demands enhanced securityuressf debt repayment under the
agreement when Party A is informed of the occuresfcsuch circumstances to Party B, or Party A iclens it less probable to collect the
principal and interest of the credit herein;

10.1.7 Defaults on the obligations specified uniieicle 6.3.1, and does not notify the related paransaction of more than 10% of its net
assets in a timely, complete, accurate mannerptisfan the obligations specified under Article.8,3and does not obtain the written conse
Party A in advance before conducting the equitydfer or the sales of material assets; defaulth@mwbligations specified under Article 6.3.3,
and makes use of false contracts or notes, accoeggs/able and other creditor’s claims without teeding background with related parties to
do related business with Party A; defaults on thiggations specified under Article 6.3.3, and Pa&tgnakes use of related party transactions t
intentionally undermine or evade Party A’s credgaight; if Party B is a corporate group, the dédfaf any member enterprises of Party B or
of the group where Party B is affiliated to anyditer shall be deemed as the default by Party B;

10.1.8 Defaults on the provisions of Articles 81, 8.5, or defaults on the provisions of Artic83, 8.4, 8.6, 8.7, 8.8, 8.9, and makes no
prompt rectification as requested by Party



10.1.9 The occurrence of other circumstances tady A deems doing harm to Party A’s legal righisl interests, such as the default of
specific circumstances; (refer to Article 21 ofstihbntract)

10.2 When one of the following circumstances octoithie guarantor, Party A considers that it mdgaifthe guaranty ability of the guarantor
and asks the guarantor to eliminate the negatfigeince caused thereby, or asks Party B to adehgehthe guaranty conditions, it is deeme
default when the guarantor or Party B fail to dp so

10.2.1 The occurrence of the circumstance similame of those described in Article 6.2.6 of ttgse@ment;

10.2.2 Concealment of one’s actual capacity foumasg the guaranty obligation when issuing theviomable letter of guarantee, or failure to
obtain the authorization of the competent authprity

10.2.3 Failure to handle the formalities of anrinapection and registration in a timely manner;
10.2.4 Negligence to manage or claim for its dwelity or disposing of the existing material aséets of charge or in other inappropriate ways

10.3 Where one of the following circumstances ogtarthe mortgagor (pledgor), Party A, holding tihatay cause nullification of the
mortgage (or pledge) or insufficient value of tllateral (or pledged objects), asks the mortgdgopledgor) to eliminate the negative
influence caused thereby, or asks Party B to dulh@e the guaranty conditions, it is deemed asuttéfahe guarantor (or pledgor) and Part
fail to do so;

10.3.1 Having no ownership or right of disposakiom collateral (or the pledged objects), or the enship is in dispute;

10.3.2 Where the circumstances of beingrent oatedeup, detained, monitored, or the existencegsillpriority (including but not limited to
the priority of payment for construction projectear to the collateral (or pledged objects), antlierconcealment of the occurrence of such
circumstances;

10.3.3 Without the written consent of Party A, thertgagor transfers, rents, re-mortgages or digpokthe collateral in any other
inappropriate ways, or even with the written consdrParty A, but does not repay the debts oweay A by Party B with the income of
disposing of the collateral according to Party éguirements;

10.3.4 The mortgagor fails to properly store, maimind repair the collateral, which leads to digant devaluation of the collateral; or the ¢
of the mortgagor which directly endanger the celialtand lead to reduced value of the collaterathe mortgagor does not purchase insuranc
for the collateral as required by Party A withie tmortgage period.

10.4 Upon the occurrence of any default specifiedien Articles 10.1, 10.2, 10.3, Party A shall htheright to separately or simultaneously
take the following measures:

10.4.1 Reduce the credit line under this agreencerstispend the use of the remaining credit line;
10.4.2 Collect the principal and interest of thans issued and related expenses within the ciediahead of time;

10.4.3 For the bank draft accepted or the L/C (idicig back to back), letter of guarantee, delivgrgrantee, etc. opened by Party A within the
credit period, no matter whether Party A has mablaaces, Party A can ask Party B to do margin caflfransfer the deposit of the other
accounts opened by Party B in Party A’s to its sgcdeposit account as the security deposit ferrdipayment of Party A’s future advances
under this agreement, or give the money to a tartly escrow, as the security deposit for Par's future advances to Party



10.4.4 For Party A’s unpaid creditor’s claims te@ants receivable transferred from Party B wittotese under domestic factoring, export
factoring, Party A shall have the right to ask P&to immediately fulfill the obligations of re-pthase; for Party A’s creditor’s claim to
accounts receivable to Party B transferred underedtic factoring without recourse, export factoriRgrty A shall have the right to
immediately claim from Party B.

10.4.5 Party A can directly debit Party B’s settigrhaccount and/or other accounts, so as to rdpthealebts of Party B under this agreement
and each specific contract;

10.4.6 Party A can make claims according to theipions of Article 13 of this contract.

Article 11 Modification and dissolution of the agrement

The Agreement can be modified or dissolved aftachieng a consensus and a written agreement betedwo parties. This Agreement shall
remain valid prior to the conclusion of the writegreement. Any party shall not unilaterally modéynend or dissolve this agreement without
authorization.

Article 12 Other matters

12.1 During the life of this agreement, any graoaension or postponing of the execution of PartyiAterests or rights under this agreement
granted by Party A to any default or delay conduittg Party B shall not damage, affect, or limitta# rights and interests of Party A as a
creditor entitled by relevant laws and this agrestnand shall not be deemed as Party A’'s authdoizatr approval as to any event of default
committed by Party B, nor be deemed as Party Alsavaf right to take actions against any existimguture default.

12.2 In the event that this agreement or any dritisles become null and void for any reason,yPRrshall still have the responsibility to repay
all the debts owed to Party A under this agreeménder the above circumstances, Party A shall liaeeight to terminate this agreement and
promptly claim for the repayment of all the debiged by Party B under this agreement.

12.3 For both parties, the notice, request andr atbeuments related to this agreement shall beateld in written form.
Refer to Article 22 for the contact address of Partand Party B.

For the personal delivery, the notice shall be debas served when the addressee signs the wapthiirvise the date of rejection if the
addressee rejects); for the delivery by mail, thigce shall be deemed as served on the 7th daydsitieery; for the delivery by fax, the notice
shall be deemed as served after the fax systelreatteiver has accepted the fax.

For the notice to Party B regarding the transfehefcreditor’s right or dunning published by Paktpn mass media, it shall be deemed as
served on the date of announcement.

Any Party that changes the contact address shalytinotify the other party; otherwise the defangtParty shall bear the losses that might
occur thereby on its own.

12.4 The two Parties agree that for the applicadiocuments for businesses of trading and finandtagty B may affix on the documents the
specimen seal in accordance with the “Authorizatietier on the Specimen Seakovided to Party A, whose legal force shall beoggized by
both Parties



Article 13 Applicable law and dispute settlement

13.1 The conclusion, interpretation, and disputesrent of this agreement shall all be applicdblthe laws of the People’s Republic of
China, and the rights and interests of both pagiegrotected by the laws of the People’s Repuflichina.

13.2 Any dispute occurred during the performanchisfagreement shall be settled through friendlystiltation by the Parties; if the parties
cannot reach an agreement by consultation, then t@fArticle 23 of this contract.

13.3 If the two parties have had this agreementaaaydbther specific contracts notarized for compuyldegal enforcement, then party A may
apply for compulsory enforcement directly to a detgpcourt with jurisdiction for the recovery ofeliebt that party B owes under this
agreement and any other specific contracts.

Article 14 Validity of the agreement

This agreement shall come into effect upon sigiiamaaffixing of the personal seal) by the legalresentative/person in charge or the
authorized agent of Party A and Party B and afjxime official seal/special contract seal of th#,uand shall automatically become null and
void upon the expiration date of the credit peiodhe date when all the debts and all other rdlatg@enses that Party B owes to Party A unde
this agreement have been paid off (the later datieectwo shall prevail).

Part of the signed terms
No.: 2012 Jing Zi No. 2112081

Article 15 Contracting parties

Party A (credit grantor): China Merchants Bank QCad, Shanghai Jing’an Temple Sub-branch
Person in charge: Xu Xuehong

Party B (credit applicant): Han Ting Xingkong (Sbaai) Hotel Management Co., Ltd.
Legal representative/person in charge: He Hui

Credit-sharing applicant: Shanghai Han Ting Hotalnslgement Group, Ltd.

Legal representative/person in charge: He Hui

Credit-sharing applicant: Yiju (Shanghai) Hotel Mgement Co., Ltd.

Legal representative/person in charge: He Hui

Credit-sharing applicant:

Legal representative/person in charge:

Credit-sharing applicant:

Legal representative/person in charge:

The above credit applicant and cr-sharing applicants are individually or collectivegferred to a“Party E".



Avrticle 16 Credit line

1.1 Party A shall grant Party B a credit line amiingto RMB currency_300 millior{or equivalent amount of other currencies calcdlatéh
the exchange rate published by Party A on theqaati date when the specific transaction occurss He same hereinafter). Among which
(choose by ticking ¥ " hereinafter):

-Revolving credit line RMR:urrency 300 millioryuan;

-One-off credit line currency. / Yuan.

Revolving credit line means the maximum limit oé ttotal balance of the credit principals providedParty B By Party A during the credit
period that can be used continuously and cyclicallgluding loans, trade financing, note discougtiacceptance of commercial bills, letter of
guarantee, bank account overdraft, and domestiorfag, / , / , etc.

One-off credit line refers to that during the ctemiiriod Party B makes applications to Party Adeveral credit transactions by installment, the
accumulative amount of all the credit transactisinall not exceed the amount of one-off credit §pecified by this agreement. Party B shall
not cyclically use the one-off credit line, the i@aponding amount of several credit transactiopiieghfor by Party B will occupy the amount
of one-off credit line specified in this Articlentil it is accumulatively occupied in full.

“Trade Financing” includes opening L/C, import killivance, delivery guarantee, inward bill purchasger collection, packing credit, export
bill purchase, advance against documentary cafiecfinancing by import and export remittance, stterm financing by credit insurance,
import factoring, and export factoring(excludinghaecourse doubléctoring, and the aforesaid service in the sysiéfarty A, as is the sat
hereinafter), / , / and other types of transactions.

1.2 When Party A deals with transactions of imfactoring and non-recourse domestic factoring aitd Rarty B as payer, then creditor’s
claims of accounts receivable transferred to Partyom Party B in the transactions will occupy tilgove-mentioned credit line. When Party B
applies for transactions of recourse domestic famoor export factoring, then basic purchase f(urlerwriting fund) provided by Party A to
Party B in the transaction will occupy the aboventianed credit line.

1.3 When Party A entrusts other branches of Chieechints Bank Co., Ltd. to open a back to backrlett credit to the beneficiaries after
opening a L/C, in accordance with the regulationigsanternal process, then the opening of L/Qvadl as the import bill advance and delivery
guarantee under it will occupy the above-mentiocredit line;

1.4 The above-mentioned credit line does not il corresponding credit amounts of the secdaposit or the guarantee of deposit receir
pawn provided by Party B or a third party spedifimdividual transaction under this agreementsahé same hereinafter.

1.5 Party A and Party B had signed the No. __credit agreement, from the effective date of tigieament, any balance not repaid under
credit agreement, will be automatically includedtie credit line of this agreement, and directlgugay the credit line under this agreement (if
this Article is applicable, please tick* ”"in O ).

Article 17 Credit period

The credit period is 3fonths, from October 10, 201@ October 9, 2015Party B shall submit its application for use loé tredit line to Party
A within the credit period, and Party A will rejemy application for use of the credit line raibgdParty B after the expiration date of the cr
period, unless specified otherwise in this agredn




Article 18 Use of the credit line
3.1 Types and scope of credit line

The above-mentioned credit line is (choose one gntlos two alternatives, by ticking*  "):

3.1.1 General credit line, and the specific typegsamsactions include (fill in on the basis oft&c
Working capital loan Acceptance

Non-financing letter of guaranteedDomestic letter of credit

Meanwhile, Party B caffill in “can” or “cannot”) adjust the use of théave-mentioned credit line, and (make choice birig “ v/
below):

-All types of transactions can be used with adjestm

-Certain types of transactions can be used withshaient, thatis,  / ;

3.1.2 / single credit line.

Article 19 Warranty clause

5.1 Under this agreement, Shanghai HanTing Hotelddament Group, Ltd., Yiju (Shanghai) Hotel ManagetrCo., Ltdshall be the
guarantor of joint and several liabilities for e debts owed to Party A by Party B, who shallésan irrevocable letter of maximum amount
guarantee to Party A and/or __/ ;

5.2 All debts of Party B owed to Party A under thigeement, shall be mortgaged (pledged) with /
ownership and disposal by / , Where the two parties shall separately sign aagug agreement.

property with legal right of

Party A has the right to refuse to provide the itredParty B, if the guarantor fails to sign theaganty document or complete all the guaranty
procedures in accordance with the provision of dnigle.

Article 20 Party B specially guarantees the followig matters:
8.8 Without the permission of Party A, Party B shak pay off other long-term debts earlier thantcact, as well as / , /

Article 21 Breach of contract and penalties

10.1.9 The occurrence of other circumstances wiheréegal rights and interests of Party A are umtdieed as deemed by Party A, such as the
occurrence of the circumstances specified in Aetid.1, 24.2, 24.3

Article 22 Contact address
Party A’s contact address: No. 1700 West Beijin@dR&Ghanghai

Party B’s contact address: No. 2266 Honggiao R8adnghai

Article 23 Applicable law and dispute settlement

Any disputes between Party A and Party B that aeclin the course of fulfilling this agreement st settled by the two parties through
consultation. Where the consultation fails, eitparty may (choose one among the three alternatyescking “ v "):

13.2.1 Lodge a lawsuit to the pec’'s court in the location of Party ,



13.2.2 Apply for arbitration to / Arbitration Commission;
13.2.3 Submit to (for this option, choose one anibiegtwo alternatives, by ticking¥  7):
-China International Economic and Trade Arbitrat@ommission

-China International Economic and Trade Arbitrat©ommission / Sub-commission for arbitration in accordance whi t
arbitration rules on financial disputes.

Article 24

For the issues not covered or need to be alterddruhis agreement, Party A and Party B shall signpmplementary agreement in writing u
consensus through consultation, which, appendddesith individual contract of this agreement, cstesif the appendix of this agreement,
and constitutes an integral part of this agreement.

24.1 Party B confirms that, the line that can be@b/ used each year under this agreement onl\bearsed upon the approval of Party A.

24.2 Party B confirms that: Shanghai Han Ting HMahagement Group, Ltd., Yiju (Shanghai) Hotel Maggment Co., Ltd. can share the
credit under this agreement, each no more than B¥Biillion.

24.3 The purpose for the use of the capital untderagreement is limited to normal operation tugrov

Article 25 Supplementary provisions
This agreement is made._in fieepies, with Party A, Party Band _ / , __/ each holding one copy, which shall have the sag keffect.

Special Reminder:

The parties have carried out full consultation bnhe terms and conditions of this agreement. Béwek has invited the other parties to pay
special attention to related clauses on the exemati limitation of the bank’s responsibility, thailateral possession of certain rights by the
bank, and the extension of responsibility or restrn of the rights of the other parties, whichlsha completely, accurately understood. Upon
the request of the other parties, the bank has mamlesponding explanations on the

above-mentioned clauses. All the contracting patieve reached a completely consistent undersiqodithe terms and conditions of this
agreement



(This page is the signature page)

Party A: (Seal) China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. Sfh Jing’an Temple Sub-branch Person in chargaittrorized agent:
Xu Xuehong

(Signature/Personal seal):

Party B: (Seal) HanTing Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotelidgement Co., Ltd.;
Shanghai HanTing Hotel Management Group, Ltd.;
Yiju (Shanghai) Hotel Management Co., Ltd.;

Legal representative/ person in charge or authd&zgent:

(Signature/Personal seal): He Hui; He Hui; He Hui

Date of signing: September 25, 2012
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SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT
This SHARE PURCHASE AGREEMENT (thisAgreement”) dated as of March 12, 2012 by and among Chindgittg Holdings (HK)

Limited, a company limited by shares incorporateder the Laws of Hong Kong Buyer "), C-Travel International Limited, an exempted
company incorporated under the Laws of the Cayralamdls (“C-Travel " or “ Seller”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, STARWAY HOTELS (HONG KONG) LIMITED (the “@mpany”) is the sole registered shareholder of §hanWFOE
(defined below) which engages in the hotel managem ed operation business;

WHEREAS, C-Travel is a wholly-owned subsidiary dfif;
WHEREAS, C-Travel is the record and beneficial omofeehe Shares and the Additional Shares; and

WHEREAS, Seller desire to sell the Shares to Bayer grant to Buyer a right to purchase the Add&i@®hares, and Buyer desires to
purchase the Shares from Seller and be grantetgtiteby Seller to purchase the Additional Shatggn the terms and subject to the
conditions hereinafter set forth.

The parties hereto agree as follows:
ARTICLE 1
D EFINITIONS

Section 1.01 Definitions.(a) The following terms, as used herein, have diewing meanings:
“ Additional Shares” means 49% shares of Company Ordinary Shares.

“ Affiliate " means, with respect to any Person, any othemRaigectly or indirectly Controlling, Controlled/pbor under common
Control with such Persoprovidedthat neither the Company nor any Subsidiary steattdnsidered an Affiliate of Seller.

“ Applicable Exchange Raté’ means the average of the selling rate and busateyof the U.S. dollar as announced by the Pepflahk
of China on the 1Business day prior to the Cloghage.



“ Applicable Antitrust Laws " means any competition, merger control, antitarssimilar Applicable Law, including the Anti-Monoly
Law of the PRC.

“ Applicable Law " means, with respect to any Person, any transmatidomestic or foreign, federal, state or loea [statutory,
common or otherwise), constitution, treaty, coni@ntordinance, code, rule, regulation, order,migjion, judgment, decree, ruling or other
similar requirement enacted, adopted, promulgatexpplied by a Governmental Authority that is bimglupon or applicable to such Person, a
amended unless expressly specified otherwise.

“ Balance Sheet means the audited consolidated balance shebedCbompany and the Subsidiaries as of the Balaheet®ate.
“ Balance Sheet Daté means December 31, 2011.
“ Base Working Capital” means the amount of working capital which be rded on Balance Sheet.

“Business Day”means a day, other than Saturday, Sunday or o#tyeordwhich commercial banks in Hong Kong, BeijorgNew York
City are authorized or required by Applicable Lawnctose.

“ Closing Date” means the date of the Closing May 1, 2012.

“ Closing Working Capital " means (A) the sum of (i) cash and bank depo§ijsaccount receivables, (iii) prepayments and ¢ither
receivables, minu@B) the sum of (i) account payables, (ii) accruagrpll liabilities, (iii) taxes payable and (iv)twr payables of the Company
and the Subsidiaries as of close of business o@libeing Date, in each case, determined on a ciolased basis in accordance with GAAP.

“ Company Ordinary Shares” means the ordinary shares, par value HKD 0.0004pare, of the Company.

“ Consent” means any consent, approval, authorization, wapermit, grant, franchise, concession, agreentieetse, certificate,
exemption, order, registration, declaration, filingport or notice of, with or to any Person.

“ Consideration” means an amount equal to RMB 33,591,685.00.

“ Contract " means, with respect to any specified Person, ail Bgreements, indentures, letters of credit (dinturelated letter of crec
applications and reimbursement obligations), magégasecurity agreements, pledge agreements, de&dst, bonds, notes, guarantees, st
obligations,



warranties, licenses, franchises, permits, poweastorney, purchase orders, leases, and otheemgmts, contracts, instruments, obligations,
offers, commitments, arrangements and understasdimgtten or oral, to which the specified Persea party or by which it or any of its ass
or properties may be bound or affected.

“ Control ” when used with respect to any Person means tverpio direct the management and policies of swerkdn, directly or
indirectly, whether through the ownership of votsegurities, by contract or otherwise, and the ser@ontrolling ” and “ Controlled ” have
correlative meanings.

“ Covered Tax” means with respect to the transactions conterglaereunder, any and all PRC Taxes that are pagald result of the
application of PRC Circular 698 to such transactiand any and all PRC Taxes that are in the nafurapital gains levied on such
transactions.

“Ctrip” means Ctrip.com International, Ltd., an exemptedgany incorporated under the Laws of the Caymamds.

“Ctrip WOFE” means any WOFE invested directly or indirectly hiyifC

“ Equivalent Foreign Currency Amount” means, with respect to any amount in RMB, theieglant amount in any currency other than
RMB calculated at the average of the selling ratklauying rate of such currency as announced biP#uple’s Bank of China on the Business
Day immediately preceding the date of this Agreemen

“Effective date of the Agreement’means April 15, 2012.
“ GAAP " means generally accepted accounting principlébénUnited States.

“ Governmental Authority " means any transnational, domestic or foreign ff@detate or local governmental, regulatory, jisdior
administrative authority, department, court, agencgfficial, including any political subdivisioméreof.

“ Hong Kong” means the Hong Kong Special Administrative Regibthe People’s Republic of China.

“ Indebtedness’ means, with respect to any Person, without dagilim, (i) all obligations of such Person for bavesl money, or with
respect to deposits or advances of any kind, l{igkdigations of such Person evidenced by bondbgdtures, notes or similar instruments,
(iii) all obligations of such Person upon



which interest charges are customarily paid, (ivphligations of such Person under conditionaésal other title retention agreements relating
to any asset or property purchased by such Pepgoal) obligations of such Person issued or asslasethe deferred purchase price of assets
property or services, (vi) all lease obligationsoth Person capitalized on the books and recdrslsch Person, (vii) all obligations of other
Persons secured by a Lien on property or assetesdwamnacquired by such Person, whether or nothhgations secured thereby have been
assumed, (viii) all obligations of such Person undgrest rate, currency or commodity derivativefiedging transactions (valued at the
termination value thereof), (ix) all letters of diteor performance bonds issued for the accoustioh Person and (x) all guarantees and
arrangements having the economic effect of a gteeaof such Person of any Indebtedness of any Btson.

“ Intellectual Property Rights " means (i) inventions, whether or not patentatdduced to practice or made the subject of onearem
pending patent applications, (i) national and malkional statutory invention registrations, pasead patent applications (including all
reissues, divisions, continuations, continuationrgart, extensions and reexaminations thereofsteigd or applied for in the United States an
all other nations throughout the world, all imprments to the inventions disclosed in each suclsiradion, patent or patent application,

(iii) trademarks, service marks, trade dress, lpdosnain names, trade names and corporate namesh@vior not registered) in the United
States and all other nations throughout the wamtduding all variations, derivations, combinatipnsgistrations and applications for
registration of the foregoing and all goodwill assted therewith, (iv) copyrights (whether or negistered) and registrations and applications
for registration thereof in the United States alhdther nations throughout the world, including@grivative works, moral rights, renewals,
extensions, reversions or restorations associaitixdswch copyrights, now or hereafter provided dow,Iregardless of the medium of fixation or
means of expression, (v) computer software (inclgdiource code, object code, firmware, operatistesys and specifications), (vi) trade
secrets and, whether or not confidential, busiimdssmation (including pricing and cost informatidsusiness and marketing plans and
customer and supplier lists) and know-how (inclgdimanufacturing and production processes and tqabeiand research and development
information), (vii) industrial designs (whether ot registered), (viii) databases and data cobiesti (ix) copies and tangible embodiments of
any of the foregoing, in whatever form or mediur),dll rights to obtain and rights to apply for g@ats, and to register trademarks and
copyrights, (xi) all rights in all of the foregoingovided by treaties, conventions and common laev (aii) all rights to sue or recover and
retain damages and costs and attorneys’ fees §by pa@sent and future infringement or misappraioriaof any of the foregoing.
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“ knowledge” of any Person that is not an individual meanskthewledge of such Person’s directors and offiedtesr due and careful
inquiries, and includes imputed knowledge undemgiples of agency law and knowledge that an orgiparson would have exercising
prudence of a reasonable manner in the same dasiciicumstances.

“ Licensed Intellectual Property Rights” means all Intellectual Property Rights owned kihiad party and licensed or sublicensed to
either the Company or any Subsidiary.

“ Lien " means, with respect to any property or asset,maostgage, lien, pledge, charge, security inteesstumbrance or other adverse
claim of any kind in respect of such property aeasFor the purposes of this Agreement, a Peifsalhise deemed to own subject to a Lien
property or asset which it has acquired or holdgesit to the interest of a vendor or lessor undgraonditional sale agreement, capital lease ¢
other title retention agreement relating to suapprty or asset.

“ Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on (i) the camdiffinancial or otherwise), business, assetsjliesf
operations or prospects of the Company and itsifliabies, taken as a whole or (ii) the Company'sitglio consummate the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

“ MOFCOM " means the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC, oritshorized local branch, as the case may be,yosaecessor thereto.

“ Organizational Documents” means, with respect to any entity, the certificat incorporation, memorandum and articles of
association, bylaws or similar organizational doeuts of such entity.

“ Owned Intellectual Property Rights” means all Intellectual Property Rights owned hifier the Company or any Subsidiary.

“ Person” means an individual, corporation, partnershimitéd liability company, association, trust or atkatity or organization,
including a Governmental Authority.

“ PRC” means the People’s Republic of China, excludfogpurposes of this Agreement only, Hong Kong, Mecau Special
Administrative Region and Taiwan.

“ RMB " means renminbi, the legal currency of the PRC.



“ SAFE " means the State Administration of Foreign Excleaafithe PRC or its authorized local branch, as#s® may be, or any
successor thereto.

“ SAIC " means the State Administration of Industry andr@eerce of the PRC or its relevant local office.

“ Shanghai WFOE” means Starway Hotels Management (Shanghai) Gd., & limited liability company organized and eixig under
the laws of the PRC.

“Shares” means 51% shares of Company Ordinary Shares.

“ Subsidiary ” means any entity (i) of which securities or othenership interests having ordinary voting poweel&ct a majority of th
board of directors or other persons performing lsinfunctions are at the time directly or indirgabwned by the Company or (ii) directly or
indirectly Controlled by the Company.

“ Tax ” means (a) taxes on income, profits and gains,(ajdll other taxes, levies, duties, imposts, gharand withholdings of any
nature, in each case imposed, levied, collectetthheid or assessed by (or on behalf of) any Govemah Authority in any jurisdiction,
including any excise, customs, property, salessfex, franchise, turnover and payroll taxes ahewobenefits related tax and stamp duties,
together with all penalties, charges and intergstting to any of the foregoing or to any laterardrrect Tax Return in respect of any of them.

“ Tax Return ” means any return, declaration, report, claimréfund or information return or statement relatiod axes, including any
schedule or attachment thereto, and including amgr@ment thereof.

“ Transaction Documents’ means, collectively, this Agreement and the otmgmeements and documents required by, or in céionec
with implementing the transactions contemplatedthig, Agreement.

“ U.S.” means the United States of America.
“ US$” or “ U.S. dollars” means United States dollars, the lawful curreotthe U.S.

(b) Each of the following terms is defined in thec8on set forth opposite such term:

Term Sectior
Agreemen Preamble
Arbitration Section 11.0°



Term

Benefits

Buyer

Buyer Indemnites

Buyer Purchase Rig|
Capex Budge

Closing

Closing Balance She
Company Real Propertit
Company Securitie
Covered Tax Los
C-Travel

Ctrip

Damage:

Dispute

e-mail

Employment Agreemer
Final Closing Working Capitz
Financial Statemen
Government Official
HKIAC

Intercompany Account Balanc
Indemnified Party
Indemnifying Party

Key Employee:

Material Contract:
Non-Compete Agreemel
Notice of Arbitration
Permits

Purchase Pric

Seller Indemnite:

Seller

Social Insuranc
Subsidiary Securitie
Subsequent Closir
Third Party Clain
Tribunal

Warranty Breacl

Sectior
Section 3.25(c
Preamble
Section 9.0:
Section 2.03(a
Section 5.0
Section 2.0:
Section 2.04(a
Section 3.1¢
Section 3.05(b
Section 9.0:
Preamble
Section 1.0:
Section 9.0:
Section 11.0°
Section 11.0:
Section 5.0:
Section 2.05(a
Section 3.0¢
Section 3.1¢
Section 11.07(a
Section 3.1:
Section 9.0¢
Section 9.0¢
Section 3.25(a
Section 3.13(b
Section 5.0:
Section 11.07(b
Section 3.21(a
Section 2.0
Section 9.0:
Preamble
Section 3.25(c
Section 3.07(d
Section 2.03(c
Section 9.0¢
Section 11.07(d
Section 9.0:

Section 1.02 Other Definitional and Interpretative Provisionghe words “hereof”, “hereto”, “herein” and “herewertiand words of like
import used in this Agreement shall refer to thggdement as a whole and not to any particular piawiof this Agreement. The captions
herein are included for convenience of referendg and shall be ignored in the construction or
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interpretation hereof. References to Articles, Best Exhibits and Schedules are to Articles, $asti Exhibits and Schedules of this
Agreement unless otherwise specified. All Exhilitgl Schedules annexed hereto or referred to hareinereby incorporated in and made a
part of this Agreement as if set forth in full hiereAny capitalized terms used in any Exhibit oh8dule but not otherwise defined therein, <
have the meaning as defined in this Agreement. gangular term in this Agreement shall be deemdddlude the plural, and any plural term
the singular. Whenever the words “include”, “inaisd or “including” are used in this Agreement, thehall be deemed to be followed by the
words “without limitation”, whether or not they airefact followed by those words or words of likegort. “Writing”, “written” and
comparable terms refer to printing, typing and otheans of reproducing words (including electranidia) in a visible form. References to
any statute shall be deemed to refer to such statiamended from time to time and to any rulesgulations promulgated thereunder.
References to any agreement or contract are t@graement or contract as amended, modified orlemgmted from time to time in
accordance with the terms hereof and thenaaiyidedthat with respect to any agreement or contracdistn any schedules hereto, all such
amendments, modifications or supplements mustladisted in the appropriate schedule. Referercasy Person include the successors an
permitted assigns of that Person. References fraimrough any date mean, unless otherwise specffiech and including or through and
including, respectively. References to “law”, “ldws to a particular statute or law shall be deeralso to include an and all Applicable Law.

ARTICLE 2
P URCHASE ANDS ALE

Section 2.01 Purchase and Sal&lpon the terms and subject to the conditions af Agreement, Seller agree to sell to Buyer, andeBuy
agrees to purchase from Seller, the Shares atlt®ng. The purchase price for the Shares (tRarthase Price”) is an amount in U.S. dolle
equal to (x) 51% of the Consideration divided bythe Applicable Exchange Rate for U.S. dollarse Purchase Price shall be paid as
provided in Section 2.02.

Section 2.02Closing. The closing (the Closing”) of the purchase and sale of the Shares herestddirtake place at the places agreed
to by the parties hereto, as soon as possiblagatiosing Date, after satisfaction or, to the eixpermissible, waiver by the party or parties
entitled to the benefit of the conditions set fdarttrticle 8 (other than conditions that by theature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but
subject to the satisfaction or, to the extent pssible, waiver of those conditions at the Closilg)at such other time or place as Buyer and
Seller may agree. At the Closing:



(a) At the Closing Date, Seller shall:
(i) deliver to Buyer the instrument of transferylekecuted by C-Travel with Buyer as a transfepe@spect of the Shares,
(ii) deliver to Buyer the sold note duly executgd® Travel, and
(iii) deliver to the Company the original sharetiferates in respect of the Shares;
(b) At the Closing Date, Seller shall cause the Gany to deliver to Buyer the following documents:
(i) a new share certificate issued to Buyer withpect to the Shares,

(ii) a certified true copy of the updated regisiEmembers of the Company reflecting the transféhe Shares from C-Travel
to Buyer;

(iii) a certified true copy of the register of Diter(s) of the Company reflecting the change ofdabmposition of the board of
directors or director of the Company, including bat limited to the appointment of the person(sjigieated by Buyer to the board
of directors or director of the Company; and

(c) Buyer shall:

(i) Within fifteen (15) Business Days after theegffive date of the Agreement, Buyer shall delivecause to be delivered the
amount of 80% RMB13,705,407.00 of the PurchasesRd&Seller in immediately available funds by wansfer to a bank account
designated by Seller.

(i) Within fifteen (15) Business Days after theo€ing Date, Buyer shall deliver or cause to beveedid the mount of 20%
RMB3,426,352.00 of the Purchase Price to Sellammediately available funds by wire transfer toasmk account designated by
Seller.

(d) No later than two (2) Business Days after dffective date of the Agreement, Seller shailvéelto Buyer a written notice
setting forth the bank accounts for the wires dbedrin Section 2.02(c)(i)
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Section 2.03 Right to Purchase Additional Sharéa) Seller hereby grant to Buyer a right (thBuyer Purchase Right”) to purchase
the Additional Shares, which right may be exercisgd@uyer in its sole discretion at any time followitige effective date of the Agreement
until and including the first anniversary of the Closing Date. Sellerdby agree that, regardless whether Buyer chdose®rcise the Buyer

Purchase Right or not, Buyer shall have full cdbfdhe management and operation of the Compadyttas Subsidiaries in all respects at any
time from and after the Closing.

(b) Buyer may exercise the Buyer Purchase Riglddiiery to the Seller of a written notice. Uporidery of such notice, Seller
shall cause the transfer of the Additional ShaveBuyer as provided below in this Section.

(c) The closing (the Subsequent Closing) of the purchase and sale of the Additional Skateall take place at the places agreed
to by the parties hereto, as soon as possiblenma event later than three (3) Business Daysy #fie delivery by Buyer of the notice to

exercise the Buyer Purchase Right. No later than(8y Business Days prior to the Subsequent CloSeder shall deliver a written
notice to Buyer setting forth the bank accountglierwires described in Section 2.03(c)(ii). At Buhsequent Closing:

(i) Seller shall: (A) deliver to Buyer the instrumeof transfer duly executed by C-Travel with Bugsra transferee in respect
of the Additional Shares, (B) deliver to Buyer 8wd note duly executed by C-Travel, and (C) delteehe Company the original
share certificates in respect of the Additionali®ba

(i) Buyer shall:
(A) within fifteen (15) Business Days after SubsequClosing deliver to Seller an amount in U.Slafslequal to(x)
49% [RMB16,459,926.00]of the Consideration dividid(y) the Applicable Exchange Rate for U.S. dallexrimmediately

available funds by wire transfer to a bank accal@signated by Seller(or if not so designated, theoertified or official
bank check payable in immediately available furdthé order of C-Travel in such amount);

Section 2.04Closing Balance Sheeta) As promptly as practicable, but no later tB@rdays after the Closing Date, Buyer will cause t
be prepared and delivered to Seller the Closinguigad Sheet and a statement based on such
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Closing Balance Sheet setting forth Buyer’s calioitaof the Closing Working Capital. The Closingl&ace Sheet (theClosing Balance
Sheet”) shall (x) fairly present the consolidated finangiakition of the Company and the Subsidiaries diseatlose of business on the Clos
Date in accordance with GAAP applied on a considtesis, (y) include line items substantially cetet with those in the Balance Sheet,
providedthat all Taxes currently payable shall be set fagttseparate line items and (z) be prepared indaaoce with accounting policies and
practices consistent with those used in the préiparaf the Balance Sheet, but in all instanceadcordance with GAAP.

(b) If Seller disagrees with Buysartalculation of the Closing Working Capital detie@ pursuant to Section 2.04(a), Seller may, wi#ti
days after delivery of the documents referred t8étion 2.04(a), deliver a written statement {tlébjections Statement’) to Buyer
disagreeing with such calculation and which spesifteller's calculation of such amount and in reabte detail Seller's grounds for such
disagreement. The Objections Statement shall gpémte items or amounts as to which Seller disggmed Seller shall be deemed to have
agreed with all other items and amounts containgte Closing Balance Sheet and the calculatidgheClosing Working Capital delivered
pursuant to Section 2.04(a).

(c) If an Objections Statement shall be duly debdepursuant to Section 2.04(b), Buyer and Seflali,sduring the 15 days following
such delivery, use their best efforts to reachement on the disputed items or amounts in orddetermine, as may be required, the amou
the Closing Working Capital, which amount shall hetless than the amount thereof shown in Buyalsutations delivered pursuant to
Section 2.04(a) nor more than the amount therem/shin Seller’s calculation delivered pursuant &xtn 2.04(b). If Buyer and Seller are
unable to reach such agreement during such pehieg shall promptly thereafter cause independecuwatants of nationally recognized
standing reasonably satisfactory to Buyer and 6@ilko shall not have any material relationshipgwBuyer or any Seller), promptly to review
this Agreement and the disputed items or amoumtthé&purpose of calculating the Closing Workingita. In making such calculation, such
independent accountants shall consider only thtesasi or amounts in the Closing Balance Sheet oeBsigalculation of the Closing Working
Capital as to which Seller have disagreed. Suchgaddent accountants shall deliver to Buyer aniéiSels promptly as practicable, a report
setting forth such calculation. Such report shalfibal and binding upon Buyer and Seller. The odstuch review and report shall be borne
(i) by Buyer if the difference between the Finab§thg Working Capital and Buyer’s calculation o ilosing Working Capital delivered
pursuant to Section 2.04(a) is greater than tHerdifice between the Final Closing Working Capitel 8eller’s calculation of the Closing
Working Capital delivered pursuant to Section 204(ii) by Seller if the first such
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difference is less than the second such differanck(iii) otherwise equally by Buyer and Seller.

(d) Buyer and Seller agree that they will, and edoecause their respective independent accourdadtthe Company and each
Subsidiary to, cooperate and assist in the praparat the Closing Balance Sheet and the calcuiatithe Closing Working Capital and in the
conduct of the audits and reviews referred to is 8ection 2.04, including the making availablé¢hi® extent necessary of books, records, wor
papers and personnel.

Section 2.05Adjustment of Purchase Pricé€a) If Base Working Capital exceeds the FinalsZig Working Capital more than RMB
3,000,000, Seller shall pay to Buyer, as an adjestrto the Purchase Price, in the manner as prdwd8ection 2.05 (b) , the amount of such
Return Excess (the amount of Base Working CapitalmFinal Closing Working Capital minus RMB 3,0000). If the Final Closing
Working Capital exceeds Base Working Capital mbentRMB 3,000,000, Buyer shall pay to Seller, i thanner as provided in Section 2.05
(b), the amount of such Excess (the amount of Fdtading Working Capital minus Base Working Capitahus RMB 3,000,000). Final
Closing Working Capital ” means the Closing Working Capital (i) as showmiryer’s calculation delivered pursuant to Secfdi(a), if no
Objections Statement with respect thereto is deliwdred pursuant to Section 2.04(b); or (ii) iEBuan Objections Statement is delivered,

(A) as agreed by Buyer and Seller pursuant to 8&e&i04(c) or (B) in the absence of such agreenasrdhown in the independent accountant
calculation delivered pursuant to Section 2.04§odyvidedthat in no event shall the Final Closing Workingoal be less than Buyer’s
calculation of the Closing Working Capital delivéngursuant to Section 2.04(a) or more than Selt=fsulation of the Closing Working
Capital delivered pursuant to Section 2.04(b).

(b) Any payment pursuant to Section 2.05(a) shaliiade at a mutually convenient time and placeinvith days after the Final Closing
Capital has been determined by delivery by BuyeSadter, as the case may be, of a certified ociaffbank check payable in immediately
available funds to the other party or by causinthquayments to be credited to such account of stier party as may be designated by such
other party.

ARTICLE 3
R EPRESENTATIONS ANDW ARRANTIES OFS ELLER

Except as set forth in the Seller Disclosure Scleedtiached hereto Seller Disclosure Schedulg), Seller represents and warrants to
Buyer as of the date hereof and as of the Closiatg Ehat:
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Section 3.01Corporate Existence and Powegeller and the Company is a corporation dulyipomated, validly existing and in good
standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of ingoration and has all corporate powers and all gowental licenses, authorizations, permits,
consents and approvals required to carry on it;bas as now conducted. The Seller has heretofade ravailable to Buyer true and complete
copies of the Organizational Documents of Selle,Company and the Subsidiaries as currently aceff

Section 3.02Corporate Authorization The execution, delivery and performance by sugleSof this Agreement and each other
Transaction Document to which such Seller is ayp#éine performance of the obligations hereunderthaceunder, and the consummation of
the transactions contemplated hereby and therebwidhin such Seller’s corporate powers and haenlghily authorized by all necessary
corporate actions on the part of such Seller. Ngissement constitutes, and each other Transact@mulBent to which such Seller is a party
when executed and delivered by such Seller in @ecare with the terms hereof and thereof will cantgj a valid and binding agreement of
such Seller enforceable against such Seller inrdecae with their respective terms (subject toiagpple bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent
transfer, reorganization, moratorium and other laffscting creditors’ rights generally and gengmahciples of equity).

Section 3.03Governmental AuthorizationThe execution, delivery and performance by suslleBof this Agreement and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated feuire no action by or in respect of, or filwgh, any Governmental Authority.

Section 3.04Noncontravention The execution, delivery and performance by sualeBof this Agreement and the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby do not and wil(iz@iolate the Organizational Documents of s&Hler or the Company or any Subsidiary,
(ii) assuming compliance with the matters refetieth Section 3.03, violate any Applicable Lawi)(fequire any consent or other action by
any Person under, constitute a default or an dhantwith or without notice or lapse of time ottbowould constitute a default under, or give
rise to any right of termination, cancellation oceleration of any right or obligation of such 8elbr the Company or any Subsidiary or to a
loss of any benefit to which such Seller or the @any or any Subsidiary is entitled under any priovi®f any agreement or other instrument
binding upon such Seller or the Company or any i8idry or (iv) result in the creation or impositiofiany Lien on any asset of the Company
or any Subsidiary.

Section 3.05Capitalization. (a) The authorized share capital of the Compamgists of 100,000,000 Company Ordinary Shares.
13



(b) All outstanding capital shares of the Compaayehbeen duly authorized and validly issued andudiyepaid and non-assessable.
Except as set forth in this Section 3.05, therenareutstanding (i) capital shares or voting sdi@griof the Company, (ii) securities of the
Company convertible into or exchangeable for capltares or voting securities of the Company dr djptions or other rights to acquire from
the Company, or other obligation of the Companig$oie, any capital shares, voting securities anrggzs convertible into or exchangeable for
capital shares or voting securities of the Comp#mg items in Sections 3.05 (b)(i), 3.05(b)(ii) e@@5(b) (iii) being referred to collectively as
the “Company Securities”). There are no outstanding obligations of the @any or any Subsidiary to repurchase, redeem erwtbe
acquire any Company Securities.

Section 3.060wnership of SharesC-Travel is the record and beneficial owner &f 8hares, free and clear of any Lien and any other
limitation or restriction (including any restrictiaon the right to vote, sell or otherwise dispokthe Shares), and will transfer and deliver to
Buyer at the Closing valid title to the Shares faed clear of any Lien and any such limitationestriction.

Section 3.07Subsidiaries (a) _Section 3.07(a) of the Seller DisclosureeSicttesets forth a true, accurate and complete list ofiea
Subsidiary of the Company, including, for each $aibsy, (i) its jurisdiction of organization, (idescription of its registered capital, paid-in
registered capital and total amount of investmg@iitjts shareholder(s) and the equity interestsied by such shareholders and (iv) its busi
scope.

(b) For each Subsidiary incorporated under the BMWRBRC, (i) all of the registered capital of siibsidiary has been timely and
adequately contributed in accordance with the Aglie Laws of the PRC; (ii) there are no resoligipanding to increase or decrease the
registered capital of such Subsidiary; (iii) alaclges to the share capital (including capital iaseesand capital reduction) and all changes in th
shareholding (including transfers by shareholdef€ach such Subsidiary have been duly authorireldapproved by and filed and registered
with the relevant Governmental Authorities in tHe@® and have been made in full compliance with&pplicable Law of the PRC; and
(iv) each such Subsidiary has a valid businessdieéssued by SAIC (a true and complete copy oflwhas been made available to Buyer),
and has, since its establishment, carried on g#lkas in compliance with the business scope g#tifoits business license.

(c) Each Subsidiary is a corporation duly incorpedavalidly existing and in good standing under s its jurisdiction of
incorporation, and, except as set forth on Se@i6i (c) _of the Seller Disclosure Schedutes all corporate powers and all governmental
licenses, authorizations, permits, consents and
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approvals required to carry on its business asemwlucted, including those issued by MOFCOM andMiréstry of Information Industry.

(d) All of the outstanding capital shares or otheting securities of each Subsidiary is owned ley@ompany, directly or indirectly, free
and clear of any Lien and free of any other linndtator restriction (including any restriction orethight to vote, sell or otherwise dispose of
such capital stock or other voting securities).rérere no outstanding (i) securities of the Compamgny Subsidiary convertible into or
exchangeable for capital shares or voting secaritfeany Subsidiary or (ii) options or other rigtdsacquire from the Company or any
Subsidiary, or other obligation of the Company oy Subsidiary to issue, any capital shares, vateqyrities or securities convertible into or
exchangeable for capital shares or voting secariffeany Subsidiary (the items in Sections 3.07(d){d 3.07(d)(ii) being referred to
collectively as théSubsidiary Securities”). There are no outstanding obligations of the @any or any Subsidiary to repurchase, redeem ol
otherwise acquire any outstanding Subsidiary SBesri

Section 3.08Financial StatementsSection 3.08 of the Seller Disclosure Scheduolgtains a true, correct and complete copy of the
audited consolidated balance sheets as of Dece®ib@009, 2010 and 2011 and the related auditesbtidated statements of income and «
flows for each of the years ended December 31, 20080 and 2011 (collectively, theFinancial Statements”). The Financial Statements
(i) have been prepared in accordance with GAAPiegmin a consistent basis throughout the periodsred thereby and (ii) fairly present, in
conformity with GAAP applied on a consistent bgsiscept as may be indicated in the notes ther#te)consolidated financial position of the
Company and the Subsidiaries as of the dates thaneltheir consolidated results of operations @ash flows for the periods then ended.

Section 3.09Books and RecordsTrue and complete copies of all minute books @oitig the records of meetings of the shareholders
and the boards of directors (or analogous partieg)e Company and its Subsidiaries as of the ldateof and the register of members (or
equivalent documents) as of the date hereof hage thede available to Buyer.

Section 3.10Absence of Certain Change&) Since the Balance Sheet Date, the busingte @ompany and its Subsidiaries has been
conducted in the ordinary course consistent wittt peactices and there has not been any eventireace, development or state of
circumstances or facts that has had or would reddpie expected to have, individually or in thgmmgate, a Material Adverse Effect.
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(b) From the Balance Sheet Date until the datedfietieere has not been any action taken by the @ompr any of its Subsidiaries that,
if taken during the period from the date of thisrdgment through the Closing Date without Buyer'ssemt, would constitute a breach of
Section 5.01Section 5.01.

Section 3.11 No Undisclosed Material LiabilitieS-here are no liabilities of the Company or any Sdibsy of any kind whatsoever,
whether accrued, contingent, absolute, determitegrminable or otherwise, and there is no existomglition, situation or set of
circumstances which could reasonably be expectesktdt in such a liability, other than:

(a) liabilities provided for in the Balance Sheetlsclosed in the notes thereto; and

(b) other undisclosed liabilities which, individiyabr in the aggregate, are not material to the Gamy and the Subsidiaries, taken
as a whole.

Section 3.12Intercompany AccountsSection 3.12 of the Seller Disclosure Schedolgains a true and complete list of all intercompa
balances as of the Balance Sheet Date betweem Setlaheir Affiliates, on the one hand, and then@any and the Subsidiaries, on the other
hand (the ‘iIntercompany Account Balances). Since the Balance Sheet Date there has not &egaccrual of liability by the Company or
any Subsidiary to any Seller or any of their A#tks or other transaction between the CompanyySahsidiary and any Seller and any of
their Affiliates, except with respect to the perjmdbor to the date of this Agreement, in the ordineourse of business of the Company and the
Subsidiaries consistent with past practice, ancetfter, as provided in Section 3.12 of the Sélisclosure Schedule

Section 3.13Material Contracts (a) Except for the Contracts listed in Sectiat38a)_of the Seller Disclosure Sched(ifee and
complete copies of such Contracts have been maaikalale to Buyer prior to the date hereof), neittier Company nor any Subsidiary is a
party to or bound by:

(i) any Contract providing for the payment by oithe Company or any Subsidiary of an amount in &xoé RMB 100,000 or its
Equivalent Foreign Currency Amount annually or RIM&),000 or its Equivalent Foreign Currency Amowgrathe entire term of such
Contract;

(ii) any partnership, joint venture or other simi@ontract or arrangement;

(iii) any Contract relating to the acquisition aspbsition of any business (whether by merger, sh#ock, sale of assets or
otherwise);
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(iv) any Contract relating to Indebtedness, exegptsuch agreement with an aggregate outstandingial amount not exceeding
RMB 100,000 or its Equivalent Foreign Currency Amband which may be prepaid on not more than 45’dagtice without the
payment of any material penalty;

(v) any franchise or similar Contract;

(vi) any license or other Contract granting rigtatsny third party to any material Owned IntellettBroperty Rights or Licensed
Intellectual Property Rights;

(vii) any Contract that limits the freedom of ther@pany or any Subsidiary to compete in any linbusiness or with any Person or
in any area or which would so limit the freedontlaf Company or any Subsidiary after the ClosingeDat

(viii) any Contract by the Company or any Subsigiaith (A) any Person directly or indirectly owninGontrolling or holding with
power to vote any of the outstanding equity se@asiof the Company, any Subsidiary or any Affiliafesuch Person, (B) any Person
whose outstanding voting securities are directlindirectly owned, Controlled or held with powentote by the Company or any
Subsidiary or (C) any director or officer of ther@gany or any Subsidiary or any Affiliates of anglswirector or officer;

(ix) any Contract that involves the ownership @ske of, title to, use of, or any leasehold or othirest in, any real or personal
property (except for personal property leases wikgl payments of less than RMB 100,000 or its Egl@mt Foreign Currency Amount
per annum);

(x) any Contract involves the waiver, compromigeseattlement of any material dispute, claim, litiga or arbitration;
(xi) any other Contract or plan not made in theirady course of business that is material to thenany and the Subsidiaries,
taken as a whole.

(b) Each Contract disclosed_in Section 3.13(ahef3eller Disclosure Schedwerequired to be so disclosed pursuant to Se&ib8(a)

(collectively, the “Material Contracts ") is in full force and effect and constitutes di#and binding agreement of the Company or a
Subsidiary, as the case may be, enforceable adhm§&ompany or such Subsidiary, as the case mag becordance with its terms (subject to
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent tfanseorganization, moratorium and other lawscffe creditors’ rights generally and
general principles of equity).
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(c) None of the Company, any Subsidiary or, tokihhewledge of such Seller, any other party therefa default or breach under any
Material Contract and, to the knowledge of sucheBeho event or circumstance has occurred, or evbiketly to occur, that, with notice or
lapse of time or both, would constitute any evdrdefault thereunder.

(d) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary hasgdgésl any power or issued any powers of attornégviar of any Person, other than
powers of attorney issued to directors, officergmployees of the Company or the Subsidiariepfioposes of executing contracts or
agreements for and on behalf of the Company or Swdsidiary in the ordinary course of business.

Section 3.14No Litigation. Except for the litigation that has been notifiedBuyer, there is no action, suit, investigatiorpmceeding
(or any basis therefor) pending against, or toktimwvledge of such Seller, threatened against ectffg, such Seller, the Company or any
Subsidiary or any of their respective propertieassets before (or, in the case of threatenednactiuits, investigations or proceedings, would
be before) any Governmental Authority or arbitrattnich, individually or in the aggregate, if deténed or resolved adversely in accordance
with the plaintiff’'s demands, could reasonably kpexted to have a Material Adverse Effect or whithny manner challenges or seeks to
prevent, enjoin, alter or materially delay the sactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 3.15 Compliance with Laws and Court Order&xcept as disclosed on Section 3.15 of the SBilerlosure Scheduleneither
the Company nor any Subsidiary is in violationasfd has not since the inception of the Companyahn Subsidiary violated, and to the
knowledge of such Seller is not under investigatigth respect to and has not been threatened théged with or given notice of any
violation of, any Applicable Law, except for vialahs that have not had and could not reasonabixpected to have, individually or in the
aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. There isutlginent, decree, injunction, rule or order of ariyteator or Governmental Authority
outstanding against the Company or any of its Slidoses that has had or would reasonably be exgeothave, individually or in the
aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect on the Compariiiat in any manner seeks to prevent, enjoiar aF materially delay the consummation
of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 3.16Properties. (a) All of the land and buildings currently ownedleased by the Company or the SubsidiarieseciiViely, the
“ Company Real Properties’) are listed in Section 3.16(a) of the Seller Mestire ScheduleExcept for the Company Real Properties, neithe
the Company nor any Subsidiary directly or indileovns or leases any land or building. The curresgt, occupancy and operation of the
Company Real Properties do not constitute any
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nonconforming use under any applicable construcbaiiding, zoning, subdivision and other land asd similar Applicable Law.

(b) (i) The Company and each Subsidiary have \#l&lto, or in the case of leased property anetgdsave valid leasehold interests in,
all property and assets (whether real, personagitiée or intangible, other than Intellectual PndpdRights) actually used by the Company or
such Subsidiary, regardless of whether such prppeid assets are reflected on its balance sheegoired after the Balance Sheet Date, othe
than personal property disposed of in the ordirayrse of business; and (ii) none of such proparggssets is subject to any Lien. Shanghai
WOFE is entitled to continue to use all the aseatthe Balance Sheet free of charge, includindikeel assets in amount of RMB 300,000
purchased by Ctrip WOFE.

(c) All leases and sub-leases of the Company Regldpties that are listed in Section 3.16(c) of$ledler Disclosure Schedudee valid
and binding obligations of the Company or its Sdiasies, as the case may be, and enforceable agaicis the Company or the applicable
Subsidiary in accordance with their respective te(subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvencguétulent transfer, reorganization,
moratorium and other laws affecting creditors’ tgybenerally and general principles of equity), aailher the Company nor any Subsidiary is
in default under any such leases or sub-leasethanel does not exist under any such lease or sie-l@ny event which with notice or lapse of
time or both would constitute a material default.

Section 3.17Tax.

(a) The Company and the Subsidiaries have filedadlbnal, provincial and local Tax Returns reqdite be filed under the Applicable
Law and such Tax Returns were true and completehas paid all national, provincial and local Taxessessments, fees and other
governmental charges levied or imposed upon itscagsets or properties, revenue or income orwiberdue and payable by the Company an
the Subsidiaries, and have withheld and paid dividual income tax for its employees or contrastdn each case in accordance with the
requirements of Applicable Law and the relevant @athorities. To the knowledge of such Seller,@éliemo proposed Tax assessment agains
the Company or any Subsidiary. There has beenaim ¢h writing concerning any liability for Taxe$ the Company or any Subsidiary
asserted, raised or threatened by any taxing dtythor

(b) Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries hamplied with, and currently complies with all condits and terms of all subsidies,
rebates, reductions, exemptions and other prefatérgatment claimed by and/or given to the Conypansuch Subsidiary in respect of any
Tax.
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(c) (i) The charges, accruals and reserves for §aieh respect to each of the Company and the 8iabigs reflected on the most recent
audited Financial Statements are adequate to daseliabilities as of the date of the most recardited Financial Statements and all
information set forth in such Financial Statemestating to Tax matters is true and complete, d@ihdifice the date of the most recent Finar
Statements, each of the Company and the Subskgliza®Enot engaged in any transaction, other ththeiordinary course of business, that
would materially impact any Tax asset (e.g., nerafing or capital losses) or Tax liability of tBempany or such Subsidiary.

Section 3.18No lllegal or Improper Transactions

(a) Neither the Company nor any Subsidiaries, ngrdirector, officer, or employee, nor to the knedge of such Seller, any agent or
representative of the Company or the Subsidiahias(i) taken any action in furtherance of an offi@yment, promise to pay, or authorization
or approval of the payment or giving of money, gy, gifts or anything else of value, directlyindirectly, whether in the form of a bribe,
kickback, rebate, payoff, influence payment or otlige, to any Governmental Authority or any goveemtofficial (including any officer or
employee of a government or governmemned or Controlled entity or of a public intermaual organization, or any person acting in an @
capacity for or on behalf of any of the foregoingany political party or party official or candigafor political office, all of the foregoing bei
referred to as Government Officials "), or to any other person while knowing that allsome portion of the money or value was or will be
offered, given or promised to a Governmental Authiar a Government Official, to influence officiattion or secure an improper advantage
or (ii) used any corporate funds for any unlawfhtibution, gift, entertainment or other unlawéxpense relating to political activity.

(b) Each of the Company and the Subsidiaries haduwied their businesses in compliance with the BoBeign Corrupt Practices Act
1977, as amended, the PRC Law on Anti-Unfair Coitipetadopted on September 2, 1993 (if applicable) the Interim Rules on Prevention
of Commercial Bribery issued by the PRC State Adstiation of Industry and Commerce on NovemberlB®6 (if applicable) and all other
applicable anti-corruption laws.

Section 3.19 Intellectual Property(a) Section 3.19(a) (i) of the Seller Disclosuoh&lulecontains a true and complete list of each of
the registrations and applications for registratiand other material Intellectual Property Rightduded in the Owned Intellectual Property
Rights. True and complete copies of relevant regfisins or application for registration, as apiea have been made available to Buyer.
Section 3.19(a) (ii) of the Seller Disclosure Salledontains a true and complete list of all matergabaments (whether written or
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otherwise, including license agreements, reseagodeaments, development agreements, distributiozeagents, settlement agreements, cor
to use agreements and covenants not to sue, dutdexg licenses for personal computer software #natgenerally available on
nondiscriminatory pricing terms and have an indiadacquisition cost of $500 per seat or less)liclvthe Company or any of its Subsidia
is a party or otherwise bound, granting or restricany right to use, exploit or practice any lmgetual Property Rights. True and complete
copies of such documents have been made avaitaBeayter.

(b) The Licensed Intellectual Property Rights amel ®wned Intellectual Property Rights together tiaris all the Intellectual Property
Rights necessary to, or used or held for use exctinduct of the business of the Company and tsi8iaries as currently conducted and as
proposed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaad® conducted. There exist no restrictions ordikelosure, use, license or transfer of the
Owned Intellectual Property Rights. The consumnmatibthe transactions contemplated by this Agredrard the other Transaction
Documents will not alter, encumber, impair or egtiish any Owned Intellectual Property Rights orelnised Intellectual Property Rights.

(c) None of such Seller, the Company and any Sidgithas given to any Person an indemnity in cotioeavith any Intellectual
Property Right.

(d) None of the Company and its Subsidiaries hfris@ed, misappropriated or otherwise violated &atgllectual Property Right of any
third person. There is no claim, action, suit, stigation or proceeding pending against, or, tokim@wvledge of such Seller, threatened against
or affecting, the Company, any of its Subsidiaras; present or former officer, director or empleyé the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
(i) based upon, or challenging or seeking to damgstrict, the rights of the Company or any Suiasidin any of the Owned Intellectual
Property Rights and the Licensed Intellectual PriygRights, (ii) alleging that the use of the Ownrlatkllectual Property Rights or the Licen:
Intellectual Property Rights or any services predigprocesses used or products manufactured, ingaatted or sold by the Company or any
Subsidiary do or may conflict with, misapproprigatdringe or otherwise violate any Intellectual Pesty Right of any third party or
(iii) alleging that the Company or any of its Subiafies have infringed, misappropriated or othegwimlated any Intellectual Property Right
any third party. Except as set forth_in SectiorD8d] of the Seller Disclosure Scheduigone of the Company and any Subsidiary has redeiv
from any third party an offer to license any Inéetual Property Rights of such third party.

(e) None of the Owned Intellectual Property Rigirtsl Licensed Intellectual Property Rights has @efadged invalid or unenforceable
in whole
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or part, and, to the knowledge of such Sellersatih Owned Intellectual Property Rights and Licdriséellectual Property Rights are valid ¢
enforceable.

(f) The Company and its Subsidiaries hold all rigiie and interest in and to all Owned IntelledtRroperty Rights and all of the
Company'’s and its Subsidiaries’ licenses undettbensed Intellectual Property Rights, free andclaf any Lien. In each case where a pater
or patent application, trademark registration adémark application, service mark registrationesvise mark application, or copyright
registration or copyright application included iretOwned Intellectual Property is held by assigriitée assignment has been duly recorded
with the Governmental Authority from which the pater registration issued or before which the aggtion or application for registration is
pending. The Company and its Subsidiaries haventakeactions necessary to maintain and protecOwvaed Intellectual Property Rights and
their rights in the Licensed Intellectual PropeRights, including payment of applicable maintenafess and filing of applicable statements of
use, payment of royalties, filing of the licenseesgnents and other relevant documents in respeedficensed Intellectual Property Rights
with the Governmental Authorities (including the®t Intellectual Property Office and the Tradenfaflice of SAIC) as required by the
Applicable Law, where applicable.

(9) To the knowledge of such Seller, no Personitifasged, misappropriated or otherwise violateg &wned Intellectual Property Ric
or Licensed Intellectual Property Right. The Compand its Subsidiaries have taken reasonable Biggzrordance with normal industry
practice to maintain the confidentiality of all ¢wiential Intellectual Property Rights. None of timellectual Property Rights of the Company
or any Subsidiary that are material to the busimesgperation of the Company or any Subsidiary thedvalue of which to the Company or any
Subsidiary is contingent upon maintaining the aderfitiality thereof, has been disclosed other tbaantployees, representatives and agents o
the Company or any Subsidiary all of whom are booyevritten confidentiality agreements substantiall the form previously disclosed to
Buyer.

(h) The Company and its Subsidiaries have takesoresble steps in accordance with normal industgtime to preserve and maintain
reasonably complete notes and records relatinget®tvned Intellectual Property Rights and the Lseehintellectual Property Rights.

(i) With respect to pending applications and agglans for registration of the Owned Intellectuabferty Rights and the Licensed
Intellectual Property Rights that are materialtte business or operation of the Company or anyi&iabg, none of such Seller, the Company
and any Subsidiary is aware of any reason thatdamasonably be expected to prevent
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any such application or application for registratfoom being granted with coverage substantiallyiegjent to the latest amended version of
the pending application or application for registna. None of the trademarks, service marks, appbtos for trademarks and applications for
service marks included in the Owned Intellectuaerty Rights that are material to the businessperation of the Company or any Subsid
has been the subject of an opposition or cancafiggrocedure. None of the patents and patent apiolits included in the Owned Intellectual
Property Rights that are material to the businesgperation of the Company or any Subsidiary hanlibe subject of an interference, protest,
public use proceeding or third party reexaminatixjuest.

Section 3.20lnsurance CoverageSection 3.20 of the Seller Disclosure Schedels forth a list of all insurance policies relgtio the
assets, business, operations, employees, officalisextors of the Company and the SubsidiarieshSeller has made available to Buyer true
and complete copies of all such insurance polidiesre is no claim by the Company or any Subsidi@yding under any of such policies a
which coverage has been questioned, denied ortdidfoy the underwriters of such policies. All prams payable under all such policies have
been timely paid and the Company and the Subsididwave otherwise complied fully with the terms aonditions of all such policies. Such
policies are of the type and in amounts customaslyied by Persons conducting businesses simildrose of the Company or any Subsidiary
As of the date hereof, such Seller does not knoangfthreatened termination of, material premiuoreéase with respect to, or material
alteration of coverage under, any of such policies.

Section 3.21Licenses and Permits

(a) Section 3.21(a) of the Seller Disclosure Scheskets forth a list of each Consent issued to thegamy or the Subsidiaries by any
Governmental Authority affecting, or relating inyamay to, the assets or business of the Companytasaibsidiaries (the Permits ")
together with the name of the Governmental Autlgassuing such Permit. True and complete copiedldtermits have been made availabl
Buyer prior to the date hereof. Except for the @mits set forth in Section 3.21(a) of the Sellercdisure Scheduleno other Consents of any
Governmental Authority (including the Consents tiatpto the qualifications of officers of the Conmyeor the Subsidiaries) are necessary for
the conduct of the business of the Company an&tibsidiaries, as currently conducted.

(b) The Permits are valid and in full force andeetf Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary isefadlt under, and no condition exists
that with notice or lapse of time or both would stitute a default under, the Permits. To the kndgteof such Seller, there is no outstandir
anticipated investigation,
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enquiry or proceeding which would reasonably besetgn to result in the suspension, cancellatiordification or revocation of any such
Permits. None of the Permits will be terminatedhgpaired or become terminable, in whole or in pasta result of the transactions
contemplated in this Agreement or other Transadlioouments. The Company and the Subsidiaries avempliance with all the terms and
conditions of, or relating to, all such Permits da@ not received any written or oral notice that in default under any of the terms and
conditions of such Permits.

(c) Each holder or beneficial owner of any Comp&egurities or Subsidiary Securities, who is a PRi€en or resident, have completed
all necessary foreign exchange registrations MithSAFE required by the Applicable Laws for hider direct or indirect holding of such
Company Securities or Subsidiary Securities. Ndrauoh Seller, the Company or any Subsidiary has,lms any such holder or beneficial
owner of any Company Securities or Subsidiary Stesy received any oral or written inquiries, figitions, orders or any other form of
official correspondence from the SAFE with resgeciny actual or alleged non-compliance with th@ligable Laws relating to foreign
exchange registrations with the SAFE.

Section 3.22 ReceivabledAll accounts, notes receivable and other receiwafather than receivables collected since the Bal&@heet
Date) reflected on the Balance Sheet are, andediiants and notes receivable arising from or otlerwnelating to the business of the Comp
and its Subsidiaries as of the Closing Date willJadid, genuine and fully collectible in the aggage amount thereof, subject to normal and
customary trade discounts, less any reserves fdrtfld accounts recorded on the Balance Sheefaddbunts, notes receivable and other
receivables arising out of or relating to such bess of the Company and its Subsidiaries as d3#tence Sheet Date have been included i
Balance Sheet. The receivable arising from framckisll be collected no later than twelve monthedieer,

Section 3.23Selling DocumentsNone of the documents or information delivere8tyer in connection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement contains any urgtaeement of a material fact or omits to state terved fact necessary in order to make the
statements contained therein not misleading. Trirenfiial projections relating to the Company or Sopsidiary delivered to Buyer are made ir
good faith and are based upon reasonable assumpdind such Seller is not aware of any fact ookeircumstances that would lead it to
believe that such projections are incorrect or eaiding in any material respect.

Section 3.24Finders’ Fees There is no investment banker, broker, findestber intermediary which has been retained by or is
authorized to act on
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behalf of such Seller or the Company or any Subsidivho might be entitled to any fee or commissiononnection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 3.25Employees and Labor Matters

(a) Section 3.25 of the Seller Disclosure Schedats forth a true and complete list of the nanitss tannual salaries and other
compensation of all officers of the Company anditbsidiaries and all other employees of the Compaud its Subsidiaries (collectively, the
Key Employees’).

(b) The Company and the Subsidiaries are in comgdiavith all currently Applicable Laws respectingmoyment and employment
practices, terms and conditions of employment aages and hours, and are not engaged in any ualfeir practice, failure to comply with
which or engagement in which, as the case may beldveasonably be expected to have a Material fsdvEffect. There are no labor dispt
or other disputes currently subject to any grieegmmcedure, arbitration or litigation with resperany employee of the Company or the
Subsidiaries. Neither the Company nor any Subsidias incurred any liability which remains outstiagdfor breach of any contract of
employment or for services, for redundancy paymemntstective awards or compensation, for wrongfuliofair dismissal, or for failure to
comply with any order for the reinstatement or nga&gement of any employee or any other liabilityraing from the termination of any
contract of employment for services.

(c) The Company and the Subsidiaries have compligdApplicable Laws relating to social insuranee ather benefits, including
pension, medical insurance, work-related injurpiasice, birth and nursery insurance and unemploymsuarance (collectively, theSocial
Insurance”) and housing provident fund (together with Sodreurance, the Benefits”). All contributions or payments required to bedsa
or paid by the Company and the Subsidiaries orcdutlyeir employees to the relevant GovernmentahArity with respect to any Benefit have
been made or fully deducted, as applicable, andifoabn or before their due dates. None of theeturincentive programs (whether equity-
based or not) linked to the performance of the eggs#s of the Company or its Subsidiaries confligth Applicable Laws of the PRC.

(d) Except as set forth gn Section 3.25(d) of thke® Disclosure Scheduleno employee or former employee of the Compargngr
Subsidiary will become entitled to any bonus, egtient, severance, job security or similar benefithe enhancement of any such benefit
(including acceleration of vesting or exercise frecentive award), as a result of the transactimmtemplated hereby.
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Section 3.26Xingyue Hui DocumentsSection 3.26 of the Seller Disclosure Schedals forth a true and complete list of all docuraent
relating to the operation and membership of the brship club named “Xingyue Hui” including all theles, regulations and policies with
respect to membership and benefits and all memipedsita. Such Seller has made available to Buyerdand complete copies of all such
documents prior to the date hereof.

Section 3.27RepresentationsThe representations and warranties of such Ssileained in this Agreement, disregarding all
gualifications and exceptions contained thereiatirefj to materiality or Material Adverse Effectedrue and correct with only such exceptions
as would not in the aggregate reasonably be exgphécteave a Material Adverse Effect.

ARTICLE 4
R EPRESENTATIONSA ND W ARRANTIES OFB UYER

Buyer represents and warrants to Seller as ofdle fiereof and as of the Closing Date that:

Section 4.01Corporate Existence and PoweBuyer is a corporation duly incorporated, validiisting and in good standing under the
laws of its jurisdiction and has all corporate posvand all material governmental licenses, authtions, permits, consents and approvals
required to carry on its business as now conducted.

Section 4.02Corporate Authorization The execution, delivery and performance by Buwfehis Agreement and each other Transaction
Document to which it is a party and the consummmatibthe transactions contemplated hereby and blyeare within the corporate powers of
Buyer and have been duly authorized by all necgssaporate action on the part of Buyer. This Agneet and each other Transaction
Document to which such Buyer is a party constitateslid and binding agreement of Buyer, enforoealglainst Buyer in accordance with tl
respective terms (subject to applicable bankruptsglvency, fraudulent transfer, reorganizatiolratorium and other laws affecting
creditors’ rights generally and general principdégquity).

Section 4.03Governmental AuthorizationThe execution, delivery and performance by Bwfehis Agreement and the consummation
of the transactions contemplated hereby requirmaterial action by or in respect of, or materilih§ with, any Governmental Authority.

Section 4.04Noncontravention The execution, delivery and performance by Buwfehis Agreement and the consummation of the
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transactions contemplated hereby do not and wil(iz@iolate the memorandum and articles of assimn of Buyer or (ii) assuming
compliance with the matters referred to in SectidI8, violate any material Applicable Law.

Section 4.05Purchase for InvestmenBuyer is purchasing the Shares for investmenit$aswn account and not with a view to, or for
sale in connection with, any distribution therddfiyer (either alone or together with its advisdra} sufficient knowledge and experience in
financial and business matters so as to be capékhaluating the merits and risks of its investiriarthe Shares and is capable of bearing the
economic risks of such investment. Whereas Buyewkrthe option incentive plan in Company in advamte/er covenants that Buyer shall
continue to perform the option incentive plan asghccessor of Seller.

Section 4.06Litigation . There is no action, suit, investigation or pralieg pending against, or to the knowledge of Buhesatened
against or affecting, Buyer before any arbitratoaimy Governmental Authority which in any mannealidgnges or seeks to prevent, enjoin,
alter or materially delay the transactions contextgul by this Agreement.

Section 4.0MNo lllegal or Improper Transactions

(a) Neither Buyer nor any Subsidiaries, nor angar, officer, or employee, nor to the knowledfiswch Buyer, any agent or
representative of the Buyer or the Subsidiaries,(Ha@aken any action in furtherance of an offeryment, promise to pay, or authorization or
approval of the payment or giving of money, propegifts or anything else of value, directly or irettly, whether in the form of a bribe,
kickback, rebate, payoff, influence payment or otlige, to any Governmental Authority or any goveemtofficial (including any officer or
employee of a government or governmemned or Controlled entity or of a public intermaual organization, or any person acting in an @
capacity for or on behalf of any of the foregoingany political party or party official or candigafor political office, all of the foregoing bei
referred to as Government Officials "), or to any other person while knowing that allsome portion of the money or value was or will be
offered, given or promised to a Governmental Authiar a Government Official, to influence officiattion or secure an improper advantage
or (ii) used any corporate funds for any unlawfhtibution, gift, entertainment or other unlawéxpense relating to political activity.

(b) Each of the Buyer and the Subsidiaries haswtted their businesses in compliance with the BdBeign Corrupt Practices Act of
1977, as amended, the PRC Law on Anti-Unfair Coitipetadopted on September 2, 1993 (if applicabhe) the Interim Rules on Prevention
of Commercial Bribery
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issued by the PRC State Administration of Induatrd Commerce on November 15, 1996 (if applicabié)all other applicable antierruptior
laws.

ARTICLE 5
C OVENANTS OFS ELLER

Seller agrees that:

Section 5.01 Conduct of the Companyrrom the date hereof until the Closing Date, eaeler shall cause each of the Company and th
Subsidiaries to, conduct its business in the orglinaurse consistent with past practice and udeeis efforts to (i) preserve intact its present
business organization, (ii) maintain in effectddlits licenses, permits, consents, franchises;aats and authorizations, (iii) keep available
services of its directors, officers and key emptsyiv) maintain satisfactory relationships withfranchisees, customers, lenders, suppliers
and other Persons having material business resdtips with it, (v) manage its working capital (imding the timing of collection of accounts
receivable and of the payment of accounts payatiletze management of inventory) in the ordinaryrsewf business consistent with past
practice and (vi) continue to make capital expemdi consistent with the capital expenditure buflyethe Company and the Subsidiaries tha
has been made available to Buyer (tlg&apex Budget”). Without limiting the generality of the foregoingsaept as expressly contemplated
this Agreement or other Transaction DocumentsheeiBeller shall permit any of the Company or thbsiiaries to:

(a) amend its Organizational Documents (whethembyger, consolidation or otherwise);
(b) split, combine or reclassify any capital sharEthe Company or any Subsidiary or declare, sieleaor pay any dividend or other
distribution (whether in cash, stock or propertyany combination thereof) in respect of the caitalres of the Company or any Subsidiary, ¢

redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire or offezdeem, repurchase, or otherwise acquire any Coyrpecurities or any Subsidiary
Securities;

(c)(i) issue, deliver or sell, or authorize theusce, delivery or sale of, any Company SecuritieSubsidiary Securities or (i) amend ¢
term of any Company Securities or any Subsidiagu8ges (in each case, whether by merger, conatidid or otherwise);

(d) sell, lease or otherwise transfer, or creat@aur any Lien on, any of the Company’s or any Sdilary’s assets (including Intellectual
Property Rights), securities, properties, interestsusinesses;
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(e) create, incur, assume, suffer to exist or etfser be liable with respect to any indebtednes&dorowed money or guarantees thereof;

(f) (i) enter into any agreement or arrangemerntlihdts or otherwise restricts in any materialpest the Company, any Subsidiary or
of their respective Affiliates or any successordhe or that could, after the Closing Date, limitestrict in any material respect the Company,
any Subsidiary, Buyer or any of their respectivéliétes, from engaging or competing in any linebofsiness, in any location or with any
Person or (ii) enter into, amend or modify in angtemial respect or terminate any Material Contoaiaitherwise waive, release or assign any
material rights, claims or benefits of the Companwany of its Subsidiaries;

(9) () grant or increase any severance or terriangiay to (or amend any existing arrangement véth) director, officer or employee of
the Company or any Subsidiary, (ii) increase beésigthyable under any existing severance or terinimggy policies or employment
agreements, (iii) enter into any employment, deféicompensation or other similar agreement (or dmaeg such existing agreement) with
director, officer or employee of the Company or &wpsidiary, (iv) establish, adopt or amend (exesptequired by Applicable Law) any
collective bargaining, bonus, profit-sharing, thrifension, retirement, deferred compensation, emsgtion, stock option, restricted stock or
other benefit plan or arrangement covering anycttre officer or employee of the Company or any Sdiary or (v) increase compensation,
bonus or other benefits payable to any directdicafor employee of the Company or any Subsidiary;

(h) change the Company’s methods of accountinggba@s required by concurrent changes in GAAPgeesed to by its independent
public accountants;

(i) settle, or offer or propose to settle, (i) angterial litigation, investigation, arbitration,qmeeding or other claim involving or against
the Company or any Subsidiary, (ii) any shareholitigation or dispute against the Company or ahigofficers or directors or (iii) any
litigation, arbitration, proceeding or dispute thelates to the transactions contemplated hereby;

(j) make or change any Tax election, change anyartax accounting period, adopt or change any oktif tax accounting, amend any
Tax Returns or file claims for Tax refunds, entey alosing agreement, settle any Tax claim, audétssessment, or surrender any right to
claim a Tax refund, offset or other reduction incTiability;

(k) take any action that would make any represimtatr warranty of Seller with respect to the Compar any Subsidiary hereunder, or
omit to take

29



any action necessary to prevent any representatioarranty of Seller with respect to the Compangy Subsidiary hereunder from being,
inaccurate in any respect at, or as of any timereethe Closing Date; or

() agree, resolve or commit to do any of the foiag.

Section 5.02Access to Information; Confidentialitfa) From the date hereof until the Closing D&&ler will (i) give, and will cause
the Company and each Subsidiary to give, Buyecatmsel, financial advisors, auditors and othén@nzed representatives full access to the
offices, properties, books and records of the Camp@and the Subsidiaries and to the books and reatfr8eller relating to the Company and
the Subsidiaries, (ii) furnish, and will cause @@mpany and each Subsidiary to furnish, to Buyercounsel, financial advisors, auditors and
other authorized representatives such financialogedating data and other information relatingi® €ompany or any Subsidiary as such
Persons may reasonably request and (iii) instheeemployees, counsel and financial advisors di Satler or the Company or any Subsidiary
to cooperate with Buyer in its investigation of thempany or any Subsidiary. No investigation by &ugr other information received by
Buyer shall operate as a waiver or otherwise aHagtrepresentation, warranty or agreement givanaiate by Seller hereunder.

(b) After the Closing, Seller and their Affiliat@sll hold, and will use their best efforts to caubeir respective officers, directors,
employees, accountants, counsel, consultants,@dwasd agents to hold, in confidence, unless cbetp® disclose by judicial or
administrative process or by other requirementawf all confidential documents and information ceming Buyer, the Company, the
Subsidiaries and the transactions contemplatetdibyAgreement and the other Transaction Documert®pt to the extent that such
information can be shown to have been (i) previpiabwn on a nonconfidential basis by Seller,itiithe public domain through no fault of
Seller or their Affiliates or (iii) later lawfullyacquired by Seller from sources other than tholsger to its prior ownership of the Company anc
the Subsidiaries. The obligation of Seller andrtiAdiiliates to hold any such information in conéidce shall be satisfied if they exercise the
same care with respect to such information aswmyld take to preserve the confidentiality of thaivn similar information.

Section 5.03Key EmployeesSee attached Key Employees list as Section 3.#tedSeller Disclosure Scheduiereto.

Section 5.04Tax. All Covered Tax, if any, shall be borne, joindpd severally, by Seller. Seller agrees to timaly and discharge all
Covered Tax, if any, and to file all necessary doentations with respect to such Covered Tax if ineguby Applicable Law.
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Section 5.05Notices of Certain EventsSeller shall promptly notify Buyer of:

(a) any notice or other communication from any Belleging that the consent of such Person isay e required in connection
with the transactions contemplated by this Agredmemny other Transaction Documents;

(b) any notice or other communication from any Gowgental Authority in connection with the transanos contemplated by this
Agreement or any other Transaction Documents;

(c) any actions, suits, claims, investigations mcpedings commenced or, to its knowledge thredtagainst, relating to or
involving or otherwise affecting such Seller or thempany or any Subsidiary that, if pending ondage of this Agreement, would have
been required to have been disclosed pursuantctin8e3.14 or that relate to the consummation efttansactions contemplated by this
Agreement or any other Transaction Documents;

(d) any inaccuracy of any representation or wayranhtained in this Agreement at any time duringtdérm hereof that could
reasonably be expected to cause the conditiorfersiein Section 8.02(b) not to be satisfied; and

(e) any failure of such Seller to comply with otisiy any covenant, condition or agreement to bemeed with or satisfied by it
hereunder;

provided, howevethat the delivery of any notice pursuant to thist®a 5.05 shall not limit or otherwise affect tleenedies available
hereunder to the party receiving that notice.

Section 5.06Resignations Seller will deliver to Buyer the resignationsatif officers and directors of the Company and thbstdiaries
who will be officers, directors or employees ofI8ebr any of their Affiliates after the Closing @arom their positions with the Company or
any Subsidiary at or prior to the Closing Date, ahtiesignations shall be effective as of the Clpsin

Section 5.07Assistance/ActionSince Shanghai WFOE has not obtained all goventethicenses , caused all required operation items
necessary for conduct of its current operationtsetoegistered in its business license or doneegliired registrations in connection with its
franchise business, which is a violation of PRC &and regulations , including without limitatioegulations issued by MOFCOM such as
Regulation on the Administration of Commercial
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Franchise, the Administrative Measures on Filingommercial Franchise (2011 Amendment) and the Athtnative Measures on Informati
Disclosure of Commercial Franchise. After the GigsiSeller, will assist all things necessary oiirdée as requested by Buyer to ensure to
cure any violations of and noncompliance with armppkcable Law that have been disclosed on Sectidn 6f the Seller Disclosure Schedule.

Section 5.08Noncompetition(a) Seller agrees that for a period of 20 full geslter the Closing Date, neither it nor any offliates
shall:

(i) further directly engage in hotel franchise mesis, except existing investment and shareholdhighahave been disclosed.

(b) If any provision contained in this Section 54l for any reason be held invalid, illegal aeaforceable in any respect, such
invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall naffect any other provisions of this Section 5108 this Section 5.08 shall be construed as if
such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisiordhrever been contained herein. It is the intenditihe parties that if any of the restrictions or
covenants contained herein is held to cover a g@bie area or to be for a length of time whichas permitted by applicable law, or in any
way construed to be too broad or to any extentlicivauch provision shall not be construed to bl moid and of no effect, but to the extent
such provision would be valid or enforceable untligplicable Law, a court of competent jurisdictidmai construe and interpret or reform this
Section 5.08 to provide for a covenant having tle&imum enforceable geographic area, time periododimer provisions (not greater than
those contained herein) as shall be valid and eeédnle under such Applicable Law. Each Seller askeages that Buyer would be irreparably
harmed by any breach of this and that there woalddadequate remedy at law or in damages to caafeBuyer for any such breach. Each
Seller agrees that Buyer shall be entitled to icfive relief requiring specific performance by si®dller of this, and such Seller consents to th
entry thereof.

ARTICLE 6
C OVENANTS OFB UYER

Buyer agrees that:

Section 6.01Confidentiality. Prior to the Closing Date and after any termovabtf this Agreement, Buyer and its Affiliates wilbld, anc
will use their best efforts to cause their respectifficers, directors, employees, accountantsngel consultants, advisors and agents to hold
in confidence, unless compelled to disclose bygatior administrative process or by other
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requirements of law, all confidential documents aridrmation concerning the Company or any Subsydiarnished to Buyer or its Affiliates

in connection with the transactions contemplatethisy Agreement, except to the extent that suabriméition can be shown to have been

(i) previously known on a nonconfidential basisBayyer, (ii) in the public domain through no fauftBuyer or (iii) later lawfully acquired by
Buyer from sources other than Seller or the Compargny Subsidiary; provided that Buyer may diselesch information to its officers,
directors, employees, accountants, counsel, camajtadvisors and agents in connection with #mestictions contemplated by this Agreemen
so long as such Persons are informed by Buyereo€dinfidential nature of such information and dreaded by Buyer to treat such information
confidentially. The obligation of Buyer and its Aiites to hold any such information in confiderst®ll be satisfied if they exercise the same
care with respect to such information as they waake to preserve the confidentiality of their ogimilar information. If this Agreement is
terminated, Buyer and its Affiliates will, and wilke their reasonable best efforts to cause thgjrective officers, directors, employees,
accountants, counsel, consultants, advisors antsage destroy or deliver to Seller, upon requaisjocuments and other materials, and all
copies thereof, obtained by Buyer or its Affiliatason their behalf from Seller or the Company oy Subsidiary in connection with this
Agreement that are subject to such confidence.

ARTICLE 7
C OVENANTS OFB UYER AND SELLER

Buyer and each Seller agree that:

Section 7.01Commercially Reasonable Best Efforts; Further Aasaes. (a) Subject to the terms and conditions of thige®ment,
Buyer and each Seller will use their commerciadiggonable best efforts to take, or cause to ba takeactions and to do, or cause to be done
all things necessary or desirable under Applichlhles to consummate the transactions contemplatédiygreement, including (i) prepari
and filing as promptly as practicable with any Gaowveental Authority or other third party all docuntation to effect all necessary filings,
notices, petitions, statements, registrations, ssgioms of information, applications and other doeuts and (ii) obtaining and maintaining all
approvals, consents, registrations, permits, aightions and other confirmations required to bemtgd from any Governmental Authority or
other third party that are necessary, proper oisatile to consummate the transactions contemplgtedis Agreementprovidedthat the
parties hereto understand and agree that the cariaiyereasonable best efforts of any party hestiall not be deemed to include (i) entering
into any settlement, undertaking, consent dectgmilation or agreement with any Governmental Auitliydn connection with the transactions
contemplated hereby or (ii) divesting or otherwiséding separate
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(including by establishing a trust or otherwisa)taking any other action (or otherwise agreeingdany of the foregoing) with respect to any
of its or the Company’s Subsidiaries or any ofthespective Affiliates’ businesses, assets or @riigs. Each Seller and Buyer agree, and eac
Seller, prior to the Closing, and Buyer, after @lesing, agree to cause the Company and each Saysith execute and deliver such other
documents, certificates, agreements and othemgsitand to take such other actions as may be ra@gassdesirable in order to consummat
implement expeditiously the transactions contenepldiy this Agreement.

(b) In furtherance and not in limitation of the égoing, if required by any Applicable Antitrust Lagach of Buyer and Seller shall make
an appropriate filing pursuant to any Applicabletifast Law with respect to the transactions comlated hereby as promptly as practicable
and in any event within 3 Business Days of the tateof and to supply as promptly as practicabjeaaitlitional information and document:
material that may be requested pursuant to anyiégdge Antitrust Law and to take all other actioesessary to cause the expiration or
termination of the applicable waiting periods unslech Applicable Antitrust Law as soon as pracieab

Section 7.02Certain Filings. Seller and Buyer shall cooperate with one andilpén determining whether any action by or ingest of,
or filing with, any Governmental Authority is reged, or any actions, consents, approvals or wamersequired to be obtained from parties tc
any material contracts, in connection with the comsation of the transactions contemplated by tlgeeAment and (ii) in taking such actions
or making any such filings, furnishing informaticequired in connection therewith and seeking tintelgbtain any such actions, consents,
approvals or waivers.

Section 7.03Public AnnouncementsThe parties agree to consult with each otherreafsuing any press release or making any public
statement with respect to this Agreement or thestations contemplated hereby and, except for eegspeleases and public statements the
making of which may be required by Applicable Lamaay listing agreement with any national secwsig&change, will not issue any such
press release or make any such public statememttprsuch consultation.

Section 7.04Transfer TaxesAll transfer, stamp, documentary, sales, usastegion, value-added and other similar Taxesl(iting all
applicable real estate transfer Taxes) (tiedhsfer Taxes”) incurred in connection with this Agreement ahd transactions contemplated
hereby will be borne, as required by Applicable Liaveffect as of the date hereof, by the applicglaley hereto. Such party agrees to timely
pay and discharge all Transfer Tax, if any, anfilécall necessary documentation with respect twhslransfer Tax if required by
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Applicable Law in effect as of the date hereof. #far avoidance of doubt, Transfer Taxes shallmdude any Covered Tax.

ARTICLE 8
C oNDITIONS TOC LOSING

Section 8.01Conditions to Obligations of Buyer and Sell@he obligations of Buyer and Seller to consumntia¢eClosing are subject
the satisfaction of the following conditions:

(a) No provision of any Applicable Law shall prottithe consummation of the Closing.

(b) All actions by or in respect of or filings wiAFE required to permit the consummation of thes@lg shall have been taken,
made or obtained.

Section 8.02Conditions to Obligation of BuyerThe obligation of Buyer to consummate the Closingubject to the satisfaction of the
following further conditions:

(a) Seller shall have performed and complied witall material respects all of its covenants angagents to be performed by it
on or prior to the Closing Date under this Agreetmrany other Transaction Documents to which & fmrty.

(b) The representations and warranties of eacleiSsmhtained in this Agreement and in any certifiaa other writing delivered by
such Seller pursuant hereto (A) that are qualifiganateriality or Material Adverse Effect shall toee at and as of the Closing Date as if
made at and as of such date, and (B) that areuadifigd by materiality or Material Adverse Effegttall be true in all material respects at
and as of the Closing Date as if made at and agadf time.

(c) All Consents of any Governmental Authority éraoy other Person that are required to be obtdiyeSeller, the Company or
any Subsidiary in connection with the consummatibthe transactions contemplated by this Agreeraadtother Transaction
Documents shall have been duly obtained and effeets of the Closing, and evidence thereof shak lieeen delivered to Buyer.

(d) All corporate and other proceedings in conmectvith the transactions to be completed at thsi@tpand all documents incide
thereto, including without limitation necessary titband shareholder
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approvals of Seller, the Company and the Subsediawvith respect to this Agreement and other Ti@imwaDocuments and the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, lshedl been completed, and Buyer shall have receaiVedch counterpart original or
other copies of such documents as it may reasomaglyest.

(e) Buyer shall have received a certificate sigmgthe authorized representative of each Selldra@ffect set forth in Section 8.02
(a) through Section 8.02(d).

(f) Buyer shall have received all documents it megsonably request relating to the existence déSé&he Company and the
Subsidiaries and the authority of Seller for thgrdement.

(9) Since the date of this Agreement, there stalhave occurred any event, occurrence or developofe state of circumstances
or facts which, individually or in the aggregatasthad or would reasonably be expected to haveterisllaAdverse Effect.

(h) All parties (other than Buyers) to each of Tmansaction Documents other than this Agreemerit lsae duly, validly and
irrevocably executed and delivered such Transa®@cument and such Transaction Document shall meeféective and in full force.

(i) Each holder or beneficial owner of any Comp&m®gcurities or Subsidiary Securities, who is a PRi€en or resident, shall have
completed all necessary foreign exchange registrativith the SAFE required by the Applicable LawsHis or her direct or indirect
holding of such Company Securities or Subsidiargugges.

()) The Company and the Subsidiaries shall haveenadiccontributions or payments required to be madaaid by the Company or
the Subsidiaries or any of their respective empsyte the relevant Governmental Authority with extgo any Benefit.

(k) As of the date hereof, Seller should providedatuments which be required by due diligence nedtelist provided by Buyer,
except for that have be provided.

(p) As of the date of the Closing, the right antigation of 16 Franchise Agreements which engage@toip WOFE should be
transferred to the Shanghai WOFE.
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Section 8.03Conditions to Obligation of SellefThe obligation of Seller to consummate the Clgsinsubject to the satisfaction of the
following further conditions:

(a) Buyer shall have performed and complied withlirmaterial respects all of its covenants aneéeagrents to be performed by it
on or prior to the Closing Date under this Agreehmrany other Transaction Documents to which & Erty.

(b) The representations and warranties of Buyetaioed in this Agreement and in any certificat®threr writing delivered by
Buyer pursuant hereto shall be true in all matedapects at and as of the Closing Date as if rmaadad as of such date.

(c) Seller shall have received a certificate signgthe authorized officer of Buyer to the effeet forth in Section 8.03(a) and
Section 8.03(b).

(d) Buyer shall have received all consents, autlations or approvals from the Governmental Autiesiteferred to in Section 4.(

in each case in form and substance reasonablyasatis/ to Seller, and no such consent, authoomatr approval shall have been
revoked.

(e) Seller shall have received all documents it ne@gonably request relating to the existence geBand the authority of Buyer
for this Agreement, all in form and substance raabty satisfactory to Seller.

() The advance payment shall have paid to Sediefasth in Section2.02(c)(i).

ARTICLE 9
SURVIVAL ; | NDEMNIFICATION

Section 9.01Survival. The representations and warranties of the pargesto contained in this Agreement or in any fiestie or other
writing delivered pursuant hereto or in connectienewith shall survive the Closing until the thandniversary of the Closing Daterovided
that the representations and warranties in Sec8d¥s(Corporate Existence and Powgr3.02 (Corporate Authorizatior), 3.03
( Governmental Authorizatiop 3.04 (Noncontravention, 3.06 (Ownership of Shares 3.17 (Tax), 3.24 (Finder's Fees, 4.01 (Corporate
Existence and Pow¢) and 4.02 Corporate Authorization shall survive indefinitely or until the latesttdgermitted by law. The covenants

and agreements of the parties hereto containddsmgreement or in any certificate or other wigtidelivered pursuant hereto or in connectior
herewith shall survive
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the Closing indefinitely or for the shorter periexplicitly specified therein, except that for sumvenants and agreements that survive for suc
shorter period, breaches thereof shall survivefindely or until the latest date permitted by laMotwithstanding the preceding sentences, an
breach of representation, warranty, covenant ageagent in respect of which indemnity may be sougler this Agreement shall survive the
time at which it would otherwise terminate pursuanthe preceding sentences, if notice of the imamxy or breach thereof giving rise to such
right of indemnity shall have been given to thetpagainst whom such indemnity may be sought gaauch time.

Section 9.02Indemnification. (a) Effective at and after the Closing, Sellerety, jointly and severally, indemnifies Buyer, Affiliates
and their respective successors and assignees éaBlyer Indemnitee”) against, and agrees to hold each of them hamitesn any
contingent liability (whether disclosed or not)yaand all damage, loss, liability , payment, chajgégment, interest, fine, penalty and expe
(including reasonable expenses of investigationraadonable attorneys’ and other experts’ feesapdnses in connection with any action,
suit or proceeding whether involving a third partgim or a claim solely between the parties heagith any incidental, indirect or consequer
damages, losses, liabilities or expenses, andastytofits or diminution in value) ©amages’), incurred or suffered by each Buyer
Indemnitee arising or resulting from or relatecitty Warranty Breach or breach of covenant or ageeémade or to be performed by Seller
pursuant to this Agreement regardless of whetheln Blamages arise as a result of the negligenaet, I&bility or any other liability under any
theory of law or equity of, or violation of any ldw, any Buyer Indemnitee:

(i) any misrepresentation or breach of warrantgdeined, except with respect to Section 3.27, witlmegard to any qualification
or exception contained therein relating to matayiar Material Adverse Effect or any similar qiedation or standard (each such
misrepresentation and breach of warrantwddrranty Breach ”);

(ii) any breach of covenant or agreement made betperformed by such Seller pursuant to this Agesd; or

(ii) any violation of or noncompliance with any plicable Law that has been disclosed on Sectiori &f@he Seller Disclosure
Schedule

in each case of the foregoing clauses (i), (iifiiorregardless of whether such Damages ariserasut of the negligence, strict liability
any other liability under any theory of law or eyudf, or violation of any law by, any Buyer Indeitae.

(b) Effective at and after the Closing, Buyer hgratdlemnifies each Seller, its Affiliates and theispective successors and assignees
(each, a ‘Seller
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Indemnitee”) against, and agrees to hold each of them hamiitesn, any and all Damages incurred or sufferedunh Seller, any of its
Affiliates or any of their respective successord assignees arising or resulting from or relateaintyp Warranty Breach or breach of covenal
agreement made or to be performed by Buyer purgaahts Agreement regardless of whether such Daagse as a result of the neglige
strict liability or any other liability under anj¢ory of law or equity of, or violation of any lawy, any Seller Indemnitee.

Section 9.03Tax IndemnityEffective at and after the Closing, each of thayphereby, jointly and severally, indemnifies thther party
Indemnitee and harmless from, any Covered Taxtaiite extent applicable, any Transfer Taxes reguio be borne by any party in
accordance with Section 7.04 and, in each caseDamages relating thereto (together,@dvered Tax Loss’). For the avoidance of doubt,
the Covered Tax Loss shall include any additionabant of tax payable by or losses suffered by thergparty Indemnitee or the Company
arising from the non-payment of, or the non-remgrtby, any Seller Company of Taxes in connectiath Vs obligations under Section 5.04
and Section 7.04 (to the extent applicable) in ataace with the terms thereof.

Section 9.04Third Party Claim Procedurega) The party seeking indemnification under Sectid? (the “Indemnified Party ") agrees
to give prompt notice in writing to the party agetiwhom indemnity is to be sought (thtnlemnifying Party ") of the assertion of any claim
or the commencement of any suit, action or procggty any third party (Third Party Claim ") in respect of which indemnity may be sou
under such Section. Such notice shall set fortle@sonable detail such Third Party Claim and ttsgslfar indemnification (taking into account
the information then available to the Indemnifieattl). The failure to so notify the IndemnifyingrBashall not relieve the Indemnifying Party
of its obligations hereunder, except to the exseich failure shall have materially and adversegjugticed the Indemnifying Party.

(b) The Indemnifying Party shall be entitled totapate in the defense of any Third Party Claitrglsbe entitled to control and appoint
lead counsel for such defense, in each case@witeexpense; provided that prior to assuming cbofreuch defense, the Indemnifying Party
must (i) acknowledge that it would have an indegnaliligation for the Damages resulting from suclird®Party Claim as provided under this
Article 9 and (i) furnish the Indemnified Partytlvievidence that the Indemnifying Party has adexjtegources to defend the Third Party
Claim and fulfill its indemnity obligations hereusrd

(c) The Indemnifying Party shall not be entitlecaBsume or maintain control of the defense of dnydTParty Claim and shall pay the
fees and expenses of counsel retained by the InflechRarty if (i) the Indemnifying
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Party does not deliver the acknowledgment refetwed Section 9.04(b)(i) within 30 days of receiptnotice of the Third Party Claim pursuant
to Section 9.04(a), (ii) the Third Party Claim tekato or arises in connection with any criminalgaeding, action, indictment, allegation or
investigation, (iii) the Indemnified Party reasolyalbelieves an adverse determination with respetiie Third Party Claim would be materially
detrimental to the reputation or future businesspects of the Indemnified Party or any of itsliafiés, (iv) the Third Party Claim seeks an
injunction or equitable relief against the InderedfParty or any of its affiliates or (v) the Indeifiying Party has failed or is failing to
prosecute or defend vigorously the Third Party i@lai

(d) If the Indemnifying Party shall assume the coinbf the defense of any Third Party Claim in adamce with the provisions of this
Section 9.04, the Indemnifying Party shall obtdi@ prior written consent of the Indemnified Paxt#ich shall not be unreasonably withheld)
before entering into any settlement of such ThadyClaim.

(e) In circumstances where the Indemnifying Pastyadntrolling the defense of a Third Party Claina@tordance with paragraphs (b) anc
(c) above, the Indemnified Party shall be entiteegarticipate in the defense of any Third Partgi@land to employ separate counsel of its
choice for such purpose, in which case the feesapdnses of such separate counsel shall be byrthe thdemnified Partygrovidedthat in
such event the Indemnifying Party shall pay the f&ed expenses of such separate counsel (i) imchyréhe Indemnified Party prior to the d
the Indemnifying Party assumes control of the dedesf the Third Party Claim or (ii) if representatiof both the Indemnifying Party and the
Indemnified Party by the same counsel would craatenflict of interest.

(f) Each party shall cooperate, and cause thereive affiliates to cooperate, in the defensprosecution of any Third Party Claim and
shall furnish or cause to be furnished such recanélsrmation and testimony, and attend such camfees, discovery proceedings, hearings,
trials or appeals, as may be reasonably requastezhnection therewith.

Section 9.05 Direct Claim Proceduredn the event an Indemnified Party has a claimfdeimnity under Section 9.02 against an
Indemnifying Party that does not involve a ThirdtR&laim, the Indemnified Party agrees to giverppb notice in writing of such claim to the
Indemnifying Party. Such notice shall set forthréasonable detail such claim and the basis fommifgcation (taking into account the
information then available to the Indemnified Partyhe failure to so notify the Indemnifying Pasdyall not relieve the Indemnifying Party of
its obligations hereunder, except to the extenih aiture shall have materially and adversely pigjad the Indemnifying Party. If the
Indemnifying Party does not notify the Indemnifiedrty within 30 days following the receipt
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of a notice with respect to any such claim thatltttemnifying Party disputes its indemnity obligetito the Indemnified Party for any
Damages with respect to such claim, such Damagaklghconclusively deemed a liability of the Ind@fying Party and the Indemnifying
Party shall promptly pay to the Indemnified Panty and all Damages arising out of such claim. ¢f idemnifying Party has timely disputed
its indemnity obligation for any Damages with redpte such claim, the parties shall proceed in gadt to negotiate a resolution of such

dispute and, if not resolved through negotiatisugsh dispute shall be resolved by litigation irappropriate court of jurisdiction determined
pursuant to Section 11.07.

ARTICLE 10
T ERMINATION

Section 10.01 Grounds for TerminationThis Agreement may be terminated at any timerpcdhe Closing:
(a) by mutual written agreement of Seller and Buyer
(b) by either Seller or Buyer if the Closing shadt have been consummated on or before June 3@,d01

(c) by either Seller or Buyer if there shall be d&pplicable Law that makes consummation of thedaations contemplated hereby
illegal or otherwise prohibited or if consummatioithe transactions contemplated hereby would tecday nonappealable final order,
decree or judgment of any Governmental Authorityithge competent jurisdiction.

The party desiring to terminate this Agreement pan$ to Section 10.01(b) or Section 10.01(c) shigk notice of such termination to the ot
party.

Section 10.02Effect of Termination If this Agreement is terminated as permitted bgttdn 10.01, such termination shall be without
liability of either party (or any shareholder, diter, officer, employee, agent, consultant or repngative of such party) to the other party to
Agreementprovidedthat if such termination shall result from thewi)lful failure of either party to fulfill a condibn to the performance of the
obligations of the other party, (ii) failure to femm a covenant of this Agreement or (iii) breaghelither party hereto of any representation or
warranty or agreement contained herein, such gail be fully liable for any and all Damages irrear or suffered by the other party as a
result of such failure or breach. The provision§ettion 6.01, 11.04, 11.06 and 11.07 shall suraiwetermination hereof pursuant to
Section 10.01.
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ARTICLE 11
M ISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.01Notices. All notices, requests and other communicatiorasnip party hereunder shall be in writing (includfagsimile
transmission and electronic mailg“mail ") transmission, so long as a receipt of such d-imaequested and received) and shall be given to,

if to Buyer, to:

China Lodging Group, Limited

No. 2266 Honggiao Road

Changning District

Shanghai 200336

Attention: Mr. Yuewu Rong, Legal Director
Facsimile No.: 86-21-61959536

E-mail: ywrong@htinns.com

if to Seller, to:

C-Travel International Limited

Ctrip Building, No. 99 Fuquan Road,
Shanghai 200335

Attention: Mr. Aleck Yeung
Facsimile No.: 86-21-6239 3258
E-mail: ginyang@ctrip.com

or such other address or facsimile number as saidi pay hereafter specify for the purpose by motiicthe other parties hereto. All such
notices, requests and other communications shalebened received on the date of receipt by theimtithereof if received prior to 5:00 p.m.
in the place of receipt and such day is a BusiBbegsin the place of receipt. Otherwise, any sudicaprequest or communication shall be
deemed not to have been received until the nextesaling Business Day in the place of receipt.

Section 11.02Amendments and Waiver&) Any provision of this Agreement may be amehdewaived if, but only if, such amendm
or waiver is in writing and is signed, in the cafen amendment, by each party to this Agreemerit, the case of a waiver, by the party
against whom the waiver is to be effective.

(b) No failure or delay by any party in exercisengy right, power or privilege hereunder shall opees a waiver thereof nor shall any
single or partial exercise thereof preclude angoth further exercise thereof or the exercise of
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any other right, power or privilege. The rights aathedies herein provided shall be cumulative atceRrclusive of any rights or remedies
provided by law.

Section 11.03 Disclosure Schedule References.

Section 11.04Expenses Except as otherwise provided herein, all costsexpenses incurred in connection with this Agresmsball be
paid by the party incurring such cost or expense.

Section 11.05Successors and Assignghe provisions of this Agreement shall be bindipgn and inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto and their respective successors and aspignégledthat no party may assign, delegate or otherwisestea any of its rights or
obligations under this Agreement without the congérach other party hereto; except that Buyer treaysfer or assign its rights and
obligations under this Agreement, in whole or frime to time in part, to (i) one or more of its Afites at any time and (ii) after the Closing
Date, to any Persoprovidedthat no such transfer or assignment shall reliewgeB of its obligations hereunder or enlarge, altethange any
obligation of any other party hereto or due to Buye

Section 11.06Governing Law This Agreement shall be governed by and constiiadcordance with the law of Hong Kong, without
regard to the conflicts of law rules.

Section 11.07Arbitration . Any dispute arising out of or in connection wittis Agreement, including any question regardisg it
existence, validity or termination and the partiéghts and obligations hereunder (each Qispute ") shall be referred to and finally resolved
by arbitration (the ‘Arbitration ") in the following manner:

(a) The Arbitration shall be administered by thengid&ong International Arbitration Centre HKIAC );

(b) The Arbitration shall be procedurally governgdie UNCITRAL Arbitration Rules as in force at thate on which the claimant pa
notifies the respondent party in writing (such oetia “Notice of Arbitration ") of its intent to pursue Arbitration;

(c) The seat and venue of the Arbitration shalHoag Kong and the language of the Arbitration shalEnglish;

(d) A Dispute subject to an Arbitration shall béetenined by a panel of three (3) arbitrators (tAgibunal ). One (1) arbitrator shall be
nominated by the claimant party (and to the extieait there is more than one claimant party, by mliagreement among the claimant parties)
and one (1) arbitrator shall be
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nominated by the respondent party (and to the extamthere is more than one respondent partyniiyial agreement among the respondent
parties). The third arbitrator shall be jointly nioted by the claimant party’s and respondent fsrgspectively nominated arbitrators and
shall act as the presiding arbitrator. If the clantparty or the respondent party fails to nomiitatarbitrator within thirty (30) days from the
date of receipt of the Notice of Arbitration by ttespondent party or the claimant and respondetiepanominated arbitrators fail to jointly
nominate the presiding arbitrator within thirty J3fays of the nomination of the respondent—nomuhatbitrator, either party to the Dispute
may request the Chairperson of the HKIAC to appsirth arbitrator; and

(e) The parties agree that all documents and ev&enbmitted in the Arbitration (including any staents of case and any interim or
final award, as well as the fact that an arbitrehiad has been made) shall remain confidential bating and after any final award that is
rendered unless the parties otherwise agree imgrithe arbitral award is final and binding upbe parties to the Arbitration.

Section 11.08Counterparts; Effectiveness; Third Party Benefi@ar This Agreement may be signed in any number ohtmparts, eac
of which shall be an original, with the same effagtf the signatures thereto and hereto were thpwsame instrument. This Agreement shall
become effective when each party hereto shall heseived a counterpart hereof signed by all ofother parties hereto. Until and unless eact
party has received a counterpart hereof signetidpther party hereto, this Agreement shall haveffext and no party shall have any right or
obligation hereunder (whether by virtue of any othrl or written agreement or other communicatidtg provision of this Agreement is
intended to confer any rights, benefits, remedbsgations, or liabilities hereunder upon any Barsther than the parties hereto and their
respective successors and assigns.

Section 11.09Entire AgreementThis Agreement and other Transaction Documenist@ate the entire agreement between the parties
with respect to the subject matter of this Agreenaer supersedes all prior agreements and undeéistgn both oral and written, between the
parties with respect to the subject matter of Agseement.

Section 11.10SeverabilityIf any term, provision, covenant or restrictiontiois Agreement is held by a court of competensilidtion or
other Governmental Authority to be invalid, voidwrenforceable, the remainder of the terms, prorisicovenants and restrictions of this
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect ahdll in no way be affected, impaired or inval@hso long as the economic or legal
substance of the transactions contemplated hesafgtiaffected in any manner materially adversangpparty. Upon such a
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determination, the parties shall negotiate in giadtth to modify this Agreement so as to effect dhigjinal intent of the parties as closely as
possible in an acceptable manner in order thatréimsactions contemplated hereby be consummatedgasally contemplated to the fullest
extent possible.

Section 11.11Specific Performanc&he parties hereto agree that irreparable damagéveacur if any provision of this Agreement
were not performed in accordance with the termedfeand that the parties shall be entitled to @miction or injunctions to prevent breaches
of this Agreement or to enforce specifically thefpemance of the terms and provisions hereof in@yrt, in addition to any other remedy to
which they are entitled at law or in equity.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have catisisdAgreement to be duly executed by their respecuthorized officers as of
the day and year first above written.

CHINA LODGING HOLDINGS (HK) LIMITED as
Buyer

By: /s/ Qi Ji
Name: Qi J
Title: Director




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have catisisdAgreement to be duly executed by their respecuthorized officers as of
the day and year first above written.

C-TRAVEL INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

By: /s/ Min Fan
Name: Min Far
Title: Director




List of Subsidiaries

Directly-Owned Subsidiaries:

Shanghai HanTing Hotel Management Group, LIBIRC )
HanTing Xingkong (Shanghai) Hotel Management Ctd, (PRC)
Yiju (Shanghai) Hotel Management Co., LtdPRC)

HanTing (Tianjin) Investment Consulting Co., Ltd?RC)

China Lodging Holdings (HK) Limited long Kong)

China Lodging Holdings Singapore Pte. Lt&ifgapore)

Indirectly -Owned Subsidiaries:
1. 100% Owned Subsidiaries (all PRC companies)

1.1 Shanghai HanTing Decoration and Engineering Cadl,
1.2 Shanghai Yiju Hotel Management Co., L

1.3 Shanghai Aiting Hotel Management Co., L

1.4 Shanghai Senting Hotel Management Co.,

15 Shanghai Yuanting Hotel Management Co., |

1.6 Shanghai Ningting Hotel Management Co., |

1.7 Shanghai Guiting Hotel Management Co., |

1.8 Shanghai Yiting Hotel Management Co., L

1.9 Shanghai Songting Hotel Management Co.,

1.1C  Shanghai Xiting Hotel Management Co., L

1.11  Shanghai Jiating Hotel Management Co., |

1.1z  Shanghai Hanhao Hotel Management Co.,

1.1z Shanghai Yuanting Hotel Management Co., |

1.14  Shanghai Yangting Hotel Management Co., |

1.1t Shanghai Baoting Hotel Management Co., |

1.1€  Shanghai Yaogu Shangwu Hotel Management Co.,
1.17  Shanghai Yanting Hotel Management Co., |

1.1¢  Shanghai Changting Hotel Management Co.,

1.1¢  Shanghai Changting Hotel Management Co.,

1.2C  Shanghai Qinting Hotel Management Co., |

1.21  Suzhou Lishan Senbao Hotel Management Co.,
1.2z  Suzhou HanTing Hotel Management Co., |

1.2 Suzhou Lishan Yatai Hotel Management Co., |

1.24  Suzhou Yiting Hotel Management Co., L

1.2t Beijing Beixie Hongyun Hotel Management Co., L
1.2¢€  Beijing Jiating Hotel Management Co., L

1.27  Beijing Dongting Hotel Management Co., L

1.2¢  Beijing Anting Hotel Management Co., Lt

1.2¢  Beijing Yueting Hotel Management Co., L

1.3C  Hangzhou Senting Hotel Management Co.,

1.31  Hangzhou Yishitan Investment and Management Cd.,
1.3z  Hangzhou Qiuting Hotel Management Co., L

1.3z Guangzhou Mengting Hotel Management Co.,

1.34  Guangzhou Meiting Hotel Management Co., |

1.3t Guangzhou Huiting Hotel Management Co., |

1.3¢€  Tianjin Chengting Hotel Management Co., L

1.37  Tianjin Xingting Hotel Management Co., Li

1.3¢  Tianjin HanTing Xingkong Hotel Management Co., L
1.3¢  Tianjin Yiting Hotel Management Co., Lt

1.4C  Wuhu HanTing Hotel Management Co., L
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1.41
1.4Z
1.4Z
1.44
1.4t
1.4¢
1.47
1.4¢
1.4¢
1.5C
1.51
1.5Z
1.5¢
1.54
1.5t
1.5¢
1.57
1.5¢
1.5¢
1.6C
1.61
1.62
1.65
1.64
1.65
1.6€
1.67
1.6¢
1.6¢
1.7¢C
1.71
1.72
1.7¢
1.74
1.7¢
1.7¢€
1.77
1.7¢
1.7¢
1.8C
1.81
1.82
1.8¢
1.84
1.8
1.8¢
1.87
1.8¢
1.8¢
1.9C
1.91
1.92
1.9¢
1.94
1.9
1.9¢

Shenyang Maruika Hotel Management Co., |
Shenyang Futing Hotel Management Co., |
Wuhan HanTing Hotel Management Co., L
Wuhan Changting Hotel Management Co., |
Shenzhen HanTing Hotel Management Co.,
Shenzhen Shenting Hotel Management Co.,
Kunshan Lishan Hotel Management Co., |
Ningbo Jiangdong Meijia City Hotel Co., Lt

Yiwu HanTing Hotel Management Co., Li
Nanning HanTing Hotel Management Co., L
Nanjing Kexiang Hotel Co., Ltc

Shanghai Hegao Hotel Management Co.,
Xiamen Xiating Hotel Management Co., L

Zibo HanTing Hotel Management Co., L

Beijing HanTing Jiamei Hotel Management Co., L
Xi'an HanTing Fukai Hotel Management Co., L
Qingdao HanTing Hotel Management Co., L
Shanghai Lanting Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai baiting Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Jiangting Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai Zhenting Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai HanTing Guancheng Hotel Management Ca.
Chengdu HanTing Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Yiju Hotel Management Co., L

Wuxi Yiju Hotel Management Co., Lt

Hangzhou HanTing Kuaijie Hotel Management Co., |
Beijing Yaoting Hotel Management Co., L
Beijing Xiting Hotel Management Co., Lt
Shanghai HanTing Service Apartment Hotel Manager@ent Ltd.
Shanghai Meiting Hotel Management Co., L
Beijing HanTing Hotel Management Co., L
Beijing HanTing Ruijing Hotel Management Co., L
Shanghai Yuyi Hotel Management Co., L
Shanghai Liansheng Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai Yate Zhongtan Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai Haoting Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Luting Hotel Management Co., L
Beijing Zhongting Hotel Management Co., L
Taiyuan Xinting Hotel Management Co., L
Nanchang Yinting Hotel Management Co., L
Nantong Botong Hotel Management Co., L
Taiyuan Ruiting Yingze Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Yate Hotel Management Co., |
Shanghai Rongting Hotel Management Co.,
Shanghai Minting Hotel Management Co., L
HanTing Technology (Suzhou) Co., L

Hanting (Shanghai) Enterprise Management Co.,
Xiamen Tingju Hotel Co., Lt

Shanghai Pengting Hotel Management Co.,
Nanjing Futing Hotel Management Co., L
Suzhou Yongchangjiahe Hotel Management Co.,
Hangzhou Anting Hotel Management Co., L
Dalian Yuanyang Sikelai Hotel Co., Lt
Guangzhou Chengting Hotel Management Co.,
Guangzhou Xiuting Hotel Management Co., L
Hangzhou Muting Hotel Management Co., L



1.97 Shanghai Xinting Hotel Management Co., L
1.98 Xiamen Jiangting Hotel Co., Lt

1.99 Hanting Hesheng (Suzhou) Hotel Management Co.,
1.10C  Guangzhou Shangbin Hotel Co., L

1.101  Baotoushi Anting Hotel Management Co., L
1.10z  Huazhu Hotel Management Co., L

1.105  Shanghai Yinting Hotel Management Co., L
1.104  Xi'an Fengting Hotel Management Co., L
1.10t  Shanghai Lingting Hotel Management Co., L
1.10€  Xiamen Wuting Hotel Co., Ltc

1.107  Nanjing Ningru Hotel Management Co., L
1.10¢  Nanjing Yangting Hotel Management Co., L
1.10¢  Beijing Duoting Hotel Management Co., L'
1.11C  Wouhu Yinting Hotel Management Co., Li

2. Majority-Owned Subsidiaries (all PRC companies nless otherwise stated)

2.1 Beijing HanTing Shengshi Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

— 80% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdtésmagement Group, Lt
2.2 Beijing HanTing Dongfang Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

—99% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdtésmagement Group, Lt
2.3 Hangzhou Hemei HanTing Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

— 65% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdsmagement Group, Lt
2.4 Hangzhou Heju HanTing Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

— 65% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdsmagement Group, Lt
2.5 Hangzhou Heting Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

— 65% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdésmagement Group, Lt
2.6 Shanghai Kailin Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

— 65% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdésmagement Group, Lt
2.7 Nantong HanTing Zhongcheng Hotel Co., L

— 95% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdsmagement Group, Lt
2.8 Chengdu HanTing Yangchen Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

—51% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdsmagement Group, Lt
2.9 Shenyang HanTing Yonglun Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

- 60% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdésmagement Group, Lt
2.1C  Suzhou Kangjia Shangwu Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

—51% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdtésmagement Group, Lt
2.11  Wuxi HanTing Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

—55% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdsmagement Group, Lt
2.1z  Taiyuan HanTing Jiangnan Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

—55% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdsmagement Group, Lt
2.1Z  Shenzhen HanTing Shiji Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

—90% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdésmagement Group, Lt
2.14  Changsha Changting Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

—51% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdtsmagement Group, Lt
2.1 Guilin Lishan Huiming Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

— 79% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdsmagement Group, Lt
2.1€  Shanghai HuiGu GangWan Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

— 65% equity interests owned by HanTing Xingkong (®jfei) Hotel Management Co., Lt
2.17  Shanghai Huiting Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

—55.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiaggHVanagement Group, Lt
2.1¢  Shanghai Yuanting Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

—95.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiaggHVanagement Group, Lt
2.1¢  Xi'an Shengting Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

—99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiaggHVanagement Group, Lt



2.2C

2.21

2.22

2.2¢

2.24

2.2F

2.2¢

2.27

2.2¢

2.2¢

2.3C

2.31

2.3z

2.3t

2.34

Chongging Yiting Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

—99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiaggHVanagement Group, Lt
Xi'an Bangting Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

—99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiaggHVanagement Group, Lt
Nanjing Leting Hotel Management Co., L

— 80% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTing Hdsmagement Group, Lt
Shanghai Suting Hotel Management Co., Ltd.

—99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiaggHVanagement Group, Lt
Xianyang Dingcheng Hanting Hotel Co., Ltd.

—60.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiaggHVanagement Group, Lt
Urumgi Qiting Hotel management Co., Ltd.

—99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiaggHVanagement Group, Lt
Urumgi Luting Hotel management Co., Ltd.

—99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiaggHVanagement Group, Lt
Chengdu Changting Hotel management Co., Ltd

—80.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiaggHVanagement Group, Lt
Chengdu Yuting Hotel management Co., Ltd

—60.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiaggHVanagement Group, Lt
Baoding Lianting Hotel management Co., Ltd

—99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiaggHVanagement Group, Lt
Guangxi Nanning Leting Hotel management Co., Ltd

—60.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiaggHVanagement Group, Lt
Wuhushi Ronghe Hotel management Co., Ltd

—99.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiaggHVanagement Group, Lt
Wuhu Jiangting Hotel management Co., Ltd

—98.00% equity interests owned by Shanghai HanTiaggHVanagement Group, Lt
Starway Hotels (Hong Kong) LimitedHong Kong)

—51.00% equity interests owned by China Lodging ltad (HK) Limited

Starway Hotel Management (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

—100.00% equity interests owned by Starway Hotetsn@HKong) Co., Ltd



Exhibit 12.1

Certification Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

I, Qi Ji, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-F of China Lodging Group, Limitet

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nisadisg with respect to the period

covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the company as of, andtffierperiods presented in this rep:

4.  The company'’s other certifying officer(s) anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoige designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the company, including its consolidatedsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentéisineiport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canys internal control over financial reporting thatored during the period cover
by the annual report that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, th@nepany’s internal control over
financial reporting; an

5. The company’s other certifying officer(s) andalve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the acmlitmittee of the company’s board of directors (@nspns performing the equivalent
functions):

(@ All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the comy’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the company’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: April 23, 2013

By: /s/ Qi Ji
Name: Qi J
Title: Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 12.2

Certification Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley-Act of 2002

I, Min (Jenny) Zhang, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-F of China Lodging Group, Limitet

Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dondttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntstsunder which such statements were made, nisadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the company as of, andtffierperiods presented in this rep:

4.  The company'’s other certifying officer(s) anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the company and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoige designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the company, including its consolidatedsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfgial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the companyssldsure controls and procedures and presentéisineiport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the canys internal control over financial reporting thatored during the period cover
by the annual report that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, th@nepany’s internal control over
financial reporting; an

5. The company’s other certifying officer(s) andalve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the acmlitmittee of the company’s board of directors (@nspns performing the equivalent
functions):

(@ All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cooirer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the comy’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the company’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: April 23, 2013

By: /s/ Min (Jenny) Zhan
Name: Min (Jenny) Zhan
Title: Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 13.1

Certification Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

April 23, 201

The certification set forth below is being subndtte the Securities and Exchange Commission in ection with the Annual Report on
Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2012‘Rbport”) of China Lodging Group, Limited (the “@gpany”) for the purpose of
complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b}lué Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchafig) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63
of Title 18 of the United States Code.

Qi Ji, the Chief Executive Officer of the Compaapd Min (Jenny) Zhang, the Chief Financial Offiokthe Company, each certifies
that, to the best of his or her knowledge:

1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSetction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act;
2. theinformation contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctodiand results of operations of 1
Company.

/sl Qi Ji
Name: Qi J
Title: Chief Executive Office

/s/ Min (Jenny) Zhan
Name: Min (Jenny) Zhan
Title: Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 15.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniReggion Statement No. 333-166179 on Form S-8uwfreports dated April 23, 2013,
relating to the financial statements and finansiatement schedules of China Lodging Group, Limitedl the effectiveness of China Lodging

Group, Limited’s internal control over financialp@ting, appearing in this Annual Report on FormR26f China Lodging Group, Limited for
the year ended December 31, 2012.

/s/ Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Acetaunts LLP
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accounsdn_P
Shanghai, China

April 23, 2013



